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Chapter 98

Introduction to Part 10

98.1

98.2

98.3

98.4

The Grenfell Tower fire was one of the worst post-war civil disasters in the UK. As the
emergency services fought the fire, hundreds of people were displaced from their homes
in the tower and surrounding properties. Many of those affected felt that in the hours
and days that followed the fire they were abandoned by the authorities at the time of
their greatest need.

This Part of the report is concerned with the response of the local authority and the
government in the days immediately following the fire. We have examined the legal and
organisational framework for responding to emergencies with a view to finding out what
plans were in place for responding to a major emergency of that kind, what the response
was, in particular by way of emergency relief, when the emergency struck and whether that
response was adequate.

We have examined those matters through the lens of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004
(“the Act”) and its associated regulations and guidance which establish the duties and
responsibilities of the government and local authorities to prepare for and respond to
emergencies of all kinds. That includes consideration of the statutory duties to assess

risk, develop and maintain emergency plans and ensure that those who have the task of
responding to emergencies are adequately trained, practise putting their plans into action
and have sufficient staff to meet their responsibilities. Some of the bodies identified in the
List of Issues, including the government and the TMO, were not subject to duties under
the Act, but in view of their importance we have included them in our investigation. As far
as the Act itself is concerned, the overriding question is whether the Royal Borough of
Kensington and Chelsea (“RBKC”) complied with its duties and (if it did) whether it was
sufficiently prepared for, and responded adequately to, the fire.

That is the context in which we have examined the provision of emergency relief in the
days immediately following the fire. There is no statutory definition of “emergency relief”
and we have therefore drawn on the guidance published by the government to accompany
the Act entitled Emergency Response and Recovery, which defines “humanitarian
assistance” as the provision of proper care for those involved in and affected by a major
incident. We have concentrated on the following aspects of emergency relief:

a. Shelter and accommodation.

b. Basic provisions and financial assistance.

c. Psychosocial support.

d. Meeting the needs of specific groups.

e. Public communication.

f.  The provision of information to the family and friends of those affected.

g. Co-ordination of the activities of different responders.

1 Paragraph 1(h) of the Terms of Reference.
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98.5

98.6

98.7

The most important question we have had to consider is whether those affected by the fire
received adequate emergency relief and assistance from the authorities. We examine that
through the evidence of those most directly affected, which is considered in relation to the
various categories of emergency relief set out above.

In examining the adequacy of the response to the fire, we have concentrated on the
actions of the government, the council and the TMO in the seven days following the fire.
That is long enough to allow us to consider the key decisions made in those early hours and
days that had significant consequences for the response and recovery effort. Those seven
days cover both the initial period during which RBKC was in control of the response and
the period that began in the afternoon of 16 June 2017 when London Local Authority Gold
(“London Gold”) took control as part of the London-wide resilience arrangements.
However, although our investigations have concentrated on that relatively short period, we
recognise that the appalling after-effects of the fire continue to this day.

An important and striking feature of the response to the Grenfell Tower fire was the
substantial involvement of community, voluntary and faith groups in providing sanctuary
and support to those most seriously affected. We describe the circumstances in which that
took place and the extent to which it filled a vacuum left by the authorities.



Chapter 99

The legislative framework

99.1 The framework for emergency planning and response arrangements in the United Kingdom
is governed by the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (“the Act”)? and the Civil Contingencies Act
2004 (Contingency Planning) Regulations 2005 (“the Regulations”).?

99.2 Part | of the Act* deals with local arrangements for civil protection, defining an
“emergency” and establishing a statutory framework of roles and responsibilities for
responders. The Grenfell Tower fire was an emergency within the meaning of the Act.®

99.3 The Act divides responders into Category 1 responders (which include the fire and rescue,
police, and ambulance services and local authorities)® and Category 2 responders (which
include utility companies and transport providers).” Category 1 responders are subject to
legal duties relating to civil protection, which include assessing the risk of emergencies
occurring, putting in place emergency plans, making arrangements to provide information
to the public about civil protection matters, maintaining arrangements to warn, inform,
and advise the public in the event of an emergency, sharing information with other local
responders to enhance co-ordination, and co-operating with other local responders to
enhance co-ordination and efficiency.® Category 2 responders are required to co-operate
with Category 1 responders in connection with the performance of their duties.’

99.4 Government departments are not responders for the purposes of the Act. Bodies such as
the TMO are also not subject to duties under the Act.

99.5 In London, Category 1 responders discharge their statutory obligations collectively
through the London Resilience Forum (“the Forum”) and work together within the
Forum to assess the risk of an emergency of any particular kind occurring in London.*
They are required to maintain plans for emergencies collectively within the Forum*! and to
maintain arrangements to warn the public and provide it with information and advice if an
emergency is likely to, or has, occurred.*?

Civil Contingencies Act 2004 {CAB00004616}.

Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (Contingency Planning) Regulations 2005 {CABO0007003}.

Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Sections 1-18 {CAB00004616/1}.

Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Sections 1(1)(a) and 1(2) {CAB0O0004616/1}.

Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Schedule 1, Part 1, paragraph 1(c) and paragraph 1A {CAB00004616/31}.

Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Schedule 1, Part 3{CAB00004616/34}.

Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 2{CAB00004616/2}; Explanatory Memorandum to Civil Contingencies Act

2004 (Contingency Planning) Regulations 2005, paragraph 7.2 {HOMO00000492/4}.

° Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 2(1) {CAB00004616/2}; Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (Contingency Planning)
Regulations, Regulation 4(5) {CABO0007003/5}.

10 Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 2(1)(a) and (b) {CAB00004616/2}.

1 Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 2(1)(d) {CAB0O0004616/3}.

12 Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 2(1)(g) {CAB00004616/3}.

® N O A W N
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Ministerial intervention and emergency powers

99.6 Under Part 1 of the Act ministers have the power to make legally enforceable orders

to reduce, control, or mitigate the effects of a local emergency, or take other action in
connection with it, subject to an affirmative resolution of both houses of Parliament.*?
In cases of urgency, ministers can issue temporary written directions to responders,
without any further formality, that remain binding for 21 days.!* Neither of those powers
was used in connection with the Grenfell Tower fire. The Act also contains provision for
making emergency regulations,* but those powers were not used either.

Subsidiarity

99.7 Part | of the Act and the Regulations are supplemented by statutory guidance entitled

Emergency Preparedness, revised by the Cabinet Office in 2011. It deals with matters that
must be considered before an emergency occurs (the so-called “pre-emergency phase”)
and describes the requirements of the Act and the Regulations.'® The Act is further
supplemented by non-statutory guidance entitled Emergency Response and Recovery,
which gives guidance on how to respond to emergencies and what the recovery phase
should entail.*’

99.8 The UK’s approach to civil contingencies is based on the principle that decisions should

be taken at the lowest appropriate level with co-ordination at the highest necessary

level.'® In all cases, local agencies are considered to be the building blocks of response and
recovery operations.'® The role of the government is to support and supplement the efforts
of local responders through the provision of resources and co-ordination. The central

and sub-national tiers of government only become involved in emergency response and
recovery efforts where it is necessary or helpful to do so0.?°

99.9 Emergency Response and Recovery states that humanitarian assistance is about ensuring

that those involved in and affected by a major incident are properly cared for.?* That is likely
to include the provision of basic shelter, information about what has happened, medical
assistance and treatment, financial and legal support, psychosocial support, advice and
direction on how to get further help and assistance, communication facilities to enable
people to contact and meet each other, providing a link to a police investigation, where
relevant, and providing a point of contact for longer-term support and advice.

13

14
15

16

17
18
19
20
21

Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 5(1) and 5(3); Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 17(2) {CAB00004616/7}
and {CABO0004616/18}. Orders can require collaboration with a specified person or body or confer a power on a
minister or some third party that would normally be exercised by a responder (Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section
5(4) {CAB00004616/7}). They can also require or permit the disclosure of information, which would otherwise not
be available (Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 6 {CABO0004616/8}).

Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 7 {CAB0O0004616/9}.

Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Sections 19-31 {CAB00004616/20-28}. See also Responding to Emergencies: The UK
Central Government Concept of Operations (“ConOps”) {CAB0O0000026/66-67}.

Emergency Preparedness: Chapter 1 {CABO0000079}; Chapter 2{CAB00007027}; Chapter 3 {CABO0004536};
Chapter 4 {CABO0004537}; Chapter 5 {CAB00004623}; Chapter 6 {CABO0007026}; Chapter 7 {CAB0O0004543};
Chapter 8 {CAB00004544}; Chapter 9 {CAB00004545}; Chapter 10 {CAB0O0004531}; Chapter 11 {CAB0O0004594};
Chapter 12 {CAB00004595}; Chapter 13 {CAB00004596}; Chapter 14 {CABO0004597}; Chapter 15 {CAB0O0004598};
Chapter 16 {CAB00004599}; Chapter 19 {CAB00004622}.

Emergency Response and Recovery {CABO0004519}.

Emergency Preparedness, Chapter 16 {CAB00004599/3} paragraph 16.1.

Emergency Response and Recovery {CABO0004519/18} paragraph 2.4.1.

Emergency Response and Recovery {CABO0004519/18} paragraph 2.4.2.

Emergency Response and Recovery {CABO0004519/116} paragraph 7.1.1.

10
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99.10 Emergency Response and Recovery also indicated that in this case RBKC (as the relevant
local authority) should work with partners to provide immediate shelter and welfare for
survivors who did not require medical support, their families and friends, through rest
centres, humanitarian and other centres, in order to meet their immediate or short-term
needs), to provide for the medium- to longer-term welfare of survivors (for example,
by means of support from social services and financial assistance and also by providing
helplines to answer questions from the public in one place), to facilitate the remediation
and re-occupation of sites or areas affected by the emergency, to co-ordinate the
activities of any voluntary sector agencies and spontaneous volunteers and to lead the
recovery effort.??

Guidance supporting the Act

99.11 In addition to the two core guidance documents, Emergency Preparedness and
Emergency Response and Recovery, there are a large number of further guidance and
policy documents which deal with various aspects of the civil protection regime and
emergency response arrangements.?®* They include Evacuation and shelter guidance,*
Human Aspects in Emergency Management* and National Recovery Guidance.?®

99.12 Katharine Hammond, then Director of the Civil Contingencies Secretariat (part of the
Cabinet Office), told us that guidance and policy documents were made available to
local responders through an online platform,?’ but that many local responders also had
hard copies.?® Although Ms Hammond could not recall any concern or complaint being
raised about the complexity or quantity of guidance and policy documents or the general
complexity of the civil contingencies framework,?° the guidance and policy documents are
lengthy, numerous, and do not always define important concepts in the same way.

99.13 Emergency Preparedness states that emergency plans should have particular regard to the
vulnerable (those with mobility difficulties, those with mental health difficulties or who
are dependent on others, such as children) and to survivors and others affected (those
directly affected by the emergency or the anxiety of not knowing what has happened).*®
Emergency Response and Recovery recognises that special consideration must be given
to the needs of various of groups for care and support, with particular reference to four
groups which can make challenging demands on responding agencies, namely, (i) children
and young people, (ii) faith, religious, cultural and minority ethnic communities, (iii) elderly
people and (iv) people with disabilities.**

22 Emergency Response and Recovery {CAB00004519/33-34} paragraph 3.2.34.

23 {CAB0O0000010} sets out policies, procedures, plans and strategy documents of which the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat considered as of potential relevance to the Grenfell Tower fire response. Hammond {CAB00014764/2}
page 2, paragraph 8.

24 {CAB00004627}.

25 {CAB0O0000036}.

% {INQ00015207}.

27 Resilience Direct is the private web-based platform used by responders both in planning and in response and
recovery. Hammond {CAB00014764/10} page 10, paragraph 33.

2 Hammond {Day280/139:18}-{Day280/140:4}.

2 Hammond {Day280/140:11-25}.

30 Emergency Preparedness, Chapter 5 {CAB00004623/39-40} paragraphs 5.97-5.103.

31 Emergency Response and Recovery {CAB00004519/129-131} section 7.7.

11
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99.14 In addition, the Home Office issued guidance entitled The Needs of Faith Communities in

Major Emergencies: Some Guidelines®** and the Cabinet Office issued guidance documents
which specifically addressed the needs of vulnerable people,®® including Identifying
people who are vulnerable in a crisis,** Expectations and Indicators of Good Practice

Set for Category 1 and 2 Responders*® and Preparation and planning for emergencies:
responsibilities of responder agencies and others.*®* We have not found it necessary to
examine that further guidance in detail.

99.15 At the time of the Grenfell Tower fire, most of the Cabinet Office guidance did not refer

to the Equality Act 2010 or to how responders should discharge their duties under it,
including the public sector equality duty, when planning for emergencies.?” We observe
that although the National Resilience Standards introduced in July 2018 now include

one discrete reference to the Equality Act 2010,% the Act is not mentioned in either
Emergency Preparedness or Emergency Response and Recovery. Nor is it listed in Chapter
19 of Emergency Preparedness, which addresses what is called “the fit with other
legislation” but has not been revised since its publication in February 2011.%°

Risk assessment at national level

99.16  Since 2005 the Civil Contingencies Secretariat has produced a National Risk Assessment.

Originally it was produced annually but since 2014 it has been produced biennially.*

The assessment, which since 2019 has been incorporated into the National Security

Risk Assessment, is a classified document which identifies what the government considers
to be the most serious types of risks facing the United Kingdom over the coming five years.
In order for a risk to be included, it must constitute a civil emergency within the meaning of
the Civil Contingencies Act, be an event that could plausibly occur within the next five years
and have an effect which exceeds a certain minimum level. There are usually between 70
and 100 risks identified in the NRA.#

99.17 The designated “owner” of each risk, normally a government department, is responsible

for collecting evidence to inform the assessment and is required to work with experts

from within and outside the organisation to gain a clear understanding of the risk and its
consequences. The owner of the risk is required to use the information obtained in that
way to identify a serious but plausible manifestation of the risk (known as “a reasonable

32
33

34

35

36

37

38
39
40
41

“Needs of Faith Communities in Major Emergencies” guidance {CAB00014865}.

MacFarlane {CABO0014862/3-4} pages 3-4, paragraph 11; Emergency Preparedness, Chapter 5 {CABO0004623/39}
paragraphs 5.98.

“Identifying People Who Are Vulnerable in a Crisis: Guidance for Emergency Planners and Responders”, guidance,
published in 2008, specifically refers to minority language speakers {CAB00014864/14} and the Disability
Discrimination Act as “other legislation may interact with responsibilities under the Civil Contingencies Act”
{CAB00014864/7} paragraph 11.

“Expectations and Indicators of Good Practice Set for Category 1 and 2 Responders” guidance, revised in October
2013, lists giving special consideration to vulnerable people when producing plans as a “mandatory requirement”
{CAB00004629/26} and reminds responders of the need to consider vulnerable groups when communicating with
the public {CAB0O0004629/28}.

“Preparation and planning for emergencies: responsibilities of responder agencies and others” guidance, published
in February 2013 {CAB00014785}.

The Equality Act 2010 was identified in Annex C of Human Aspects in Emergency Management as a key piece of
legislation that should be considered when planning for Humanitarian Assistance {CABO0000036/56}. In contrast
and by way of example, at the London level the Act was referred to directly in the London Resilience Partnership’s
2015 document “Identification of the Vulnerable: A Guidance Note for Local Implementation” {LFB0O0061174/6}
paragraph 1.6 and the Humanitarian Assistance Framework, v.5 dated April 2017 {LFBO0061172}.

MacFarlane {CAB0O0014862/5} page 5, paragraph 14.

Emergency Preparedness, Chapter 19 {CABO0004622}.

McCloghrie {CAB00014798/2} page 2, paragraph 6.

McCloghrie {CAB00014798/3} page 3, paragraph 11.

12
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worst-case scenario”),*? the likelihood of its occurring and the potential effect if it were to
do s0.”* The most recent edition of the National Risk Assessment before the Grenfell Tower
fire had been completed in 2016 and released in February 2017.** At that time, the

Home Office was the owner of the risk in relation to fire.*

99.18 The National Risk Assessment released in 2017 included in its risks a significant wildfire.*®

It did not envisage a major fire in a high-rise building *” and no consideration appears to
have been given to an event of that kind.*® Luke Edwards, director of fire and resilience
within the Crime, Policing and Fire Group at the Home Office,* was not aware that it had
been considered>® and Ms Hammond was unable to say whether a tower block fire had
been considered and discounted or had not been considered at all.>*

99.19 The National Risk Assessment was based in part on certain assumptions (the

National Resilience Planning Assumptions), which establish the maximum expected scale,
duration, and severity of the common consequences of the reasonable worst-case scenario
described in the risk summaries.> Examples include the number of casualties and the
extent of disruption to certain essential services.>?

99.20 The National Risk Assessment and the National Resilience Planning Assumptions together

form the basis of the National Risk Register, which is a public document>* used by local
responders and local resilience forums to inform their own risk assessments and planning
assumptions. The National Risk Register current at the time of the Grenfell Tower fire,
published in March 2015, identified the risk of severe wildfires but did not identify the
risk of a major fire in a high-rise building.®

99.21 Ms Hammond said that although the National Risk Assessment issued in 2016 did not

identify a significant urban fire (including a fire in a tower block), a number of reasonable
worst-case scenarios indicated the need to plan for outcomes very similar to those seen at
Grenfell Tower. That in turn should have meant that the omission of an urban fire did not
prejudice the ability of Category 1 and Category 2 responders to make a fully informed local
risk assessment.>’

99.22 Ms Hammond accepted, however, that the inclusion of an urban or tower block fire in the

2016 version of the National Risk Assessment would have provided a focus for responders>®
and we consider that it would have significantly increased the likelihood of its inclusion

in documents such as the London Risk Register, to which we come later. We note that

the version of the Local Risk Management Guidance produced by the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat in 2016, which was intended to help Category 1 and 2 responders fulfil their

42

43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58

A reasonable worst case scenario (RWCS) is defined as a challenging yet plausible manifestation of the risk.
Hammond {CAB00014799/5-6} pages 5-6, paragraph 17.

McCloghrie {CAB00014798/4} page 4, paragraph 13.

Hammond {CAB00014799/3} page 3, paragraph 8.

Hammond {Day280/103:1-17}; Hammond {CABO0014799/4} page 4, paragraph 10.

McCloghrie {CAB00014798/10-11} pages 10-11, paragraph 36.

Edwards {HOMO00050071/7-8} pages 7-8, paragraph 28.

Hammond {CAB00014868/2} page 2, paragraphs 7-8; Edwards {HOMO00050071/8} page 8, paragraph 30.
Edwards {HOMO00050071/1} page 1, paragraph 3.

Edwards {HOMO00050071/8} page 8, paragraph 30.

Hammond {Day280/107:4-8}.

Hammond {CAB00014799/2} page 2, paragraph 4.3; Hammond {CAB00014799/10} page 10, paragraph 33.
Hammond {CAB00014799/16-17} pages 16-17, paragraph 55.

Hammond {CAB00014764/6} page 6, paragraph 22.

National Risk Register 2015 {CABO0007009}.

National Risk Register 2015 {CABO0007009/27-28}.

Hammond {Day280/114:8-15}.

Hammond {Day280/133:2-7}.

13
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local risk assessment duties and provide advice on how best to use information from the
2016 National Risk Assessment in a local context,*® directed responders to consider which
of the risks identified in the National Risk Assessment were relevant to their own areas.®®

99.23 The Civil Contingencies Secretariat is also responsible for the management of the
online database which acts as a single repository of information obtained from a
variety of sources which is thought to provide lessons for the future.®* Known as the
Joint Organisational Learning system, it is specifically intended to meet the need to
capture, promulgate and implement lessons learnt from major incidents.®? However, at
the time of the Grenfell Tower fire the database did not include any lessons learnt from
earlier incidents involving fires in high-rise buildings, such as the Lakanal House fire in July
2009, the Shirley Towers fire in Southampton in 2010 or the Adair Tower fire in October
2015.% Ms Hammond, who was not in post at the time of those incidents, did not know
why lessons learnt from them had not been included.® It is not clear whether an urban or
tower block fire would have merited inclusion as a separate risk in the 2016 version of the
National Risk Assessment, but we are concerned that the omission from the database of
lessons gained from any urban fires may have limited the material available to inform the
assessment of risks.

99.24 Following the Grenfell Tower fire, the National Risk Register issued in September 2017
was revised to include the risk of fire in a residential building, with specific mention of
the Grenfell Tower fire.®> A Home Office witness explained that the decision to include
it was made in the light of the widespread use of combustible cladding and the new
understanding that other buildings might be at risk. It was thought that using the publicly
available National Risk Register was a sensible way of communicating those matters more
widely.®® The National Security Risk Assessment completed in 2019, the most recent version
of the National Risk Assessment, includes the example of a fire in a high-rise residential
building as the reasonable worst case scenario for a fire risk, with the risk of wildfire
remaining as an alternative.®” The inclusion of an urban fire has also resulted in some small
changes to the National Resilience Planning Assumptions, for example, a major fire is now
a risk to consider in the planning assumption for rubble, debris, and trapped people.®®
Ms Hammond told us that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat had a better understanding
of the fire risk which had been improved by revised Home Office modelling following the
Grenfell Tower fire. As a result, it was now recognised that the consequences of a major
tower block fire were more significant than had previously been assessed.®®

99.25 Local resilience forums are responsible for risk assessments in their areas. The London
Resilience Forum discharges the statutory duties in relation to Greater London to assess
risks across London and maintain plans for responding to them.”

% Hammond {CAB00014799/13-15} pages 13-15, paragraphs 45-49.

€0 Hammond {CABO0014799/14} page 14, paragraph 48.1.

1 MacFarlane {CAB00014794/10} page 10, paragraph 35.

%2 MacFarlane {CAB00014794/10} page 10, paragraph 35.

6 MacFarlane {CAB00014803/3} page 3, paragraph 7.

¢ Hammond {Day280/120:2-14}.

5 National Risk Register 2017, “Industrial and Urban Accidents” {CABO0000069/46-49}. See also the National Risk
Register 2020 “Major Fires” {INQ00015149/83-86}. In that edition the “Major Fires” chapter is separate to the
chapter on “Industrial Accidents”.

Edwards {HOMOO0050071/9} page 9, paragraph 32.

7 McCloghrie {CAB00014798/12} page 12, paragraph 40.

8 McCloghrie {CAB0O0014798/12} page 12, paragraph 40.

® Hammond {CAB00014799/20} page 20, paragraph 65.

70 Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 2(1)(d) {CAB00004616/2-3}.

14
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The London Risk Register

99.26 The London Risk Register is developed in a way that is consistent with the National Risk

Register’* and provides an overview of the principal risks which may affect London as a
whole.”” The register completed in February 2017 and therefore current at the time of

the Grenfell Tower fire did not refer to the risk of a major fire in a residential tower block,
although it did refer to the risk of a severe wildfire.”? That was because a residential tower
block fire had not been included in the register since it had not been included in the
National Risk Register and had not been identified by the London Risk Assessment Group as
a risk that required a London-wide approach.”

99.27 When it revised the London Risk Register in February 2017, the London Risk

Assessment Group did not consider whether the fires at Lakanal House in July 2009 and
Adair Tower in 2015 had altered the level of risk presented by a tower block fire in London,
it seems because it had not been alerted to the fact that it might need to take account

of those fires.” The responsibility to feed that risk into the process for compiling the
London Risk Register rested with the relevant Category 1 responders, the London Borough
of Southwark in the case of the Lakanal House fire and RBKC in the case of the Adair Tower
fire.”® In addition, the LFB, which had primary responsibility for identifying risks relating to
fire in London, had not alerted those responsible for the London Risk Register to the risk of
a major tower block fire.”” As of May 2022, the London Resilience Group had still not given
any consideration to those omissions.”®

99.28 When he gave evidence, John Hetherington, then deputy head of the London Resilience

Group,” accepted that the risk of a high-rise or urban tower block fire should have been
included as a separate entry on the London Risk Register before June 2017 and that its
absence was a serious failing.®® We agree. The fires at Lakanal House and Adair Tower,
not to mention the fires that had occurred in high-rise buildings abroad, ought to

have prompted consideration of that risk which should have been taken into account

by those responsible for the London Risk Register as part of their assessment and
incorporated into it.

99.29 As alocal authority, RBKC is a Category 1 responder. Its legal duties include assessing the

risk of an emergency occurring.®! RBKC is required to hold a Borough Risk Register compiled
by the Borough Resilience Forum.® The purpose of the register is to identify risks to the
borough, to quantify the likelihood of those risks occurring and the likely effect if they do,
and to note measures that may mitigate those risks. RBKC’s Borough Risk Register was
dated December 2016.% It did not include urban or tower block fires.

71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83

Hetherington {LFB00119130/14} page 14, paragraph 44.

Hetherington {Day277/109:11-23}.

London Risk Register v.5.4, 2017 {LFB00061165/13}.

Hetherington {Day277/110:14-24}.

Hetherington {Day277/111:1-11}.

Hetherington {Day277/116:17-25}.

Hetherington {Day277/128:5-25}.

Hetherington {Day277/117:1-3}.

Hetherington {LFBO0061158/2} page 2, paragraph 5; Hetherington {Day277/7:1-10}.
Hetherington {Day277/121:12-19}.

Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Section 2{CAB00004616/2}.

Kerry {Day268/19:22}-{Day268/20:2}; Civil Contingencies Act 2004, Sections 2(1)(a)-(f) {CAB00004616/2-3}.
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99.30

99.31

The Borough Risk Register issued in December 2016 described itself as a “living document”
that was to be revised and updated as and when required.®* There appears to have

been little or no consideration of the inclusion of the risk of fire in a high-rise building,
despite the history of fires in buildings of that kind in London, including the Adair Tower
fire in October 2015 (which happened within RBKC'’s resilience jurisdiction) and the

Lakanal House fire in 2009.%8° Although the regulatory framework requires Category 1
responders to consider risks specific to their locality, it is apparent from the evidence of
David Kerry® that significant reliance was placed on the London Risk Register instead of the
Borough Risk Register.®’

In our view, tower block fires should have been included in both the London and Borough
risk assessments. Government tools (such as the Joint Organisational Learning online
database) were defective and Ms Hammond’s expectation that the planning assumptions
would act as a “safety net”, catching any gaps in the reasonable worst-case scenarios, did
not reflect the reality of local risk assessment. If there had been a reference to a tower
block fire in the National Risk Register, as there now is, it is likely that local risk assessors
would have been prompted to consider the risks in detail.

8 {RBK00036688/8} section 2.3.

8  Kerry {Day268/23:11-17}.

8  Kerry {Day268/22:17}-{Day268/23:10}.

8 Also referred to as the Community Risk Register {RBK0O0036688/8} section 2.2.
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Chapter 100

Personal experiences

Introduction

100.1 Itis appropriate that we begin our description of the response to the Grenfell Tower fire by
recounting in their own words the personal experiences of those who were most directly
affected. RBKC, as a Category 1 responder, had a responsibility to ensure that the needs of
those affected by the fire were properly met. For that reason, the quality and effectiveness
of the response must be judged in a large part by their experience. We recognise that,
although many people were affected in similar ways, the experience of each person was
unigue and that recollections may be affected in many different ways. Although we do not
doubt the sincerity and honesty of those who gave evidence, it has not been possible for us
to obtain specific responses from those who were seeking to provide help and who might
wish to put forward a different perspective. This chapter should therefore be read with
that in mind. It should be understood as an account of the experiences of people who had
suddenly lost their homes and all their possessions and were entirely dependent on others
to satisfy their basic needs.

100.2  We received 220 witness statements dealing with the response to the fire. We also
heard oral evidence from Karim Mussilhy, Hisam Choucair, Mahmoud Al-Karad,
Mohammed Rasoul, Mouna El Ogbani, Fatima Boujettif, Hanan Cherbika, Nabil Choucair
and Hanan Wahabi. An extensive thematic summary of the evidence of all those who had
provided statements was read during the hearings.®® That substantial body of evidence has
enabled us to examine in detail the steps taken by RBKC, London Gold, the TMO and the
government to provide humanitarian relief.

100.3  Although our investigations have concentrated on the seven days following the fire, we
acknowledge that it continues to have a searing effect every day on many of those affected.
We are extremely grateful to those who have shared their experiences with us and thank
them for their courage and dignity in recounting them.

100.4 Taken as a whole, the evidence portrays a community whose lives have been changed
forever by the fire. We learnt much of the immediate effects of the fire and of the long-
lasting trauma that so many have experienced and still do. Those affected include, but are
not limited to, survivors who escaped from the tower, residents of the tower who lost their
homes, those who lost loved ones and those who were evacuated from nearby properties,
some of whom also lost their homes. Such is the closeness of the local community that
many survivors and residents are also bereaved, having lost loved ones, friends and
neighbours. It is clear to us that they were, and, most importantly, felt themselves to have
been, comprehensively failed by those to whom they looked for protection in the wake of a
major disaster. Safety and security are as much to do with the perceptions of those affected
as they are with the actions of those responsible for providing protection.

8  {Day264/108:21}-{Day264/213:12}; {Day267/41:16}-{Day267/93:10}.
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The early hours

100.5 While the emergency services were fighting the fire, survivors, residents of the

tower and those evacuated from surrounding properties®® were abandoned without
information about where to go or what to do.®® There was “absolute chaos and confusion
everywhere” %! The scene was described as a “horror film”%? and a “war zone”.%

Mr Mussilhy told us that the area was “engulfed”®* with people and, given the chaos on the
street, he expected to see people in authority with high-visibility jackets and clipboards,
but there was nobody.* Such was the confusion about what to do or where to go that
some survivors® and residents of the walkways slept in their cars.®” Other residents

waited for hours for buses that they had been told would be coming to take them to a rest
centre,®® but instead they had to walk in the early hours to rest centres that had opened
spontaneously nearby.®

100.6 Inthe absence of timely support from the authorities, members of the community took it

upon themselves to open informal rest centres. They organised themselves quickly in an
effort to meet a diverse range of needs.’® Community centres were filled with people with
nowhere to go trying to find shelter. Although community rest centres did their best to
support those affected, some were forced through overcrowding to refuse entry to those
who were not survivors. 1% Some survivors had to sleep in rest centres,'2 while some of
those who lived in the walkways were left wandering the estate, displaced and unable

to return home.'®

100.7 In the absence of anyone apparently in authority!® or any information, survivors and

residents were left to fend for themselves, having experienced the shock of the fire and in
many cases searching frantically for loved ones. So far as they could see, the council and
the TMO had “vanished” in the immediate aftermath of the fire!®> and were conspicuous
by their absence.® Although RBKC began to assemble a presence in and around the tower
from about 2.30am?!?” and the TMO from 3.30am,% they were not clearly visible to those
who might need them.
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Emergency accommodation

100.8 Many of those who had lost their homes experienced a number of problems with
emergency accommodation. They included uncertainty about how long they might have to
stay in hotels, unsuitable rooms, problems with the provision of suitable food, the distance
of hotels from the community and failures to provide for particular needs.

100.9 The initial allocation of accommodation was confused and inconsistent. Some of those
affected were allocated emergency accommodation in community rest centres, as RBKC
sent representatives to the Rugby Portobello Trust and the Clement James Centre.

Ms Wahabi told us about her experience of being allocated hotel accommodation at the
Rugby Portobello Trust on 14 June 2017. She said that there had been no clear system for
the allocation of emergency accommodation. She described feeling like “cattle just coming
through”.' The interviews lacked privacy, empathy and humanity and were described by
some as being undertaken in a robotic and formulaic way.!° The lack of any system meant
that individual needs could not be catered for.

100.10 RBKC housing teams were sent only to the Rugby Portobello Trust and the Clement James
Centre.’* Although TMO staff were sent to more community rest centres, they did not
visit some important places, such as the Al Manaar Muslim Cultural Heritage Centre or
St Francis of Assisi church.!*? That contributed to a lack of awareness amongst those
affected of what support with accommodation was available and where.

100.11 Some survivors had to wait for days before being allocated accommodation.!** Others were
not contacted about their emergency accommodation until two weeks after the fire and in
the meantime had to make their own arrangements.*

100.12 A particular concern was the lack of information about accommodation for those who had
been taken to hospital. Some survivors were discharged with no information about where
to go.® One family attended the Town Hall to try and get some information but were told
to come back the following day as there was nobody available.!*®

100.13 For those who were allocated emergency accommodation there was often a lack of
support in getting there. Some survivors were given oyster cards;!” others were just told
by telephone that a room had been made available to them but were given no information
about how to get there. Many had no money and only the clothes they stood up in.®
Some people arrived at the designated hotel only to find that it did not have a booking for
them!® and that they had to go and stay with friends.'?° Due to booking errors, one former
resident of the tower went to three different hotels before arriving at the right one.*?

109 Wahabi {Day267/111:10}-{Day267/112:14}.

10 Wahabi {Day267/111:10}-{Day267/112:14}; Simms {Day275/193:15-17}.

11 | aura Johnson {RBKO0035592/8} page 8, paragraph 33.
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{IWS00002034/8} page 8, paragraphs 31.
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115 Alhaj Ali {IWS00001533/12-13} pages 12 - 13, paragraphs 62 and 63.
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19



The Grenfell Tower Inquiry: Phase 2 Report

100.14 The emergency accommodation arranged by RBKC was in many cases wholly inadequate.
Many were distressed to find that they had been placed in rooms on high floors.??
Those affected described how the rooms allocated to them were small and unsuitable.'??
Families of four!?* and five!? were given one room*?® with a double bed. One couple was
given a single room with a single bed and had to wait for a double room a month later.*?’
Insufficient space in rooms meant that on one occasion a member of a family had to sleep
on the sofa in the hotel reception.?®

100.15 The council did not tell people who had been placed in hotels how long they would be able
to stay there,*?® which added significantly to the anxiety that people were experiencing
at that difficult time.**® One family with three children were placed in a hotel on
17 June 2017, but were told the next day that they had to find alternative accommodation
for themselves.®*! Many were told that they were booked in for only one night and had
the uncertainty of not knowing whether the booking was going to be extended.** Some
received notes under their doors saying they were booked in for another week!* but
others had a note left on the door giving them just a few hours to leave.’** Ms El-Ogbani
put it particularly vividly. She told us that the uncertainty was “really stressful and made
us really angry, because you don’t know how you’re going to live the next day ... our
future was blank”.**

100.16 Although hotel placements were intended to be emergency accommodation, for
many their stay was not temporary or short-term. Some people lived in inadequate
and unsuitable conditions for months,**® and in some cases longer,®*” while trying to
rebuild their lives.

100.17 Some survivors and residents of the area surrounding the tower were accommodated in
places far from their former homes. That created a sense of loneliness and isolation.!*®
Some survivors were allocated accommodation as far away as Wandsworth and described
an “acute sense of being completely isolated”.’*® They felt they were being ignored and
“moved further and further away”.**° No account appeared to have been taken of the need

122 Thompson {IWS00002110/33} page 33, paragraph 120; Burton {IWS00001661/24} page 24, paragraph 129; Yahya
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for people to be close to hospitals in order to visit their relatives'** some of whom were in
a critical condition.**? Some described having to use two or three taxis each day for hospital
visits, which was expensive and inconvenient.**® As a result, many people struggled to

visit rest centres and hospitals as well as taking their children to school.*** Those affected
described how stressful it was having to return to the area in order to visit the rest centres
to obtain support.#

100.18 When arranging emergency accommodation RBKC failed to give sufficient consideration to

the needs of particular groups. In some cases cots were not available for those with babies
or young children® nor any means of sterilising babies’ bottles'*” or making up bottles of
milk.**® No consideration appeared to have been given to the needs of children or to the
importance of space for homework and play.}* Some pregnant women were not given
sufficient consideration; one was forced to sleep on a sofa or the floor because the only
bed in the room was too high for her to get into it.»*°* Some of those who had restricted
mobility struggled with their accommodation because it was not adapted to their needs,
for example, by having a walk-in shower*! or a bed lever.’>* At the time of the fire, many
of those who lived in and around the tower were observing Ramadan, but halal food was
not available at all hotels! and it was not possible to observe the requirement to eat at set
times.*** People relied on the provision of food and support from the community.**>

100.19 Anillustration of these difficulties was provided by Mr Rasoul. He told us in graphic terms

how the needs of his elderly father with disabilities and of his children were not adequately
assessed by RBKC in the immediate aftermath of the fire and that the support they needed
had not been provided, despite their “lives being turned upside down” and the fact that
they were grieving.'*®

100.20 There was significant confusion about whether food was available for survivors and

residents at hotels and if so of what kind. One survivor, who lost her son in the fire, told
us that she did not know what she was entitled to and so restricted herself to just one
meal a day.®” Some heard that the council would only pay for drinks, so they only ordered
drinks.'®® Others spent their own money on food*° because they did not become aware
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until a month after the fire that food would be paid for.*®® Mr Rasoul told us that he had not
been aware for several weeks that food was available.®* The arrangements for obtaining
food at some hotels made some people feel like refugees.®?

100.21 Other basic facilities, such as the means of laundering clothes, were not available.®®

Families had to pack their laundry into black bags and suitcases and take it to the
laundrette in a taxi, which they felt was demeaning and humiliating. The picture we saw
was that of a vulnerable group of people facing not only the shock, grief and trauma of the
fire itself but also, as an immediate priority, the need to satisfy the most basic of their daily
needs. Survivors described it as living in limbo, with no space to heal.**

The Walkways: the forgotten residents

100.22 Adjoining Grenfell Tower were a number of low-rise residential buildings known locally as

‘The Walkways’. The Walkways consisted of Hurstway Walk, Barandon Walk, Testerton Walk
and Grenfell Walk. Treadgold House was not one of the Walkways but its residents were
also evacuated and displaced.'® While the council grappled with its response to the needs
of those displaced from the tower, residents from the surrounding properties said they

felt forgotten.16®

100.23 In the days after the fire, responsibility for the residents evacuated from the surrounding

properties appears to have been informally delegated by the council to the TMO.

However, the numbers were huge: about 845 people had been displaced and were in
need.*®” The TMO was singularly ill-equipped to deal with so many people. Residents
described how in the provision of emergency accommodation their needs took second
place.’®® Although they had been displaced from their homes, their needs were considered
to be less important.®® They were left in an invidious position, unable to return to their
homes while the cordon remained in place but with insufficient hotel rooms available

to accommodate them all. Many sought help from family and friends. Not all were so
fortunate and some displaced residents were left sleeping on the grass by the Walkways
close to the tower.!”®

100.24 Residents of the Walkways voiced their resentment at the way in which the council

determined eligibility for the provision of support, including emergency accommodation,
noting that “trauma does not work along strict geographical lines”.*”* However, allocation
of emergency accommodation to this group of residents was haphazard. Exceptionally,
some residents were allocated accommodation at the Westway Centre as early as

14 June 2017.Y? Those who were allocated hotel accommodation were placed much later
on.'® One resident of the Walkways was advised to stay at the Westway Centre despite
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being pregnant and having three children, aged one, six and twelve.*’* She was not placed
in a hotel for two weeks.?”> Residents had to take the initiative to approach the council

to try to secure a place in a hotel. For some that took a few weeks!’® but others were not
placed in emergency accommodation until (in some cases) as late as October 2017.%7

100.25 Others were actively denied emergency accommodation. One resident was told she

should sleep on a friend’s sofa;*’® another family who lived in Testerton Walk were refused
emergency accommodation by a representative of the council at the Westway Centre,
because they lived “too far” from the tower, even though their neighbours were offered a
place in a hotel immediately.}”®

100.26 Some Walkway residents tried to ask for accommodation through the council’s housing

line, with unsatisfactory results.'® One resident called the phone line three times because
the council had failed to respond to her enquiries. She was told not to call again as she
was not a priority and that she was taking up the line.*® Others had similarly miserable
experiences and were told a hotel would be organised for them, only for no one to follow
up or call them back.’? One resident was able to secure emergency accommodation only
when he mentioned his partner’s chronic health condition, and even then the hotel to
which they were sent was available for only one night.'® The residents of the Walkways
understood very well that many people needed help but they too were in shock and
despair and needed somewhere to stay.'® Several of them did not know that emergency
accommodation was available®> and did not ask for it.’®¢ At least one booked his own hotel
accommodation as the only alternative was to stay at a rest centre, which he thought
would have an adverse effect on his mental health.*®” One walkway resident who used

a wheelchair was never made aware of the availability of emergency accommodation.

He stayed at his sister’s home for three to four days and then returned home to

Barandon Walk where there was no hot water or proper wheelchair access.*®

The lifting of the cordon

100.27 Among the residents of the Walkways there was a general state of confusion and

uncertainty about whether it was safe to return to their homes.?® On the day after the fire,
TMO staff told some residents that they could return at their own risk, but did not explain
what the risks were or suggest any alternatives.’® Some residents received a text message
later in the week saying they could return home, but when they tried to do so were denied
access by the police.**
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100.28 Having nowhere else to go, some residents returned to their flats to find that there

was no hot water or heating,*®> which was particularly difficult for those with small
children.?® They were left to use the showers at Virgin Active’® and the Westway Centre.’*®
Other residents returned home on 15 June 2017 and were allowed in, only to be told later
in the afternoon that they had to leave again.'*®

100.29 The residents of Grenfell Walk were in a different position from that of other residents

evacuated from nearby properties, in that, like the residents of Grenfell Tower, they
needed to be resettled in new accommodation.’” The council does not appear to have
fully understood that fact when it came to the provision of humanitarian assistance.*®
Ms Cherbika told us that “we needed help desperately, and every door we kept going

to was closed because we wasn’t bereaved or wasn’t a survivor ... we was in between.
We didn’t come out of the tower, but we couldn’t also go back to our properties, so we
were homeless, but nobody was helping...”.’*° Some residents said that the difference

in treatment between residents of the tower and residents of the Walkways created
“hierarchy and a division” within the community which, before the fire, had been one.?®

The Westway Centre

100.30 The Westway Centre initially opened spontaneously as a rest centre.?%! Staff responsible

for its management said that no official support had been offered in the initial hours of

the first day. 2% Representatives from RBKC and the TMO attended later on 14 June 2017
when it became the official rest centre in an attempt to concentrate support in one place.
However, there were serious shortcomings in the way the centre was set up and managed,
which meant that those who needed it encountered significant difficulties in obtaining
immediate humanitarian support. We examine those shortcomings in Chapter 104.

They included displaced residents being denied entry, a lack of clarity about the services
available, a need for people to provide the same information on several occasions to obtain
support of different kinds and an absence of staff representing those in authority, such as
RBKC and the TMO.

100.31 Those working in the Westway Centre did not know that residents had been evacuated

from nearby properties and that some had lost their homes. Many of those who went to
the centre were therefore initially refused help.?** Some were denied entry altogether.2®

100.32 A number of residents and survivors had difficulty gaining entry to the Westway Centre

after a registration system was introduced on 14 June 2017.%°® Many displaced people were
asked to provide evidence of identity in order to enter the centre, despite the fact that
they had lost everything in the fire. Sometimes those running help desks insisted on the
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production of identification documents before they would provide help.?” Gaining access
to the centre was considered so difficult that some residents had to “sneak in” after they
had been refused official entry.%®

100.33 Community leaders who visited the Westway Centre, described a multiple-choice system

where people were asked “Are you a survivor, are you bereaved, or are you a visitor?”?%
The process was described as astonishingly perfunctory and without compassion.?'©

100.34 As part of the verification process, the Red Cross gave people wristbands on entry.?!!

Some residents were concerned that that made them easily identifiable in the
street, including by journalists, and did not like being “marked” and given a new
wristband every day.?'?

100.35 The experiences of those who came to receive support at the Westway Centre were not

happy. The physical layout of the space was confused and the centre lacked basic systems
for processing the influx of donations and signs to direct people to services of different
kinds.?* Some survivors who had lost loved ones arrived at the Westway Centre after being
discharged from hospital but did not see anyone from the council and were not given any
help.?** Although the council had a desk there, its staff appeared to be “powerless” as they
could not offer any support to those affected other than emergency accommodation.?%®
The centre was described as lacking “warmth”?!® and its atmosphere as being “formal and
bureaucratic”.?!’ For example, one individual who was trying to find five loved ones was
told to send an email.?!® For some, “it felt like a shelter for government representatives
and the council staff rather than a refuge and support centre...”.?2° Consequently, residents
and survivors preferred the rest centres run by the community, as they were more
“community orientated”.??®

100.36 A particular problem with the way in which the Westway Centre was organised was

that those in need of assistance had to go there and say what they needed in order to
receive support. However, that meant that some of those who were injured, traumatised
or isolated felt that they could not obtain what they needed when they should have

been the priority.?! We were told that “it felt as though rather than coming to us for
support, we had to go to them.”??2 Some were thankful that they had been able to obtain
some of the services available at the Westway Centre, such as replacement documents.
Others, however, said that they felt very exposed. They complained of a lack of privacy and
said that, because everything was happening in one place, it was overwhelming.???
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100.37 Some survivors slept at the Westway Centre in the first few days following the fire. It was

described by one person as being like a “refugee camp”,?** with people sleeping on mats
and donated mattresses on the tennis hall floor.?>> One member of staff was concerned
that no consideration had been given to the trauma people had experienced.??® It was
described as a “very sad place to be” and “somewhere for people that did not have
anywhere better to go.”?*’ The Jafari family remained at the Westway Centre for 10 days??®
and describe staying there as “horrific” due to the lack of privacy.??

100.38 Given their role in supporting those affected by the fire, many community leaders had the

opportunity to observe the services being provided at the Westway Centre close at hand.

Some were of the view that centralising support at that location failed to consider existing
relationships that those affected had with organisations in the area,?*° and that the centre
was “intimidating”.?*!

100.39 Some staff from community rest centres refused to go to the Westway Centre and

withdrew because they felt that the system in operation there was inhumane and cruel.?*
Instead of making traumatised survivors and the displaced constantly justify the need for
support?®® there should have been a system, according to one volunteer, where people
had to explain their situation once and receive the information and support needed in an
environment where they felt safe and knew the staff. 234

Financial assistance

100.40 There were significant problems in providing financial assistance to those affected by

the fire. The council did not have a policy in place for arranging and distributing financial
assistance or communicating how it could be obtained. As a result, many of those who had
been displaced or who had lost their belongings in the fire?*> had no access to funds at a
time of unprecedented need and were trying to support themselves and their children.?®
Some people did not receive any financial assistance at all and were entirely dependent
upon support from charities.??” Others were actively denied assistance by the council.

One survivor was told that she was not entitled to any financial assistance because she and
her partner were in employment.?*® Other survivors were refused assistance,?® or offered a
significantly lower amount,?*® because they were not formally tenants of flats in the tower.
Some residents who had been evacuated were refused financial assistance because they
were leaseholders.?? Although they did not feel ready to do so, some felt they had to go
back to work soon after the fire simply because they could not afford to do otherwise.?*?
Some residents were refused payments because, as they understood it, the money
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allocated to them had been wrongly given to someone else.?*® For those who did receive
financial assistance, the payments were often significantly delayed;*** some told us that
they had had to wait for over four months for any financial assistance from the council.?*

100.41 The general experience was of inconsistency of approach. As an illustration, one resident

received £500 to be shared with her brother,?*® but others received as little as £100 in

the first week and nothing thereafter.?*” Payments made were often insufficient given the
variety of needs, such as travel, food and clothing.?*® People understandably felt demeaned
and humiliated?* when having to go back to ask for more financial assistance.*® A great
many of them were proudly independent and self-reliant and the experience of having to
ask the authorities for a handout was a humiliating one.

100.42 The process of obtaining assistance was an uphill battle?* and for many, embarrassing and

intrusive.?? One survivor was told by the council to write down everything she needed
money for, despite the fact she had lost everything in the fire.?>* Mr Al-Karad told us that
the difficulties in obtaining financial support added greatly to the stress he was under and
it was not easy to get help. He said that in the first few months he had had to fight for what
he needed and sometimes ask for it “20 times”.?>*

100.43 The source of the problem was that the council did not take active steps to tell people what

they were entitled to and how they could obtain it.*® Instead, it waited for them to ask.?*®
During the week following the fire, and in some cases even later, people became aware by
word of mouth that they were entitled to financial assistance.?’ By the time some people
found out about the various kinds of assistance to which they were entitled, the council
told them it was too late to claim.?*®

100.44 Adequate and timely financial assistance in the immediate aftermath of a major incident

is an essential aspect of an effective humanitarian response. Those who did receive such
assistance described how it made a huge difference to them to be able to choose what
they needed for themselves.?*® In the absence of such support, others described the
humiliation of having to search through donations to find suitable clothes, in some cases
without success.?°
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Psychosocial support

100.45 In the immediate aftermath of the fire there was limited psychological support

available and a lack of information about the kind of support that people could obtain.
Survivors described how they struggled with their mental health, desperately needing help
but not knowing where to get it at a time when they were at their most vulnerable.?®!

100.46 Many survivors and residents did not hear about the availability of counselling support

until a considerable time after the fire.?®? Several survivors said that they had not received
offers of counselling until two years later.?®® In the absence of support from other sources,
people had to arrange their own.?* Although counselling services were available at the
Westway Centre, some chose not to make use of them as they did not consider it to be
sufficiently private.?®

100.47 Psychological support was available from 16 June 2017 in some of the hotels in which

displaced people had been accommodated and some of them understood that counselling
services were available if needed.?®® Other hotels did not provide such support, however,
which meant that survivors had to go elsewhere if they wanted to find it.?®” Some residents
were unable to obtain counselling services due to language barriers;?®® others found it

too difficult to undertake counselling sessions through an interpreter and so stopped
attending.’®® There were particular concerns about the lack of emotional support and
counselling for children, all of whom had witnessed a grave tragedy and some of whom had
lost family and friends in the fire.2’°

100.48 Psychosocial provision for the bereaved was particularly lacking. Those who lost several

members of their families in the fire?’! received no offer of support at all from the
council.?”?Other families who had lost relatives were identified for support only after the
Inquiry’s hearings had begun, almost a year after the fire.?”®

Key workers

100.49 The use of key workers was an important means of ensuring that those affected received

the support they needed, but the system did not operate efficiently in many cases for a
variety of reasons, including uneven and late allocation of key workers, inconsistent quality
of service and a high turnover of staff.

100.50 Survivors were assigned key workers at different times, some within 24 hours of the

fire,2’* others only after waiting three or four months.?”> Some were not allocated key
workers until a year later because they had not been residents of the tower, and only then
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after asking for one.?’® Others were not assigned a key worker at all.?”” Some residents
of the Walkways were told that key workers were available only to former residents of
Grenfell Tower and Grenfell Walk.?’®

100.51 There was a similarly inconsistent approach to the allocation of key workers to the

bereaved. Some people were contacted about a month after the fire,?”° while others were
assigned a key worker some months later and then only after asking their family liaison
officers to approach the council. %°

100.52 There were mixed experiences of the quality of key workers, some of whom appeared to be

more engaged than others. We were told of key workers who were not properly prepared
for the task and not fully informed, and thus unable to provide support and information.?!
Residents often picked up important information before their key workers.?®? That led

to increased stress and uncertainty for many.?® Some key workers failed to respond to
residents’ questions,?* which caused further difficulty if support had to be arranged
through a key worker.?® A number of witnesses spoke of contradictory information

about the support available being given by different key workers.?® Some regarded

their key workers as merely a “support placebo” because they lacked the authority to
make decisions.?®’

100.53 On the other hand, some had more positive experiences of their key workers?® and

found them to be a useful single point of contact.?®® They provided regular information
about the support available.?® The benefits of the system were thus available but were
unevenly distributed.

100.54 A number of those affected experienced a high turnover of key workers.?** In some cases,

key workers had to step down because they had been assigned too many people to look
after.?®? Others could not continue in the role because they had been traumatised by their
work.??® Mr Rasoul told us that he had been allocated six different key workers in one
month, with one lasting for just a weekend.?** Some developed positive and supportive
relationships with their key workers,*> but in many cases there was a lack of continuity,
with some leaving after a number of months.?*® For some, that was very unsettling.

Ms Cherbika described her own experience thus: “They kept changing all the time. |
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probably went through eight or nine key workers, support workers, whatever workers ...
| felt like when I clicked with somebody ... the council would take that person away”.?*’
Some survivors were left for a time with no key workers.

100.55 A particular problem which some faced as a result of having a frequent change of key

worker was that they had to describe their experiences from the beginning over and over
again.”®® Some people found that traumatising.’®®

Public communication

100.56 One common experience in the immediate aftermath of the fire was an absence of

information from official sources about the assistance available. In the week following the
fire those who had been displaced did not receive any communication from the council
telling them what services were available or where to go for help.3® There were no calls or
text messages from either the council or the TMO.?% The council did not use its website
to provide information for those evacuated from the area within the cordon®%? who were
waiting to find out when they could return to their homes. 3%

100.57 Despite what they had been through, survivors and residents were thus forced to seek

information for themselves, which caused additional stress.?®* Ms EI-Ogbani told us that
there was: “No one from government, no one from the authority. We didn’t know where
to go, we didn’t know how to seek help, we didn’t know what will happen next. It was just
question mark, question mark, question mark...”*% We heard the same experience voiced
by many witnesses.

100.58 Mark Simms from the Rugby Portobello Trust told us that although RBKC had been

gathering information, there was not much of it.>°®® RBKC councillors offered help, but
they were not there in an organisational role. They too, were struggling to get hold of
information.?*” There was an “absolute sense that everyone was overwhelmed” 3%

100.59 The lack of information had a direct effect on the distribution of support. Those who

obtained information about the support available were the first to receive assistance, while
those who did not were left behind.?® That particularly affected vulnerable people, such as
those with mobility problems and those who could not speak English.31

100.60 When official communications were eventually released, they were in English.3!

That included communications sent to those who had been placed in hotels. People
described feeling at a disadvantage because they could not read English well and had
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significant difficulty in gaining access to services, which they felt created unfairness.3'?
They had to rely on family and friends in order to help them understand the information
provided and said that an interpreter would have provided greater support.2** Some people
did not want to rely on friends and neighbours to interpret confidential and personal
information.*'* In some cases interpreters were provided, but not always in the right
language.?'> Despite complaints to the council and, later, London Gold about the need for
materials to be provided in different languages, it took some time for that to be done.

Information about those missing

100.61 Those that were looking for their loved ones immediately after the fire encountered

numerous obstacles to their searches.?'® Some families desperately went from hospital

to hospital, rest centre to rest centre, in their search for information, but to no avail 3"’
The overwhelming thrust of their evidence was that they had experienced feelings of utter
helplessness and despair as they navigated an environment in which there was a complete
absence of information.?*®

100.62 Family members visited the numerous rest centres that had been set up in the community,

repeatedly asking for information about their loved ones.?* It rapidly became apparent
to them that neither the representatives of the council nor the TMO3*®* were able to
provide even the most basic information. The council staff at the Rugby Portobello Trust
did not have a list of those who had lived in the tower and were asking people who they
were and which flat they lived in.3? Mr Rasoul told us that after he had escaped from
the tower he had visited the Latymer Community Church (known at the time of the fire
as the Latymer Christian Centre)*?? in his search for missing friends. There he found a
representative from the TMO with a list of flat numbers and names, but the list incorrectly
included people who no longer lived there.??* As a result of the lack of information, the
community felt compelled to compile its own list of those who were missing*** and piece
together its own picture of what had happened.?* Mr Mussilhy told us that that was the
only way for people to know who was still missing and who had survived.?*

100.63 By the evening of 14 June 2017, the Westway Centre had been designated as the

official rest centre. As we have already described, the site was hard to access without
documentary identification or a wristband, but there was no clear information about
how or where to obtain a wristband.??” Even those who managed to get into the
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Westway Centre felt that they did not receive adequate information or assistance.
Although there were information desks there, they did not have information about those
who were missing in order to assist those looking for loved ones.??

100.64 In the absence of any official assistance, family members visited hospitals across London

desperately looking for their loved ones.?? It was difficult obtaining information from
hospitals,**° which were concerned about releasing personal information.**! Hisam and
Nabil Choucair told us about their painstaking visits to about 12 hospitals®*? in the search
for members of their family. For them that merely compounded the trauma.’*

100.65 Nabil Choucair told us about the call he made to the emergency services on 14 June 2017

seeking information about his family. He told us that he had searched rest centres,
hospitals and had called the casualty bureau.®** He said, “We were left to fend for
ourselves, left to try and find help. ... There was chaos. ... Nobody knew what they were
doing ..””.** Those looking for their loved ones felt “lost with no direction of what to do or
where to go next”.3®

100.66 In the days that followed families continued their searches, desperately trying to find

information.**” A particular challenge arose when news of a different rest centre or
possible hospital emerged, as they felt compelled to flock there in a (usually futile) attempt
to obtain information.*® Some families were not able to carry out extensive searches
themselves and had to rely on help from relatives, without which they felt “completely
forgotten or overlooked”.** Some people who had lost loved ones lived abroad and did not
receive any information about their family members, which was itself distressing.3*

100.67 One survivor who escaped the tower but became separated from his wife, who perished in

the fire, was placed in emergency accommodation without any information about her or
how he might find her.?** Mr Mussilhy shared his experiences of his search for his uncle and
his realisation as the days passed that “We were completely alone ... and abandoned in the
worst way possible while we were looking for our relatives.”3*

100.68 A casualty bureau was opened by the Metropolitan Police at 08.00 on 14 June 2017.3%

Its existence was publicised as a point of contact at 08.02** but it was designed to receive
information about those who were missing and not to release information to callers.?*
In the hours after the fire, many who called the number found it to be engaged?®*® or were
greeted with a recorded message stating that there were no people to answer calls and
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that they were waiting for call-handlers.?*” Others told us that, when they eventually got
through, they were told that someone would come round or would call, but they did not
hear back. Others called on many occasions but were told to call back another time for
more information.?*® When callers were able to have a conversation with the operator, they
found it to be entirely one-way, the operator simply asking for information about the caller
and those who were missing.?*® The casualty bureau, at least to those who encountered it,
was a means of gathering information, not providing information to relatives.>*°

100.69 The failure to contact bereaved families soon after the fire left many feeling that they

did not matter.®** Some of those affected felt that information was released by police

in a haphazard way and that there was no co-ordinated effort to relay information to
families.*** Due to the scale of events, it took a number of days for family liaison officers
to be appointed.

100.70 Families had mixed experiences of family liaison officers. Some people were assigned an

officer about a week after the fire and found that support reassuring.®>>* Others, however,
found the officer allocated to them formal and difficult to talk to.>** Some family members
felt marginalised and unimportant®** because they were not allocated their own officer®*®
when an officer had been allocated to another family member in accordance with
Metropolitan Police guidance.®*’

100.71 The absence of a clear and centralised system for providing information about those who

were safe and those who were missing led to the growth of false information. Some people
were told that their loved ones had been seen alive when they had in fact died.*® It was
difficult for family members to verify rumours that were circulating in the community as
there was no single source of reliable information.*° Those desperate for information

were left in the dark and felt alone.?*° The dreadful results of the failure to establish a
method of communicating with the former residents of the tower are best exemplified by
the experience of one family who learned of their son’s death by hearing about it on the
television news.3¢
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Chapter 101

Local government

101.1

101.2

101.3

101.4

101.5

Introduction

In later chapters we shall refer extensively to the part played by Mr John Barradell under
the arrangements made by the London boroughs for responding to emergencies affecting
the capital. John Barradell, chief executive of the City of London, led what was called

the Grenfell Fire Response Team. In order to provide the context for that part of the
report in this chapter we give a brief description of the way in which local government in
London fulfils its obligations under the Civil Contingencies Act through the operation of
London Resilience.

London Resilience

London Resilience is an overarching term used to denote a structure that encompasses
three different bodies: the London Resilience Forum, the London Resilience Group and the
London Resilience Partnership.*®

The London Resilience Forum is the term used to describe the group of organisations that
meets periodically to co-ordinate arrangements for responding to major emergencies. It is
currently chaired by the Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience, Baroness Twycross. At the
time of the Grenfell Tower fire the role of Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience had not
been established and Dr Twycross chaired the forum in her capacity as the chair of the
London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority (LFEPA).2% The deputy chair of the forum
was the town clerk and chief executive of the City of London Corporation, John Barradell.*®*

The London Resilience Group is a body which provides business and administrative support
for the London Resilience Forum.? Its staff are provided and hosted by the London Fire
Brigade (LFB).3¢ At the time of the Grenfell Tower fire, the head of London Resilience was
Steve Hamm; his deputies were John Hetherington, Toby Gould and Hamish Cameron.3¢’

The London Resilience Partnership is the term used to describe the persons and
organisations in Greater London that are designated under the Civil Contingencies Act

as Category 1 and Category 2 responders,**® together with organisations which are not
formally designated as responders but have important roles to play in resilience, such

as faith and voluntary organisations, and the government in the form of the Ministry of
Housing, Communities and Local Government (formerly the Department for Communities
and Local Government (DCLG)).%*° The partnership consists of about 170 organisations.
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101.6  The City of London and each of the London boroughs is an independent local authority.

To co-ordinate their activities in relation to resilience they have established the

Local Authorities’ Panel which represents the interests of all London local authorities
on the Forum.?”° At the time of the fire the Local Authorities’ Panel was chaired by

John Barradell.*”* In June 2014 the 33 local authorities were grouped into 6 sub-regional
groups known as sub-regional resilience forums,*’? which acted as links between the
borough resilience forums and the London Resilience Forum.3”

London Local Authority Gold

101.7 By 2011 each of the London boroughs and the City of London had confirmed a resolution,

originally passed in 2004 and known as the Gold Resolution,*”* to provide each other with
mutual aid and assistance in the event of an emergency requiring a co-ordinated response.
Under that resolution each authority delegated to whichever borough had agreed to
undertake the role in response to a particular incident its power under section 138 of the
Local Government Act 1972 to incur expenditure to avert or alleviate the effects of an
emergency calling for a co-ordinated response. The boroughs and the City of London also
entered into a memorandum of understanding setting out the procedure for implementing
those arrangements.?”> We shall refer to those arrangements as “the Gold arrangements”
and the chief executive of the borough to which power has been delegated under those
arrangements as “London Gold”. The agreement for mutual aid and assistance is supported
by the London Local Authority Co-ordination Centre, which co-ordinates requests for
mutual aid between boroughs and across London as a whole.?”®

101.8 The Local Authorities’ Panel has oversight of, and is responsible for, the London Gold

arrangements®”’ and the Local Authorities’ Panel Implementation Group, which supports
the panel on planning and preparation.?”® The London Resilience Partnership has no
operational role if the Gold arrangements are invoked.?”® The panel included David Kerry,
the contingency planning manager of RBKC, who acted as a practitioner advisor to

Mr Barradell, the chair of the panel.3®

101.9 The Grenfell Tower fire was only the third occasion on which the Gold arrangements had

been implemented, the last occasion having been in 201438 The evidence indicated that
there was some uncertainty about how they could be invoked, in what circumstances and
by whom,*®? whether they were based on any power®? and the degree to which the chief
executive of the affected borough could delegate responsibility for decision-making in the
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aftermath of an emergency to London Gold, apart from the powers contained in section
138.%* We explore the extent to which that confusion affected the response to the fire
further in Chapter 102.

Voluntary and faith sector panels

101.10 Category 1 responders have a legal duty to have regard to voluntary organisations in their

area that are relevant to an emergency.**® The Voluntary Sector Panel and the Faith Sector
Panel are two of the panels that make up the forum.*®® A representative of each of those
panels therefore attends meetings of the forum.3¥” Guidance on involving the voluntary
sector was developed and agreed by the London Resilience Forum in a document entitled
Voluntary Sector Capabilities Document 3%

Borough resilience forums

101.11 Asanindependent local authority each borough is required under the Civil Contingencies

Act to maintain in conjunction with other Category 1 responders a borough resilience
forum.3® Each forum comprises representatives of Category 1 responder agencies within
that borough and local Category 2 responders. It is required to meet at least every

6 months.3° Mr Hetherington told us that engagement with the voluntary, faith and other
sectors at that level is also encouraged.®! Mr Kerry chaired RBKC’s borough resilience
forum between 2013 and 2016.3%

101.12 We consider that having the same person (in the case of RBKC, Mr Kerry) sitting on

many related bodies created a danger of over-reliance on one person’s knowledge and
experience. It also reduced the field of those within a borough able to acquire and share
knowledge and experience of the London resilience arrangements in action. It appears that
such a concentration of knowledge and experience was not unusual across London 3%

The Greater London Authority

101.13 The Greater London Authority (GLA) is a body corporate established under section 1(1)

of the Greater London Authority Act 1999. It was made a Category 1 responder in 2011.
It discharged its responsibilities principally through LFEPA by virtue of a protocol dated
28 January 2015.34 In April 2018, LFEPA was abolished and replaced for present purposes
by the London Fire Commissioner.>*> Regulation 7 allows for protocols to be entered

into between responders.3*® In addition, regulation 55 specifically addresses London

and the role of the London Fire Commissioner by empowering him or her to maintain
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plans in relation to London-wide emergencies,*’ to test those plans and train staff.3%®

The commissioner carries out that function through the London Resilience network and in
particular the sector panels within the forum. The GLA together with the commissioner and
the boroughs funds the London Resilience Group.

101.14 Notwithstanding the GLA’s role in maintaining strategic oversight of resilience®* and the

fact that it has the power to appoint the chair of the London Resilience Forum, at the
time of the Grenfell Tower fire there was no mechanism by which the Mayor of London
or the GLA could scrutinise the work of the forum,*® thus preventing either of them from
exercising any effective supervisory or monitoring role.

The Mayor of London

101.15 The guidance in Emergency Preparedness states that the Mayor of London “plays a full part

in supporting the effective implementation of the Act and improving the preparedness
of the capital”.®* Paragraph 9.23 of the guidance lists the ways in which the Mayor and
the GLA should achieve that outcome. In summary, the Mayor and the GLA should be
closely engaged in high-level discussions and decisions relating to the management

of emergencies in London. The Mayor should inform Londoners about the content of
emergency plans, warn and inform the public during an emergency and chair or appoint
the chair of the forum.

101.16 The Mayor of London is not a Category 1 responder under the Civil Contingencies Act.

However, because the Mayor forms part of the GLA,*°> we understand that he regards
himself by extension as a Category 1 responder.?®® Consistent with that view, the statutory
guidance, Emergency Preparedness, explicitly refers to the role of the Mayor of London in
the preparedness*® of the capital.*®

101.17 The responsibilities of the Mayor of London in the response phase are set out in the

Strategic Co-ordination Protocol,*® namely, that he will support the operational response
to an emergency in London by providing a unified statement so as to act as the “voice of
London” and will collaborate closely with the Strategic Co-ordinating Group and central
government where appropriate.®” The term “voice of London” does not appear in the
statutory guidance,*®® but David Bellamy, the Mayor’s current chief of staff, told us that

his understanding of the expression was that in an emergency the Mayor will speak on
behalf of London to Londoners to explain what is happening, to give them the information
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they need to understand what has happened and to tell them what effect it is expected to
have on them.*® However, the Mayor of London has no responsibility for the operational
response to a civil emergency.*° His is essentially a political and communications role.

The Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea

101.18 RBKC, as a local authority, is a Category 1 responder within the meaning of the
Civil Contingencies Act 2004. To assist in fulfilling its legal duty*** RBKC had a
Contingency Planning Unit, managed by Mr David Kerry. By 2017 Mr Kerry had
enjoyed a long career in local authority emergency planning and was the chair of the
Borough Resilience Forum. He also had an influential role in the London Resilience
structures as the practitioner advisor to the Local Authorities’ Panel. With such a
background, one might reasonably have expected that the council’s contingency plans,
training and ability to deal with an emergency would be exemplary, or at least reasonably
complete and robust. However, as we shall explain in Chapter 104, in June 2017 that was
far from the case.

101.19 Category 1 responders have a statutory duty to maintain and modify emergency plans as
necessary.*? In addition, they have a statutory obligation to consider whether it would be
appropriate to perform their duty by collaborating with another Category 1 responder in
maintaining a multi-agency plan.**?

101.20 The aim of emergency plans is to increase multi-agency and community resilience by
ensuring that all those charged with tackling an emergency on behalf of the community
know their roles, are competent to carry out the tasks assigned to them, have access to
available resources and facilities and have confidence that their partners in response are
similarly prepared.**

101.21 There are three groups of plans covering London as a whole:

i.  Multi-agency plans produced by the London Resilience Partnership, which set
out the partnership’s emergency response arrangements. They are also known as
“frameworks”.#*

ii. Plans relating to arrangements made by local authorities for a regional response
(e.g. the London Gold arrangements).*¢

iii.  Plans relating to the internal arrangements made by the London Resilience Group
for responding to an emergency.

101.22 Each of the frameworks is managed by a lead agency with a senior responsible “owner”, a
member of the forum who has responsibility for developing the framework and in doing so
for considering all risk assessments, planning assumptions and lessons learnt from previous
incidents and exercises.*’ At the time of the fire there were no fewer than 25 plans in
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place, ten of which were formally activated or described arrangements that were deployed
in response to the Grenfell Tower fire.*'® Two highly pertinent frameworks relevant to the
response to the Grenfell Tower fire call for particular examination.

The Humanitarian Assistance framework

101.23 The Humanitarian Assistance framework*'® dated April 2017 was a draft framework due

for approval by the London Resilience Forum on 28 June 2017.4% |ts aim was to ensure
that humanitarian care was delivered in an effective manner that met the needs of those
affected by a major emergency.*?!

101.24 The lead responder for humanitarian assistance is the local authority.** The Humanitarian

Assistance framework provided that in the first few hours following an incident in which a
significant number of people had been displaced the local authority would take the lead in
providing rest centres with secondary responsibility being given to voluntary agencies.**

101.25 The purpose of a rest centre, as described in paragraph 8.13 of the Humanitarian Assistance

framework, is to provide immediate shelter for people who have been evacuated from

an area or are otherwise in need of emergency accommodation following an incident,

to provide initial light refreshment for evacuees, to enable details of evacuees to be
maintained in the centre for reference, to provide for the well-being of the evacuees, to
offer support and information on a wide range of welfare-related subjects and to provide
evacuees and survivors with current information about the incident and its potential effects
on them.*** We discuss the Humanitarian Assistance framework further in Chapter 104.

The Identification of the Vulnerable framework

101.26 The guidance entitled Identification of the Vulnerable, drafted by the London Resilience

Partnership, was published in January 2015 for local implementation.*?® The guidance
adopts the Cabinet Office’s definition of vulnerability*?® and is directed at emergencies
contained within a single borough. Its aim is said to be to inform, complement and align the
capability planning of the Borough Resilience Forum to encourage a proactive and coherent
approach towards the identification of vulnerable persons.*?’

101.27 ltis the responsibility of the Borough Resilience Forum to identify vulnerable people and

undertake the six core steps set out in the guidance.*”® They include compiling a “list of
lists” for contacts of organisations that hold data on vulnerable people to enable them
to obtain the information quickly in the event of an emergency. The guidance recognises
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The Identification of the Vulnerable v.1 - The guiding principle of the framework is that; “While all people caught up
in an emergency could be (and in some circumstances will be) defined as vulnerable due to their proximity to the
event, planning and response arrangements should focus on those who are assessed as not being self-reliant and
may need external assistance to become safe”. {LFBO0061174/5} paragraph 1.5.

The Identification of the Vulnerable v.1 {LFBO0061174/4} paragraph 1.2.

The Identification of the Vulnerable v.1 (1) Assess, prioritise and accept risks; (2) Ascertain who holds what
information: That included compiling a “list of lists” for contacts of organisations that hold data on vulnerable
people; (3) Establish planning and procedural arrangements; (4) Document options for dynamic identification; (5)
Understand information sharing principles; (6) Exercise and assure {LFB00061174/8} paragraph 2.1.
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that it would be impossible to maintain an accurate central list of vulnerable people.*?
Boroughs were supposed to have a systematic process in place for making the relevant
information available quickly and to have run training exercises so that they were confident
not only that their systems worked but that their staff knew how to operate them, not least
because it would be difficult to obtain all the relevant information quickly at the time of

an incident.**® Mr Kerry’s view, however, was that apart from compiling a list of lists, the
guidance was too difficult to achieve in practice.**!

101.28 Mr Hetherington told us that that approach failed to meet the standards envisaged by the

framework and provided examples from other boroughs of how it could have been done.
He would have expected someone in Mr Kerry’s position to have done better.**? He did

not accept Mr Kerry’s view that the Cabinet Office guidance on the identification of the
vulnerable was unachievable*** and told us that although identifying vulnerable people was
difficult, because the lists are subject to constant change, it was certainly achievable.***

We think that the Cabinet Office guidance was indeed achievable and that Mr Kerry’s
attitude to the identification of the vulnerable was defeatist and inappropriate.

Review of local authority emergency planning in London

101.29 In 2016 Mark Sawyer, then Deputy Head of Emergency Planning in the LFB

Emergency Planning Team,** was instructed by the Local Authorities’ Panel to undertake
a review of local authority emergency planning in London.**® He was asked to undertake
the task because the panel recognised the heightened pressure on councils and the
increase in external and internal risks. Those risks included a “loss of corporate knowledge
and capacity”.*®’

101.30 Mr Sawyer was supported in his review by Mr Kerry and their report, known as “EP2020”,

was issued on 3 October 2016.4% Their overall assessment was that there was a developing
trend towards a reduction in capacity and capability across London and that the ability of
local authorities to provide leadership on resilience to the level communities would expect
and deserve was under strain.**

101.31 The report provided a clear and prescient warning. It identified the problems for civil

contingency planning that reduced staffing levels had created. It is worth quoting the
following passage:

“Emergency planning staffing levels are at the lowest point since 2009, with a
downward trend established since the 2012 Olympics ... This reduction combined
with continuing demand for efficiencies across authorities has the potential to
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Identifying people who are vulnerable in a crisis {CAB00014864/3}; The Identification of the Vulnerable v.1
{LFBO0O061174/8} paragraph 2.3.

Hetherington {Day277/151:7-24}.

Kerry {Day268/177:12-16}.

Hetherington {Day277/152:3-19}.

Kerry {Day268/175:15-16}; Hetherington {Day277:152:21}—{Day277/153:6}.

Hetherington {Day277/153:12-18} e.g. London Borough of Brent, Identifying the Vulnerable Framework
{LFBO0061174/15}.

Sawyer {GOL0O0001349/1} page 1.

Sawyer {GOLO0001349/2} page 2, paragraph 9.

Sawyer {GOL00001349/2} page 2, paragraph 9.

Recommendations for Local Government Emergency Planning and Resilience for the 2020’s {GOL00001515}.
Recommendations for Local Government Emergency Planning and Resilience for the 2020’s {GOL00001515/3}.
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significantly affect our ability to satisfy the expectations of our communities and
assure them that we possess the appropriate means to prepare and respond, where
necessary, to the myriad of resilience challenges that need to be addressed”.**°

101.32 The report also reviewed the Minimum Standards for London, introduced in 2007, which
contained 16 standards designed to ensure that all local authorities had the appropriate
policies and procedures in place to support the London Gold arrangements.**! Those
standards were set by the Local Authorities’ Panel with the aim of ensuring a basic standard
of resilience planning by London’s local authorities that met statutory requirements and
the government’s expectations and was commensurate with London’s risk profile.**? At the
time, compliance with the minimum standards was based on self-assessment in odd years
(e.g. 2015) and a peer-review in even years (e.g. 2016).

101.33 The author identified a significant downward trend in meeting standards relating to plans
and capabilities, which he regarded as a matter of concern.*®® The peer review results in
2016 illustrated that trend:*** ten capabilities had been identified, in relation to which a
quarter or more of boroughs within London reported an amber or red rating.** Those
capabilities included training, humanitarian assistance and the identification of vulnerable
persons. The report added that the Local Authorities’ Panel implementation group would
continue to monitor those trends and identify ways in which to improve those capabilities.
We consider the assessment for RBKC before the Grenfell Tower fire below.

RBKC plans

101.34 Issue 9 of RBKC’s Contingency Management Plan**® dated 30 April 2015 had been drafted
by Mr Kerry.**” It was the council’s core plan for major emergencies. Part 1 was an
overarching generic contingency management plan, which was accompanied by a suite of
annexes numbered 1 to 42 which set out plans covering particular situations.

101.35 There were substantial shortcomings in the RBKC Contingency Management Plan.
As Mr Kerry accepted, a number of the annexes had been left empty,*® or were
wrongly labelled,*° or were still in draft form, or contained outdated plans.**°
Significantly, they included Annex 16, a Humanitarian Assistance Centre plan dated
15 April 2008.* Mr Kerry acknowledged that it was outdated, was no longer viable
and should have been removed.*? A document entitled Framework for Identifying and
Contacting Vulnerable Persons in an Emergency in Annex 21 was in draft form dated April

440 Recommendations for Local Government Emergency Planning and Resilience for the 2020’s {GOL0O0001515/8}

paragraph 3.1.1.

Recommendations for Local Government Emergency Planning and Resilience for the 2020’s {GOL00001515/12}.

442 Minimum Standards for London {LFB00119219/4-7}.

443 Recommendations for Local Government Emergency Planning and Resilience for the 2020’s
{GOLO0001515/12-13} Fig 3.4.

444 | ocal Authorities’ Panel/London Resilience document {GOL00000136/2} paragraph 5.

445 |Local Authorities’ Panel/London Resilience document Amber includes “requires development of training
programme / some key personnel have not been trained in their role and there is no programme in place to do so”.
Red means no operational capability {GOL00000136}.

446 Contingency Management Plan {RBK0O0004396} Issue 9 (dated 30 April 2015) was the relevant version at the time of
the fire.

447 Kerry {Day268/25:19}.

448 Kerry {RBKO0058091/2-5} pages 2-5, eleven of which were left empty: annexes 5-9, 18, 30, 34, 37-38, 40-41

49 Annex 14a (“Guidance for setting up a Community Assistance Centre”) was incorrectly numbered; and Annex 15
(“Emergency Shelter and Rest Centre Directory”) was the incorrect version of the document, with the correct
version having been labelled as Annex 14a along with another document. Kerry {RBKO0O058091/3} page 3.

450 Kerry {Day268/29:9-13}.

41 Annex 16 of the RBKC Contingency Management Plan, Humanitarian Assistance Centre plan {RBKO0051900};
{Day263/123:18-23}; RBKC Opening Submissions {RBKO0O068467/10} paragraph 37.

42 Kerry {RBKOO058091/3} page 3.

441

42



Part 10 | Chapter 101: Local government

2012. Mr Kerry conceded that in hindsight more could have been done to produce a
finished version,*? but the real question is why there was insufficient foresight, given that
the whole point of contingency planning is to look to the future.

101.36 There were different versions of Issue 9 of the Contingency Management Plan.**

One version referred to a “Contingency Management Plan Part 2- Tactics and Contacts”
that was designed to provide information to assist those with designated roles in the
response. Contingency Management Plan Part 2 (draft v2) was dated 21 June 2016.%*
It included action cards for Council Silver and for specific emergency responses.**®

Mr Kerry said that they were both draft documents,*’ but he conceded that there
had been a need in 2017 for a proper guide to tactics.**® In our view, there had been
enough time to complete and incorporate Part 2 into the Contingency Management
Plan in the year that followed. The action guides were likely to complement the plan
and in an emergency direct the reader to the relevant plans contained in the Annexes
and the London Resilience Partnership plans. That opportunity was not taken, as it
should have been.

101.37 The Contingency Management Plan did not include a communications plan and

Mr Kerry was not aware of any document that described how different parts of the council
would co-ordinate their communications in an emergency.*® There was a difference
between Mr Kerry and the head of the Media Communications Team, Martin Fitzpatrick,
about why that was.*° However, it is not necessary for us to decide which of them was
correct, given that the council has admitted that there was no up to date communications
plan.*®! It is clear that there was a draft communications plan dated 2010 but that it had
not been completed or added as an annex to the Contingency Management Plan before
the Grenfell Tower fire. The consequences of the absence of a communication plan, the
lack of any co-ordination with the Media Communications Team and the failure to integrate
that team into the planning process were seen in the hours and days that followed the fire.

101.38 |In its opening statement for Module 4 of the Inquiry RBKC accepted that it had failed

adequately to practise an emergency communication plan. It also recognised that its failure
had adversely affected the council’s response to the fire.*2

Training and practice

101.39 Regulation 25 of the Civil Contingencies Regulations provides that the plans maintained

by Category 1 responders must include provision for the training of an appropriate
number of staff and the carrying out of exercises for the purpose of ensuring that plans
are effective.*®?
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Kerry {RBKO0O058091/4} page 4.

{RBK00028631/5} exhibited by Nicholas Holgate, Town Clerk, RBKC; {RBKO0004396/5} exhibited by David Kerry does
not refer to CMP Part 2 at page 5.

Contingency Management Plan {RBKO0005194}.

Contingency Management Plan {RBK0O0005194/3}.

Kerry {Day268/47:11-18}-{Day268/52:10-11}.

Kerry {Day268/48:24}-{Day268/49:5}.

Kerry {Day268/43:18-21}.

Kerry {Day268/44:20}-{Day268/44:20}-{Day268/45:16}.

Kerry {Day268/43:18-21}.

RBKC {Day263/115:15-24}.

The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (Contingency Planning) Regulations 2005 {CABO0007003/13}.
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101.40

101.41

101.42

101.43

101.44

101.45

101.46

At the time of the Grenfell Tower fire, LFEPA was responsible for providing training
for London boroughs on plans affecting London as a whole.*®* In order to test those
arrangements, LFEPA was obliged to design and deliver an annual programme

of exercises.*

The London Resilience Group delivered training to those involved in the London Resilience
Partnership, and the London Gold arrangements, as well as those involved in its own
emergency response arrangements.*

The London Resilience Partnership’s programme of training and exercises*®’ was designed
by a group chaired by Mr Gould and Mr Hetherington, then joint deputy heads of the
London Resilience Group.*® It expected individual partners to make best use of the
activities delivered through the programme but to retain full responsibility for their own
preparedness, including training personnel, and the effectiveness of their response and
recovery capabilities.*®® We were told that the London Resilience Partnership provided an
overall addition to local training in the form of insight, information and an awareness of the
role of the London Gold arrangements.*’®

The training to support the London Gold arrangements was delivered three times in 2016
to a number of local authorities but not to RBKC.** That was the last London Gold support
team training delivered, after which it was decided there was no longer a requirement for
local authorities to have a support team in place.*”?

The London Resilience Group provided training on its own emergency response
arrangements which involved a series of internal sessions delivered to staff. Its staff also
participated in events held under the training and exercise programme and local authority
training events provided by London Resilience Partnership, which are examined further in
this chapter.*”?

There was no mechanism by which the London Resilience Group or the Local Authorities’
Panel could assess the quality of training being given by an individual local authority, or

its level of preparedness,*’* otherwise than through the Minimum Standards for London,
which we have touched on above and which we examine further below.*”> The attendance
of representatives from individual local authorities at training events provided by the
London Resilience Partnership was voluntary.*’®

We consider the position in relation to training to have been unsatisfactory. It was
piecemeal, unco-ordinated, not subject to any external assessment or validation and
voluntary. Those shortcomings helped to create a situation in which individual local
authorities lacked capability in some respects and the quality of preparedness could
become inconsistent between different local authorities.

464 Service Level Agreement between LAP and LFEPA {LFBO0061184/2}.

465 Emergency Preparedness paragraph 9.6 {LFB00061171/6} and {LFB00061184/3}.

66 Hetherington {LFB00061158/14-15} page 14-15, paragraph 42.

47 London Resilience Partnership and Training Programme 2017-2020 {LFB0O0061201}.

468 | RP Training and Exercising Group Terms of Reference v.1.0 {LFBO0061201/12} paragraph 6.
469 | RP training and exercising programme, 2017 to 2020 {LFB0O0061201/1} paragraph 1.3.
470 Hetherington {Day277/166:16}; {LFBO0061201/2-7} paragraphs 3.1-3.15.

471 Hetherington {Day277/204:18-25}.

472 Qverview of Local Authority Training Delivered by LRG 2016/17 {LFB00061215/3}.

473 Hetherington {LFBO0061158/16} page 16, paragraphs 49-50.

474 Hetherington {Day277/167:6-14}.

475 Hetherington {Day277/170:3}.

476 Hetherington {Day277/166:24}-{Day277/167:4}.
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101.47 The Minimum Standards for London published by the Local Authorities’ Panel comprised
a set of standards designed to ensure that all local authorities had appropriate procedures
and policies in place to support the London Gold arrangements. It described the plans and
capabilities that each borough should have in place to support arrangements for planning
and response across London.*”” At the time of the fire, the 2016 draft of the standards
applied, having been approved by the implementation group in September 2016.478
It referred to publication of an annual programme of exercises to support the London Gold
arrangements,*”? including an annual exercise involving all 33 boroughs, the Co-ordination
Centre and London Gold.*®°

101.48 The exercise Unified Response in 2016 was the first substantial London-wide exercise
held since exercise Safer City in 20138 that involved London Gold and the London Local
Authorities Co-ordination Centre.*®? It was also the first opportunity in three years to
test London-wide local authority co-ordination arrangements.*® In November 2015,
RBKC also participated in exercise Babel, organised by the London Borough of
Hammersmith and Fulham, to explore and test the interoperability of the two boroughs’
response arrangements.*®*

101.49 Exercise Unified Response took place over four days between 29 February and 3 March
2016 and involved the simulation of a major building collapse at Waterloo station involving
70 fatalities.*®> One of its objectives was to test London’s multi-agency strategic co-
ordination arrangements, including the Strategic Co-ordination Centre and plans, policies
and procedures.*®® The evaluation report prepared by Dany Cotton, then London Fire
Commissioner, and published in April 2017 identified a number of vulnerabilities and
lessons to be learnt.*®” Vulnerabilities included inadequate situational awareness and
decision-making, difficulty in tracking the number and locations of casualties, delay
in setting up a survivor reception centre and concentrating too much on process and
not enough on the care of survivors, a failure to manage faith and disability concerns
consistently and to make sufficient resources available to prioritise support to children
and young people correctly. Among lessons learnt were that situational awareness and
decision-making could be improved by having a single source of information at the scene of
an incident reporting to strategic-level command. Those deficiencies, revealed by a major
London practical exercise only 17 months before the Grenfell Tower fire, were in many
respects repeated in the response to it.

101.50 The exercise also identified communicating with the public as an area in which
improvement was needed. That applied particularly to groups which had been disrupted
by the incident and those who knew or were related to people who might have been

477 Minimum Standards for London, Draft 2016.1 {LFB00119219/4} paragraph 3.1.

478 Hetherington {LFB00119130/19} page 19, paragraph 61.

479 Minimum Standards for London, Draft 2016.1 {LFB00119219/13} 1.14a.

480 Minimum Standards for London, Draft 2016.1 {LFB00119219/14} 1.15a.

481 Hetherington {Day277/173:13}—{Day277/174:1}; Exercise Safer City 2017, Post Exercise Report, February 2017 v.1
{LFBO0061212/4}.

482 Kerry {RBKO0033579/11} page 11, paragraph 39.

483 Hetherington {Day277/173:13}-{Day277/174:1}; Exercise Safer City 2017, Post Exercise Report, February 2017 v.1
{LFBO0O061212/4}.

484 Exercise Babel Post Exercise Report {RBKO0005188/1}.

485 Exercise Unified Response {LFBO0061214/141} paragraph 3.6; Hetherington {LFB0O0061158/15} page 15,
paragraph 46.

48 Exercise Unified Response {LFB0O0061214/141}.

487 Exercise Unified Response {LFB0O0061214/144} paragraph 3.6.7; {LFB0O0061214/151} paragraph 3.6.25;
{LFBO0061214/153} paragraph 3.6.34; {LFB0O0061214/155} paragraphs 3.6.37-38; {LFB00061214/157}
paragraph 3.6.41; {LFB00061214/157-158} paragraphs 3.6.43 and 44; {LFB0O0061214/159} paragraph 3.6.45;
{LFBO0O061214/173-174} paragraph 3.7.8.
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affected by it.*® That foreshadowed what we heard from a number of witnesses about
their experiences following the Grenfell Tower fire. We also heard that arrangements for
communicating with the public were not regularly practised before the fire.*®° Given that
that problem had been identified in exercise Unified Response, more regular practice
might have drawn attention to the importance of communicating effectively with the
general public.

101.51 We understand that the evaluation report on exercise Unified Response*® was shared quite
widely across the Local Authorities” Panel and that there was a mechanism** through
the learning and implementation group to record the lessons and review the relevant
frameworks.*? We note that, for some reason, the evaluation report was not produced
until April 2017 and therefore left little opportunity before the fire for the lessons to have
been learnt effectively or produce any tangible change.**

101.52 We were told that it had been difficult to ensure that the right people attended the
exercises and that there had been a tendency for the same people to attend regularly and
others not at all. We agree with Mr Hetherington that responsibility for resilience must
lie with the whole of an organisation, not just the contingency planning unit. Everyone in
an organisation needs to be involved in resilience and consider it part of their personal
responsibility. As far as possible, the arrangements underpinning it should be part of
everyday processes to avoid putting new arrangements in place under pressure.**

RBKC training and practice

101.53 In recognition of its obligation under the regulations*®*> RBKC’s Contingency Management
Plan provided for training to be offered to staff with designated emergency response roles
annually; it also provided for an exercise to be held at least once a year to test the plan’s
effectiveness.*® However, training for those with designated roles in any response was
not provided as often as the plan required. The Council Gold group (the chief executive
and the executive directors) was responsible for setting the strategy for responding to an
incident.*’ Before June 2017, the most recent Council Gold group training had been held
on 14 September 2015. That took the form of a two-hour seminar attended by (among
others) Nicholas Holgate, Tony Redpath, Stuart Priestley and Laura Johnson.*® Mr Kerry had
asked to have four hours available but was only allowed two. He conceded that the
training was “insufficient”.*®® The failure to undertake Gold training regularly was of long
standing. Before September 2015, the previous sessions had been on 29 March 2010 and
15 September 2008.5%

101.54 There was no formal training programme in place for Council Silver, who held the crucial
role of leading the operational response to an emergency.>®* Such a programme was
implemented only after the Grenfell Tower fire.

488 Exercise Unified Response Evaluation Report April 2017 {GOL00001154/149} paragraph 3.6.18.
489 Hetherington {Day277/177:21-25}.

490 Exercise Unified Response Evaluation Report April 2017 {GOL0O0001154}.

41 Hetherington {Day277/177:9-20}.

492 Hetherington {Day277/176:18}-{Day277/177:20}.

498 Exercise Unified Response Evaluation Report April 2017 {GOL0O0001154}.

494 Hetherington {Day277/178:1-22}.

4% The Civil Contingencies Act 2004 (Contingency Planning) Regulations 2005{CAB00007003/13} regulation 25.
4% Contingency Management Plan, Section 1.8 {RBK0O0004396/11}.

497 Kerry {RBKO0033579/8} page 8, paragraph 26.

498 Kerry {RBKO0058091/6-7} pages 6-7, paragraph 2.5.

499 Kerry {Day268/78:2-6}.

500 Kerry {RBKOO058091/8} page 8, paragraph 2.6-2.7.

01 Priestley {Day270/6:16}-{Day270/7:20}.

46



Part 10 | Chapter 101: Local government

101.55 An overarching feature of RBKC training was the absence of records.*? Without such
records, it was unable to demonstrate (or to keep any internal track of) how frequently
training took place or who received it. Training of those responsible for staffing the
Borough Emergency Control Centre (BECC)>® and Local Authority Liaison Officers (LALOs)
was infrequent, irregular and basic in nature.®® The preparation of a new training plan for
BECC officers was deferred to await a London-wide standardisation programme following
exercise Unified Response in March 2016. Rebecca Blackburn, who worked with and
reported to Mr Kerry as a Contingency Planning Officer at RBKC, told us that she thought
that the decision left a significant gap in training.>® We agree.

101.56 Exercises to practise the operation of the Contingency Management Plan were held
infrequently and were of a limited nature. That was another long-standing problem
about which concern had been expressed within the Contingency Planning Unit since
2013. At that time Ms Blackburn had expressed her concern about the lack of large-scale
exercises to senior management.®® In late 2016, on her return from a secondment,
she found that the situation had deteriorated,*®” and that exercises were limited to
London-wide exercises conducted by the London Resilience Group.>® She considered that
other members of staff were not aware of the Contingency Planning Unit or its work in
general.”® We accept what she said about that also.

101.57 RBKC's participation in London-wide exercises was on occasion hampered by a lack of
available staff. Four months before the Grenfell Tower fire, it was unable to participate
in exercise Safer City because not enough people had volunteered to take part.>°
Ms Blackburn described the approach of RBKC to London Resilience Group exercises as
being to do the least it could.”!* That was due to a combination of capacity, attitude and
lack of commitment.>*?

101.58 The exercises that were carried out disclosed a number of problems.>** They included
insufficient staff at the BECC in the early stages, problems with information technology
when setting up the BECC, senior staff covering more than one role and difficulties
in obtaining information about vulnerable people. Improvements identified in the
subsequent reports included the need for greater understanding of the incident, better
channels of communication to provide current information, structured handovers in the
BECC and more training and more frequent borough exercises. However, those lessons
were not implemented and the problems appeared again during the response to the
Grenfell Tower fire.

592 Kerry {RBKOO058091/25} page 25, paragraphs 6.5 and 7.1.

%03 The role of the Borough Emergency Control Centre (BECC) is to oversee and coordinate the Council’s incident
response, being a single point of contact and source of information for Council Gold, Council Silver, external
agencies and other council services; Kerry {RBKO0033579/8} page 8, paragraph 29.

504 Kerry {Day268/85:12}-{Day268/86:5}; Kerry {RBKO0058091/27} page 27, paragraph 11.1; Blackburn
{Day270/122:2-14}; {RBKO0068318}.

05 Blackburn {Day270/106:19}-{Day270/107:13}.

06 Blackburn {Day270/115:20}-{Day270/116:25}.

597 Blackburn {Day270/119:3-10}.

08 Blackburn {Day270/106:24}-{Day270/107:3}.

509 Blackburn {Day270/113:24-114:9}.

510 Kerry {Day268/97:13}-{Day268/98:1}; {RBKOO058054/1}.

S Blackburn {Day270/112:4-21}.

%12 Blackburn {Day270/112:25}-{Day270/113:20}.

13 Exercise Responder, October 2015 {RBKO0058067/2}; Exercise Babel, November 2015 {RBKO0005188/4}.
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101.59 Mr Kerry recognised at the time that the training and exercises undertaken by RBKC were
insufficient and did not accord with the Contingency Management Plan.’'* He admitted
that the shortcomings had been caused by a lack of available staff.>'> Despite his pivotal
role as the head of the Contingency Planning Unit, he did not consider that he was senior
enough to press the chief executive, Mr Holgate, or senior management at RBKC over
those matters.>® Although he considered that Mr Holgate was supportive of training,

Mr Kerry found RBKC’s senior management in general to be somewhat resistant to
attending training.>'’

101.60 The lack of support from senior management at RBKC may explain the sense of inertia that
prevailed in the Contingency Planning Unit and throughout RBKC towards planning for an
emergency and its capacity to mount an effective response.

101.61 Within RBKC there was a systemic shortage of staff trained to deal with emergencies and
ensure that it complied with its duties as a Category 1 responder. In 2014 Mr Kerry raised
concerns with the council’s management board about what he saw as a significant lack
of trained emergency staff.°*® He warned that the council did not have enough trained
volunteers to carry out emergency management roles in the BECC in relation to a major
incident.”® There were only three qualified “Council Silvers”, far fewer than the ten he
considered to be the minimum. In addition, there were only ten Incident Response Officers,
half the number he considered necessary.>?°

101.62 There was no improvement when the position was reviewed in early 2016.
Mr Kerry candidly summarised the position at that time as “rock bottom” and did not
believe it had substantially improved by the time of the fire.>*

101.63 As alocal authority, RBKC was under a duty to set up and manage an emergency rest
centre, should the need for one arise.*?> However, it had only one qualified rest centre
manager and was heavily reliant on the Red Cross and aid from neighbouring boroughs.>?*
Mr Kerry accepted that by June 2017 RBKC did not have enough trained personnel
to undertake the roles required by the BECC.>** However, without enough rest centre
managers and BECC staff, it was never in a position to meet its responsibilities to open and
manage an emergency rest centre.

101.64 The long-standing shortage in the number of trained emergency staff was partly the result
of RBKC’s practice of seeking volunteers among its existing staff to undertake those roles
rather than paying staff to be on standby.>* The London Borough of Hammersmith and
Fulham, which was a party to a tri-borough agreement with RBKC and Westminster City
Council, did pay its staff to undertake emergency roles. Despite the concerns raised by

514 Kerry {Day268/72:19}-{Day268/73:6}.

515 Kerry {Day268/73:7-16}.

16 Kerry {Day268/78:14-15}.

517 Kerry {Day268/78:22}-{Day268/80:17}.

18 Kerry {Day268/61:19-23}; Report to the Management Board, paragraph 1.2 {RBKO0058038/1}.

519 Kerry {Day268/62:6-11}.

520 Report to the Management Board, paragraph 2.1 {RBKO0058038/1-2} explains that Borough (Council) Silver
manages the council’s tactical response to an incident and paragraph 3.1 gives the required number. Paragraph 2.2
sets out the role of Incident Response Officer and paragraph 3 gives the required number.

521 Kerry {Day268/70:10-11}.

522 Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBK0O0019712/24}, paragraph 8.15.

523 Kerry {RBKO0058091/50-51} pages 50-51, paragraphs 37.2, 38.1.

524 Kerry {Day268/61:10-13}.

525 Kerry {Day268/66:2-9}.

48



Part 10 | Chapter 101: Local government

Mr Kerry, RBKC had chosen not to change its policy by the time of the Grenfell Tower fire.
In our view RBKC'’s policy of relying on volunteers undermined its ability to practise its
emergency plans in accordance with its statutory duty.

101.65 RBKC was systemically ill-equipped to deal with a serious emergency. Over a number of

years, the capability of its staff to respond to a major emergency had been allowed to
decline. There were clear warnings to senior management that it did not have enough
trained staff and that contingency plans were not practised enough. As a result, RBKC was
wholly unprepared to provide an adequate response to the Grenfell Tower fire.

101.66 Under the Minimum Standards for London each borough was required to report to the

London Resilience Group each year the state of its preparedness for responding to an
emergency, rating plans and capabilities as green (operational), amber (operational but
requiring development) or red (not operational). The 2016 report was the most recent

to have been completed at the time of the Grenfell Tower fire.>* It was produced by

Mr Kerry,”?” who rated various aspects as amber.>?® Training and borough level exercises
fell into that category. RBKC recognised in the report that BECC exercises needed to be
improved and that there was insufficient refresher training. The report also referred to a
need to revise an analysis of training needs, but that was no more than an aspiration. The
analysis had not been revised by the time of the Grenfell Tower fire.>?

101.67 Significantly, the borough’s capability for humanitarian assistance was also rated amber.>*°

That reflected the fact that its humanitarian assistance plan dating from April 2008 was out
of date. Efforts to develop the plan stagnated because it was found too difficult.>!

101.68 The report indicated that RBKC had no Humanitarian Assistance Lead Officer (HALO).53?

When a significant emergency has occurred, the HALO has an important part to play in
bringing together various partners, including health agencies, the police, and voluntary
and faith sectors to oversee the humanitarian assistance effort. The continued lack of
a trained HALO created a significant gap in RBKC's ability to respond effectively to a
serious emergency.>?

101.69 Minimum Standards for London required local authorities to have documented procedures

in place allowing access at any time to information required to identify vulnerable persons
known to them and to make that information available in a form in which it could be used
by different responders.>** That was another respect in which the report showed that RBKC
required improvement. However, in reality the position fell far short of that, because in
substance all that existed was a draft plan dated April 2012.%%°

101.70 The report showed that there had been no exercise to test the plan for identifying

vulnerable persons and did not show that any lessons had been learnt from training
or exercises. Despite requests to hold a multi-agency exercise in the wake of exercise
Babel in November 2015 none had been carried out by June 2017, even though it had
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Minimum Standards for London Assessment Template RBKC 2016 {RBKO0036770}.

Kerry {Day268/146:6-8}.

MSL Assessment Template 2017 {RBKO0047524}.

Blackburn {Day270/124:4}-{Day270/125:10}; Kerry {Day268/147:2-15}.

Kerry {Day268/153:7}-{Day268/154:11}.

Kerry {Day268/153:7}-{Day268/155:7}.

Kerry {Day268/164:18}-{Day268/168:4}; Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBK00011313/2}.
Kerry {Day268/168:18-22}.

Identifying the Vulnerable Framework paragraph 1.7.1 {LFB00061174/6}; Minimum Standard tab 2.6
{LFB00119219/20}; Kerry {Day268/168:24}-{Day268/175:1}.

Kerry {RBKO0O058091/3-4} pages 3-4. Annex 21: ‘A framework for identifying and contacting vulnerable persons in
an emergency.
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been intended to hold one by April 2016.5% Mr Kerry accepted that the system in place

at RBKC for identifying vulnerable people was materially inferior to those operated

by its tri-borough partners.>*” Indeed, in March 2017, he had told Tony Andrews,
Emergency Planning Manager (Humanitarian Assistance) at Westminster City Council that it
remained a considerable concern within RBKC.>3#

101.71 Although the information in the report was received by the London Resilience Group,

there was no oversight of the process, which relied entirely on self-assessment.

Mr Hetherington told us that if a quarter or more of the boroughs were not fully
operational (i.e. were either amber or red) in relation to any particular function, the
London Resilience Group would inform the Local Authorities’ Panel to enable it to consider
how it could improve them.>* In relation to the identification of vulnerable persons, the
reports for 2016 showed that nine of the 33 boroughs were amber.>*® For 2017, ten of the
33 boroughs were amber and one red.>*

101.72 As part of its report RBKC also indicated that it did not have in place a documented strategy

for community resilience which described a programme of multi-agency collaborative work
with emergency responders, members of the public and voluntary and faith sectors.>*?
Notwithstanding some limited efforts, there was generally a failure to engage with local
voluntary agencies and faith groups. In that respect RBKC failed to discharge its statutory
duty as a Category 1 responder to maintain plans involving the voluntary sector.>*® The fact
is that RBKC did not have a strategy which actively considered and engaged the voluntary
sector during the planning process or in training or exercises.>* It was not treated as a
priority by David Kerry and the Contingencies Planning Unit, although with hindsight he
accepted that it should have been, a sentiment with which we agree.>*

101.73 In our view, the report together with the wider evidence reveals a culture of neglect at

RBKC over a number of years towards planning for humanitarian assistance. The existence
of an effective plan for providing such assistance would probably have made a material
difference to its response to the Grenfell Tower fire.>*®

101.74 None of those matters were reported to the chief executive or senior executive board of

RBKC.>*” The council had no system in place to inform senior management that it was not
meeting the standards expected by Minimum Standards for London. As a result, there was
a lack of oversight in relation to those important matters. Ultimately, the defects identified
in the report were the very areas in which its response to the fire failed.
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Kerry {Day268/170:9}-{Day268/171:5}; {RBKOO005188/4}.

Kerry {Day268/179:22}-{Day268/181:8}.

{RBKO0058010}; Kerry {Day268/156:4}-{Day268/157:18}; {Day269/2:24}-{Day269/5:11}.

Hetherington {Day277/155:15)—{Day277/156:1}.

MSL Peer Review Results 2016 {LFB00119221}.

MSL Results for all Borough 2017 (final); MSL Self-Assessment Results 2017 {LFB00119222/10} excludes Hackney
{LFB00119232}.

Kerry {Day268/156:4}-{Day268/159:12}.

Section 2(1)(c)-(d) Civil Contingencies Act 2004 {CABO0004616/3}; Regulation 23 Civil Contingencies Act
(Contingency Planning) Regulations 2005 {CABO0007003/13}.

The Role of the Voluntary Sector {CABO0004597/2} paragraph 14.6; Kerry {Day268/163:3-7}.

Kerry {Day268/159:5-12}, {Day268/158:25}-{Day268/159:6}.

RBKC Closing Submissions {RBKO0O068546/24} paragraph 84.

Kerry {Day268/151:2}-{Day268/153:5}.

50



Chapter 102

The London-wide response

Introduction

102.1 In this chapter we examine the response of the London Resilience Group, the
London Resilience Partnership, London Gold, the Mayor of London and the Greater London
Authority, concentrating in particular on their reactions to the fire and the arrangements
available to support RBKC in leading the humanitarian response.

Notification of the fire to the London Resilience Group

102.2  The duty manager of the London Resilience Group is the person to be notified of
an emergency and the person responsible for putting any strategic co-ordination
arrangements into action.>*® On 14 June 2017 the duty manager was Matthew Hogan,>*
overseen by Toby Gould, a deputy head of London Resilience, who acted as the
strategic advisor.>*® John Hetherington, also a deputy head of London Resilience, took
over at 08.30.%*

102.3  Although a major incident>? had been declared by the Metropolitan Police at 01.26,>
Mr Hogan first became aware of the Grenfell Tower fire from a BBC news flash on his
mobile phone at 02.30.** The first official notification he received of the fire was in an
email from Transport for London at 03.12.>> That was not how the London Resilience
Group would normally expect to be notified.>*®* Mr Hogan should have been notified by the
police themselves that they had declared a major incident.>®” At 03.18 Mr Hogan received a
WhatsApp notification from Glenn Sebright, head of communications at the LFB, followed
by an email at 03.20 stating that the LFB had also declared the fire a major incident.>*®

548 London Resilience Group Duty Officers’ Handbook v.1.3.1., March 2017 {LFB0O0061187/6} Figure 2.2; Hogan
{LFBO0119334/6} page 6, paragraph 21.

%9 Hogan {LFB00119334/1} page 1, paragraph 4; Hogan {LFB00119334/6} page 6, paragraph 20.

%50 The London Resilience Strategic Advisor role is defined in the London Resilience Group Duty Officers’ Handbook
v.1.3.1, March 2017 {LFBO0061187/6} paragraph 2.2, see also {LFBO0061187/15-16}.

%! Gould {LFB00061268/3} page 3, paragraph 8.

%2 A major incident is defined as an event or situation with a range of serious consequences which requires
special arrangements to be implemented by one or more emergency responder agency: ‘Joint Doctrine: The
Interoperability Framework’, 2nd Edition, July 2016 {CAB0O0004642/8}.

%53 Phase 1 Report Volume IV paragraph 30.38.

54 Hogan {LFB00119334/6} page 6, paragraph 22.

%5 {LFB00119337}; Hogan {LFB00119334/7} page 7, paragraph 26.

%6 Hetherington {Day277/182:2-15}.

%57 Hetherington {Day277/182:2-15}. The London Resilience Partnership Strategic Co-ordination Protocol v.7.3,
February 2017 (public facing) {G0L00001153/3} and Hogan {LFB00119334/7} page 7, paragraph 25 states, “any
partner organisation experiencing or having knowledge of a potential disruptive, major incident or emergency
should contact the LRG Duty Officer to jointly assess the situation to determine the level of strategic co-ordination
required”.

%8 Hogan {LFB00119334/8} page 8, paragraph 28; “40 pump fire, major incident, north Kensington”. Glenn Sebright
then emailed LRT Alerts and other London Resilience Partners at 03.21 stating that LFB had declared the fire a
‘major incident’ {LFB00119338}.
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102.4  The London Resilience Partnership Strategic Co-ordination Protocol,*° which sets out

the arrangements for London’s response to a major incident,*® does not say when the
London Resilience Group ought to be notified; Mr Hetherington said that he would expect
it to be notified as soon as reasonably practicable.®! It is clear that there was a delay on the
part of the police and the LFB in informing it of the fire.>®? As the Phase 1 report concluded,
the declaration of a major incident is all but useless if it is not communicated to other
Category 1 or 2 responders as soon as possible and that applies equally to communication
to the London Resilience Group.>®?

The strategic co-ordinating group

102.5 In February 2017 the London Resilience Partnership published version 7.3 of its

Strategic Co-ordination Protocol containing the procedures to be followed by its members
in response to a major incident. The first step is to establish a strategic coordinating
group,”® the purpose of which is to enable the agencies responding to the incident to
formulate a joint strategy, to agree on joint actions and share information®® in order

to provide direction in the response.®® A full strategic co-ordinating group consists of
both Category 1 and 2 responders, as well as others, such as the voluntary and faith
sectors.’®” Local authority attendance at the strategic co-ordinating group is at Gold Group
level, which means that either the chief executive of the affected borough or its

Gold Commander is expected to attend.*®® That may also include the duty London Gold,
whether or not he or she is involved in the response at that stage.*®® Mr Hetherington told
us that if the duty Gold is available, he or she should attend meetings of the strategic
co-ordinating group.>”°

102.6  The duty Gold had two functions when attending a strategic co-ordinating group meeting

following the Grenfell Tower fire. The first was to ensure that RBKC had everything it
needed; the second was to assess whether there were implications for other London
boroughs.>’* John Barradell told us that before the Gold Resolution had been formally
activated the role of the duty London Gold was to attend the strategic co-ordinating group
meetings to keep a watching brief.>’? It was therefore a departure from the standard
procedure that both the duty London Golds on the night of the fire, Andrew Blake-Herbert
followed by Christopher Naylor, were absent from the initial strategic co-ordinating group
meetings on the morning of 14 June 2017.°73
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The London Resilience Partnership Strategic Co-ordination Protocol v.7.3, February 2017 (public facing)
{GOL00001153}, the protocol is introduced in the Phase 1 Report Volume IV paragraphs 30.24 - 30.28.
{CAB00004616/1}; {GOLO0001153/10} paragraph 1.1.1.

Hetherington {Day277/182:17-25}.

MPS at 01.26 although CAD said “critical incident”, LFB at 02.06 and LAS at 02.26, Phase 1 Report Volume IV
paragraph 30.38.

Phase 1 Report Volume IV paragraph 30.19.

{MET00023288}.

Emergency Response and Recovery {CABO0004519/20}, paragraph 2.6.1.

{MET00023288/15-16} paragraphs 2.2.2- 2.2.7; Hetherington {LFB0O0061158/5} page 5, paragraph 14.
{MET00023288/37} Appendix 2.

Hetherington {Day277/187:16-19}; {MET00023288/17} paragraph 2.2.12. states “Representatives at the Strategic
Coordinating Group must have the level of knowledge, expertise and authority to identify and to commit the
resources of their respective agency.”

{MET00023288/37} Appendix 2.

Hetherington {Day277/189:5-7}.

Hetherington {Day278/87:1-9}; Sawyer {Day278/89:23}-{Day278/90:1}.

Barradell {Day 279/17:19}-{Day 279/19:9}.

Barradell {Day279/29:15-25}; {MET00023288/33}.
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102.7  Mr Sawyer, Chief Executive Liaison Officer (Resilience) for the City of London Corporation,

said that it was not mandatory for London Gold to attend strategic coordinating

group meetings,*’* particularly in relation to an incident confined to a single borough.

That had changed, however, when it became clear that RBKC was unable to discharge

its responsibilities.>”> Mr Barradell disagreed and admitted that he had been surprised

that neither of the duty London Golds had attended a meeting of the strategic co-
ordinating group.®’® It is therefore unclear why, after Mr Sawyer’s attendance at the

first meeting that took place at 05.00, the duty London Gold did not attend any of the
subsequent four meetings on 14 June 2017°”7 or the meeting on 15 June 2017.°’8 The first
strategic co-ordinating group meeting attended by the duty London Gold was at 11.00

on 16 June 2017.°”° In our view, the prompt convening of a strategic co-ordinating group
attended by people, including the duty London Gold, with the level of knowledge, expertise
and authority to identify and commit the resources of their respective agencies, is essential
to its proper functioning. Until the Gold resolution had been invoked, London Gold had no
active part to play, but the presence of a duty London Gold could have provided a senior
figure to assess and, if appropriate, challenge the information provided by RBKC.

Meetings of the strategic co-ordinating group

102.8 The first meeting of the strategic co-ordinating group was held at 05.00 on 14 June 2017.%%°

The LFB had asked for the meeting to be convened at 04.30, but the request was not
made until 04.09 and Mr Gould and Mr Hogan did not think that there was enough time
to organise a meeting by 04.30.%%! The meeting therefore took place at 05.00.°%? The lapse
of time between the declaration of a major incident at 01.26 and the convening of a
strategic co-ordinating group at 05.00 was caused in large part by a delay of almost two
hours in telling the London Resilience Group of its occurrence. That in turn meant that the
identification of potential difficulties and full coordination between the Category 1 and 2
responders did not formally begin until three and a half hours later.>®

102.9 One of the responsibilities of the London Resilience Group duty manager is to ensure that

London Gold is aware of the declaration of a major incident.*® Mr Hogan contacted the
duty London Gold, Andrew Blake-Herbert, at 04.55.5% There is no guidance on how soon
after being informed of a major incident the duty manager should notify London Gold,
although as a matter of common sense it should be as soon as possible.>® In this case,
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Sawyer {Day278/86:10-17}.

Sawyer {Day278/92:5-10}.

Barradell {Day279/29:25}.

Strategic Coordinating Group meetings on 14 June 2017: 06.30 {LFB00028077}; 08.30 {LFBO0003366}; 14.00
{LFBO0O003369}; 19.30 {LFB0O0119322}.

Strategic Coordinating Group meeting on 15 June 2017 at 11.00 {MOL0O0000047}.

Minutes of the Strategic Coordinating Group Meeting on 16 June 2017 at 11.00 {MOL00000036}.

Sawyer {Day278/87:11-20}; The LLAG also attended on 17 June 2017 at 14.00 and 22 June 2017 at 13.00.
Minutes of the 05.00 Strategic Coordinating Group Meeting on 14 June 2017 {MOL0O0000026}; Hetherington
{Day277/187:3-5}.

{LFB00119343}.

Hogan {LFB00119334/12} page 12, paragraph 43; Gould {LFB0O0061268/5} page 5, paragraph 12; {LFB00119343}.
“A key feature of leadership decision-making in crises and emergencies is the need for decisions to be made
quickly...” {MET00023288/22} paragraph 2.7.5.

{MET00023288/14} paragraph 2.1.5; {LFBO0061187/9}.

At 04.38 Mr Hogan sent an email to Mr Naylor, the chief executive of the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham,
and Paul Martin, the chief executive of Richmond and Wandsworth Council, to give them the sign-in details for
the 05.00 Strategic Coordinating Group meeting as he wrongly thought that Mr Naylor was the duty Gold and

Mr Martin the secondary Gold. Mr Hogan then tried calling Mr Naylor at 04.38, 04.39 and 04.41. {LFB00119351/1};
Hogan {LFB00119334/13} page 13, paragraph 50; Hogan {LFB00119334/17} page 17, paragraph 74.

Hetherington {Day277/185:3}; {MET00023288/14} paragraph 2.1.5 states that the LRG manager will check that
relevant organisations are aware including the duty LLAG.
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there was a delay of an hour and 43 minutes,*®” which on any view was far longer than
was reasonable. Mark Sawyer, who was copied into the notification, told us that he
thought that there had been insufficient time to notify the duty London Gold of the first
strategic co-ordinating group meeting, so he attended himself.*®® Whether that affected
the response of London Gold is difficult to tell, as, although Mr Sawyer did not take on the
role of London Gold during the meeting, he was a representative of London Gold and had
previous experience in dealing with major incidents.>® Even so, if the duty London Gold
had been present, he might have provided a wider perspective as chief executive of a
London borough. That is all the more so given that RBKC’s own chief executive did not
attend until the group’s third meeting at 08.30°% and the first London Gold did not attend a
meeting until 11.00 on 16 June 2017.>%*

Early consideration of the London Gold arrangements

102.10 The London Local Authority Gold Operating Procedure, produced by the LFB
Emergency Planning department to guide London Gold and the support team,>** describes
the circumstances in which the Gold arrangements may be activated, when the duty Gold
should be contacted in relation to an emergency and when circumstances with regional
implications that require the support of Gold exist or are predicted.”® No express guidance
is given to the duty Gold about when the Gold arrangements may be activated, but
Mr Hetherington’s view was that, given their experience and knowledge of running a local
authority, chief executives are well-placed to judge whether there is a need for support.>*

102.11 At about 04.55 on 14 June 2017, Mr Hogan and Mr Blake-Herbert spoke to each other
on the telephone.>®® At that stage Mr Blake-Herbert was happy for RBKC to continue
to take the lead.>*® Mr Hetherington and Mr Gould discussed the activation of the
Gold arrangements in a telephone call at 05.42.°” Mr Gould told Mr Hetherington that
RBKC was dealing with the incident and that it did not require the arrangements to be
activated.>® In an email sent to Mr Hetherington at 05.58 Mr Hogan referred to his earlier
telephone call to Mr Blake-Herbert and confirmed that he had been happy for RBKC to lead
the response.>®

102.12 The London Resilience Group contacted RBKC to ensure that it had enough support.
At 07.44 Mr Gould asked Nicholas Holgate to indicate whether the position of RBKC had
changed and whether it required London Gold’s assistance on any matters affecting
London as a whole. Mr Gould said that he was not aware of any such matters, given that
the incident was entirely within the borough. At 07.50 Mr Holgate told Mr Gould that,
apart from a need for housing that might spill over borough boundaries, he did not think
London Gold needed to prepare for action.®® That did not surprise Mr Hetherington.®%

87 The period between the LRG being notified of the fire at 03.12 and Mr Blake-Herbert, duty Gold being notified by
Mr Hogan at 04.55.

588 Sawyer {Day278/87:13}-{Day278/88:4}.

589 Sawyer {GOLO0001349/10} page 10, paragraph 49; Sawyer {Day278/87:11-20}.

%90 {MOL00000014}.

1 {MOL00000036}.

%92 London Local Authority Gold Operating Procedure v.8. (January 2016) {LFBO0061185/5} paragraph 1.

%% London Local Authority Gold Operating Procedure v.8. (January 2016) {LFBO0061185/5} paragraph 3.

%94 Hetherington {Day277/196:4-15}.

% Hogan {LFB00119334/14} page 14, paragraph 58.

%% {LFB00119359/1}; Gould {LFBO0061268/7} page 7, paragraph 18.

%97 Hetherington Incident Log Book {LFB0O0061216/6}.

%% Hetherington {LFBO0061158/18} page 18, paragraph 54.

9% {LFB00119359/1}; Gould {LFBO0061268/7} page 7, paragraph 18.

€00 {| FBO0061289/1}.

€01 Hetherington {Day277/196:24} — {Day277/197:1}.
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102.13 Itis clear to us that the London Resilience Group was working on the assumption that, as

the incident was contained within one borough, the assistance of London Gold was unlikely
to be required and that RBKC would take control unless other boroughs were affected.®?
Christopher Naylor, who became the duty Gold at 09.00 on 14 June 2017, said that the
usual practice was that if the effect of an incident were confined to a single borough, that
borough would retain control unless it invited outside support.®®® The Gold Resolution®%*
did not provide for the duty Gold to intervene otherwise than in response to a request

for assistance from the chief executive of the borough affected.®® Likewise, once the

Gold Resolution had been activated it was the task of London Gold to support the chief
executive of the affected borough, not to take control of the response.®%

102.14 We were told that the primary purpose of the Gold Resolution was to provide a single

command in response to an emergency affecting the whole or a wide area of London, such
as “rising tide” incidents,®®’ or a roaming terrorist attack.®®® Before the Grenfell Tower fire,
the London Resilience Group had expected that in the case of an incident confined to one
location the relevant borough would take control of the response®” and that London Gold
would not be involved. If a disaster occurred of such a scale and complexity that no one
local authority could be reasonably expected to respond to it on its own, it was expected
that London Gold might become involved, but only if the borough asked for assistance.®°
That was based on the assumption that a borough knew its residents, resources and
capacity best and could be expected to have an interest in leading the response to

its residents.®*!

102.15 At the time of the fire, London Gold could not intervene unilaterally in a borough’s

response if it had not been asked for assistance.®*? It was easier to invoke the

Gold Resolution if an incident had occurred affecting a wide area than if the effect of

an incident were confined to a single borough.®** Mr Barradell confirmed that he had

no power to invoke the Gold Resolution and that Mr Holgate had to do that.®* The
government also acknowledged that there was no readily available means for London Gold
to take control or to require a borough to act in a particular way.®*®

Training

102.16 Chief executives received little training to prepare them for taking on the role of

London Gold. When Mr Naylor took over as London Gold at 09.00 on 14 June 2017 it was
the first time he had acted in that capacity.®'® We were told that the only training a chief
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Mr Hetherington gave an example of ‘overspill’ in the case of a terror incident which, although confined to a
single borough, may have ramifications as regards the monitoring of hate crime or preventing crime, in which
case LLAG would oversee those aspects of the response, Hetherington {Day277/197:16}-{Day277/198:5}; Barradell
{Day279/31:3-16}.

Naylor {GOL0O0001603/2} page 2, paragraph 4.

The Gold Resolution, July 2010 {GOL00001725}; Addendum to the Gold Resolution, July 2010 {GOLO0001717}.
Naylor {GOL00001603/2} page 2, paragraph 4.

Barradell {Day279/19:22}-{Day279/20:15}.

For example, flood, pandemic or a civil disturbance which develops over time; Naylor {GOL00001603/2} page 2,
paragraph 5.

Naylor {GOL00001603/2} page 2, paragraphs 4-5.

Hetherington {Day277/197:16}-{Day277/198:5}.

Hetherington {Day277/198:12}.

Hetherington {Day277/198:12-19}.

Barradell {Day279/14:6-21}.

Barradell {Day 279/14:16}-{Day 279/15:5}.

Barradell {Day279/58:15-16}.

Key points from the discussion between Peter Tallantire, a Deputy Director in the Civil Contingencies Secretariat,
Cabinet Office, and No.10 {CAB00014827} paragraph 1; Tallantire {CAB00014830/9} page 9, paragraph 27.6.
Gould {LFB00061268/9} page 9, paragraph 26.
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executive would receive from the London Resilience Group before being added to the
London Gold rota was an hour-long briefing from someone at the London Resilience Group
or Mr Sawyer and a tour of the special operations room at Lambeth.%?’

102.17 Local authorities took part in various training events delivered by the London Resilience

Partnership,'® but no training events specifically for chief executives who might be called
upon to act as London Gold were held between March 2016 and November 2017.%%° At the
time of the fire the most recent training for members of the London Gold support team
had taken place in Islington, Waltham Forest and Camden in early 2016.5%° Its purpose

was to provide an opportunity to acquire the individual and team skills needed to support
London Gold and was not made available to local authority chief executives. RBKC did not
receive any support team training in 2016 or in 2017 before the fire.®?!

102.18 The Gold Resolution was not considered to be a matter of concern in 2016 and as such was

not within the scope of the review of local authority emergency planning which in 2016
gave rise to the “EP2020” report.®?> Mr Hetherington told us that it had been recognised
before the Grenfell Tower fire that the training for chief executives needed to be improved.
The process had begun before the fire, but the fire had caused the new training to be
postponed.®?* Mr Sawyer also said that there had been a need to improve training for chief
executives.®” The second edition of the “EP2020” report published in 2019 recommended
that all chief executives and their deputies attend training events and exercise programmes
to prepare them to undertake the duties of London Gold.*?

Early signs that RBKC was not coping

102.19 Jon-Paul Graham was duty officer at the GLA on the night of the fire.®® He was first made

aware of it at 03.09 on 14 June 2017 by the Commissioner of the LFB, Dany Cotton.®?’
The Mayor of London, Sadig Khan, was subsequently notified between 03.20 and 03.30 by
the head of his private office, Ali Picton.5?®

102.20 Mr Graham attended the first three strategic co-ordinating group meetings on

14 June 2017. Emma Strain, Assistant Director of External Relations at the GLA, attended
all the other meetings of the group between 14 and 20 June 2017, except the meeting
on 18 June 2017, which was attended by David Bellamy, the Mayor of London’s chief of
staff.¢?® The Mayor’s Gold Cell group is called together when a major incident has been
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Hetherington {Day277/202:16}-{Day277/203:6}.

Hetherington {LFBO0061158/16} page 16, paragraph 48; London Resilience Partnership’s training strategy and
programme {LFBO0061201} paragraphs 3.4, 3.13, 3.25, 3.26.

Details of local authority training events delivered by the London Resilience Group from March 2016 - June 2017
{LFBO0061215/3}.

{LFBO0061215/3}.

Hetherington {Day277/205:17}.

Sawyer {Day278/72:7-25}. Recommendations for Local Government Emergency Planning and Resilience for the
2020’s (“EP2020"), report by Mark Sawyer, 3 October 2016 {GOL00001515/3} paragraph 2, ‘The two elements
excluded are; the London Local Authority Gold Resolution and the principle of all 33 chief executives participating in
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declared. Its purpose is to ensure that the Mayor is kept well informed in order to enable
him to carry out his role as spokesman for the capital and provide civic leadership and
reassurance.® It was convened by Mr Graham following the first strategic co-ordination
group meeting at 05.00 on 14 June 2017.%%* Its first meeting was held at 08.00.5?

102.21 In his written evidence, Mr Graham said that, at the meeting of the strategic co-ordinating
group at 06.30, he had been shocked to hear that RBKC had not yet held its own
Gold Group meeting and was not intending to do so until 11.00, four and a half hours
later.?* He was concerned even at that early stage that RBKC might not be coping with
the demands of the incident.®** However, Mr Graham did not report his concerns to
Mr Bellamy and Mr Bellamy did not recall their being raised at the first meeting of the
Mayor’s Gold Cell group.®* An opportunity for the GLA and the Mayor to raise concerns
about RBKC’s handling of the response may therefore have been missed, although, as we
have said, there was no machinery by which either of them could take control of events.

102.22 Regrettably, a log was not kept of the action taken by the Mayor’s Gold Cell group, nor
were any minutes kept of its meetings in the days following the fire.®3® That was contrary
to the Mayor’s own protocol, which expressly provided that maintaining a record of key
events, actions and decisions together with their reasons was of paramount importance.®’
Mr Bellamy explained that the absence of logs and minutes was due to the relatively recent
introduction of the protocol in November 2016, which had meant that the training required
to establish it had not taken place. In addition, the resources of the London Resilience
Group were stretched, as they were dealing with a number of other serious incidents at the
time.®* Be that as it may, the absence of records has made it difficult for us to tell when
concerns were first raised by the Mayor’s office about RBKC’s handling of the response to
the fire and when they were first communicated to others.

The London Resilience Group

102.23 Until the early afternoon of 14 June 2017, the London Resilience Group thought that RBKC
was taking appropriate steps to ascertain the needs of those affected by the incident and
provide accommodation and practical support. It is clear to us that by that stage the scale
of the incident should have been clear to everyone, not least because it involved the mass
displacement of residents.®* However, because it had failed to appreciate the scale of the
incident and had not activated fully its Contingency Management Plan, RBKC was unable
to cope on its own with the demands imposed on it. Mr Holgate was determined to retain
control of the response and the mistaken understanding of the London Resilience Group,
Mr Barradell and the London Gold that RBKC was able to keep up with the demands
made the problem worse by delaying the introduction of experience and resources from
across London.®*

30 Mayor of London’s Major Incident and Civil Contingencies Response Protocol - Gold Cell (November 2016)
{MOL00000040/12} Section 4.

&1 Graham {GLA0O0000004/6} page 6, paragraph 32.

632 Graham {GLAO0000004/6} page 6, paragraph 32.

833 Graham {GLA0O0000004/7} page 7, paragraph 35.

634 Graham {GLA0O0000004/7} page 7, paragraph 36, Mr Graham'’s kept a typed note which he used to brief colleagues
in City Hall {GLAOO000004/5} paragraph 26. That note {MOL00000039} did not refer to any concerns as set out in
his statement.
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102.24 During the afternoon of 14 June 2017, Mr Sawyer was asked to arrange a conference call

between a group which included Nicholas Holgate, Christopher Naylor (then London Gold),
John Barradell, John Hetherington, Eleanor Kelly (chief executive of Southwark Council)
and John Q’Brien, (chief executive of London Councils).** The purpose of the call was to
understand the support that RBKC was likely to require and how it could best be provided
by other boroughs. The intention was to provide strategic support to Mr Holgate.®*?

102.25 The call took place at 17.30 on 14 June 2017. Although RBKC insisted that it was

keeping up with the demand for support from residents, it was agreed during the call
that Mr Barradell and Ms Kelly would offer peer support to Mr Holgate the next day,

15 June 2017. In addition, it was agreed that two senior directors from Southwark Council
would attend RBKC on 15 June 2017 to provide advice and assistance.®*

102.26 In addition to the offer of peer support, it was decided that Mr Sawyer would go to

RBKC the following day to provide initial support and the benefit of his experience of
previous major incidents.®** Mr Sawyer agreed that his aim should be to encourage and
identify potential areas of improvement.® It was rare for him to be asked to assist a local
authority so soon after an incident;%® his involvement reflected the size and complexity of
the emergency.

102.27 There was no discussion during the call about invoking the Gold Resolution.®*’

Mr Holgate was aware of the possibility of doing so, but formed the view that none of
those taking part thought that it was necessary for there to be a wider response by local
government.®*® No one told him that the incident was too big for one local authority to
deal with. He therefore did not consider activating the Gold Resolution and gained the
impression that the others taking part in the call thought that RBKC was coping adequately.
Nevertheless, we are surprised that the Gold Resolution was not mentioned, particularly in
view of the concern that Mr Naylor felt about RBKC’s ability to respond to the needs of the
wider community.®*

102.28 One reason for Mr Barradell’s failure to intervene at that stage was that he assumed,

based on what he was being told by RBKC, that RBKC had a capable group of officers who
understood what to do in such circumstances.®° Despite the fact that by the time of the
call there was, as he put it, “rising concern” about RBKC’s ability to manage the response,®?
he admitted that he had not challenged Mr Holgate’s own view of the situation. By the
time he gave evidence he had come to regret that he had accepted what he was being told
at face value, although it was obviously wrong.®*?
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Among the matters discussed during the call were significant changes to the situation and
the structures in place for co-ordinating support across London.%** That involved describing
the groups that were being set up under the auspices of the strategic co-ordinating

group, including those dealing with mass fatalities and humanitarian assistance, and
generally giving those involved an understanding of the breadth of the structures being

set up.%>* Mr Hetherington also told us that it was necessary to do that, even though the
Gold Resolution had not been invoked, in order to give Mr Holgate an understanding of the
wider response that could be made available if he wanted to make use of it.®>*

Apart from Mr Holgate’s initial reluctance to ask for assistance from London Gold,

there was also a reluctance on the part of the London Resilience Group to be drawn

into long-term support. In an email sent after the conference call late on 14 June 2017
John Hetherington expressed the hope and expectation that, once RBKC had support
from the right people, it could be left to get on with it.%*® Mr Sawyer told us that there
was a general concern among the London Resilience Group at the time, unrelated to the
Grenfell Tower fire, that individual boroughs needed to take more direct responsibility for
responding to emergencies.®’

The reluctance of the London Resilience Group to become engaged in long-term support
was due to its involvement at that time in the response to other incidents, in particular,
the London Bridge attack in Southwark.®>® That suggests a shortage of available resources
across London at the time of the fire, but it was not the reason why more was not done
sooner to assist RBKC.%*° If RBKC had asked for assistance, we are confident that it would
have been provided with alacrity.

Offers of assistance

In addition to the offer of peer support made during the conference call, RBKC was
inundated throughout 14 June 2017 with general®® and specific®! offers of help from
various local authorities. They were, in the main, refused by RBKC, which did not wish

to appear incapable of managing the situation but did not have sufficient regard to an
objective analysis of its needs.®®? In particular, it feared that invoking the Gold Resolution
would be seen as a sign that its response had failed.®®

In our view RBKC’s decision to refuse external help was misguided and reflected

a misplaced belief on the part of Mr Holgate that it could manage on its own.

Mr Barradell was surprised that offers of support should have been turned down by

any borough following an incident of that kind and would have expected a formal

request for support.®®* That view was shared by Mr Sawyer,**> who thought that

RBKC was overwhelmed and lacked strategic oversight.®®® When he gave evidence

Mr Holgate accepted that his refusal to accept external assistance at an earlier stage of the
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102.34

102.35

102.36

102.37

102.38

response had been due to his misguided belief that the council was managing the response
adequately.®®” However, we also think that he was blind to the obvious and regarded
accepting assistance as an admission of defeat.

Mr Barradell said that at the meeting on 14 June 2017 he had not had concerns about
the ability of RBKC to manage the response,®®® which suggests that he was relying on
his previous positive view of RBKC.%®° As such, on 14 June 2017 he did not offer advice
or express any concern to Mr Holgate about his leadership, despite perhaps having
certain reservations.®”

The Mayor of London’s conversation with the Secretary of State

At 18.15 on 14 June 2017, the Mayor of London spoke to the Secretary of State for
Housing, Communities and Local Government, the Rt Hon Sajid Javid MP.6* A summary of
the call records that the Mayor said that he had been impressed with the government’s
response thus far and that they had discussed matters such as the re-housing of displaced
persons and the provision of counselling for firefighters.®’? In his witness statement,
however, the Mayor said that he had expressed a deep concern for the situation faced by
the local community and that, having seen the chaos on the ground, he had expressed
the need for a single point of contact and advice for the local community and for visible
support from the local authority and the government.®’?

Mr Bellamy told us that, although the Mayor himself had noticed certain things on his visit
to the tower on 14 June 2017, he had not thought that he knew enough about RBKC’s
response to make a reliable assessment of it and could rely only on what he had been

told after the strategic co-ordinating group meetings.®’* The difference between the note
of the Mayor’s conversation with the Secretary of State and his subsequent recollection

is not of importance and we agree with Mr Bellamy that it would have been helpful for
those who were present at the strategic co-ordinating group meetings to have questioned
Mr Holgate more closely about what he said was happening.t”

Questions from DCLG

By the morning of 15 June 2017, officials from the Department for Communities

and Local Government (DCLG) were seeking information about how the response
was going. Although the Resilience and Emergencies Division (“RED”) was not
responsible for supporting local authorities in an emergency and had no power to
control their responses,®’® it did have a responsibility to collect and share information
about an incident.®”’

On the morning of 15 June 2017, Lynne Dowdican, RED resilience advisor, spoke to the
deputy head of the London Resilience Group,®”® who confirmed that RBKC was reasonably
confident that it had found accommodation for all those who needed it and could deal with
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any shortage that might emerge.®” At 09.24 she sent an email to the London Resilience
Group asking how many people had been accommodated in rest centres overnight,
whether families with vulnerable people or children had been housed and if so, in what
kind of accommodation. She also enquired about the support available to families, the
telephone numbers of the rest centres, family support services, the casualty bureau

and the family and friends centre.®® |t appears that she was not prepared to take the
assurances she had been given at face value. At 09.31 the London Resilience Group
confirmed that answers were being sought from RBKC and the police. It provided a link to
RBKC’s newsroom which gave out information about support lines, facilities, and telephone
numbers that had been revised the evening before.%!

At 10.01 on 15 June 2017, Philip James, a government liaison officer with RED, told

Mr Gould about concerns that had been raised by Nicholas Hurd, the Minister of State

for Policing and the Fire Service, some of which related to the adequacy of the sleeping
facilities at the Westway Centre. He asked for confirmation that the Red Cross and the
Samaritans were involved and that the sleeping conditions would be better that evening.%®?
That message was passed on by Mr Gould to Mr Sawyer and Mr Holgate with a request

for a positive response to the questions it contained. Mr Gould also asked whether

Mr Holgate would like to appoint someone at RBKC to act as a point of contact for DCLG,%®
but Mr Holgate did not choose to do s0.%®

Mr Hetherington told us that he had not been made aware of the concerns that

Mr Hurd had expressed about the sleeping facilities at the Westway Centre.®® They were
important matters of which Mr Hetherington should have been made aware. The fact
that a government minister felt it necessary to raise such matters should have sounded a
warning to Mr Holgate and Mr Gould that there were problems with the response.

At 10.20 Jenny Shellens of RED sent Mr James an email asking him to clarify a number
of matters when he attended a meeting of the strategic co-ordinating group later that
morning. They included the number of those displaced and what arrangements had
been made for temporary accommodation. At the end of her message she asked him
whether they could be satisfied that RBKC had a grip on the emergency.®® Her question
went unanswered.

A further sign that by the morning of 15 June 2017 DCLG was beginning to be concerned
about the adequacy of RBKC’s response was the suggestion that Mr James might be sent
from the police special operations room to the RBKC Borough Emergency Control Centre.®®’
Mr Gould advised against it.%® Mr Hetherington told us that there was no precedent for

a government liaison officer to be deployed in a local authority’s BECC.%® We think that it
was more efficient for an official to be a standing member of the strategic co-ordinating
group, thereby giving access to the information from all the agencies involved, rather than
being present at the BECC.
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The Mayor of London’s concerns

102.43 The Mayor of London visited Grenfell Tower for the second time at 14.00 on
15 June 2017.5%° He described how the full scale of the tragedy was starting to become
clear. During that visit some members of the community had been very upset and angry
and wanted answers from someone in authority, so his attendance at the scene drew a
large crowd. Someone threw a bottle of water at him.®! He was advised by his security
team to leave the Notting Hill Methodist Church by the back door but he felt strongly that
it was his duty as Mayor to listen to the community’s concerns, so he remained and spoke
to those affected for another hour.**

102.44 The news of what had happened during the Mayor’s visit was relayed to
Mr Hetherington by Commander Jerome, the police Gold, who told him that the Mayor
had been mobbed during his visit. Consequently, and as a result of further concerns about
civil unrest, Commander Jerome, as chairman of the strategic co-ordination group was
no longer willing to move from the emergency response phase to the recovery phase
on 16 June 2017,%2 since that would entail handing over management of the response
to RBKC alone.®*

102.45 Mr Bellamy attended the second cross-government ministerial meeting at 15.30 on
15 June 2017,%° which he said was the first time he had become aware that there was
unease about RBKC’s handling of the response.®®® Following the meeting, he returned
to City Hall, where he heard reports from a number of colleagues that RBKC was failing
in its response.®’ He was sufficiently concerned at its lack of progress to telephone
Mr Barradell at 17.39 to discuss what action could be taken to improve it.%%® It appears
that that call took place shortly after the telephone conference between Mr Barradell and
Mr Holgate at 17.00.

102.46 It was clear from Mr Bellamy’s evidence that his intervention in contacting Mr Barradell on
15 June 2017 following the second ministerial meeting had been generated by his worries
rather than a desire for the Gold arrangements to be set in motion. He said that at the time
he had not known enough about those arrangements to consider that possibility.®%

102.47 By the evening of 15 June 2017, the London Resilience Group, DCLG and City Hall had
all expressed significant concern about the response.’® The performance of RBKC and
London Resilience as a whole was under increasing scrutiny from both the government
and the Mayor’s office and the need for an improvement had become paramount. In that
context it is difficult to understand why there was further delay between the decision to
activate the Gold arrangements and the formal steps required to do so.
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The first request for mutual aid

102.48 The first formal request by RBKC for assistance from other local authorities was not made
until 17.03 on 15 June 2017.7°* It was prompted by an email sent by Gillian Maxwell on
behalf of the London Local Authority Coordination Centre to RBKC at 16.34 asking it to give
some serious thought to what assistance it was likely to need from other boroughs over
the next 24 to 48 hours.”%? (Mr Hetherington confirmed that he considered that request for
staff to have been the council’s first request for mutual aid.)’®* RBKC responded at 17.03
to say that it was likely to need liaison officers, rest centre managers, rest centre teams
and emergency planning staff and asked the London Local Authority Coordination Centre
to arrange that on its behalf.”% The request for assistance was sent to other boroughs at
17.54 on 15 June 2017.7% That was almost 36 hours after the last surviving occupant had
left the tower. We think that RBKC should have asked for assistance far sooner. The London
Local Authority Coordination Centre had been open and ready to help since 08.15 on
15 June 2017 in the expectation that the Gold arrangements would be activated or that
assistance would be requested and there is no reasonable explanation why its services
could not have been used a good deal earlier.”?®

The operation of the Gold Resolution

102.49 Mr Barradell told us that communications with Mr Holgate on 14 and 15 June 2017
were designed gently to encourage him to operate the Gold Resolution, although he
accepted that his approach had perhaps not been forceful enough.”®” We are satisfied
that Mr Barradell did not expressly raise with Mr Holgate the desirability of invoking the
Gold arrangements at any time before the meeting at 17.00 on 15 June 2017. In fact,
he did the opposite. When on 14 June 2017 Christopher Naylor, the duty Gold, asked
Mr Barradell if there was more he could be doing to support RBKC, Mr Barradell told
him that the operation of the Gold Resolution was a matter for Mr Holgate and that
unless RBKC’s position changed he should remain on standby.”®® John Barradell was right
in his understanding that only Mr Holgate as chief executive of RBKC could operate the
Gold Resolution, but that did not need to prevent senior figures in London Resilience
from giving him clear and firm advice of the need to seek assistance from other boroughs.
Mr Barradell accepted that he should have been more robust.”® As it was, an opportunity
to persuade Mr Holgate that RBKC needed help immediately was lost.

102.50 At 17.00 on 15 June 2017 a conference call was held between Mr Holgate, Mr Barradell and
Mr Sawyer to discuss Mr Sawyer’s fear that Mr Holgate and his senior management
team were not fully aware of the scale and complexity of the task facing RBKC.”*°

701 Emergency Response and Recovery, non-statutory guidance accompanying the Civil Contingencies Act 2004,
{CAB00004624/225}: Mutual aid is “An agreement between Category 1 and 2 responders and other organisations
not covered by the Act, within the same sector or across sectors and across boundaries, to provide assistance with
additional resource during an emergency”. RBKC did receive assistance from Westminster City Council and the
London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham as part of the tri-borough agreement on 14 and 15 June 2017.
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Dissatisfaction with the response of RBKC was growing among senior members of
London Resilience and was being expressed in the media.”*! It reflected the fact that the
situation had not improved significantly during the day.”*?

102.51 The evidence about exactly when and how it was agreed that the Gold arrangements would
be put into operation is unclear. No minutes of the meeting were kept. Mr Holgate recalled
that he had made the decision during the conference call at 17.00.”** Ms Kelly referred
to a series of later calls, during which Mr Holgate had asked for Mr Barradell’s support
from the following day.”** Mr Barradell said that at no point during the call at 17.00 had
Mr Holgate asked for the Gold arrangements to be put into operation and that he had had
further conversations with Mr Holgate later on to encourage him to do so.”*

102.52 Despite the differences of recollection, the documents show that very soon after
the conference call at 17.00, Mr Holgate decided to operate the Gold Resolution.
At 18.39 Mr Hetherington recorded in his log a call from Mr Sawyer in which the reasons
for the decision were described as being the increasing complexity of the incident, the
recent request from RBKC for mutual aid and a number of other factors.”*®

The delay in formal activation

102.53 Although the decision to put the Gold arrangements into operation had been made in the
early evening of 15 June 2017, the formal steps required for that purpose were not taken
until the afternoon of 16 June 2017.”* The delay has never been satisfactorily explained.
Mr Hetherington told us that he was unsure what had caused it.

102.54 In an email sent at 22.04 on 15 June 2017, Mr Hetherington told his colleagues in the
London Resilience Group that the Gold arrangements were not likely to be activated before
13.00 the next day and that Mr Barradell would go to RBKC to see what he was taking on
before he activated the Gold arrangements.’*® Mr Hetherington suggested that that was
necessary because it was possible that the situation had already moved beyond that which
the Gold arrangements were designed for.”** He and Mr Barradell both described the
situation as a unique set of circumstances which were close to reaching the limits of what
those arrangements could respond to.”?°

102.55 Asthe evidence progressed it became clear that there was (and may still be) some
uncertainty in people’s minds about the effect of operating the Gold arrangements.
We described the Gold Resolution and the accompanying memorandum of understanding
in Chapter 101. It did not provide for London Gold to take control of the management
of the response, which remained in the hands of the chief executive of the borough
affected by the emergency. It was no doubt possible for the chief executive to delegate
to London Gold authority to act on behalf of the borough in certain respects, but that is
another matter.
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Part 10 | Chapter 102: The London-wide response

Mr Barradell assumed the position of London Gold during the early afternoon of 16 June
2017. Both Mr Sawyer and Mr Hetherington maintained that he had not taken over

the response; rather that he had supported Mr Holgate and RBKC in the provision of
humanitarian assistance.””! We agree with Mr Sawyer that the Gold resolution did not give
London Gold the power to take over the response to an incident.”?? Mr Hetherington said
that before the fire, phrases such as “intervention” and “taking over” had not been part
of the vocabulary of those who managed the London Gold arrangements; they had come
to be used only after the fire.”?* Mr Barradell’s evidence was to a similar effect. He told us
that London Gold stood by the borough and not in its shoes,’?* and rejected the suggestion
that he had taken over the response to the fire,’” because he had no authority to do so.”%
He said that at that stage Mr Holgate had still been in charge.”?’

It is important, in our view, that the individual boroughs and London Resilience as a whole
understands clearly the effect of the arrangements for co-operation in mounting an
effective response to an emergency, particularly one that affects two or more boroughs
concurrently. Whatever the terminology and niceties of the arrangements, however, it

is clear that the activation of the Gold Resolution led to significant additional resources
and greater experience being made available to RBKC, but not to a handover of control.

In the event, the government in the form of Dr Jo Farrar, director general for local
government and public services at DCLG, intervened during the afternoon of 16 June 2017
to bring about an agreement under which Mr Holgate ceded control of the response

to Mr Barradell.”?® From that moment Mr Holgate ceased to play any effective part in
managing the response; he resigned as chief executive of RBKC on 21 June 2017.7%° It is
important to note, however, that the substitution of Mr Barradell as leader of the response
did not reflect the working out of these complex arrangements. It represented nothing
more or less than a pragmatic response to a terrible emergency which required the co-
operation, or at least the acquiescence, of RBKC. It throws into sharp relief the absence

of any mechanism for vesting in one person control over the response to a major disaster
affecting more than one borough.

The London Gold arrangements for the provision of mutual aid finally came into effect at
14.00 on 16 June 2017,”° some 19 hours after the decision to operate them had been
made. Mr Hetherington did not think at the time that the delay had had any adverse effect
on the provision of emergency relief’*! and had seen no benefit in involving another chief
executive in the early stages of the incident, given that whoever had been appointed

would not have been familiar with the resources or capability of the borough or with

its residents.”?? However, we do not altogether agree with that assessment. Although

it is impossible to say what precise effect on the response the earlier operation of the
London Gold arrangements would have had, it seems likely that if RBKC had had the benefit
of Mr Barradell’s experience sooner, the response would have benefited from improved

721 Sawyer {Day278/149:20-24}; Hetherington {Day278/39:3-15}.

722 Sawyer {Day278/155:20}-{Day278/155:25}.

723 Hetherington {Day277/56:13-19}.

724 RBKC Module 4 Closing Submissions {RBK0O0068546/12} paragraph 34; Barradell {Day279/22:2-7}; Barradell
{Day279/22:22}-{Day279/23:12}; Barradell {Day279/19:22}-{Day279/23:12}.

725 Barradell {Day279/83:3-17}.

726 Barradell {Day279/112:1-6}.

727 Barradell {Day279/112:12-15}.

728 Holgate {RBK0O0035426/10} page 10, paragraph 51.

729 Farrar {CLGO0030414/16-17} pages 16-17, paragraphs 78-79; Barradell {Day279/113:13-25}; Barradell
{Day279/121:21}-{Day279/123:4)}.

730 Barradell {GOLO0000244/10} page 10, paragraph 39.

731 Hetherington {Day278/40:5 -20}.

732 Hetherington {Day277/198:12-19}.
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strategic oversight. The response was faltering and a greater sense of urgency would have
reinforced it. Instead, time was lost over the weekend of 17 and 18 June 2017 setting up
the structures and identifying the needs of those affected by the fire.

102.59 Mr Sawyer thought that the London Gold arrangements should have been activated during
the morning of 14 June 2017.7* Mr Kerry thought that they should have been activated
early in the morning of 14 June 2017.7** Mr Kerry may have been speaking with the benefit
of hindsight, but on any view the scale of the incident was very substantial, involving the
displacement of hundreds of people. As the day wore on it should have been increasingly
obvious to RBKC that it did not have the capacity, skills or training required to lead the
response on its own and should therefore have considered putting the London Gold
arrangements into operation that day.

The response of London Gold

102.60 By the time the Gold resolution was activated on the afternoon 16 June 2017, RBKC had
still not worked out what support it required.”> It had been unable to obtain accurate
information about the number of those affected by the tragedy or to assess their individual
needs. As a result, the Gold team spent a considerable amount of time assessing the
situation in order to determine what humanitarian assistance was required and organise it
appropriately.”3®

102.61 During the afternoon of 18 June 2017 Mr Barradell asked DCLG to send a community
expert to assist the response.”’ Hilary Patel was asked to act in that capacity and a
community engagement meeting was held on 20 June 2017.7%#

102.62 Later on 18 June 2017, a public statement was made by Ms Kelly, the deputy
London Gold,”®® on behalf of the newly established Grenfell Fire response team’*°
acknowledging that the initial response had simply not been good enough. Although many
would regard that as self-evident, it was an important public recognition of the deficiencies
in the response. The number of chief executives who by that time were assisting the
response with the aim of bringing about positive change was an indication of the scale and
complexity of the task. It also demonstrates why the Gold Resolution should have been
activated at an earlier stage. Despite the considerable efforts across local government
in London, it took a number of days for London Gold to steer the response in a more
effective direction.

733 Sawyer {Day278/153:4-7}.

734 Kerry {Day273/222:19}-{Day273/223:1}.

735 Sawyer {Day278/151:12-17}.

736 Harpley {GOLO0000441/4} page 4, paragraph 13.

737 LLAG log book (entry no.12) at 11.36 on 18 June 2017 {GOLO0001675/3}.

738 Patel {CLG10009793/10} page 10, paragraphs 35-36; Gregory {HOM00046125/3} page 3, paragraph 7; Email from
Rachael Wright-Turner on 21 June 2017 containing the notes of the Community Engagement meeting on 20 June
2017, {RBK00022888}. This is explored further at Chapter 106.

739 Email including the statement of Eleanor Kelly {CLGO0005448}.

740 Eleanor Kelly was also the Deputy Chair of the Local Authorities’ Panel. Kelly {GOL0O0000439/3} page 3,
paragraph 12.
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Chapter 103

The government’s response

103.1

103.2

103.3

103.4

103.5

103.6

Introduction

A description of the part played by the government in the response to the Grenfell Tower
fire must begin with a brief summary of the relevant legal and administrative arrangements
in place at the time.

The government is not a responder under the Civil Contingencies Act.”*! It is, however,
responsible for establishing the policy framework under which those who have a duty to
respond to emergencies in England and Wales operate.” The formulation of that policy is
the responsibility of the Cabinet Office, which, together with DCLG,’*® plays a non-statutory
oversight role.”*

The Civil Contingencies Secretariat

Within the Cabinet Office, the Civil Contingencies Secretariat leads the work on emergency
response and resilience. It is primarily a body that co-ordinates the work of others in the
planning, response and recovery phases. It does not have a direct operational role in
responding to emergencies.’®

The Civil Contingencies Secretariat is part of the National Security Secretariat. It reports
to Cabinet Office ministers and provides advice directly to the Prime Minister on matters
relating to civil contingencies.”*® At the time of the fire, Katharine Hammond was Director
of the Civil Contingencies Secretariat.

If an emergency occurs the Cabinet Office is responsible for notifying relevant government
departments and agencies, ensuring a department has been identified to lead the
response, providing staff to run the Cabinet Office Briefing Rooms (“COBR”) and any
associated crisis facilities as appropriate, initiating the supporting structures for a central
response and devising solutions to problems when necessary.”’

If COBR has been activated, the Civil Contingencies Secretariat, in consultation with the
lead government department, decides which elements of the supporting arrangements
should be activated and how they may best be used. It also provides secretariat support
and ensures that business is managed effectively 7*® The COBR arrangements and the role
of the lead government department role are explained below.

741 Civil Contingencies Act 2004.

742 Hammond {CAB00014764/3} page 3, paragraph 9.

743 Now called the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government.
744 Hammond {CABO0014764/6} page 6, paragraph 21.

75 Hammond {CAB00014764/9} page 9, paragraph 29.

76 Hammond {CAB00014764/10} page 10, paragraph 34.

747 ConOps {CAB00000026/19-20} para 2.26(e)-(j).

748 ConOps {CABO0000026/22} paragraph 3.4.
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The Prime Minister’s office

103.7 In consultation with the Prime Minister’s office (“No.10”) and the lead government
department, the Cabinet Office decides whether to set in motion the central response
mechanism,’* co-ordinating the activities of national, regional and local responders and
deciding which departments need to be represented at COBR meetings and how often
such meetings need to take place.”°

The Home Office

103.8 Responsibility for fire policy was transferred to the Home Office from DCLG on
1 April 2016.7°* In the case of a sudden major incident,”? such as the Grenfell Tower
fire, the Office for Security and Counter Terrorism, which was part of the Home Office,
provided support for the government in the first 24 to 48 hours in the form of managing
communications, providing information, briefing ministers for COBR meetings, monitoring
the situation and co-ordinating action across the Home Office.”?

103.9 The Home Office did not have an operational role in responding to any major fire.”*
Its main function was to support the independent fire services through the provision
of resources and to provide advice and information to ministers and civil servants.”®
However, it became the lead government department for the response in the period
immediately following the Grenfell Tower fire because of the prominence of the emergency
services and its responsibility for the fire and rescue services.”®

The Department for Communities and Local Government

103.10 The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) changed its name after
the fire to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government.”” At the time of
the fire, Dame Melanie Dawes DCB was the Permanent Secretary.

103.11 The Resilience and Emergencies Division of DCLG (RED) was established in 2011.7°8
The director general for local government and public services at the time of the fire
was Dr Jo Farrar OBE, whose directorate included RED.”° Jillian Kay, director of local
government policy, was the director of RED; Katherine Richardson was the deputy
director.”®® There was a head of emergencies management,’®! five heads of resilience’®? and
resilience advisors who had responsibility for particular geographic areas and particular
types of risk.”®3

103.12 RED had two functions: one was to produce advice and plans in preparation for the
occurrence of identified risks; the other was to ensure effective communication between
Category 1 and Category 2 responders and the government if an emergency were to

749 ConOps {CABO0000026/19} paragraph 2.26(d).

750 ConOps {CABO0000026/37} paragraph 3.53.

751 {HOMO00050060/5}.

752 As opposed to a rising tide incident {HOMO00050060/8}.
753 Edwards {HOMO0O0050058/2} page 2, paragraph 6.1.

754 Lamberti {HOMO0046095/4} page 4, paragraph 14.

755 Lamberti {HOMO00046095/4} page 4, paragraph 14.

756 Edwards {HOMOO0050071/2-3} pages 2- 3, paragraph 9.
757 McManus {Day283/4:7-20}.

758 Dowdican {CLG00030419/1} page 1, paragraph 3.

7% Farrar {Day284/5:13-17}.

780 McManus {CLG10009725/4} page 4, paragraph 11.

761 Mason {CLG00030435/2} page 2, paragraph 5.

762 McManus {CLG10009725/4} page 4, paragraph 11.

783 Richardson {CLG00030412/6} page 6, paragraph 18.
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occur.”® Part of its responsibility was to co-ordinate planning and ensure that Category
1 responders had the support they needed.’®® In addition, RED was a standing member
of local resilience forums’®® and was required to have a comprehensive understanding
of their work.”®” That was a national responsibility. RED had offices in London, Leeds,
Birmingham and Bristol.”®®

103.13 As part of its planning and advisory function, RED participated in exercises in London

arranged by the London Resilience Forum. There was a small resilience advisor team

that worked with the London Resilience Forum, including a head of resilience.”®

The involvement of RED resilience advisors was intended to help the London Resilience
Forum understand the role of central government in the emergency response and to assist
it in revising and improving plans.

103.14 The London-wide plans, discussed earlier, were developed by working groups that included

representatives of Category 1 responders, including the London boroughs. RED assisted
the production of those plans primarily by sharing information.””° It was not the function of
RED resilience advisors to approve any particular plan.””

103.15 RED was not responsible for overseeing a local authority’s response to an emergency.’’?

Its function during the response phase, as set out in Emergency Response and Recovery,
was to take immediate steps to ensure that it could support the local response as
necessary.””? The guidance provided some indication of the form that that support should
take, such as the collection and sharing of information,’”* provision of strategic information
and, if necessary, telling the responders where they could get wider help and support.””

103.16 When an incident occurred RED duty officers were the initial point of contact between

DCLG, other organisations and the government generally. During a duty period, the duty
Head of Resilience and two officers were normally on call 24 hours a day.””® They were
expected to join strategic co-ordinating group meetings as government liaison officers
(GLO), to represent the government’’” and obtain relevant information to enable them to
provide briefings for ministers and senior officials.”’”® Any member of RED who undertook
the role of duty officer would be regarded as suitable to take on the role of GLO.””®
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Richardson {CLGO0030412/2} paragraph 6.

Emergency Preparedness, Chapter 2 {CABO0O007027/59} paragraph 2.153.

Emergency Preparedness, Chapter 2 {CABO0O007027/59} paragraphs 2.153-2.154.

Emergency Preparedness, Chapter 2 {CABO0007027/59} paragraph 2.154.

Richardson {CLGO0030412/6} page 6, paragraph 18.

Richardson {CLG0O0030412/4} page 4, paragraph 12.

McManus {Day283/25:20}-{Day283/26:9}.

McManus {Day283/26:13-22}.

Farrar {Day284/135:23-24}.

Emergency Response and Recovery {CABO0004624/154-55} paragraph 9.1.2.

Emergency Response and Recovery {CAB0O0004624/154-55} paragraph 9.1.2; McManus {CLG10009725/23}
paragraph 95; Farrar {Day284/8:2-4} the DCLG RED was not responsible for supporting the local authority response.
Emergency Response and Recovery {CABO0004624/154-55} paragraph 9.1.2; McManus {CLG10009725/23}
paragraph 95.

DCLG Emergency Response Plan, version 3.4, June 2017 {CLG00021013/6} paragraph 1.15.

McManus {CLG10009725/3} page 3, paragraph 7(b) and (c); McManus {CLG10009725/23} page 23, paragraph
95, except for incidents, such as terrorism, or the release of chemical, biological, radioactive or nuclear material,
for which the Home Office would deploy a GLO and the DCLG RED would form part of the Government Liaison
Team {CLG00021013/5} paragraph 1.13; {CAB0O0000026/39} paragraph 3.56; {CABO0O000026/51} paragraph 6.2(ii);
{CAB00004624/154} paragraph 9.1.2.

DCLG Emergency Response Plan, version 3.4, June 2017 {CLGO0005657/44}.

McManus {Day283/53:17-20}.
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103.17 In London, there were two heads of resilience. They worked with the London Resilience

Forum and supported it with plans relating to London as a whole. They also took part in
training events and themselves provided training to Category 1 responders.’®°

103.18 If an incident occurred, the head of resilience would decide what degree of involvement

from RED might be required.’®! If the deputy director considered that the incident would
place significant pressure on RED’s resources, or if COBR had been activated, an emergency
notice would be sent out.”® That would inform the department, as well as other
departments and ministers across government, that an emergency response had been
triggered and that their own arrangements might need to be put into operation’®

103.19 The role of the lead government department was to organise other government

departments, to take the lead on any governmental group and to be the first point of
contact for government as a whole. It did not normally have any operational role.”3*

103.20 When the response reached the point at which the demands on the emergency services

were reducing, a decision would be made locally to transfer responsibility for the incident
from the strategic co-ordinating group to a recovery working group.’®

Responding to emergencies: the concept of operations (“ConOps”)

103.21 The government’s guidance on responding to emergencies was contained in a document

entitled Responding to Emergencies in the form of a concept of operations,’®® known
colloquially as “ConOps”.”®” ConOps restated the principle of subsidiarity and confirmed
that local responders were the basic building blocks of the response to an emergency in the
UK.’ It identified three broad types of emergency likely to require the direct involvement
of the government: level 1 significant emergencies, level 2 serious emergencies and level 3
catastrophic emergencies.’®

103.22 ConOps directed that a level 2 or level 3 emergency required the initiation of the

government’s crisis management facilities (i.e. COBR)”*° in order to enable the rapid
co-ordination of the government’s response and effective decision-making.”!

103.23 The Cabinet Office was responsible for deciding whether the central response mechanism

should be activated,’?? consulting colleagues, the lead government department and the
Prime Minister’s Office as necessary.”®® Although ConOps identified different levels of
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Dowdican {CLGO0030419/2-3} pages 2-3, paragraphs 9-10.

McManus {CLG10009725/23} page 23, paragraph 94.

DCLG Emergency Response Plan, version 3.4, June 2017 {CLGO0005657/11} paragraph 2.16; McManus
{CLG10009725/23} page 23, paragraph 94.

For instance, if they are a Lead Government Department, they may be required to release staff members to support
the RED Operations, McManus {CLG10009725/23} page 23, paragraph 94; DCLG Emergency Response Plan, version
3.4, June 2017 {CLGO0005657/11} paragraph 2.17.

Farrar {Day284/15:3-13}.

DCLG’s Emergency Response Plan {CLGO0005657/41}.

{CAB00000026} First published by Civil Contingencies Secretariat in 2010 and revised in April 2013.

Tallantire {CAB00014769/3} page 3, paragraph 10.

ConOps {CABO0000026/7} paragraph 1.7.

ConOps {CABO0000026/8-9} paragraph 1.8 sets out examples of each level and the type of direct central
government engagement typical for each {CABO0000026/68}.

ConOps {CABO0000026/11} paragraph 2.2.

ConOps {CAB0O0000026/11} paragraph 2.2.

The terminology of “central government response mechanism” and “COBR” are used throughout ConOps in

some cases as equivalent terms: see ConOps {CABO0O000026/8-9} paragraph 1.8; ConOps {CABO0000026/11}
paragraph 2.2; ConOps {CAB00000026/19} paragraph 2.26(d); ConOps {CABO0000026/68}] and in others as distinct
alternatives: ConOps {CABO0000026/36} paragraphs 3.50-3.51, ConOps {CABO0000026/45} paragraph 4.2 iii.
ConOps {CABO0000026/19-20} para 2.26.
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emergency with the intention of helping users to determine the likely form of government
engagement, the decision was not taken in that way.”®* The important question was
whether to activate the government response mechanism.’”?® The phrase “COBR meeting”
appears to have been used in Whitehall at the time without distinguishing between
meetings taking place in the Cabinet Office Briefing Rooms and meetings taking place
elsewhere in accordance with the COBR procedure.

103.24 “COBR” was sometimes used as shorthand for a decision-making body of senior politicians,

civil servants and others convened in accordance with the COBR procedure. Such a
body was supported by a number of separate groups called “cells”’*® and was designed
to be flexible.”’

103.25 For all level 2 and level 3 emergencies, other than terrorist incidents, the senior decision-

making body was the Civil Contingencies Committee.’®® A situation cell was established to
ensure that there was a single, immediate, authoritative overview of the situation available
to decision-makers.”® The situation cell developed and maintained a common recognised
information picture (“CRIP”) consisting of information relating both to the incident and its
significant wider consequences and including the main developments and decisions.?

103.26 ConOps indicated that, if there were uncertainty over the direction of the government’s

response to an emergency or the effectiveness of the local response in England and Wales,
the Cabinet Office would convene a meeting (if appropriate in COBR)®*! to assess the
situation and advise ministers as necessary.8? It recommended that, in cases of doubt, it
was generally better to activate the central response, even if it were subsequently stood
down.®% ConOps advised that in practice, the level of government engagement may change
over time (both up and down) as the demands of the emergency changed.?*

103.27 In the event of a catastrophic or serious emergency in England, the Prime Minister, the

Home Secretary or other senior ministers nominated by the Prime Minister, would direct
the central government response from COBR. In cases of doubt, the Home Secretary would
at least initially, assume the chair in COBR.5%

Lead government departments

103.28 If an emergency occurred, the Cabinet Office was responsible for notifying relevant

departments and agencies and ensuring that a lead government department
was appointed.8%®
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Hammond {Day280/163:2-3}.

Hammond {Day280/164:1-9}. See also Hammond {Day280/155:8-10}.

It is not obvious that this referred to people rather than places, but it is the former. Para 2.26 of ConOps refers to
the Cabinet Office’s role in initiating the supporting structures for the central response such as the situation cell,
the secretariat, and policy support and provide staff for the activation of those support mechanisms.

ConOps {CAB0O0000026/21} paragraph 3.2.

A Cabinet Office construct bringing together ministers and officials from the key departments and agencies
involved in the response and wider impact management along with other organisations as appropriate, see ConOps
{CAB0O0000026/23} paragraph 3.7.

ConOps {CAB0O0000026/23-24} paragraph 3.9.

ConOps {CAB0O0000026/24} paragraph 3.10.

The ConOps guidance did not make it clear whether the use of “COBR” here referred to activation of central
government’s crisis management facilities or a meeting held in the physical location of the Cabinet Office
Briefing Room:s.

ConOps {CABO0000026/45} paragraph 4.2iii.

ConOps {CABO0000026/37} paragraph 3.52.

ConOps {CABO0000026/9} paragraph 1.10.

ConOps {CABO0000026/45} paragraph 4.2iv.

ConOps {CAB0O0000026/19-20} paragraph 2.26(e)-(j); Hammond {CAB00014764/12} page 12, paragraph 38.
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103.29

103.30

103.31

103.32

103.33

The lead government department normally took responsibility for assessing the situation,
ensuring that its ministers and other relevant ministers were briefed, and providing support
as necessary to local responders. Individual departments remained responsible for their
particular policy areas.®”’

At the time of the Grenfell Tower fire the Cabinet Office maintained a list of departments’
responsibilities for planning, response, and recovery from emergencies dated March 2009
which was intended to make clear in advance which department would lead on main
potential challenges.t®® The document included a reference to an emergency involving a
fire. As the Home Office was responsible for fire and rescue services, it was the logical lead
government department in the case of the Grenfell Tower fire.8% DCLG was the department
assigned for the recovery phase of an incident of that kind, which was likely to engage
local authority responsibilities. DCLG was the lead government department for matters
involving local authorities.?'° Dame Melanie Dawes did not think that the appointment of
a lead government department occurred automatically and therefore put her department
forward to undertake that role on the morning of 14 June 2017.8!* She did not recall the
Home Office asking the DCLG to be the recovery partner.

In paragraphs 2.16 to 2.18, ConOps envisaged that different government departments
might lead on the response and recovery phases, although it recognised that in such
a case they would need to work together closely from the outset to ensure a smooth
handover of responsibilities at the appropriate time and the integration of those two
different activities.®*?

The response phase

The response phase encompasses the decisions and actions taken to deal with the
immediate effects of an emergency, to protect life, contain and mitigate the effects of the
emergency and create the conditions for a return to normality. It comprises two separate
but closely related and often overlapping challenges: crisis management and consequence
management.® Typically this phase lasts for a matter of hours or days.8 It usually
precedes the recovery phase.

In paragraph 2.16, ConOps set out the role of the lead government department for the
response phase, which it undertook in consultation with other government departments
and with support from the Cabinet Office as necessary, if COBR had been activated. The
responsibilities were extensive, including producing a handling plan as soon as possible,
acting as a focal point for communication between the government and strategic co-
ordinating groups in the affected area, ensuring that responders and affected communities
had access to the resources they needed to manage the emergency and ensuring that
recovery is borne in mind throughout and that arrangements were in place to ensure a
smooth transition to the recovery phase.?!® The guidance was silent on whether the lead
government department for response was expected to fulfil the same role where COBR had
not been activated.

807 ConOps {CABO0000026/13} paragraph 2.8; ConOps {CABO0000026/27} paragraph 3.24.

808 {HOMOO0013085}.

809 Hammond {Day280/166:11-12}; Dawes {Day285/32:5}-{Day285/33:4}.

810 Hammond {Day280/170:2-6}.

811 Dawes {Day285/20:5}-{Day285/21:2}.

812 ConOps {CABO0000026/16} paragraph 2.17.

813 ConOps {CABO0000026/6-7} paragraph 1.5 and ConOps {CABO0O000026/27} paragraphs 3.22-3.23.
814 Emergency Response and Recovery {CABO0004519/10} paragraph 1.3.2.

815 ConOps {CABO0000026/15-16} paragraph 2.16.
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The recovery phase

103.34 The recovery phase is defined as the process of rebuilding, restoring and rehabilitating

the community following an emergency.?*® It formally starts once the situation has been
stabilised. However, preparation for the recovery phase should be considered alongside
crisis and consequence management in the early stages of a response.®!’

103.35 According to ConOps, in order to ensure that all departments and agencies were aware of

the arrangements for handover from the response to recovery phase and its implications,
leadership should formally be handed over from the lead government department for
response to the lead government department for recovery.?® The timing of the formal
handover from response to recovery was to be agreed between the two departments

in consultation with the Cabinet Office. In some circumstances (e.g. flooding across a
wide area), it is possible (and sometimes vital) for response and recovery activity to be
undertaken at the same time.®*®

103.36 The role of lead government department for the recovery phase included acting as the

focal point for communications between the government and the recovery co-ordinating
group at local level, together with many of the responsibilities of the lead government
department for the response phase.??

103.37 ConOps suggested that it was the activation of COBR that triggered responsibilities,

particularly for the Cabinet Office and the lead government department for response.
However, Ms Hammond told us that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s responsibilities
arose in relation to any ministerial meeting convened to deal with a civil emergency,
whether or not it was treated as a COBR meeting, and that the formal activation of COBR
did not make a difference in practice.??! The difference between what the guidance

says and how things work in practice is unsatisfactory, given that the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat is the author of ConOps, operates COBR and provides introductory training for
civil servants in relation to COBR.8*

Government training

103.38 The Civil Contingencies Secretariat provided training and support to local responders for a

fee®” through the Emergency Planning College, which was operated by SERCO on behalf of
the Cabinet Office. The courses®”* were not mandatory for government departments nor
for Category 1 or 2 responders.8?®

103.39 The number of Emergency Planning College training courses undertaken by a responder is

at best a crude measure of their level of training and expertise. Apart from anything else,
it does not take into account the existing qualifications of staff or training that has been
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ConOps {CABO0000026/7} paragraph 1.6.

ConOps {CABO0000026/7} paragraph 1.6.

ConOps {CABO0000026/43} paragraph 3.74.

ConOps {CABO0000026/43} paragraph 3.76; Hammond {Day281/86:19}-{Day281/87:1}.

ConOps {CAB0O0000026/16-17} paragraph 2.18.

Hammond {Day280/165:7-17}; {Day280/171:20}-{Day280/172:25}. Later in Ms Hammond’s evidence, she told us that
there would never be a formal activation of the COBR procedure {Day280/174:24}-(Day280/175:12}.

MacFarlane {CAB00014794/7} page 7, paragraph 23, provided by Robert MacFarlane’s team within the CCS.
EPC 2017 Training Course Programme {CAB00014795}. For example, in 2017, the cost per attendee for a 2-day
training on ‘Planning for Mass Fatalities’ was £835 plus VAT.

Titles included “Strategic emergency and crisis management”, “Emergency Control Centre Operations”, “Chief
Executives: your role in civil protection”, and “Webinar: planning for needs of vulnerable adults in emergencies”
{CAB00014792} Cat 1 Responders, column C, rows 40, 52, 130 and 185.

MacFarlane {CABO0014794/4-5} pages 4-5, paragraphs 14, 19.
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undertaken with another supplier.2?® However, in the three and a half years before the
Grenfell Tower fire the difference in the number of courses purchased by Westminster City
Council (88)%7 and RBKC (3) is stark. Unlike Westminster, RBKC had taken no courses in
civil protection.®?

103.40 There was no system within the Civil Contingencies Secretariat for monitoring training

or notifying responders that were not undertaking a minimum level of training that they
should be doing more.®? As a result, central government was not aware of shortfalls in the
training of local responders.

103.41 Inthe three and a half years before the Grenfell Tower fire, there were also significant

differences between central government departments in the number of delegates
attending Emergency Planning College training courses. Only four delegates from each of
DCLG®® and the Home Office attended,®*! as against 94 from the Cabinet Office.®3? The Civil
Contingencies Secretariat had a relatively high turnover of staff,?* all of whom attended
the Emergency Planning College as part of the normal induction process,®* but it was not
part of its function to monitor training undertaken by other government departments

and it did not know how many courses were expected to have been undertaken by the
departments that would regularly be deputed to act as lead government department for
response or recovery.8

103.42 The Civil Contingencies Secretariat itself also provided introductory training for civil

servants whose roles were likely to require them to work with COBR.#¢ Ms Hammond did
not think that training was mandatory for those with a direct role in COBR, but it was
expected that they would undertake it.®*’ It is not clear whether there was an expectation
that ministers would receive training or an equivalent briefing.

103.43 RED conducted its own training led by Gill McManus, its acting head of London Resilience®®

and Lynne Dowdican. It included induction training, revision exercises and discussions
following RED responses to reflect on what had been learnt.®® The department

also held RED training days, ran a mentoring programme and held training sessions

in team meetings.?*® Most RED team members took part in the Multi-Agency Gold

Incident Command course led by the College of Policing.®*! However, no training was
provided specifically for duty officers.®*> Ms McManus accepted that that was inadequate®*?
and RED has now introduced a specific training programme for duty officers .8
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{CAB00014792} Cat 1 Responders, Row 51, columns F, G, Hand I.

{CAB00014792} Cat 1 Responders, Row 317, columns F, G, H and I.

Hammond {Day280/150:3-10}.

{CAB00014793} Row 119, columns E, F, G and H.

{CAB00014793} Row 202, columns E, F, G and H.

{CAB00014793} Row 7, columns E, F, G and H.

Hammond {Day280/146:1-2}.

Hammond {Day280/147:8-9}.

Hammond {Day280/145:2-12}.

MacFarlane {CAB00014794/7} page 7, paragraph 23.

Hammond {Day280/151:5-7}.

Ms McManus had been temporarily promoted to head of resilience for the London area from within Robert Mason’s
team. Mason {CLG00030435/6} page 6, paragraph 16. She confirmed that she had not received any specific training
before her appointment as a head of resilience {Day283/42:16-20}.

McManus {Day283/35:11-15}; Dowdican {CLGO0030419/2} page 2, paragraph 9.

Dowdican {CLGO0030419/2} page 2, paragraph 9.

Richardson {CLG00030412/15} page 15, paragraph 48.

Welch {CLG00030737/3} page 3, paragraph 14; McManus {Day283/46:9-10} and {Day283/47:3-6}.
McManus {Day283/47:3-8}

McManus {Day283/46:19-21}.
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103.44 RED reserves,®* who can be called upon by the department in an emergency response, had

access to some training, but it was not mandatory®*® and apparently it was not unusual for
a reserve to have received no training.2*’ Given the role the reserves may be called upon to
play in response to an emergency, we consider that to be unsatisfactory.

103.45 Resilience advisors in RED took part in training exercises arranged by the London Resilience

Forum that acted out various situations to check emergency preparedness, to help

the London Resilience Forum partners to understand the role of the government in

an emergency response and to assist them with revising and improving their plans.8®

They included the major exercise known as exercise Unified Response that took place from
29 February to 4 March 20168 and has been referred to earlier. The most recent resilience
exercise involving local responders and the government before the Grenfell Tower fire had
taken place on 17 May 2017.%°

103.46 In October 2015, RED had issued a learning strategy®* which drew attention to the lack of

structured monitoring of the lessons learnt from exercises and emergencies it had been
involved in and the failure to link those lessons to training requirements.?>? The strategy
also identified a lack of focus on training in the rest of the department.®>* Ms McManus told
us that since the Grenfell Tower fire DCLG has taken a much more professional and
structured approach to training which is being developed further.®*

The government’s understanding of responders’ capability

103.47 From time to time the Civil Contingencies Secretariat organised a survey of the capability of

local responders to respond to emergencies of various kinds. The results were collated in a
national Resilience Capability Survey. Before the Grenfell Tower fire the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat used the Resilience Capabilities Survey to help identify potential gaps in
capability.®>> A fresh survey had been carried out in the spring of 2017 but the results

had not been analysed by the time of the Grenfell Tower fire and therefore the version
currently in use was the 2014 survey.®*® Participation in the 2014 survey had not been
compulsory and 29% of Category 1 and 2 responders had not taken part.2” Moreover, it
had been based entirely on self-assessment by responders with no external verification of
the results.®® Responses to the survey were processed and aggregated by a third party;
the Civil Contingencies Secretariat received only a high-level report based on aggregated
data®*® and was therefore unable to examine the responses of individual Category 1 and
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There were 51 RED reserves at the time of the Grenfell Tower fire, Richardson {CLG00030412/7} page 7,
paragraph 22.

Richardson {CLGO0030827/5} page 5, paragraph 9b.

Doug Taylor, resilience advisor, had not received any RED reserve training. McManus
{Day283/124:20}-{Day283/125:3}.

Welch {CLGO0030737/4} page 4, paragraph 15.

McManus {CLG00030739/2} page 2, paragraph 8.

Dowdican {CLGO0030419/2} page 2, paragraph 7.

Resilience and Emergencies Division Training, Exercising and Organisational Learning Strategy 2015 — 2018,
version 0.3, 2015 {CLG0O0030780}.

Resilience and Emergencies Division Training, Exercising and Organisational Learning Strategy 2015 — 2018,
version 0.3, 2015 {CLGO0030780/4} paragraph 3.2.

Resilience and Emergencies Division Training, Exercising and Organisational Learning Strategy 2015 — 2018,
version 0.3, 2015 {CLGO0030780/4} paragraph 3.3.

McManus {Day283/38:3-7}.

Hammond {CAB00014764/6} page 6, paragraph 21.

Hargreaves {CABO0014871/4} page 4, paragraph 13; 2014 Resilience Capabilities Survey: Highlight Report
{CABO0000094}.

2014 Resilience Capabilities Survey: Highlight Report {CABO0000094/3}.

Workstream 3 of the National Security Capabilities Review {CABO0007083/4}.

Hargreaves {CABO0014871/5} page 5, paragraph 14.
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Category 2 responders.®° Before the Grenfell Tower fire the capability of RBKC to respond
to an emergency had not caused concern, either as a result of the survey or as a result of
any information reaching the government from other sources.?®* Central government thus
had no means of effectively predicting the effectiveness of a local responder.

The days immediately following the fire

103.48 Over the course of the seven days following the Grenfell Tower fire the government itself

was still in a state of flux following the general election held on 8 June 2017.5%% It was
already having to respond to a number of significant emergencies, including terrorist
attacks at Manchester Arena and London Bridge, and on 19 June 2017 a further terrorist
attack took place outside the Finsbury Park mosque.®¢3

103.49 The National Security Secretariat watchkeepers (a small team of officials within the

Civil Contingencies Secretariat who continuously monitor events) became aware of
the Grenfell Tower fire at about 01.30 on 14 June 2017. The duty officer then notified
Katharine Hammond, the senior civil servant on duty, of the fire at just after 03.00.8%

103.50 The Civil Contingencies Secretariat assumed that the fire was a major incident and that a

meeting of a strategic co-ordinating group of local responders would be called.?®® The duty
officer contacted DCLG RED so that it could provide a GLO to attend the meeting on behalf
of the government.®% Denise Welch, resilience advisor and RED duty officer that night,®’
received the call at about 03.30.8% Ms Welch called Gill McManus,®* who was acting

for the first time that night as duty head of resilience,®’° and then called David Norris,
Home Office fire duty officer,®’* at about 03.45.8”2 Mr Norris became aware of the fire

only at that point.#”? Ms Welch followed up her call with an email at 04.13%7* and at

04.29 Mr Norris sent the information to various members of the Home Office staff.?’
Given the Home Office’s role in fire and rescue services,®’® we are surprised that it was
unaware of the Grenfell Tower fire until it had been notified by DCLG RED.#”” RED also
contacted the London Resilience Group, which confirmed that a major incident had been
declared and that a strategic co-ordinating group meeting would take place at about 05.00.
Ms McManus told us that it was unusual for RED not to have heard about an incident
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Hargreaves {CAB0O0014871/5} page 5, paragraph 14.

Workstream 3 of the National Security Capabilities Review {CABO0007083/4}.

Held on Thursday 8 June 2017 {CAB00014768/1} paragraph 1.

That attack occurred in Finsbury Park, London, England, on 19 June 2017. Email at 10.46, 19.06.17 {CABO0005309}
and Kay {CLGO0030430/15} page 15, paragraph 62.

Hammond {CAB00014764/13} page 13, paragraph 42.

Hammond {Day280/176:19}-{Day280/177:14}.

Hammond {Day280/177:11-14}. We note that ConOps indicated that the GLO would normally be from the lead
government department, ConOps {CABO0000026/39} paragraph 3.56.

Welch {CLG00030737/1} page 1, paragraph 1; Welch {CLGO0030737/2-3} pages 2-3, paragraph 11.

Welch {CLGO0030737/4} page 4, paragraph 16; McManus {CLG10009725/5} page 5, paragraph 15.

Welch {CLGO0030737/4} page 4, paragraph 17.

McManus {CLG10009725/5} page 5, paragraph 15.

Welch {CLG00030737/4} page 4, paragraph 17.

McManus {CLG10009725/7} page 7, paragraph 23.

Welch {CLGO0030737/4} page 4, paragraph 17.

Email at 04.13 on 14 June 2017 {CLGO0008000/4}; Welch {CLGO0030737/4} page 4, paragraph 17.

Email at 04.29 on 14 June 2017 {CLGO0O008000/3-4}.

Hurd {HOM00046080/1} page 1, paragraph 4.

McManus {CLG10009725/7} page 7, paragraph 23; McManus {Day283/49:14}-{Day283/50:3}.
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of this magnitude directly from the London Resilience Group.®”® Meanwhile, at 03.49,
Ms Hammond sent an email to Stuart Wainwright, head of the Readiness and Response
team, to notify him that the duty team was taking action.®”®

103.51 At 04.44, on Ms Hammond’s instructions, the duty officer sent a situation report

to No.10,%° the National Security Adviser, Mark Sedwill, and the Deputy National
Security Adviser, Paddy McGuinness.®! At 06.17, Alastair Whitehead, private secretary

at No.10 with responsibility for the Home Office, sent an email to the Prime Minister
informing her of a major fire at Grenfell Tower. He described the entire block as ablaze,
with some reports suggesting that residents were still trapped inside. The Prime Minister
confirmed receipt of the email at 08.14 .88

103.52 The Home Office assumed the role of lead government department for the response

phase in view of its responsibility for the fire and rescue services.®®* As part of that role the
Home Office prepared situation reports in the days following the fire until 19 June 2017.84
Dame Melanie Dawes contacted Dr Jo Farrar on the morning of 14 June 2017, indicating
that she thought that DCLG would be designated the lead government department for the
recovery phase. However, she told us that it would not automatically be asked to do so in
relation to an incident of that kind and that she had no recollection of the Home Office
asking DCLG to take on that role or talking to DCLG as the recovery partner.t

The government’s role in the strategic co-ordinating group

103.53 In her capacity as GLO Ms Welch joined the first strategic co-ordinating group meeting,

which took place at 05.00, by telephone.®® The GLO was not expected to attend the
scene of an emergency®’ but was expected to attend the strategic command centre

or special operations room at which the strategic co-ordinating group was based.®#
However, Ms McManus thought that it would be more effective for Ms Welch to join
the meeting remotely,® so she did not ask her to go to the strategic command centre®®
and she did not do s0.%! In fact, no GLO was sent to the strategic command centre on
the morning of 14 June 2017.8%2 The presence of a GLO at an early stage of the response
would have helped RED understand what was going on and what was needed and would
have reinforced its effectiveness as a link between the strategic co-ordinating group and
the government.®%
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McManus {Day283/51:10-18}.

Hammond {CAB00014764/13} page 13, paragraph 44.

Emails at 06.17 and 08.14, 14.06.17 {CABO0005650}.

Hammond {CAB00014764/13} page 13, paragraph 44; amongst those copied into the 04:44, 14.06.17 email were
DCLG RED and OSCT Operational Support in the Home Office {CABO0000337/5-6}.

{CAB00005650}.

Hurd {Day282/115:14}-{Day282/116:2}; Hurd {HOMO00046080/1} page 1, paragraph 4.

Known as Sit Reps and dated 14, 15, 16, 17 and 19 June 2017 {HOM00046089}; Hurd {HOM00046080/6} page 6,
paragraph 21; ConOps {CABO0000026/15} paragraph 2.16(ii).

Dawes {Day285/20:16}-{Day285/21:2}.

Hammond {CAB00014764/14} page 14, paragraph 45.

McManus {CLG10009725/23} page 23, paragraph 95.

Emergency plan {CLGO0005657/40-41}; McManus {Day283/55:8-17}; {Day283/56:14}-{Day283/58:7}.

McManus {Day283/55:21}-{Day 283/56:9}.

McManus {CLG10009725/7} page 7, paragraph 25; emails at 04.40 and 04.55 on 14 June 2017 {CLG00030443/1}.
McManus {Day283/61:24}-{Day283/62:18}.

McManus {Day283/89:1-11}.

Richardson {CLG00030412/28} page 28, paragraph 105; McManus {Day283/61:9-23}; McManus {Day283/58:7-12};
Module 4 Closing statement on behalf of the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities
{CLG00036423/2} paragraph 4b.
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Dissemination of reports

103.54 On the morning of 14 June 2017, RED was not providing timely reports about the

prevailing situation from the strategic co-ordinating group meetings.®* Ms Welch produced
a summary of the meeting at 05.00,%%> which she sent to colleagues at RED and to

the Civil Contingencies Secretariat Control email address at 06.16.8°° However, the

Civil Contingencies Secretariat Control did not send it on to Mr Wainwright until

07.13,%%7 by which time the second meeting held at 06.30 had already started.®®

At that stage, no decision had been made about the need for national support,®” as

Mr Wainwright considered that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat would be better able to
make that decision after the meeting.?®

103.55 Mr Wainwright did not receive a summary of the 06.30 meeting until 08.40.%°* A summary

of the next strategic co-ordinating group meeting held at 08.30 was not sent to RED

until 10.41°°? and was not sent on to the Civil Contingencies Secretariat until 11.10.9%
DCLG considered it unusual®® that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat asked it to join the
next meeting of the strategic co-ordinating group at 14.00,°% but, in view of the repeated
delays in sharing information that morning, we find it unsurprising. In our view the failure
to share information from the strategic co-ordinating group promptly undermined at a
critical stage the government’s understanding of what was going on.

Assessment that support was not needed

103.56 The focus of the emails sent by DCLG in the early hours of 14 June 2017 was on the

department’s responsibilities for building regulations and housing, not on the local
authority’s ability to deal with an incident the size of the fire.”® Ms McManus told us that
the information coming through at that time indicated that RBKC was coping well and
that other boroughs were providing assistance.?”” She told us that, in the absence of a
request for support, RED would not normally contact a local authority in the middle of an
emergency response.’®
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Readout of 05.00 SCG meeting {CABO0000157/2}; readout of 06.30 SCG meeting {CAB00010263/1-2}; readout of
08.30 SCG meeting {CABO0008475/2}.

{CAB00000157/2-3}.

Email at 06.16 on 14 June 2017 {CABO0000157/2}. The OSCT Operation Support within the Home Office circulated
to the CCS Control and others a situation report at 05:56 on 14 June 2017, which included reference to, but not a
summary of, the 05:00 SCG meeting {HOM00046089/1-3}.

Email at 07.13 on 14 June 2017 {CABO0000157/2}; Hammond {Day280/181:23}-{Day280/182:1}.

Both the DCLG RED and the Home Office joined the 06:30 SCG by telephone: email at 07:27 on 14 June 2017
{CAB00000157/1}.

Hammond {Day280/183:14-16}.

Email at 07.27 on 14 June 2017 {CABO0000157/1}.

Email at 08.35 on 14 June 2017 {CAB0O0014771/3-4}.

Email at 10.41 on 14 June 2017 {CABO0O0O08475/2}.

Email at 11.10 on 14 June 2017 {CABO0008475/1}.

McManus {Day283/85:7-23}; email at 13.24 on 14 June 2017{CLG00008026/1}.

Email at 11.43 on 14 June 2017{CLG00008024/2}.

Emails at 04.08 and 04.33 {CLG00030443/1}; emails at 05.55 and 07.12 {CLGO0002860}; email at 08.07
{CLG00030453}; email at 08.11 {CLGO0002867/2}; email at 08.26 on 14 June 2017 {CLGO0030455}; McManus
{Day283/65:8-12}.

McManus {Day283/77:18}-{Day283/78:3}.

McManus {Day283/78:5-15}.
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103.57 At 08.09 Mr Wainwright sent an email to Ms Hammond saying that the LFB was not seeking

additional resources and that the NHS had reported that it had sufficient capacity.®® RBKC’s
capacity was not mentioned. Ms Hammond told us that the national resources available to
local responders included anything that the fire and rescue service needed, because at that
stage they were in the response phase.**°

103.58 We heard that on 14 June 2017 the Civil Contingencies Secretariat had been consistently

told that the responders did not need any resources or assistance from the government.’*
Ms Hammond said that she had regarded the absence of a request for help from RBKC
as reassuring.’?

103.59 The response phase of the reaction to an emergency comprises crisis and consequence

management, which for many emergencies is the biggest and most complex area of
work.°1 It includes managing community relationships and providing shelter to displaced
persons.” That overlapping, but integral, part of the response phase appears to have been
overlooked in the initial stages of setting in motion the government’s response.

Issuing an emergency notice

103.60 An emergency notice putting the rest of the department on notice that matters might

escalate and that RED reserves might need to be brought in should be issued®?® if the
deputy director considers that an incident will place significant pressures on RED’s
resources or if COBR has been activated.®*® Katherine Richardson, deputy director of RED,
decided to issue an emergency notice at 09.18° after receiving an email at 09.16 from
Robert Mason, head of DCLG’s Emergencies Management Team.**® Ms McManus told

us that the emergency notice had been sent then,*® after three strategic co-ordinating
group meetings had been held and some eight hours after the police had declared a
major incident,’® because by that time staff had been available to set up the operations
centre.®” However, it seems clear to us that the delay was an oversight that was corrected
by Mr Mason’s intervention.

103.61 The emergency notice informed recipients that RED had set up an operations centre®? at

08.00.%® (An operations centre is the name for a collection of “cells” working together on
behalf of the department to respond to a severe emergency or one affecting a wide area.)
However, by 09.37, at least two of the three main cells (the situation cell and the briefing
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Email at 08.09 on 14 June 2017 {CABO0000159/1}; Hammond {CAB00014816/9} page 9, paragraph 20.
Hammond {Day280/184:11-19}.

{Day280/188:2-4}; Hammond {CAB00014764/14} page 14, paragraph 46.

{Day280/190:16-17}.

ConOps {CABO0000026/27} paragraphs 3.22-3.23.

ConOps {CABO0000026/6-7} paragraph 1.5; ConOps {CABO0000026/27} paragraph 3.22-3.23.

The DCLG RED Reserves are people who work in other parts of the Department who can be released to work on
urgent RED projects: McManus {CLG10009725/11} page 11, paragraph 41.

DCLG’s Emergency Response Plan {CLGO0005657/11} paragraph 2.16.

Email at 09.18 on 14 June 2017 {CLG00002875/2}; DCLG’s Emergency Response Plan {CLGO0005657/11}
paragraph 2.16.

Robert Mason {CLG00030435/2} page 2, paragraph 4. Page 7, paragraph 19; Email at 09.16 on 14 June 2017
{CLG00002874/1}.

Email at 09:37 on 14 June 2017 {CLGO0002879/1-2}; email at 09.39 on 14 June 2017 {CLGO0002876}; Emergency
Notice {CLGO0008012}.

Phase 1 Report Il paragraph 10.332.

McManus {Day283/94:6-10}.

The three main cells are the situation cell, the policy cell and the briefing cell: DCLG’s Emergency Response Plan
{CLG00005657/12-13} paragraphs 3.7-3.17.

DCLG RED Emergency Notice {CLG0O0008012}; McManus {CLG10009725/22} page 22, paragraph 93.
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cell) had not been formally activated.”?* Although a full operations centre is used only for
the most serious emergencies, it was clear from the outset to Mr Mason that RED and the
government generally were likely to be heavily involved in the case of the Grenfell Tower
fire.9?> The delay in formally setting up the situation and briefing cells may have affected
RED’s understanding of what was happening at the incident, although we recognise that
DCLG was not standing still until the emergency notice was issued.

103.62 Despite the fact that Mr Mason was not on duty on 14 June 2017, he was still

recorded as the response manager for the operations centre in the emergency notice.??’
Mr Mason explained that the roles of response director and response manager were
“standing roles”, which Ms Richardson, as deputy director of RED, and he, as head of
emergencies management, would automatically fill.%®

Decision to hold a cross-government meeting

103.63 By 10.04 on 14 June 2017, the Prime Minister had asked for®? a cross-government

meeting®® to be arranged to understand better what was happening, to ensure that the
different departments that might have a role were co-ordinating their operations and to
establish whether any additional assistance could be provided.®! It was to be held at 10
Victoria Street.

103.64 It was decided that the meeting should be held at minister of state level, rather than

cabinet-level, because the Home Secretary was unavailable.®* It was chaired by the
Minister for Policing and Fire, Mr Nicholas Hurd MP,%** who had been appointed to

the post two days earlier.®3* He told us that at the time he had not been aware of the
Civil Contingencies Act or the Regulations, the Emergency Preparedness guidance, the
Emergency Response and Recovery guidance or the ConOps guidance®® and had had no
training in resilience.*®

103.65 Ms Hammond told us that she had not assumed that the minister would not have mastered

his brief simply because he had been so recently appointed.®®” In our view, however, that
might have been a safer assumption to make. Indeed, when Mr Hurd was asked whether
he was adequately briefed for the task, he frankly admitted that that was scarcely possible,
given that it was only his second day in the post.”*® The Civil Contingencies Secretariat

later concluded that the first cross-government meeting should have been chaired by a
more senior minister. A similar recommendation had been made by the cabinet in the
aftermath of the flooding in 2014 and 2015.%° With the benefit of hindsight Dame Melanie
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{CLG00002875/1}; McManus {Day283/81:13}-{Day283/82:5}.

Robert Mason {CLG00030435/6-7} pages 6-7, paragraph 17.

Robert Mason {CLG00030435/7} page 7, paragraph 19; Robert Mason {CLG10009810/2-3} pages 2-3, paragraph 7.
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Robert Mason {CLG00030435/7} page 7, paragraph 19; Robert Mason {CLG10009810/2-3} pages 2-3, paragraph 7.
Whitehead {CAB00014857/9} page 9, paragraph 27.
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Dawes expressed the view that, if the initial cross-government meeting had been chaired
at cabinet level*® or by the Prime Minister, more questions might have been asked about
the local response.®! It is not clear why earlier recommendations were not followed.

In our view, the cross-government meetings would have benefited from being chaired by
a more senior minister who had a better understanding of what was required to respond
to an emergency.

The meeting was described as a cross-government co-ordination meeting®? and in

the email correspondence relating to it was specifically stated not to have been a

COBR meeting.?* Alastair Whitehead told us that on 14 June 2017 there had been no
detailed discussion within No.10 about activating COBR because it had been understood
that, although the incident was serious, it was one that was being handled by the

local emergency services, who could rely on the assistance of other boroughs where
necessary.” It is interesting to note that none of the witnesses told us that they had
referred to ConOps during the period following the fire.*

A message from Ms Hammond to Camilla Marshall in the No.10 Press Office at 12.58

on 14 June 2017 shed more light on the Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s understanding

of the level of the emergency at the time. In it she sought to explain the difference
between a formal crisis management response (the COBR process, technically a

cabinet sub-committee) and a less formal co-ordination meeting.*® She said that what
really determined the difference was whether the government had a leading role in

the response, which in that case was clearly being managed extremely well by local
responders. They were therefore checking on requirements for resources and looking
ahead to what arrangements for support were going to be needed from across the system
in the next few days.?*” Although not identified as a factor, it is clear that the absence of

a request from RBKC for support and the belief that the response was being handled well
by local responders influenced the level of government engagement on 14 June 2017.

Ms Hammond told us that if it had been clear to the Civil Contingencies Secretariat at the
time that RBKC was struggling, it is possible that a COBR meeting would have been called.’*®

In preparation for the cross-government meeting at 16.00 on 14 June 2017 the

Civil Contingencies Secretariat provided the secretariat support and developed an
information pack (CRIP), as it would have done for a COBR meeting.®* It is likely that some
of the people working in the situation cell preparing the CRIP would also then have been
part of the secretariat for the meeting.®*® Ms Hammond said that in practical terms there
was no significance in the fact that the meeting was not formally a COBR meeting and that
the Civil Contingencies Secretariat had done all the same things.®*! The implications of
failing to activate COBR formally are discussed further at paragraphs 103.172 to 103.177.
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Checks on RBKC

103.69 At 09.00 on 14 June 2017, Dr Farrar received a briefing from Ms Richardson which
included information about the leadership and co-ordination of the local response. At that
stage, it had not become clear who was leading the response in relation to humanitarian
assistance.?? At 09.07, Dame Melanie Dawes sent an email to Nicholas Holgate offering
government support as and when it might be helpful.®* He responded by thanking her
but did not ask for assistance, saying that there was plenty of “blue light resource”.%>*

Mr Holgate told us that he had not thought of going back to Dame Melanie at a later stage
because it was not obvious to him what assistance the government could provide.®*®

103.70 At 09.27 Dr Farrar’s secretary attempted to get hold of Mr Holgate to tell him that
Dr Farrar was his primary contact in the government and to arrange a time for them to
speak.®®® Dr Farrar followed that up with a text message to Mr Holgate but did not receive
any response and was unable to speak to him until the next day.>*” DCLG continued to make
efforts to contact RBKC and offer government support throughout 14 June 2017,%°8 but its
offers were couched in general terms.

103.71 At 13.42 on 14 June 2017 Dr Farrar’s secretary contacted Alex Powell, deputy director for
local government stewardship at DCLG, to ask for background information on RBKC.**°
Dr Farrar described it as standard procedure®®® and no concerns were raised about the
general performance of RBKC.?®* Dame Melanie sent some general information about the
leader of RBKC, Nicholas Paget-Brown, and the chief executive, Nicholas Holgate, to the
Rt Hon Alok Sharma MP, then Minister of State for Housing and Planning. She described
Mr Paget-Brown as “a safe pair of hands” and said that Mr Holgate had previously worked
in the Treasury and that the department had a very good relationship with him.%?
Dr Farrar accepted that the information that had been gathered was quite basic and
superficial.?®® Crucially, no information was provided to Dr Farrar which was relevant to
RBKC’s ability to respond to an emergency. Dr Farrar told us that she did not believe that
it had been RED’s responsibility to make such an assessment and that it did not have the
resources to do s0.%®* The fact that the leader and chief executive of RBKC were both
known to those at DCLG and held in high regard by those who knew them appears to have
contributed to a confidence in the ability of RBKC to respond to the fire that turned out to
be misplaced.’®
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Ministerial visit to Grenfell Tower

One of the first things Mr Hurd did was to visit Grenfell Tower at approximately 13.00 on
14 June 2017,°°® where he met Dany Cotton, LFB Commissioner, and others.?®” He was not
accompanied by anyone from RBKC, having taken the initiative himself to go there,**® and
did not visit any of the surrounding areas, including the rest centres.?®® He told us that, in
hindsight, he wished things had been done differently because he could then have gone
into the cross-government meeting with some basic information which he fairly conceded
the meeting did not have.’”®

Cross-government meeting 14 June 2017

After consulting No.10 and the Home Office®’* the Civil Contingencies Secretariat produced
a number of documents in preparation for the meeting on 14 June 2017, including an
agenda, brief for the chairman and a list of those invited to attend.®”? Matters for discussion
included immediate shelter and medium-term rehousing and support for those affected by
the fire.’” The list of those invited to attend did not include a representative from RBKC.*’*
Ms Hammond told us that she had expected information about the local authority to come
from the Mayor of London, RED and the ministers to whom they had been reporting.®”
She could not remember anyone deciding that RBKC should or should not be represented,
but she accepted that it would have been normal for Mr Holgate, as the chief executive of
RBKC, to attend a meeting of that kind.?’®

At 13.55 on 14 June 2017, RED sent the Civil Contingencies Secretariat by email

Mr Holgate’s name and telephone number as the local government representative®”’ and
at 16.30, 30 minutes after the meeting had begun, RED asked the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat to arrange for him to join the meeting by telephone to provide a local
contribution as soon as possible.?”® Until that point the Civil Contingencies Secretariat

had not appreciated that Mr Holgate’s details had been sent to enable him to join the
meeting.’’”® As a result, no one from RBKC attended the meeting. Apparently, no one at the
meeting remarked on the absence of RBKC.%®°

Ms Hammond did not accept that the omission of Mr Holgate from the list of those invited
was a significant error.®! The failure of the Civil Contingencies Secretariat to include
someone from RBKC in the list or to mention RBKC in the chairman’s brief made it less likely
that anyone would notice Mr Holgate’s absence.
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103.76 Ms Hammond did not think that the absence of RBKC had adversely affected the meeting’s
understanding of what was happening, given the other sources of information available to
it.%82 However, those sources of information were inevitably one step removed from the
local authority. It is self-evident that many of the questions raised in the chairman’s brief,
such as those relating to arrangements for emergency shelter, the provision being made
for those requiring alternative accommodation, for how long alternative housing might be
required and how difficult that would be for the local authority to organise, would have
been better answered by the chief executive of RBKC, particularly in the context of a fast-
moving emergency.®®

103.77 Following the meeting, Mr Hurd told the media that he had left it feeling reassured that the
resources and the capacity needed to support people were in place.’® It appears to us that
the government had fundamentally misunderstood the position.?®

103.78 The minutes of the meeting do not record any discussion of the need for financial
assistance, information or humanitarian support for those affected by the fire.**® Although
it was agreed that trauma counselling should be offered to firefighters and ambulance
workers,?®” we have seen nothing to suggest that there was any discussion about providing
counselling of a similar nature to former residents of the tower.*®® Moreover, although
the minutes refer to providing temporary accommodation for residents of the tower they
do not mention the need to provide accommodation for residents evacuated from the
surrounding area.’® It appears that, with the exception of shelter,”° none of the initial
needs of survivors without serious injuries described in Emergency Response and Recovery
were considered at that first meeting.®*

103.79 Following the fire, Workstream 4 of the National Security Capability Review drafted by the
Civil Contingencies Secretariat acknowledged that there can be a tendency for the strategic
co-ordinating group to concentrate during the early stages of a crisis on the response of
the emergency services to the detriment of those matters that fall to local government and
other civilian-led support services.?? In our view, reliance at the cross-government meeting
on information derived from members of the strategic co-ordinating group, but not from
RBKC directly, is likely to have exacerbated any tendency to focus on that aspect.
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identifying lessons learnt, {CAB00014768/1} paragraph 4 and {CAB00014768/2-3} paragraph 11.
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treatment of injuries and medicinal and mobility needs, changing, washing and toilet facilities and perhaps spare
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Ms Hammond said that support from the government was more likely to be needed in the
recovery phase. Be that as it may, it did not obviate the need for the first cross-government
co-ordination meeting to consider the immediate needs of the survivors.**® Indeed, ConOps
specifically contemplated that for most emergencies response and recovery would initially
be undertaken in parallel.®**

In our view, at the meeting on 14 June 2017 too few of the right questions were asked
about the local authority’s responsibilities to those affected. The questions that were asked
were asked of the wrong people and the minister chairing the meeting did not have the
experience needed to perform that task.

The Civil Contingencies Secretariat took the minutes of the meeting. Ms Hammond told us
that minutes of such meetings are kept for the purposes of providing records®® but are not
circulated to those present for approval or correction and that, if anyone wanted to refer
to them, it would be necessary to ask the Civil Contingencies Secretariat for permission.®®
The only document circulated to those who had been present at the meeting was a

list of “Actions”.®’

A draft version of the minutes contained the following passage:

“The Minister for Local Government stated that the local Council were presently
identifying temporary accommodation for those residents of Grenfell Tower. Longer
term re-housing would also be the responsibility of the Council. The Mayor of London
pressed for further reassurance and asked that contact was made with the local
Council to ensure that affected individuals are not left without accommodation.”*%®

However, in the final version®® the final sentence of that passage was deleted and replaced
by a sentence reading simply:

“The Council were not currently asking for additional support”.1o®

It is not clear how the draft came to be altered and Ms Hammond could not assist.1

In our view, it is indicative of the approach of the Civil Contingencies Secretariat, which
involves equating the absence of a request for support with reassurance that support is not
needed. The working assumption was that if people needed help, they asked for it.10%

We accept that local authorities may not be predisposed to ask for support and may
need both encouragement and a clear process for doing s0.1° Mr Hurd said that the
government should have realised earlier that the scale and complexity of the disaster
were such that no one local authority could be expected to cope with it and that it should
have been quicker to put in place the means of understanding what was happening in
the locality.’®®* We agree and endorse the recommendation of the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat that in future the government probe further to establish whether the local
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tier is handling the response to an emergency adequately.'® In our view, the absence of
a request for support is not a safe or sufficient basis for the government to assume that
support is not required.

15 June 2017: the picture becomes clearer

103.85 We have seen evidence to suggest that the strategic co-ordinating group was aware of
the shortage of accommodation recorded in RED’s summary of the meeting held at 19.30
on 14 June 2017.1%® Nonetheless, on the morning of 15 June 2017 Dr Farrar did not
question the shortfall of accommodation.'® Instead, she passed the information she had
received from RBKC by email to Dame Melanie’s private secretary, noting that there had
been a quick response in providing temporary accommodation on the evening of 14 June
2017 and that the task for 15 and 16 June 2017 was to find more permanent homes.1%
Dr Farrar told us that she had trusted RED to follow up concerns and report any problems
and that her email to Dame Melanie was a note of what she had been told.*%®

103.86 At 08.34 on 15 June 2017, Alastair Whitehead sent an email to Stuart Wainwright observing
that shelter still seemed to be a concern based on the situation report he had seen.*%
He then sent an email to Lorna Gratton, private secretary at No.10 with responsibility
for DCLG, in which he described rehousing and co-ordination of support for the families
affected as “a mess” and proposed the deployment of DCLG teams in the area.'®! At the
same time, the Prime Minister was speaking directly to the Secretary of State, the Rt.
Hon Sajid Javid MP, making the same point and asking what central government could do
to support RBKC.'%*? Sir Jeremy Heywood, head of the Civil Service, also sent an email to
Dame Melanie Dawes expressing concern that the local authority did not have a grip on the
aftermath of the fire and asking whether DCLG should send staff to help.1°** Dame Melanie
told us that she had been concerned about what was being communicated at strategic
co-ordinating group meetings because direct communication with the council was
revealing problems that were not being raised at those meetings.°%

103.87 At about midday on 15 June 2017 the Prime Minister visited Grenfell Tower. She was
briefed by the emergency services but did not meet any residents.10%

103.88 During the course of 15 June 2017, the Civil Contingencies Secretariat became increasingly
concerned in the light of discussions with DCLG about whether individuals affected by
the fire were being properly looked after.1%%® At 14.26, it received confirmation that DCLG
had raised the provision of temporary accommodation with the local authority, but a full
picture had yet to emerge and DCLG had not provided current information on the number
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of people displaced from the tower.1°¥” The Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s increasing
concern was also reflected in detailed questions about those matters in the chairman’s
brief produced for the cross-government meeting later that day.1°*®

Contact between DCLG and RBKC

103.89 On the morning of 15 June 2017, Dame Melanie’s office tried unsuccessfully to arrange
a call with Mr Holgate.'¥ At 12.30, Dr Farrar finally spoke to him.1°%° She thought it
unsatisfactory that that was the first time they had spoken, given that she was the person
in DCLG designated as the point of contact with him.*??* Their conversation added to her
concerns. Although Mr Holgate sounded very confident and reassuring, the information he
gave her did not match that which she had received from other sources.'®* For example, he
assured her that there was hotel accommodation for everybody who needed it, although
in addition to those who had lived in the tower there were 845 people who did not have
access to their homes.'®* During the call Dr Farrar twice offered government support
to Mr Holgate, which he declined.'** Dr Farrar specifically asked him about support
from London Resilience, which he confirmed he had, notwithstanding that the Gold
arrangements had not then been formally invoked.'°>> We heard from Dame Melanie that
she and Dr Farrar could have checked whether the Gold arrangements were in operation
but did not do s0.1%%

103.90 By 14.45 on 15 June 2017 DCLG had deployed an official to the police strategic command
centre. It had also offered to make DCLG staff available to help out at RBKC offices, but that
had been declined. RED reported to No.10 that the police and RBKC together were getting
things under control.%?’

103.91 At about 15.00 on 15 June 2017, Ms McManus contacted Mr Priestley, chief community
safety officer at RBKC and Council Silver responsible for the operational response.1%%®
She did not recall having asked him how the local authority was coping and told us that
that was not the kind of information she would gather at that point. In our view, that was a
missed opportunity for RED to improve its understanding of the situation and explain what
assistance it could provide.1%

The second cross-government meeting

103.92 The second cross-government meeting took place at 15.30 on 15 June 2017. It was
again chaired by Nicholas Hurd and was the first cross-government meeting attended
by Mr Holgate 03¢
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103.93 The minutes recorded that 77 people from Grenfell Tower and 25 people from the
surrounding area had been placed in hotels for immediate shelter and, with only 30 people
at the Westway Centre the previous night, a large number of people were assumed to have
gone to stay with friends and family.1%! At that stage, it appears that the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat was not aware that about 845 people who had been evacuated from nearby
properties were also likely to require short-term accommodation.'%3? Dr Farrar had
discussed that figure with Mr Holgate at 12.30, but the summary of their call was not
circulated to those who attended the cross-government meeting until four hours later.*%*?
We consider that was an unreasonable delay in a fast-moving situation, which meant the
opportunity to challenge the figures was missed.

103.94 During the meeting the Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s concern about RBKC’s handling
of the response became firmer when it became clear that RBKC did not know how many
people had been displaced from the tower.1** Mr Holgate was defensive and tried to
assure ministers that no additional help was required.’®> However, he was unable to
articulate a clear plan for housing those affected and was unable to say how many people
would require accommodation, what services they needed, what resources RBKC had
to deliver those services or what support it would need to do s0.1%%¢ We heard from
Mr Hurd that his overriding impression was of the complete collapse of Mr Holgate’s
credibility under questioning.'®*’

103.95 By 17.30, No.10 had asked DCLG to look into further support for RBKC, suggesting that
people could be sent to assist it.2® However, DCLG still failed to recognise the seriousness
of the problems with RBKC.1%¥ At 20.39, Ms Hammond contacted DCLG proposing it
take stock of how RBKC was doing'®* and, later, suggested that Dr Farrar might call
Mr Holgate as someone with experience of senior leadership in local government.04
At 21.03 Ms Richardson responded, confirming that Dr Farrar had spoken to Mr Holgate,
offering specific support on housing, and that DCLG’s housing minister also intended to
speak to RBKC the following morning in order to obtain the missing details.194?

The morning of 16 June 2017

103.96 On the morning of 16 June 2017, there was growing concern within the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat that the government did not have an accurate picture of the situation as
it affected the survivors and other local residents.** Following the conclusion of the
cross-government meeting on 15 June 2017, Mr Hurd had received a series of unofficial
calls from individuals working as volunteers in the community, including the vicar of
St Clement’s church, impressing upon him the extent of the problems and the need for
government support.t®*
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1033 Email at 16.26 on 15 June 2017 {CLGO0008140/1-2}.

103 Hammond {Day281/44:25}-{Day281/45:3}.

1035 Richardson {CLG00030412/21} page 21, paragraph 77; Hurd {Day282/173:12-14}.

1036 Wainwright {CAB00014776/9} page 9, paragraph 30.

1937 Hurd {Day282/168:6-12}; See also email at 20.08 on 15 June 2017 {CAB00002899/1}.

1038 Email at 17.32 on 15 June 2017 {CABO0006264/1}.

1039 Fmail at 22.09 on 15 June 2017 in which Dame Melanie expressed her view about how well RBKC was “gripping this”
{CLG10009757}.

1040 Email at 20.11 on 15 June 2017 {CABO0002896/2}.

1041 Email at 20.39 on 15 June 2017 {CAB00002896/1}.

1042 Email at 21.03 on 15 June 2017 {CABO0002896/1}.

1043 Hammond {Day281/68:20-21}.

1044 Hurd {Day282/174:13-22}.
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103.97 At 07.41 on 16 June 2017, Lorna Gratton told DCLG of her concern about the organisation
of the response and suggested that more support from the DCLG, such as the secondment
of a small team of people similar to the victim support unit, might be necessary.1%*
Following that intervention and the concerns raised at the same time by Mr Hurd, 104
Helen MacNamara sent a message to a colleague in DCLG saying that the Prime Minister
had expressed concern and wanted the government to get a grip on the situation.%*’

103.98 During the morning of 16 June 2017 Lorna Gratton asked DCLG to suggest ways in which
RBKC could be supported,'®® offering further resources, if required, and seeking a date
by which everyone displaced by the fire would be re-housed, ideally within two weeks.
She also sought a commitment from DCLG to ensure that further support was accepted
by RBKC. DCLG suggested that the victim support unit within the Home Office could be
expanded to provide support to those affected by the Grenfell Tower fire.1%° A little later,
Mr Hurd’s private secretary expressed concern about the lack of co-ordination of the
response and emphasised the need to use the coming cross-government meeting to find
out what was really happening.’®*® By that time the co-ordination of the government’s
response was being severely hampered by inadequate information.1%!

DCLG visit to the Westway Centre

103.99 Following her conversation with Mr Holgate at 12.30 on 15 June 2017, Dr Farrar decided
to join the Secretary of State’s visit to the Westway Centre on the morning of 16 June
2017.19%2 That visit became pivotal to her understanding of RBKC's ability to manage the
situation.®3 She formed the view that the relief effort was neither well-managed nor
properly co-ordinated.'®* Dr Farrar told us that, when she attended the Westway Centre on
16 June 2017, she had been surprised by a notable absence of senior RBKC officers and had
not been reassured by her discussions with those officials from RBKC who were there.1%>
At about 09.40 on 16 June 2017, Dr Farrar was present at a meeting between the leader of
the council, Mr Paget-Brown, and the Secretary of State.’®® She told us that she had been
worried that the offers of support had not been passed to Mr Paget-Brown, who did not
seem to be aware of what was available.®” When he had agreed that additional support
for RBKC'’s rehousing effort would be helpful, Dr Farrar communicated that by text message
to Katherine Richardson, who sent it on to Sally Randall to take forward without delay.'%®

1045 Email at 07.41 on 16 June 2017 {CLG00008227/2}.

1046 Email at 08.02 on 16 June 2017 {CLGO0008227}.
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1048 Table of the DCLG calls and meetings on 16 June 2017 {CLG00018819/3}.

1049 Email at 11.19 on 16 June 2017 {CABO0006453/1}.

1050 Email at 09.33 on 16 June 2017 {CAB0O0001152/1-2}.

1051 Hyrd {Day282/181:20}-{Day282/182:10}.

1052 Farrar {CLGO0030414/10} page 10, paragraph 46; email at 19.21 on 15 June 2017 {CLG0O0003210/1}.

1053 Farrar {Day284/121:11-13}.

1054 Farrar {CLGO0030414/14} page 14, paragraph 62.

1055 Farrar {CLGO0030414/14} page 14, paragraph 63; Farrar {Day284/113:18}-{Day284/115:9}.

1056 Farrar {CLGO0030414/14} page 14, paragraph 63.

1057 Farrar {Day284/119:21-25}.

1058 Farrar {CLGO0030414/14-15} pages 14-15, paragraph 67; text message at 10.13 on 16 June 2017 {CLG00030628};
See also email at 14.11 on 16 June 2017 {CLG00003383} summarising the meeting between the Secretary of State
and Mr Paget-Brown.
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103.100 The minutes of the meeting of the strategic co-ordinating group held at 11.00 following
the Secretary of State’s visit recorded the government’s misgivings for the first time, % in
particular the Secretary of State’s worries about access to cash, donations and information
for the survivors.10%°

The appointment of John Barradell

103.101 Following the meeting with Mr Paget-Brown on the morning of 16 June 2017,
Dr Farrar contacted Ms Richardson!®! and Dame Melanie Dawes to discuss the
appointment of a specialist emergency manager, proposing Mr Barradell'® as a potential
candidate.?® Separately, by the evening of 15 June 2017 the decision had been taken to
activate the London Gold arrangements and Mr Barradell had arranged to attend RBKC
for a preliminary discussion.'®* |t appears that RED was unaware that the decision to
activate the Gold arrangements had been made on the evening of 15 June 2017 and that
their formal activation was expected to occur the next day.’*®® The documents we have
seen suggest that RED and DCLG generally did not have a good understanding of what
was happening.10®

103.102 When Dr Farrar went to see Mr Holgate he was in discussion with John Barradell, who
said that he was there to support Mr Holgate and that there would be a chief executive
rota as part of the London Resilience arrangements.?®’ She felt that an experienced
person needed to be in the lead, rather than acting as support.° She intervened, asking
Mr Barradell privately if he would take over the London Gold role on a permanent basis.
He agreed in principle and she then sent a text message to Dame Melanie telling her that
she was speaking to London Councils to obtain their agreement.’’° Dr Farrar then spoke
to John O’Brien, chief executive of London Councils,*’* who agreed to help in bringing
that about.’®”? Mr Holgate also agreed to that course.'®”® Dr Farrar told Ms Richardson that
Mr Barradell had taken over London Gold full time under the London Councils’
arrangement.'”* Mr Barradell said that Dr Farrar may have had a different understanding
of the effect of activating the London Gold arrangements.'*’> However, Mr Barradell told
us that when taking on a role beyond that envisaged by the civil contingencies structure
in London, he was not concerned about his authority as long as he had the support of the
political leadership of RBKC and the support of the government.1%¢

1059 McManus {Day283/105:15}-{Day283/106:3}.

1060 Minutes of SCG meeting at 11.00 on 16 June 2017 under heading ‘DCLG’ {MOL0O0000036/3}.

1061 Text message {CLGO0030627}.

1062 The Deputy Chair of the London Resilience Forum, Chair of the Local Authorities’ Panel and the Town Clerk and
Chief Executive of the City of London Corporation.
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1069 Farrar {CLGO0030414/17} page 17, paragraph 79.
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1972 Farrar {Day284/140:18-22}.
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175 Barradell {Day279/113:1-25}.
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103.103 At about the same time Ms Hammond learned from David Bellamy that John Barradell
had been appointed to take over from RBKC as “Recovery Gold”.**”” She thought that the
decision had been taken by the Mayor’s office or Mr Bellamy and that there had been an
existing arrangement under which that was possible.’”® Ms Hammond did not suggest that
she had looked into the legal basis for his appointment; she said that no legal concerns had
been raised.’®”® The CRIP produced at 12.00 on 16 June 2017 stated that John Barradell had
been appointed to co-ordinate logistical support to RBKC.2°

Transition from response to recovery

103.104 The question when to move from response to recovery was raised repeatedly in
correspondence in the days immediately following the fire but was never clearly
answered.'%! Mr Hurd told us that he had not been aware of the particular moment
at which the Home Office had relinquished the role of lead government department
to DCLG; rather he sensed that during the course of 15 June 2017 there had been a
growing recognition that DCLG was effectively evolving as the lead ministry for the
recovery phase.082

103.105 At 08.14 on 16 June 2017 Dr Farrar received an email from Mr Mason, head of emergencies
management at RED, indicating that the police had been pressing the previous day to
transfer control of the local relief effort to RBKC but that RBKC felt it was too early.*%®
Dr Farrar expressed her concern that RBKC might find it difficult to take overall leadership
of the relief effort and asked Mr Mason to contact the Home Office to gauge its view.%®

103.106 At 09.22 on 16 June 2017, Ms Hammond said that she thought it likely that there would
be a transition to the recovery phase on 17 or 18 June 2017.1%> However, at 10.50,
No.10 notified the Civil Contingencies Secretariat that the Prime Minister had decided
to chair that afternoon’s cross-government meeting and that it would be renamed
“The Grenfell Tower Recovery Taskforce”.1% The change of name had been proposed by
Mr Whitehead!®’ to shift the focus from the initial emergency response to supporting
the recovery phase. It had been decided upon without consulting the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat.® ConOps provided that, although, following most emergencies, response
and recovery activity will initially be undertaken in parallel,’°® the timing of the formal
handover from the response to the recovery phase should be agreed between the two lead
government departments, in consultation with the Civil Contingencies Secretariat'®® and
should start once the situation has been stabilised.**

1077 Hammond {CAB00014764/19} page 19, paragraph 68.
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1080 CRIP 3 {CABO0000148/1-2}.
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{CAB00014853/22} page 22, paragraph 64.

1087 Whitehead {CAB00014857/20} page 20, paragraph 54.
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103.107 Ms Hammond described the creation of the Grenfell Tower Recovery Taskforce as marking
a formal shift in emphasis which reflected the primary focus of the meeting, rather than
the end of one thing and the start of another.2? However, we do not think that the
recovery phase began on 16 June 2017 or that the first meeting of the Grenfell Tower
Recovery Taskforce was concerned with recovery.**%

103.108 The government’s formal transition to the recovery phase took place on 25 July
2017%9% with the first meeting of the Grenfell Ministerial Recovery Group.1°® In our
view, the designation by No.10 of the cross-government meetings as meetings of a
“Recovery Taskforce” was rightly seeking to shift their focus towards the immediate needs
of the survivors, but it ignored the fact that they were an essential part of the response
phase and risked creating confusion while the situation had yet to be stabilised.

The Grenfell Tower Recovery Taskforce

103.109 Meetings of the Grenfell Tower Recovery Taskforce (“the Taskforce”) were held in the
Cabinet Office Briefing Rooms at 70 Whitehall, the location from which COBR normally
operated.’®’ Although Ms Hammond invited us not to attach any significance to that
change of location, we think that in this case it indicated an increase in government
engagement in line with, at least, a Level 2 serious emergency, as outlined in ConOps,1%%®
and that a de facto COBR meeting had been initiated for the first time.*%®

103.110 Ms Hammond told us that there had been no reason to activate COBR on 16 June 2017
because the things that could be discussed at a COBR meeting could as easily be discussed
at a meeting of the Taskforce.!? It seems to us that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat
should have formally activated a COBR response by that time,'! as envisaged by ConOps,
taking forward elements of the recovery phase before formally handing over to a
ministerial recovery group to take further action once the situation had been stabilised.!1?
Neither the Prime Minister nor the officials in her office had expertise in responding to an
emergency of the kind facing them and would have had to rely on the expertise and advice
of the Civil Contingencies Secretariat, the relevant government departments and other
public bodies.'® The evidence suggests that No.10 received no advice about the possibility
of activating COBR at that stage, or the benefits of doing so, or about the distinction
between the response and recovery phases.!%

102 Hammond {Day281/88:25}-{Day281/89:11}.
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103.111 Following the Prime Minister’s decision to chair the meeting of the Taskforce on 16 June
2017, the secretariat role of the Cabinet Office was largely taken over by No.10, which
drafted the agenda, produced the CRIP!% and decided who should attend.'% |t declined
the Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s offer of a “pre-brief”.11%

Support for those affected

103.112 The first Taskforce meeting took place at 13.00 on 16 June 2017. It was chaired by the
Prime Minister, the Rt Hon Theresa May MP, and was attended by, among others, the
National Security Adviser, Mark Sedwill, Mr Barradell, described as “Local Authority
Gold Commander”,*1% and Mr Holgate.''®

103.113 At the beginning of the meeting the Prime Minister said that she wanted to ensure that
the government was providing the best package of support for the victims and doing
everything possible to assist those on the ground.*'*? It is clear from the minutes that
there were still significant problems over the provision of immediate support to those
affected. The Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government could not provide
an absolute assurance that there was complete co-ordination between the government
and the local authority but told those present that DCLG had already undertaken to deploy
more people.!™ A list of Grenfell Tower residents remained outstanding,'!*? together with
the number of residents that needed re-housing.'!?

The Grenfell Victims Unit

103.114 The Prime Minister said that she wanted the government to support the affected families
and in particular wanted to establish a single point of contact for families that could deal
with all aspects of their recovery.''** It was agreed that DCLG would set up an integrated
support service following the model of the Victims of Terrorism Unit to co-ordinate
cross-government activity and provide those affected with a single point of access to
government services,''> such as immigration, benefits, transport, the coronial process,
education, health and financial assistance.!®

103.115 The gap in victim support had been raised by Isla Hurley Brunt, then head of community
resilience and recovery at the Civil Contingencies Secretariat,'*'’ on 14 June 2017 when
she sent an email to lan Whitehouse expressing doubts about the support that would be
available when it was unclear whether those affected were victims of crime.*!'® However,
it was not until 16 June 2017 that a central victim support unit was proposed, notably
by Ms Gratton, a No.10 official without the Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s expertise
in emergency response.'*® That stands in marked contrast to the automatic support
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that would have been available in response to a terrorist attack.'?° We agree with the
Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s own assessment that there were inconsistencies between
the response to the Grenfell Tower fire and the response to recent terrorist attacks that
require attention.'*

103.116 Following the meeting of the Taskforce on 16 June 2017, Ms Hammond chaired a meeting
of officials focusing on the establishment of a Grenfell Victims Unit.'!*? During the meeting,
representatives from the Victims of Terrorism Unit explained how it worked. It was agreed
that every government department involved!* would identify someone to work with the
unit and that HM Revenue and Customs would provide 20 caseworkers to start work on the
morning of 17 June 2017.1*2* Jillian Kay, director for local government policy at DCLG,*!*
and Suzanne Kochanowski, also of DCLG, were given the responsibility for setting up the
Grenfell Victims Unit.!2¢

103.117 On 17 June 2017, the 20 members of the HM Revenue and Customs surge team and two
people from the Department for Transport were deployed by DCLG to Portland House,
the centre of London Gold operations, to support the Gold Command under Mr Barradell,
and the Westway Centre.'*?” Over the weekend, Ms Kay’s priorities were to understand
the nature of the support being put in place by the new Gold Command structure and
to enable the Grenfell Victims Unit to work alongside the support being provided locally.
There was a danger that, if it were a separate channel of support, it could cause confusion
and further frustration among those affected by the fire.!'® DCLG had been pursuing the
idea of a direct public telephone line for the victims unit'!? until Ms Kay learned that
Gold Command was intending to use a key worker model with a social worker or other
named contact point for each of the affected families and was talking to the Red Cross
about establishing a telephone line.'* |In the light of that, DCLG developed a single
telephone line and email address for family liaison officers and key workers to use to secure
support from across the government, 3! repositioning the Grenfell Victims Unit as a second
line of support.}**2 By 16.11 on 18 June 2017, the telephone number and email address
of the Grenfell Victims Unit were in use. However, at that stage there were still families
without a family liaison officer or support worker. Although DCLG was aware of that, the
victims unit emphasised that the service was not an advice line for victims and that families
should not call it directly.*33
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103.118 On 19 June 2017 a pack was produced by DCLG setting out the purpose of the victims unit.
It contained a telephone number and email address, made it clear that they were to be
used by support and key workers and in addition provided the telephone number for the
Red Cross for victims to contact.!3

103.119 At 22.56 on 19 June 2017, Ms Kochanowski sent an email to Ms Kay telling her that
the Westway Centre had been a bit chaotic**** and that it was still unclear whether the
key workers had been appointed. She said that the number of cases being handled by
the victims unit was low (three in all) but that was because government staff were by
then present at the Westway Centre. She also warned that the staff provided by HMRC
would struggle to resolve the more difficult problems and navigate their way around
government departments.1%

103.120 Dame Melanie Dawes told us that DCLG’s provision of support had been slowed down
by confusion about what the Grenfell Victims Unit was, what ministers had asked for and
what ultimately could be provided.!*” It seems to us that by 19 June 2017 the victims unit
had become something quite different from what had been envisaged at the meeting of
the Taskforce on 16 June 2017. The Prime Minister’s intention had been to use the unit
directly to support victims and fill any gaps in the support provided by others, whereas
the model adopted by DCLG followed the approach of the Victims of Terrorism Unit. That
depended on support already being in place for all who needed it, which, in the case of the
Grenfell Tower fire, was lacking.!!38

Events following the Taskforce meeting on 16 June 2017

103.121 Following the first Taskforce meeting, Mr Sedwill sent an email to Ms Hammond offering to
contact DCLG about London-wide and government support for RBKC. He thought that RBKC
was clearly out of its depth and that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat probably should
have prompted DCLG to intervene earlier.** His offer was declined by Ms Hammond on
the grounds that Mr Barradell and Dame Melanie had spoken to each other and everything
was all right. 1140

103.122 During the afternoon of 16 June 2017, the Prime Minister attended a round table meeting
at the Clement James Centre with residents and volunteers from Grenfell Tower and the
surrounding area'* and at 17.56 she sent an email to senior officials in No.10 expressing
her frustration at what she described as the “utter uselessness” of RBKC.11#2

103.123 At 18.25, Mr Whitehead sent an email to Ms Hammond informing her that there would be
another Taskforce meeting chaired by the Prime Minister the following day and possibly
a conference call on Sunday.** That was contrary to Ms Hammond’s assumption that
the next Taskforce meeting would not be held until Monday afternoon.'*** At that stage,
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Ms Hammond was worried about the pressure being put on DCLG.** Again, it appears that
the Civil Contingencies Secretariat was being pressed to increase the level of intervention
and oversight.

103.124 At 19.36, Ms Gratton sent an email to Dame Melanie and the Principal Private Secretary to
the Secretary of State informing them that the Prime Minister was keen to make a further
offer of assistance to RBKC and Gold Command, proposing that DCLG bring together
whatever additional resources it could for the council and that it contact Gold Command to
identify where the government could immediately and helpfully place people.t#®

103.125 That evening the Prime Minister also spoke to Mr Paget-Brown. He assured her that
everyone made homeless would be in housing by the end of the day and that someone
from RBKC would be in touch that evening with every one of the support centres.***’ In the
event those assurances were not met.

Events of 17 June 2017

103.126 At 11.00 on Saturday, 17 June 2017, the Prime Minister chaired a further meeting of the
Taskforce, again focusing on the provision of support for victims.?'*® Those attending the
meeting were told that residents were unsure how to obtain support and needed help
to do so0.'* |t was agreed that a number of steps should be taken directed at community
engagement, obtaining detailed figures for the numbers of those who had been living in
the tower, of those from the immediate vicinity who could not return to their homes and
of those who could, keeping the Westway Centre open and providing financial support.***°
A Taskforce meeting for officials was arranged for the following day to monitor progress.!**!

103.127 On 17 June 2014 the Home Secretary, the Rt Hon Amber Rudd MP, and Mr Hurd visited the
Westway Centre for the first time.'**? They discovered a number of problems,**>* which in
turn prompted the Home Office to write to Mr Barradell, among others, with observations
about the current response. They included drawing attention to the distribution of money,
the provision of emergency accommodation and poor communication.**>*

103.128 On the evening of 17 June 2017, Peter Tallantire, head of the crisis management team in
the Civil Contingencies Secretariat,''** confirmed that it was not fully aware of what DCLG
was doing and was worried that DCLG was operating in a largely reactive manner with
limited power to influence the direction of the response.!**®* Mr Tallantire suggested that
the Civil Contingencies Secretariat try to do more to control the outcome by deploying a

1145 Email at 09.22 on 16 June 2017 {CAB0O0001150/1}; Hammond {Day281/166:7-10}.

1146 Email at 19.37 on 16 June 2017 {CABO0005727}.

1147 Email at 19.54 on 16 June 2017 {CABO0006343}; However, Ms Gratton’s note of 17 June 2017 indicates that
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{RBK00038856/1-3}.

1148 Minutes 17 June 2017 {CAB00002735}.

149 Minutes 17 June 2017 {CAB00002735/3} paragraph 5.

1150 Actions, 17 June 2017 {CAB00001248/1-2} actions 2, 4, 5 and 11.

151 Minutes 17 June 2017 {CAB00002735/7} paragraph 20.

1152 Email at 16.11 on 17 June 2017 {LFB00119799/1}; Hurd {HOMO00046080/15-16} pages 15-16, paragraph 51.

153 Hurd {Day282/189:16}-{Day282/190:3}.
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1155 peter Tallantire had taken over from Stuart Wainwright as the Deputy Director leading on the response on the
evening of 15 June 2017, following a short, informal handover meeting, Tallantire {CAB00014769/2} page 2,
paragraph 7.

1156 Email at 23.19 on 17 June 2017 {CABO0003152/1}.
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liaison officer to DCLG to work alongside its team, thereby enabling the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat to know what DCLG was thinking, shape events and help co-ordinate
government support.tt>’

103.129 Nearly four days after the fire, with Mr Barradell in post and the Prime Minister chairing
the Taskforce meetings, the situation on the ground remained chaotic. That prompted
Mr Sedwill to email Dame Melanie Dawes proposing the appointment of a “Gold for
Whitehall on all the wider issues”, or alternatively a “Gold plus Gold Minister”, warning
that it was necessary to drop everything else.'**® There was an acknowledgement, both
within and outside the Civil Contingencies Secretariat, that it needed to deploy additional
resources to help co-ordinate government support.

Events of 18 June 2017

103.130 On the morning of Sunday 18 June 2017, Ms Hammond supported Mr Sedwill’s suggestion
and offered to provide someone from the Civil Contingencies Secretariat to provide a link
with whoever was chosen for the task.’*® Following that morning’s meeting of Taskforce
officials, she advised the Rt Hon Damian Green MP, First Secretary of State and Minister for
the Cabinet Office, on how DCLG could be supported as the response to the emergency
moved into recovery. Among other things she suggested that lan Whitehouse be seconded
to DCLG, which took place the next day.**¢°

Consideration of protected groups

103.131 Apart from one reference to a need to consider the religious dimension of burials,**¢*
neither the briefs nor the minutes of the cross-government or Taskforce meetings indicate
an understanding of the particular needs of people from protected groups*®? or any steps
being taken to meet them. In our view, questions should have been asked and a greater
effort should have been made about the different groups of people affected in order to
understand better the effects of the fire on them and to find out whether steps were being
taken to mitigate them.

Use of government staff

103.132 On the afternoon of 16 June 2017, Fiona Darby, deputy director for homelessness at
DCLG, had contacted Laura Johnson, head of RBKC’s housing department, to propose
that Lizzie Clifford, a housing specialist at DCLG, join RBKC’s BECC that afternoon as the
link with DCLG to assist with the rehousing efforts.}'%* Ms Johnson proposed in response
that Ms Clifford join her three days later, on 19 June 2017.**** Following an intervention
by Mr Barradell, %> Ms Clifford was subsequently deployed to Portland House, the seat of
London Gold’s operations,'®® from the morning of 17 June 2017. Ms McManus was also
deployed to Portland House on 17 June 2017.1%¢7
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The Westway Centre

103.133 At the meeting of the Taskforce on 17 June 2017 it was suggested that a single centre
should provide services and advice to those affected by the fire, which was to be
appropriately and sufficiently staffed by government officials and others and kept open
for as long as necessary.'**®® The Home Office made arrangements for officials to go to
the designated centre on 18 June 2017 to assist with immigration enquiries. The officials
were instructed that no immigration enforcement action should be taken and that
they should wear plain clothes rather than uniform and not carry their Home Office
badges.''® The officials met their counterparts from DCLG at 08.00 in Westminster,
as DCLG had not yet confirmed the location of the support centre. They subsequently
arrived at the Westway Centre at 11.00.1*’° The officials stayed at the centre until 16.30,
by which time they had not received any enquiries for some two hours.*'’* That day the
Home Office also began operating a 24-hour telephone line to assist with immigration and
passport matters.'”?

103.134 On 18 June 2017, RED wanted to ensure it was providing support as requested by
Gold Command.”® It was concerned about using junior civil servants to carry out tasks
that involved engaging with the local community, for which they had not been trained and
with which staff from other London boroughs were much more familiar.!’* At the Taskforce
meeting held that morning,*’”> Mr Barradell asked the government!'’® for support in the
form of staff experienced in community engagement. As a result, an official from the
integration and faith team at DCLG'Y” was deployed to Gold Command that evening.'’8
Mr Barradell also asked for and received professional help from DCLG and the Home Office
to improve the signs and labelling at the Westway Centre.'”® He was very complimentary
about the support provided by central government.1&

103.135 On the evening of 18 June 2017, DCLG directed staff from six government departments to
attend the Westway Centre for the next seven days, starting at 9.00 on Monday 19 June,
as a “PM priority”.*8 Although HM Revenue and Customs operated a “surge” team of
administrative officers who could be deployed to perform specific administrative functions,
they were of limited use as they did not have experience in carrying out departmental
roles.'® Ms Hammond told us that it was uncommon for staff from government
departments to be deployed as part of a local response to an emergency!'® and there do
not appear to have been any procedures in place for such an eventuality. The fact that

1168 Minutes 17 June 2017 {CAB00002735/4} paragraph 9(ii); Actions 17 June 2017 {CABO0001248/2} Action 5.
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1176 Kay {CLG0O0030430/13} page 13, paragraph 54; Kay {CLG00030430/14} page 14, paragraph 59; email at 20.01 on
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178 Kay {CLG00030430/13} page 13, paragraph 56.
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government staff were deployed at the Westway Centre is an indication of the degree of
concern felt about the effectiveness of the centre as the focal point for support for those
affected by the fire.

103.136 That same day, at the request of the Home Secretary, the Home Office produced
leaflets in several languages containing government advice; they were delivered to the
Westway Centre on 19 June 2017.**# Mr Hurd accepted in evidence that they could and
should have been sent out sooner.!*®

103.137 On 19 June 2017, Francesca Flessati from the Foreign and Commonwealth Office contacted
DCLG and the Civil Contingencies Secretariat asking whether the latter would be offering
advice on crisis management co-ordination and asking for any documents explaining how
the centre was supposed to operate, its aims and objectives and its co-ordination and
communication processes.!® After receiving a response from the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat expressing complete faith in Mr Barradell but declining to provide any
substantive advice, Ms Flessati complained that just gathering civil servants in a sports
hall with no proper communications did not seem the best way of providing an effective
service.*®” Although by that stage the London Gold arrangements had been invoked and
the Westway Centre was no longer being run by RBKC, there were still problems with the
response on the ground.'8

103.138 On the morning of 20 June 2017, Sebastian Bassett-James at the Department for Business,
Energy and Industrial Strategy (“BEIS”) sent an email to the Civil Contingencies Secretariat
raising similar concerns. Mr Bassett-lames identified a lack of leadership and command
and control and suggested that government oversight was needed together with more
co-ordination and more information about what services were already being provided.!#
In light of Mr Bassett-James’s email, Ms McManus notified London Gold that RED had
received reports that the Westway Centre did not seem structured.**® When Ms Kay visited
it late on the morning of 20 June 2017, she observed that it was fairly makeshift, with
handwritten signs at the government desks that were hard to read. However, she
considered the situation to be calm and improving.***

103.139 We have seen no evidence that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat provided any
documentation or other support to government staff deployed to the Westway Centre.
Indeed, Ms Hammond told us that it had not formally co-ordinated their deployment and
that any training of staff was a matter for individual departments.’°? Given its expertise
in emergency response and recovery, we consider that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat
should have given them some guidance on the objectives of the centre, and the role
that they were expected to play.?*?®* The description of the Westway Centre as “organised
chaos”, with large numbers of officials, charities and community groups all trying to
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1191 Kay {CLGO0030430/15-16} pages 15-16, paragraphs 65-69.

192 Hammond {CAB00014816/18} page 18, paragraph 47; By comparison, Sebastian Bassett-James at BEIS produced a
Utilities Co-ordination Cell staff guide, specifically designed to support staff in the Utilities Coordination Cell who
were physically present at the Westway Centre because they were not crisis professionals and therefore needed
specific guidance {BEI0O0002843}; Bassett-James {BEI00002844/2-3} pages 2-3, paragraphs 10-11; Bassett-James
{BEIO0002844/7-8} pages 7-8, paragraphs 30-32.
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help,’** is endorsed by the Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s own report, which found that
most departmental staff who answered the urgent request for help on 18 June 2017 felt
that the arrangements there were disjointed and that there was a lack of clear leadership
or concern for the welfare of staff.11%

Evacuated residents

103.140 The minutes of the Taskforce meeting on 16 June 2017 recorded, for the first time, that
there had been 800 families living within the cordon in addition to those living in the
tower.1'% Until that point, there does not appear to have been any consideration at the
cross-government meetings of the needs of residents who had been forced to evacuate,
most of whom could not return home. The minutes recorded a commitment to ensure that
residents, including those with nearby homes within the cordon,***” were accommodated
locally as quickly as possible, but government decision-making and monitoring continued
to be hampered by inadequate and unreliable information.?8 Six days into the emergency
response, the categorisation of residents was still changing, and the government remained
unclear about the precise number of residents of Grenfell Tower and Grenfell Walk who
were in emergency accommodation.

103.141 No concern was raised in the cross-government meetings about the effectiveness of the
TMO until the Taskforce meeting on 19 June 2017.** Ms Hammond told us that she had
been aware of concern about its poor relationship with the tenants, the difficulties in
getting precise information and a sense that it was not fulfilling its function.2%

103.142 The minutes of that meeting also recorded problems with the provision of hot water
and gas to about 400 households within the wider cordon and noted that all households
affected in that way were entitled to hotel accommodation and access to the discretionary
fund.'?%! The list of things to be done following the meeting included directing DCLG and
“Recovery Gold” (Mr Barradell) to consider urgently how best to respond to worries about
the effectiveness of the TMO and reaching an immediate decision on what steps to take
next.?2 However, the list did not identify any specific action to be taken in response to
the lack of hot water or gas in properties within the wider cordon.? Further, although
those concerns were recorded at government level, Robert Black, the chief executive of the
TMO, was not made aware of them?!?** or of the decision to give affected residents access
to hotel accommodation and financial assistance.'?® The lack of hot water remained a
problem and was raised again at the meeting of Taskforce officials on 20 June 2017, when
Mr Barradell suggested that an engineering solution was required.2%
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103.143 On 20 June 2017, it became apparent to Dame Melanie Dawes that there was concern
about the leadership of the TMO*?” and thereafter DCLG began to think how it could
orchestrate a change of leadership.'?°® However, the government does not appear to have
properly understood the role of, or the limitations placed upon, the TMO.

The commitment to re-house residents

103.144 On 16 June 2017, the Prime Minister announced that those who had lost their homes as a
result of the fire must be re-housed at the earliest possible opportunity and that the aim
was to achieve that within three weeks at the latest.*?® In recognition of the exceptional
nature of the circumstances and of the fact that that commitment went further than a
local authority’s obligations to other homeless households, the government agreed to
meet the costs of providing temporary accommodation.*° From 16 June 2017 onwards
DCLG inevitably played a major part in seeking to deliver what it later recognised was an
unrealistic commitment.*?*

103.145 On 18 June 2017, Helen MacNamara, director general of housing and planning at
DCLG, sent an email to Barbara Brownlee, who had taken over responsibility for finding
accommodation for those rendered homeless, to clarify the government’s commitment.*?2
She said that residents of Grenfell Tower or Grenfell Walk (so-called “Category A”
households) would be re-housed within three weeks in the local area with the costs of
temporary accommodation met by the government.'?** Consideration was still being given
to the situation of those who had lived in other buildings in the vicinity of the tower. The
commitment was no doubt well meant but was always unrealistic and raised expectations
in a way that was irresponsible. Some residents were still living in hotel accommodation
two years after the fire.121

Financial assistance

103.146 Providing financial assistance to those affected by the fire was hampered by a lack of
reliable information. Records of financial support provided during previous emergencies
were not readily available and information about the amount of money being distributed
was often inconsistent or absent altogether.

103.147 At a meeting on 14 June 2017 Ms Richardson, Dr Farrar, Ms Kay and the Secretary of State
discussed the local response and the support that the government could offer, including
funding under the Bellwin scheme of emergency financial assistance to local authorities.'?*
The next day, the Secretary of State announced the availability of funding under that
scheme,'?'® but did not indicate, otherwise than in general terms, which costs would be
met. The details were still being clarified on 19 June 2017.%%"/
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103.148 On the morning of 16 June 2017, Lorna Gratton asked the Treasury what the government
had done in the past in similar circumstances by way of giving residents immediate
help with basic necessities.'?*® It does not appear that any such request had been made
previously.??'® We are surprised that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat had not already
obtained that information. It appears that DCLG had not spoken to the Treasury about the
creation of a discretionary fund to support the residents of Grenfell Tower!?? by the time of
a discussion between the Secretary of State and No.10 that morning.*?*

103.149 It appears that the creation of a substantial discretionary fund was discussed for the first
time at a cross-government meeting on 16 June 2017,**?? at which the Prime Minister
said that a £5 million discretionary fund would be established to help support those
affected.'?” The size of the fund and what it would cover in general terms was announced
by the Prime Minister later that day.'*** From that point onwards, there were considerable
difficulties in getting a clear and consistent understanding of how many people had
received money and how much money had been distributed.!??> At a number of Taskforce
meetings, different figures were quoted by DCLG and ministers from the Department of
Work and Pensions (DWP), making it difficult to obtain a clear picture.*??

103.150 At the meeting of the Taskforce on 17 June 2017 it was pointed out that after the winter
floods in 2015 all affected households had been given a payment of £5,000.12?” The Mayor
of London recalled that some of those present appeared to be reluctant to make lump
sum payments of £5,000 rather than payments by way of instalments to those who
needed support.’?? |t was agreed in principle that every family that had lived in the
tower and those who had been forced out of their homes by the fire should be eligible to
receive a sum of money to be paid out immediately through DWP staff on the ground.*?*
Following the meeting, DCLG was directed to produce a proposal for distributing
the support fund.

103.151 It was subsequently ascertained that the government had provided each household
affected by the floods in 2015 with an initial £500 in cash and a further £5,000 paid
into bank accounts (i.e. £5,500 in total). Miss Gratton asked whether colleagues were
happy to take the same approach to avoid unfavourable parallels being drawn with that
emergency.??*° That was two days after the Prime Minister had confirmed a £5 million
discretionary fund and more than four days after the fire. We are surprised that the
information about payments made to the victims of flooding was not already available to
the Civil Contingencies Secretariat. In our view, the lack of easily accessible information
about how victims of previous emergencies had been supported financially contributed to
the delay in funds being provided.
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103.152 In the event, it was agreed that every household that had lost its home as a result of the
fire should receive £5,500, made up of £500 in cash payment from the council and £5,000
paid into a bank account by DWP.12%! Everyone over the age of 16 who had been displaced
as a result of the fire was also able to claim a £500 cash payment. RBKC could increase the
amount of the cash payment in individual circumstances,*?*? drawing on the further funding
from the government’s Grenfell Tower Residents Discretionary Fund.'?*

103.153 The Discretionary Fund scheme went into operation on 19 June 2017.**** We heard that
some of those who went to the Portobello Road Post Office!** to receive payments had
not had any previous contact with the emergency relief effort.*?** The lack of any previous
contact five days after the fire reflects poorly on the wider emergency relief effort.
Westminster City Council staff who became involved as part of a tri-borough agreement!?*’
reported that some of the people coming in for help were vulnerable and required
counselling before any practical steps could be taken to make payments to them.'?3#

103.154 Following the Taskforce meeting on 19 June 2017, Mr Barradell was asked to confirm by the
end of the day how many people eligible to receive a £500 cash payment had not yet done
so and to make those payments as soon as possible.'?* It was not until the CRIP produced
for the meeting on 21 June 2017 that reasonably reliable information was available about
the number of those who were eligible to receive payments and the number of those who
had done so. Even at that stage the figures were not consistent with those contained in
other documents of the same date.’?*® We agree with the Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s
own assessment that its understanding of the operational response was poor throughout
that period and that inconsistent and missing data, particularly from DCLG, represented a
constant challenge.'?*

Pressure on DCLG

103.155 DCLG was under considerable pressure during the seven days following the fire.
Although RED was experienced in leading liaison with local responses in relation to other
kinds of emergencies (such as flooding, or terrorist incidents), in the months before
the Grenfell Tower fire it had been required to respond to emergencies more often
than usual.’®** At the same time, it was short of staff**** and was in the process of being
reduced in size.>**
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103.156 Furthermore, the scale of the Grenfell Tower fire, involving a huge loss of life and mass
displacement, was greater than anything it had previously encountered. The disaster
generated immense public and political concern, made all the more intense by the fact
that it fell within its own area of policy responsibility (local government and housing).1?4
Although the emergency was concentrated in a single location, it had national implications
for the safety of tower blocks!?*® and it appears that for that reason a significant part of
the department’s limited resources was taken up with reviewing its response to the earlier
Lakanal House fire.!?*” DCLG was, in effect, trying to manage two crises at the same time.??*®

103.157 Even after Mr Barradell’s appointment as Recovery Gold, there were difficulties in
obtaining clear, accurate information about who was responsible for what and the number
of people needing support.??* Nevertheless, we have seen no evidence to suggest that
Ms Hammond raised concerns about DCLG with Mr McGuinness or Mr Sedwill.*?*°

103.158 An Internal Lessons report produced by the Civil Contingencies Secretariat in August 2017
concluded that it should have pressed for a liaison officer from DCLG to be present
within the COBR situation cell regardless of the pressures on resources at DCLG.*?>!
However, in the email he sent to Katharine Hammond on 17 June 2017 Peter Tallantire
indicated that he felt it was too late to do that and that it was probably the wrong
solution, as most of the worries related to DCLG, which was already considered to be
struggling.'?>? Mr Tallantire suggested instead that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s
ignorance of DCLG’s thinking should be resolved by deploying a liaison officer from the
Civil Contingencies Secretariat to DCLG.'?>* Although lan Whitehouse was transferred to
DCLG on 19 June 2017, we think that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat should have taken
action at least three days earlier,'** once it realised that DCLG was overstretched and
under-resourced.®>

Contact between the Prime Minister and the residents of
Grenfell Tower

103.159 On the afternoon of 17 June 2017, the Prime Minister hosted a further meeting with
Grenfell residents and community members in which wide-ranging complaints were made
about the co-ordination of the response, the distribution of money to those who needed
it and the limited information available on where people should go for help of different
kinds. Those who attended the meeting asked, among many other things, that the TMO be
removed from the management of the buildings affected, that central co-ordinators ensure
they had links with local leaders and that liaison officers be provided for those affected.!**®
Feedback from that meeting was then filtered back by No.10 to DCLG.**’

1245 Whitehouse {CAB00014782/14} page 14, paragraph 35.

1246 Minutes 14 June 2017 {CAB00002714}; Dawes {CLGO0030653/36} page 36, paragraph 118.

1247 Dawes {Day285/98:13}-{Day285/100:9}.

1248 Dawes {Day285/98:13}-{Day285/100:9}.

1249 Tallantire {CABO0014769/5} page 5, paragraph 18.

1250 Hammond {Day281/73:18-22}.

1251 Summary Grenfell Fire Response (CCS Internal Lessons) {CABO0000105/1} paragraph 5; Hammond
{Day281/201:1-18}.

1252 Email at 23.19 on 17 June 2017 {CABO0003152/1}.

1253 Email at 23.19 on 17 June 2017 {CABO0003152/1}.

1254 Email at 15.50 on 16 June 2017 {CAB00002898/1}.

125 Email at 09.22 on 16.06.17 {CAB00001150/1}; Hammond {Day281/166:7-10}.

1256 Email at 18.03 on 17 June 2017 {RBKO0038856/1-3}.

1257 Emails from 17.26 to 20.04 on 18 June 2017 {CAB0O0006308}.
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103.160 Thereafter, No.10 staff continued to be in direct contact with the residents and volunteers
who had spoken to the Prime Minister and became involved in dealing with difficulties
facing individual residents, such as re-housing??*® and the distribution of cash.'?*® The staff
of No.10 were not usually involved in detailed matters of that kind during the response
to an emergency but, given the lack of co-ordination between the government and
the local authority, they clearly felt compelled to respond to the personal concerns of
those affected.?6

103.161 On 19 June 2017, Lorna Gratton and Jamie Cowling both raised the complaints of Walkway
residents with DCLG. At 10.16 on 19 June 2017, Ms Gratton sent an email to DCLG relaying
residents’ complaints about the organisation and responsiveness of the TMO and asking
for proposals for finding out whether they were justified.'?*! By 13.27, Mr Cowling had
informed DCLG that the TMO had sent texts to residents of the Walkways telling them
to return to their homes, despite the fact that front doors were broken and there was
significant dirt and debris from the fire both inside and out. Mr Cowling asked DCLG to let
him know by 17.00 that day when repairs to residents’ doors and cleaning would begin.'?¢?
Following receipt of that email, DCLG sought to investigate how widespread was the
problem of residents being expected to return to properties that did not have functioning
utilities.*?®* At 16.00 on 19 June 2017, questions about the effectiveness of the TMO were
raised at a cross-government meeting for the first time.*?%*

103.162 Although the meetings between the Prime Minister and a select group of residents and
volunteers were seen as constructive and as providing a mechanism by which to identify
problems that had yet to be resolved,'?*> we consider that they demonstrate the lack of
co-ordination between the government and local responders and the extent to which
the concept of resilience based on the principle of subsidiarity failed in the case of the
Grenfell Tower fire.126®

Failures of communication between No. 10 and the Civil
Contingencies Secretariat

103.163 Mr Tallantire’s note headed “Key Points of Discussion with No.10”, produced in the
course of preparing the Civil Contingencies Secretariat’s report entitled Grenfell Tower
tragedy — Lessons for the Central Response,'**” drew attention to a lack of consistent,
reliable data both centrally and locally, difficulties contacting DCLG staff and an assurance
by Dame Melanie Dawes that all was well at DCLG which had all the staff it needed.!?¢®
Although the note contained a positive view of the Civil Contingencies Secretariat, it
identified problems in relation to its communication with No.10. The Prime Minister’s

1258 Emails from 16.11 to 19.24 on 17 June 2017 {CLGO0005331}.

1259 Email at 17.24 on 18 June 2017 {CABO0005730}.

1260 Gratton {CAB00014853/29} page 29, paragraph 79. See also {CLGO0005565/1-2}.

1261 Email at 10.16 on 19 June 2017 {CLG00009261}.

1262 Email at 13.27 on 19 June 2017 {CABO0005619}. See also email at 15.28 on 19 June 2017 {CABO0005564/1}; emails
at 09.29 and 09.37 on 21 June 2017 {CABO0005909/1}.

1263 Emails from 14.02 to 14.15 on 19 June 2017 {CLGO0005583/1-2}. See also email at 17.05 on 19 June 2017
{CLG00005667/2-3}.

1264 Minutes 19 June 2017 {CABO0002741/3-4} paragraph 7.

1265 Email at 18.06 on 19 June 2017 {CABO0006017/1}; email at 22.57 on 18 June 2017 {CABO0006311/1}.

1266 The principle of subsidiarity, by which decisions should be taken at the lowest appropriate level with co-ordination
at the highest necessary level, is outlined in Chapter 99.

1267 {CAB00014768}; Tallantire {CAB0O0014830/9} page 9, paragraph 27.6.

1268 {CAB00014827}; Hammond {Day281/205:15-18}.
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office had been working directly with DCLG on most policy matters as it sought to
get the government’s response under control and often did so without informing the
Civil Contingencies Secretariat of the requests and decisions it had made.*?®°

103.164 At 15.47 on 20 June 2017, No.10 asked for a detailed brief from DCLG containing
a description of the situation on the ground, the latest victim figures and a short
background note on the wider Lancaster West estate.'?’° In response, the private
secretary to the Secretary of State suggested that No.10 talk to colleagues from the
Civil Contingencies Secretariat about the latest numbers, given the pressures on DCLG.
He later explained that that had been a plea to No.10 to use the latest version of the CRIP
as a situation report for the Prime Minister.*?”* No.10’s requests for more information
and briefings created additional reporting mechanisms in parallel with those undertaken
by the Civil Contingencies Secretariat, which added to the pressure on an already
struggling DCLG. It also suggests that No.10 was not getting what it wanted from the
Civil Contingencies Secretariat.

103.165 Mr Tallantire’s “Key Points of Discussion with No.10” proposed that the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat think more about how it could support without getting in the way.'?’? In our
view, it could have given No.10 better information about the emergency response and
recovery arrangements and the options available to the government. At the same time,
No.10 should have taken further steps to ensure that the Civil Contingencies Secretariat
was aware of the requests and decisions it had made and was not kept in the dark.*?”?

103.166 During the days following the fire many of the suggestions for support that were
implemented came from No.10 rather than the Civil Contingencies Secretariat. In a detailed
and reflective analysis at the end of her evidence, Dame Melanie Dawes recognised that
it would have helped the government, and the speed of ministerial decision-making, to
have been clearer about the kind of support that it could provide in different situations
and to consider in greater detail the kinds of action that the government might be asked to
undertake.?’* We agree.

Ministerial intervention and emergency powers

103.167 Dr Farrar told us that government intervention in a local authority could range from a
light-touch approach, under which individuals are deployed to a local authority to work
within a specific department or within the existing leadership team, to the government’s
taking over the running of a local authority, putting in commissioners to run it directly.
However, an intervention of the latter kind takes a number of weeks to implement.
Consequently, although Dame Melanie and Dr Farrar did discuss sending in commissioners,
it would have been hard to do that quickly,'?”> not least because it generally involves taking
over all the functions of the local authority concerned.*?”®

1269 {CAB00014827}.

1270 Email at 15.47 on 20 June 2017 {CAB00001178/2}.
1271 Email at 19.31 on 20 June 2017 {CABO0001178/1}.
1272 {CAB00014827}.

1273 {CAB00014827}.

1274 Dawes {Day285/214:15}-{Day285/215:8}.

1275 Farrar {Day284/100:7}-{Day284/102:20}.

1276 Farrar {Day284/107:21}-{Day284/109:17}.
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103.168 During the period immediately after the fire, the government appears to have thought
that there were no powers readily available to it to intervene directly'?’” and that it was
therefore forced to rely on the power of persuasion??’® and the subsequent appointment of
Mr Barradell. Ms Hammond told us that she had no recollection of any consideration being
given to the powers available to ministers to give directions to Category 1 and Category
2 responders under sections 5(1) and 7 of the Civil Contingencies Act '?”° and we have
seen no evidence to suggest that consideration was given to using the powers to make
emergency regulations under part 2 of the Act.'?®°

103.169 On the morning of Monday 19 June 2017, No.10 proposed developing a new strategy for
national and local resilience in response to major disasters which could include a new
“Civil Disaster Reaction Force”.'?8! That proposal was prompted by concerns, even at
that stage, about the response to the fire, rather than by any considered programme of
work. It indicates the extent of the reflection being undertaken at the highest level and
No.10’s realisation that the government had limited practical ability to intervene to control
events. Mr McGuinness pointed out that local authorities provide assistance to each other
(although not always quickly enough) and that they have the skills to reinforce each other.
He expressed the view that RED was meant to provide the means by which the government
could reinforce and support their action, but that it was underpowered.?8

103.170 In response, Ms Hammond suggested that RED should be enhanced to enable the
government to spot failing local authorities more quickly and ensure that support reached
them and that better mutual aid arrangements should be put in place between local
authorities with the addition of a national deployment mechanism.'?® She envisaged
something similar to the National Police Co-ordination Centre,*?® with a centrally
co-ordinated mechanism receiving a request from one authority for additional support,
finding that support and deploying it.}®> Although a mechanism of that kind might have
accelerated the process of providing mutual aid, it would not have solved the main
difficulty, namely, that RBKC did not realise that it was unable to respond adequately to
the situation that had been created. Reflecting on the Grenfell Tower fire a month later,
Mr Sedwill re-emphasised his view that the government needed a mechanism to take over
control in a crisis before a local authority realised that it could not cope.!%®

103.171 In September 2017 as part of a National Security Capability Review the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat was asked in the light of events that had occurred in June 2017 to consider
whether it was possible in law for the government to require a Category 1 responder to
accept national support.*?#

1277 Key points from the discussion between Peter Tallantire and No.10 {CAB00014827}.

1278 Farrar {Day284/107:21}-{Day284/109:17}.

1279 Hammond {Day280/94:2-18}. Dr Farrar accepted that an order under section 5 has to be made by a statutory
instrument, subject to the affirmative resolution procedure and, as such, would have taken considerable time to
implement, Farrar {Day284/146:7}-{Day284/148:12}. Sections 5(1) and 7 of the Act {CABO0004616/7-10}. Ministerial
Intervention under Part 1 of the Act is outlined in Chapter 99.

1280 Sections 19-31 of the Act {CAB00004616/20-28}. Emergency Powers are outlined in Chapter 99.

1281 Email at 08.25 on 19 June 2017 {CABO0002960/2-3}.

1282 Email at 08.40 on 19 June 2017 {CAB00002960/1-2}.

1283 Email at 08.47 on 19 June 2017 {CAB00002960/1}.

1284 Email at 18.42 on 19 June 2017 {CAB00002897/1}.

128 Hammond {Day281/168:7-22}.

1286 Email at 07.37 on 17 July 2017 {CAB00002910/1}.

1287 \Workstream 4 of the National Security Capability Review dated 28 September 2017 {CABO0007084/10}
paragraph 32.
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Failing to activate COBR

103.172 We heard from Ms Hammond that none of the meetings to which we have referred were
held under the auspices of COBR!%8 When asked about the many contemporaneous
references to COBR?® and whether they indicated a degree of confusion about whether
the process had been activated or not, Ms Hammond told us that they were simply
administrative errors.}° Ms Hammond also sought to explain references to COBR on the
basis that, from 16 June 2017, the Taskforce meetings were held in the rooms in which
COBR meetings are often held.'”®* When asked why emails from Dame Melanie Dawes and
Mr Sedwill referred to a Taskforce meeting as a COBR meeting,'?*? she maintained that
there had been no confusion and that it was just a shorthand for a meeting of that type.!*%

103.173 A considerable part of Ms Hammond’s evidence was spent clarifying the meaning and
relevance of the reference to COBR. She explained that a parallel version of COBR was not
operating,*?** and her firm position throughout was that exactly the same things were done
as would have been done if COBR had been formally activated.?*®

103.174 Formally activating COBR represents the government’s highest level of response.
Mr Hurd told us that it would have been appropriate to call a meeting at a more senior
level from the start.?® In this case, formally activating COBR would have emphasised the
gravity of the incident and would have resulted in more senior ministers chairing the early
cross-government meetings.'?” However, whether that would have made any material
difference is debatable. The scale and urgency of the government’s response increased
significantly when the Prime Minister took over the meetings.

103.175 We heard from Dame Melanie that, if the initial cross-government co-ordination meeting
had been chaired at cabinet-level***® or by the Prime Minister, it might have provided
an additional layer of questioning and challenge about the local response to that being
provided by the DCLG and the Home Office.**® In our view, that could have made a
material difference to the way in which the meetings were approached and the actions
arising from them.

103.176 For those outside central government, activating COBR would in itself have been an
important indication to local responders of the likely form of central government
engagement in the initial stages*® and would have given them a signal that central
government oversight was not with junior ministers but with senior cabinet ministers.

1288 Hammond {CAB00014816/8} page 8, paragraph 17.

1289 0n 16 June 2017 Action 11 on the Actions List starts “COBR agreed...” {CAB0O0002727/2}; at 07.08 on 20 June 2017
Lorna Gratton refers to “COBR” in an internal No.10 email {CABO0005733/1}. Further, the Civil Contingencies
Secretariat’s Summary “Grenfell Fire Response (Civil Contingencies Secretariat Internal Lessons) asserted that COBR
was activated on 14 June 2017 and ran until 25 July, when the Ministerial Recovery Group met for the first time,
{CAB00000105/1}.

1290 Hammond {Day281/105:9-11}.

1291 Hammond {Day281/105:17-23}.

1292 Email at 20.26 on 16 June 2017 {CABO0002932/1}; email at 23.47 on 17 June 2017 {CAB00002980/1-2}.

1293 Hammond {Day281/115:23}-{Day281/116:8}; Hammond {Day281/125:12-13}.

1294 Hammond {Day281/202:16-22}.

129 Hammond {Day280/207:17-19}.

129 Hurd {Day282/126:4-10}.

1297 ConOps {CABO0O000026/45} paragraph 4.2(iv).

1298 By a Secretary of State.

1299 Dawes {CLGO0030653/36} page 36, paragraph 119.

1300 \Whitehead {CAB0O0014857/4} page 4, paragraph 15.
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103.177 On 16 June 2017, Dame Melanie told Sir Jeremy Heywood that the new Gold Command
considered the situation to be more complex than that which had followed the London
bombings in 2005. She thought that the Prime Minister should have chaired a COBR
meeting on 14 June 2017.13%! Her message indicates that a reference to COBR resonated
inside as well as outside government. We do not doubt that, but the emphasis, as we see
it, was on the importance of involving the Prime Minister at an early stage.

1301 Email at 19.49 on 16 June 2017 {CLGO0008533}.
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Chapter 104

The response of RBKC

104.1

104.2

104.3

104.4

104.5

Introduction

As the fire in Grenfell Tower continued to rage, hundreds of residents from the tower and
surrounding properties were evacuated from their homes. As a Category 1 responder,
RBKC was responsible for the provision of humanitarian assistance to those displaced.

Its response was guided by its own Contingency Management Plan and the wider civil
contingencies framework described in Chapter 99.

In this chapter we examine the provision of humanitarian assistance, which encompasses
the provision of emergency shelter, food and drink, financial assistance, information about
those who are missing, public communication and the provision of psychological support
to those affected by the incident. RBKC led the response until support from London as

a whole was enlisted through the operation of the Gold Resolution on 16 June 2017.13%
From that point on, John Barradell, as London Gold, led the response. The circumstances in
which he became involved are described in Chapter 102.

Activation of the RBKC Contingency Management Plan

The RBKC Contingency Management Plan provided that if an incident occurred out

of hours, the out of hours contact centre should contact the duty Silver,*% who was
responsible for determining the level of the initial council response and initiating the
call-out procedures.®* Levels of response were graded from 1 to 3, level 3 being the most
serious and requiring the setting up of a Borough Emergency Control Centre (BECC) at
Kensington Town Hall.130>

At 02.03 on 14 June 2017, the police informed RBKC of the Grenfell Tower fire using
the out of hours service.’* Nickolas Layton, the duty officer, alerted David Kerry at
02.21.13% He told Mr Kerry that many had been able to leave the tower but that some
people remained trapped and that casualties were expected.'*%® As the council did not
have anyone on call to act as duty Silver due to staff shortages, Mr Kerry took on the
responsibility of determining the level of response required.’*%

Mr Kerry realised that the incident was serious but he did not formally categorise it by
reference to the Contingency Management Plan.’*!° He remained at home and assumed
the role of Borough Emergency Controller, whose task was to co-ordinate the council’s

1302 See above at Chapter 101.

1303 RBKC Contingency Management Plan {RBKO0004396/33}.

1304 RBKC Contingency Management Plan {RBKO0004396/30} page 30, paragraph 4.1.
1305 RBKC Contingency Management Plan {RBKO0004396/31-37}.

1306 phase 1 Report, Volume I, paragraph 14.272.

1307 Emergency Event Log Sheet for Grenfell {RBKO0013296/1}.

1398 Emergency Event Log Sheet for Grenfell {RBK00013296/1}.

1309 Kerry {Day268/187:4-17}.

1310 Kerry {Day268/189:19-24}.
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response. (At the time, the term “Borough Emergency Controller” was being replaced by
the term “Council Silver”, and the two were used interchangeably.'*'! We shall use the term
“Council Silver”.)

104.6  Mr Kerry proceeded on the basis that the response should be at level 2 rather than level 3,
the highest level.3*? Later in the morning the severity of the incident became clearer
to him and the response moved up to level 3.1313 The effect of his initial assessment,
however, was that he did not open the Borough Emergency Control Centre (BECC) at
the outset.’®* He accepted in hindsight that he initially underestimated the scale of the
response required.'3%

104.7  Mr Kerry’s first step was to contact Laura Johnson, RBKC'’s Director of Housing, at 02.34.13¢
Ms Johnson contacted Robert Black, the chief executive of the TMO,*!” and sent an
email to her housing team at 02.53 telling them of the fire and alerting them to the likely
need for a considerable amount of emergency accommodation the following day.!3®
Although Mr Kerry did not look at the TMO emergency plan,** he said that he had been
aware that the TMO would attend the scene to assist RBKC.13%°

104.8 At 02.50 Mr Kerry contacted his line manager, Stuart Priestley, RBKC’s Chief Community
Safety Officer. They agreed that the situation should be monitored from home until
further information was available.’*** Shortly after that call, Mr Priestley became aware of
the scale of the incident, having seen an email with images of the fire sent at 02.25 by a
former LFB borough commander which said “You have a massive fire, Grenfell Tower” 1322
Mr Priestly tried to contact Mr Kerry and managed to speak to him at 03.31, over an
hour after Mr Kerry had been told of the fire. They decided that the full contingency
management plan should be put into action, that staff should be called in to the
Town Hall and that work should be transferred from the BECC (in effect, Mr Kerry) to the
Town Hall.13?3 The effect was to raise the level of the response and to proceed on the basis
of a level 3 response.

104.9 Nevertheless, some time elapsed before Mr Kerry set about calling staff, in particular
those in the Contingency Planning Unit, into the Town Hall. At 04.09 he rang Keith Robins,
the contingency management officer, but received no answer.’** At 04.13 he rang
Elaine Chumnery, a BECC officer, who returned his call at 04.49 and agreed to go to the
Town Hall to support Mr Priestley in opening the BECC.'*?> He rang Rebecca Blackburn
at 05.23 and asked her to go in to the Town Hall at 08.00 to take over from him.13%¢

1311 Kerry {Day268/190:15-20}.

1312 Kerry {Day268/190:15}-{Day268/192:5}; RBKC Contingency Management Plan {RBK0O0004396/33}: A level 2 response
requires the Duty Silver to become the controller, working from home. The Department and Service management
are called out to respond. A level 3 response requires the Duty Silver to remain at home acting as controller until
the Borough Emergency Control Centre (BECC) is opened and staffed.

1313 Kerry {Day268/192:6-25}.

131 The role of the Borough Emergency Control Centre (BECC) is to oversee and co-ordinate the council’s incident
response Kerry {RBKO0033579/8} page 8, paragraph 29.

1315 Kerry {Day268/195:10-24}.

1316 Emergency log sheet for Grenfell {RBK00013296/1}.

137 | aura Johnson {RBKO0035592/5} page 5, paragraph 15.

1318 {RBKO0O001606}.

1319 Kerry {Day268/136:12-17}.

1320 Kerry {Day268/132:2-18}.

1321 priestley {RBKO0035672/4} page 4, paragraph 14.

1322 priestley {RBKO0035672/4} page 4, paragraph 15.

1323 priestley {Day270/15:19-25}.

1324 Emergency event log sheet {RBKO0013296/4}.

1325 Emergency event log sheet {RBK00013296/5}.

1326 Emergency event log sheet {RBK00013296/7}.
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She arrived at the Town Hall at about 07.20. It is unclear whether the delay was due to

Mr Kerry’s failing to grasp the urgency of the situation or whether he was struggling to deal
with the number of demands on him at the time. It is likely that it was a combination of
both, as Mr Kerry was seeking to stagger the attendance of staff to ensure that some were
available to work later in the day.’*?” However, in failing to obtain support from other staff
at an earlier stage, he placed himself in an impossible position in seeking to discharge all
his duties as Council Silver.

104.10 The delay in calling in staff and activating the BECC were compounded by problems in
obtaining access to the facilities within the Town Hall. Although Stuart Priestley arrived
at the Town Hall at 04.38, he was unable to find the key to the cupboard containing the
telephones and computer equipment.’*?® He sent an email to Mr Kerry at 05.25 with
the subject “Can you come PDQ. We cannot get into the cupboards.”*** There was a
further delay of about an hour and a quarter until Mr Kerry arrived with the key at about
06.00.1%%° RBKC have since installed a key box to prevent something similar happening
in the future.’3**

104.11 Mr Kerry did not follow the protocol for the activation of the Contingency Management
Plan. In particular, he should have contacted staff earlier, because there was too much
for one person to do in the time available. Although it is easy to criticise with the
benefit of hindsight, we think that Mr Kerry should have realised that as soon as he was
warned about the risk of fatalities, and even more so as information began to come in
about residents being evacuated from surrounding properties. At all events, the BECC
was not operational at the Town Hall until about 06.00 on 14 June 2017; it should have
been opened between about 03.00 and 04.00.1*? That was a substantial delay that had
significant consequences for RBKC’s response, not least in identifying the number and
location of the rest centres that had by then opened spontaneously. As hundreds of
displaced people poured onto the streets of North Kensington in need of support, RBKC
was already many hours behind in assessing and meeting those needs. We are reinforced
in that view by the evidence of members of the Contingency Planning Unit whose own
assessment of the initial response was that by the time the BECC opened RBKC had already
lost control of the incident.’3*

The involvement of Nicholas Holgate

104.12 Nicholas Holgate, town clerk and chief executive of RBKC, visited North Kensington
early on the morning of 14 June 2017. He found the scale and ferocity of the fire deeply
shocking.’*** He visited the rest centres at the Harrow Club and Rugby Portobello Trust
sometime between 04.30 and 06.00 and thought they were functioning properly.*3> Still
at the scene, he did not dial into the first meeting of the strategic co-ordinating group at

1327 Kerry {Day268/208:2-9}.

1328 priestley {Day270/16:18-21}.

1329 priestley {Day270/19:7-11}; {RBKO0035661}.

1330 priestley {Day270/17:23}-{Day270/19:6}.

1331 Kerry {Day269/14:5-10}.

1332 Blackburn {Day270/127:22}-{Day270/128:18}.

1333 Blackburn {Day270/140:9-15}.

1334 Holgate {RBKO0035426/4} page 4, paragraph 19.

1335 Holgate {RBKO0035426/4} page 4, paragraph 19; Holgate {Day273/48:10-11}.
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05.00,%*%* since, as he told us, he had not been told about it.}**” John Hetherington, deputy
head of planning, London Resilience, told us that the absence of the chief executive was
not desirable, but in his experience not altogether unusual.'*%

104.13 Mr Holgate arrived at the Town Hall at about 06.00 and had a meeting with Mr Kerry,
Ms Johnson, Mr Priestley and Robert Black. It is unclear at what time that meeting was
held. Mr Priestley said that it had taken place at 06.30,***° although Mr Kerry thought
that it had taken place at 10.00.1*° Notwithstanding that difference of recollection, it
is clear that there was a meeting that morning at which Mr Kerry provided significant
advice to Mr Holgate. Mr Kerry’s log records that he advised him that the incident was
bigger than any one local authority in London could manage and that consideration
should be given to asking for mutual aid for the BECC. The log further records that there
were people who could support Mr Holgate and RBKC Gold, including John Barradell,
Eleanor Kelly, Andrew Meek (head of organisational resilience at the London Borough
of Haringey and London’s expert on humanitarian assistance) and Alistair Ayres from
Hammersmith and Fulham. 3

104.14 Mr Kerry’s advice was based on his concern that there were insufficient RBKC staff to keep
the BECC running for an extended period.***’ He believed at the time, and maintained
his view when giving evidence, that none of London’s local authorities could have coped
with the incident on their own, given its scale.’*** He told us that it was clear to him that it
was massive and that it was for such incidents that there were mutual aid arrangements
in place that he believed were well understood and practised. He told us that it was for
the RBKC Gold strategic meeting to consider what resources were required. Once that
assessment had been made, they would have been able to activate the London Gold
arrangements, if necessary.*** We accept his evidence about that.

104.15 Mr Priestley recorded in his log that in response to David Kerry’s advice Mr Holgate had
said “That looks like we can’t cope”.’** Mr Holgate did not recall making that comment,
but he did not dispute the accuracy of Mr Priestley’s note.***® Mr Holgate did not agree
with the view that the incident was bigger than any one local authority could manage.'3*
Despite the advice of Mr Kerry, he thought that RBKC would be able to respond effectively,
if everyone worked together as a team.’**® He denied being influenced by a need to
preserve the council’s reputation.’** We are satisfied that the comment recorded by
Mr Priestley accurately reflected Mr Holgate’s state of mind. In our view his attitude was
defensive and his confidence in RBKC’s ability to manage the response was misplaced. It
became more pronounced as it persisted into the following day, 15 June 2017.13>°

1336 Mr Kerry and Mr Priestley attended as RBKC’s representatives. Minutes of the Strategic Coordinating Group Meeting
at 05.00 on 14 June 2017 {MOLO0000026/3}.

1337 Holgate {Day273/55:14}-{Day273/56:9}; Kerry {Day269/51:12}-{Day269/52:7}.

1338 Hetherington {Day277/189:8-14}.

1339 priestley {Day270/22: 9}-{Day 270/24:20}.

1340 Kerry Emergency Event Log 10.00 {RBKO0013296/10}; Kerry {Day269/99:15}-{Day269/100:3}.

1341 Kerry Emergency Event Log 10.00 {RBK00013296/10}; Kerry {Day269/99:15}-{Day269/100:3}.

1342 Kerry {Day269/100:4-9}.

1343 Kerry {Day269/100:10-24}.

1344 Kerry {Day269/104:24}-{Day269/105:4}.

1345 Priestley Log {RBK00013318/2}.

1346 Holgate {Day273/69:7-12}.

1347 Holgate {Day273/66:14-19}.

1348 Holgate {Day273/67:6-9}.

1349 Holgate {Day273/72:9-18}.

1350 RBKC Gold group meeting at 11.00 on 14 June 2017 {RBK0O0013271/4}; and 10.00 on 15 June 2017. {RBKO0013270/3}.
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104.16 Following the meeting of the RBKC Gold group at 10.00 on 15 June 2017, Ms Blackburn told
Mr Holgate and Tony Redpath that they needed to seek assistance from other London
boroughs and activate the London Gold arrangements.**>! Her view was that RBKC
was not coping and that there were not enough members of staff to support the
response.'**? Mr Holgate and Mr Redpath both told her that the council could manage.’**?
Ms Blackburn’s impression was that senior management at RBKC was reluctant to seek
help.1>* In her view, either they could not see what those on the ground were seeing or
they could not cope and chose not to see it.}3>*> Ms Blackburn told us that, having been
in the BECC for two days, she ought to have been able to provide a clear picture of what
was happening on the ground, but could not. That internal view was consistent with
the concerns that were beginning to emerge on 15 June 2017 in the media, the London
resilience agencies and the government.

The Borough Emergency Control Centre (BECC)

104.17 The BECC was the key element in the council’s organisation in the days immediately
following the fire. Despite the best efforts of those who volunteered to staff the BECC
on the morning of 14 June 2017, it was overwhelmed by the incident.’**® It struggled
throughout the period in which RBKC led the humanitarian response before handing over
leadership to John Barradell during the afternoon of 16 June 2017. The circumstances in
which that occurred are described in Chapter 102.

104.18 The computer equipment used by the BECC was outdated and slow. It was due for
replacement but that had not taken place by the time of the fire.’**” Problems which
had arisen in previous training exercises recurred. At the outset, it was not possible to
obtain access to the system for logging information and technical assistance was needed
to solve the problem.**>® That affected the ability of the BECC to function efficiently, not
least because staff could not open a log to enter tasks and chart progress. Although he
could have done so remotely, Mr Kerry had not created an electronic log at the outset.
If he had done so, it would have been available to others within the BECC later.**°
Ms Blackburn eventually opened one at 13.18 on 14 June 2017, almost eleven hours
after RBKC had been informed of the fire.?*° As a result, important decisions taken in the
previous hours had not been electronically logged.

104.19 Between 07.00 and 07.30 on 14 June 2017 David Kerry, as the first Council Silver and
thus the person responsible for co-ordinating RBKC'’s overall response,’*** transferred his
duties as Council Silver to Stuart Priestley.'*%2 Mr Kerry did not provide him with a copy of
his handwritten log (the electronic log was not yet open) and the handover was limited in
detail.*® That was partly a reflection of Mr Kerry’s failure to appreciate the scale of the
incident and partly the result of his being by that stage mentally and physically overcome

1351 Blackburn {Day270/179:22}-{Day270/180:17}.

1352 Blackburn {Day270/181:6-8}.

1353 Blackburn {Day270/181:5}.

1354 Blackburn {Day270/180:7-11}.

1355 Blackburn {Day270/181:6-8}.

1356 Blackburn {Day270/138:4-20}; RBKC Module 4 Closing Submissions {RBKO0068546/11} page 11, paragraph 30.
1357 Kerry {Day269/23:22}-{Day269/26:6}.

1358 Blackburn {RBKO0058170/14} page 14, paragraph 9.10.

1359 Kerry {Day269/22:7-18}.

1360 Blackburn {RBKOO058170/14} page 14, paragraph 9.8; Blackburn {Day270/155:4-19}.

1361 {RBKO0004396/31}.

1362 priestley {Day270/34:20}-{Day270/35:1}; {Day270/35:22}-{Day270/36:10}; Kerry {Day269/62:2-13}.
1363 Kerry {Day269/22:20}-{Day269/23:4}.
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by the incident.’*** He was uncertain about the number and locations of the rest centres
that had opened during the morning and did not know how many displaced people were at
them. At that stage RBKC had not sent any staff to the rest centres.’3®

104.20 A constant feature throughout the period in which RBKC led the humanitarian response
was the shortage of trained staff to operate the BECC. Untrained volunteers from
elsewhere in RBKC were drafted in to assist.**® Mr Kerry, an experienced contingency
planning manager, worked nights and was not available during the day when his advice
was most needed. The burden of leading the operational response during the day fell
on Mr Priestley. Although he was a trained Council Silver and Mr Kerry’s manager, he
had never previously held that role in an emergency.!**’ A further consequence of the
staff shortages was that Mr Priestley had to manage the BECC in addition to acting as
Council Silver.

104.21 By the evening of 14 June 2017 Mr Priestley thought that RBKC needed more help at
every level of the response.’**® When he returned to the BECC on the morning of 15 June
2017 it was just as he had left it the previous evening. Both he and Rebecca Blackburn
had expected more to have been done overnight by Mr Kerry, who had taken over as
Council Silver, such as completing a rota for the rest centre, tidying up the BECC log and
creating a strategy for the coming day.***® Mr Kerry confirmed that Council Silver was
responsible for developing the tactical plan for responding to an emergency.*° In our view
the absence of coherent strategic and tactical plans hindered the response.

104.22 By 15June 2017, it had become apparent that RBKC was unable to provide effective
assistance. Mark Sawyer visited the Town Hall on the morning of 15 June 2017 to provide
support.r*”t His observations provided an important external insight into how RBKC was
coping with the challenge facing it. Mr Sawyer considered that the BECC was failing; it
did not have a clear picture of the situation in North Kensington and no situation report
had been produced.'®*”? (A situation report is vital to enable information to be shared
with the Gold group internally and with the strategic co-ordinating group or London Local
Authority Co-ordination Centre externally when needed.) The first situation report was not
produced until 07.00 on 16 June 2017.137* Mr Sawyer’s observations echoed Ms Blackburn’s
description of the BECC as lacking any organisation.'*’* We consider that the inability of
RBKC throughout that period to obtain, maintain and record in full information about
the situation was a significant failing and delayed support being directed to those
who were in need.

104.23 Mr Sawyer spent most of 15 June 2017 with Nicholas Holgate and attended the RBKC
Gold group meetings.'*”> His immediate concern was that RBKC had not been galvanised
into a proper response.’®’® He also advised Mr Holgate, following the meeting of the RBKC

1364 Sawyer {GOLO0001349/14} page 14, paragraph 70; Kerry {Day269/170:5-14}.

1365 | qura Johnson {Day272/46:6-13}.

1366 Kerry {Day269/63:21}-{Day269/64:16}; Priestley {Day270/40:13}-{Day270/41:4}.

1367 priestley {RBKO0035672/3} page 3, paragraph 11; Priestley {Day270/7:11-20}; {Day270/11:11-13}; {Day270/12:8-14}.

1368 Priestley {Day270/71:4-14}.

1369 priestley {Day270/72:4}-{Day270/73:16}; Blackburn {Day270/173:6-14}.

1370 Kerry {Day268/59:2-5}.

1371 The circumstances in which he attended RBKC are examined in Chapter 102 when considering the London-
wide response.

1372 Email from Mr Sawyer to himself on 1 July 2017 {GOL00001301} paragraph 6.

1373 RBKC BECC Situation Report No.1, 16 June 2017 {RBKO0O015017}.

1374 {RBKO0029019/2} page 2, paragraph 3; Blackburn {Day270/138:1}-{Day270/139:19}.

1375 RBKC Gold Group meeting on 15 June 2017 at 10.00 {RBK00013270} and at 15.30 {RBK00013262}; Sawyer
{GOLO0001349/14-15} pages 14-15, paragraphs 69-76.

1376 {GOL00001301} paragraph 2.
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Gold group at 10.00 on 15 June 2017, to limit membership of the Gold group to his senior
management team and tactical lead officer (Silver) to ensure that discussions were more
strategic, as he thought that the meetings had concentrated too much on operational
matters.*”” Mr Sawyer thought that Mr Kerry had been traumatised and had ceased to be
in a position to influence the strategic direction of the response.'*’®

Emergency shelter and accommodation

104.24 The aim of the Humanitarian Assistance framework is to ensure that care is delivered in an
effective way that meets the needs of those affected by a major emergency.**” It provides
that a rest centre can be opened when a significant number of people have been displaced
following an incident.’*® A rest centre is a building opened by a local authority for the
temporary accommodation of people who have been displaced. It is a place where
immediate practical and emotional support may be offered. It is a place of refuge and
support for those affected or displaced by an emergency and is often the first point of
contact that affected persons have with the authorities. The local authority is responsible
for opening and running designated rest centres in the wake of an emergency.'*®!

104.25 RBKC failed to open suitable rest centres in the early morning of 14 June 2017 to meet the
needs of the growing number of people displaced from Grenfell Tower and the surrounding
properties. Mr Kerry did not refer to the Contingency Management Plan to identify an
appropriate centre from the directory annexed to it.!*? Instead, he accepted an offer from
a member of the public to use Belushi’s Bar in Shepherd’s Bush that could provide shelter
for up to 100 people.*3 However, he failed to assess its suitability. Belushi’s Bar was not
on RBKC’s list of approved premises and was about a mile from the scene of the fire.'*%
That alone made it an unusual choice for a rest centre in an urban area.!®>

104.26 At 03.16 David Kerry called the Red Cross into action at Belushi’s Bar under the
Memorandum of Understanding.!®¢ Its staff arrived at 03.45.2%” By contrast, no RBKC staff
were deployed to support them or to manage the rest centre. By 05.30, no one affected
by the fire had gone to Belushi’s Bar'*® and Mr Kerry made the decision to close it as a rest
centre.!® |t was unusual for a rest centre to be empty for almost two and a half hours after
it had been opened and it is clear that it was the wrong place to choose.'*® That signalled
a false start from which RBKC struggled to recover. Vital Red Cross resources were diverted
from the immediate area and further time was lost in getting help to those most in need.

1377 Sawyer {GOL00001349/14-15} pages 14-15, paragraph 73.

1378 {GOL00001301} paragraph 3.

1379 L ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBK00011313/4} page 4, paragraph 1.1.

1380 | ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBK00011313/20} page 20, table 3.

1381 | ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBK00011313/24} page 24, paragraph 8.15:
“The decision to set up a rest centre will be made by the Local Authority often at the request of the police or
fire brigade.”

1382 Contingency Management Plan, Emergency Shelter and Rest Centre Directory, Annex 15 {RBK0O0048005}.

138 David Kerry’s Emergency Log {RBK00028849/1}.

1384 {CAB00003753}; {LFB00119615}.

138 Spragg {Day280/23:10-18}.

1386 Memorandum of Understanding between the British Red Cross and RBKC, 27 November 2015 {BRCO0000055}; It
had lapsed at the time of the Grenfell Tower fire but the British Red Cross confirmed that that would have made no
difference to their attendance, Spragg {Day280/13:24}-{Day280/14:2}.

1387 British Red Cross Emergency Log {BRCO0O000051/4}.

1388 British Red Cross Emergency Log {BRCO0000051/4}.

1389 Kerry {Day269/46:21}-{Day269/47:2}.

1390 Spragg {Day280/23:7-13}.
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104.27 Mr Kerry accepted that the Humanitarian Assistance framework set out the responsibilities
of RBKC in relation to setting up rest centres, but he did not accept that its reliance on the
Red Cross to do that was an abdication of its responsibility as a Category 1 responder.!3!
We accept that local authorities are entitled to make use of others to discharge their
functions and frequently do so, but, as Mr Kerry himself accepted,***> RBKC should have
had its own staff at the rest centres to monitor and supervise the Red Cross.

104.28 On the morning of 14 June 2017 information about the existence and location of rest
centres spread by word of mouth alone. The result was that those affected by the fire had
to endure the stressful experience of going to different rest centres to find information
and support.’®3 The Harrow Club spontaneously opened in the early hours of the morning
and soon after that, at about 03.30, it was formally adopted by RBKC as the second
rest centre.®** The Harrow Club was on RBKC’s list of approved rest centres. It was a
long-established youth club with a large sports hall, located approximately half a mile
from Grenfell Tower. Additional Red Cross staff arrived at 04.55 and recorded that there
were about 25 people there.** TMO staff arrived at 05.30 but there was no one from
RBKC there.'*® From 05.30 the Red Cross asked RBKC several times over a period of some
five hours for information about when its staff would come to the rest centres to provide
support.’*¥” The absence of its staff from the various community rest centres in the hours
that followed the fire was a prominent feature of the council’s early response.

104.29 The Rugby Portobello Trust is a local charity group whose building is situated about 400
yards from Grenfell Tower.**®® On 14 June 2017 it opened spontaneously as a rest centre.
We heard how people who were shocked, bewildered and in distress started arriving
in large numbers in the early hours of 14 June 2017.1%° At 05.45 the Red Cross became
aware of its existence as a rest centre and notified RBKC. As a result, Mr Kerry decided to
move people from the Harrow Club to the Rugby Portobello Trust.**® However, RBKC did
not send any senior managers or staff there and by 10.30 none of its staff had arrived at
any of the other places of shelter which had opened during the morning to accommodate
the growing number of evacuees.?*! They included the Clement James Centre, the
Latymer Community Church and St. Mark’s Church.'® Its absence was noted by many
survivors and added to the sense that they had been abandoned by the council 4%

104.30 RBKC had a responsibility to register those who went to rest centres seeking support,*®*
but it failed to put in place an adequate registration process, which in turn made it
difficult to identify, organise and deliver the support needed.** The absence of RBKC
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1392 Kerry {Day268/91:7-11}.

1393 Wesley Ignacio {IWS00001820/15} page 15, paragraph 78.
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139 British Red Cross Emergency Log {BRCOO000051/4}.

13% Warrier {TM0O00887108/2} page 2, paragraph 6.

1397 British Red Cross Emergency Log {BRCOO000051/4-6}. See entries 05.30, 06.45, 07.40, 08.15, 09.15, 10.30.

1398 Simms {CFV00000005/2} page 2, paragraphs 7 and 9.

1399 Simms {CFV00000005/4-6} pages 4-6, paragraphs 19-20, 28; William Thompson {IWS00000158/10} page 10,
paragraph 60; Toyoshima-Lewis {IWS00001725/46} page 46, paragraph 154.

1400 British Red Cross Emergency Log {BRCO0O000051/5}.

1401 British Red Cross Emergency Log {BRCO0000051/6}; Spragg {Day280/31:22-24}; Stuart Priestley’s Log 14 June 2017
{RBK00013318/3}.

1402 The operation of spontaneous rest centres run by voluntary and community groups is examined in Chapter 106.

1403 Benjamin {IWS00001764/10} page 10, paragraph 69; Senate Jones {IWS00001691/2} page 2, paragraphs 5-6;
Wesley Ignacio {IWS00001820/14} page 14, paragraph 75.

1404 Spragg {Day280/16:11-15}.

1405 Adamson {BRCO0000075/27} page 27, paragraph 124.
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staff at the rest centres in those crucial early stages directly affected the effectiveness of
the registration process. It was left to the TMO,**° the Red Cross and various voluntary
organisations to fill the gap and make whatever arrangements they could.

104.31 Inthe absence of effective leadership there was no organised and integrated record of
where people were and what they needed. The Red Cross tried using paper registration
forms. At 04.55, its team arrived at the Harrow Club and found that the staff there had
started to make a list of who was present and had given representatives of the TMO
forms to register residents.'” However, the number of rest centres that had sprung into
existence, some with no Red Cross presence, made the process haphazard.'**® There was
no system for recording information electronically; instead, everyone relied on loose
pieces of paper with handwritten notes that were circulated among responders and staff
from the TMO.%% Even when the Westway Centre became the official rest centre later on
the 14 June 2017,**1° the process of recording and handling information about residents
remained rudimentary. People were just asked by the Red Cross to provide a note of their
names and the numbers of their flats.4!!

104.32 Significantly, in the early days of the response the registration that did take place did not
appear to be collated and recorded centrally by RBKC. The starkest illustration of that was
recalled by Mr Colin Brown, a senior Red Cross official, who said that the details of those
who had registered were recorded using triple carbon paper, one copy being retained
and the other two copies being provided to RBKC.***2 RBKC did not ask them to put the
information onto any electronic system or collate it in any other way. He recalled that, in
the first few days while RBKC was still notionally in charge of the response, a Red Cross
volunteer had found a box containing copies of several registration forms intended for
RBKC unattended at the Westway Centre. He did not think that RBKC had made any effort
to collate the data and arranged for his concerns to be reported to it.

104.33 Registration continued to present problems until 22 June 2017, even after London Gold
had taken over management of the response.?*!* Without a coherent registration process,
it was difficult to identify who had been affected, what their needs were and how best
to respond to them. It was also sometimes unclear where those who had been affected
actually were.*#*

104.34 As the hours passed on the morning of 14 June 2017, no RBKC staff were sent to the rest
centres. At the Town Hall, RBKC housing staff were being made ready for deployment
as the BECC struggled to find out how many rest centres there were and how many of
those who were at them had been affected by the fire.***> It was thanks to the initiative of
Ms Blackburn®#!® that at about 10.00 RBKC housing staff were sent to the Rugby Portobello
Trust and the Clement James Centre.**!’

1406 The work of the TMO in compiling lists of the ‘missing’ and ‘survivors’, including the significant errors that occurred,
is examined in Chapter 105.

1407 British Red Cross Emergency log, 04.55{BRCO0000051/4}.
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1409 Rypinder Hardy’s Personal Briefing Document {LBEOO0O00056/2} 17-18 June 2017: “All documentation was paper
based in terms of residents/staff/volunteers on site”.

1410 Kerry {Day269/189:1-6}.
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1418 Blackburn {RBKO0035364/5} page 5, paragraph 22.

1417 | aura Johnson {RBKO0035592/8} page 8, paragraph 33.
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104.35 LauraJohnson, Director of Housing at RBKC, said that the delay in sending people to
North Kensington had been caused not only by a shortage of staff at the Town Hall but also
by a lack of information about which rest centres were being used.**!® A further hindrance
to the deployment of staff was the fact that several of the rest centres had been opened
spontaneously by the community.*** It was difficult to co-ordinate the emergency response
in the absence of a single official rest centre whose existence and location could be
widely communicated.'#?

104.36 Ultimately, council staff did not reach any of the rest centres for some eight hours after
RBKC had been notified of the fire. That was far too long. In our view, the strategic
decisions taken at the outset by Mr Kerry as Council Silver failed to reflect the seriousness
and scale of the emergency. There was a consequent lack of urgency, direction and,
ultimately, co-ordination. Given that staff from the TMO were present at rest centres from
an early stage, contact could and should have been made with them to find out how many
displaced persons were there and how many staff were required. RBKC employees should
have been called in to the Town Hall earlier to ensure there were sufficient staff available
to be sent to the rest centres.**?! Both Ms Blackburn!*?? and Mr Priestley!*?® considered that
they should have been despatched four hours earlier, at about 06.30.14%*

104.37 The delay in sending out RBKC staff left the Red Cross and members of the community who
voluntarily opened their premises without support and without information about how the
response was being led. That made it difficult for them to know who was in charge, what
was needed or what was going to be brought to the rest centres to enable them to direct
people to the right source of support.?4?®

The Westway Centre

104.38 The Westway Centre is a large sports and fitness centre that opened spontaneously as a
rest centre in the early hours of 14 June 2017.24?¢ |t was not until later in the afternoon
on 14 June 2017 that RBKC decided to consolidate the rest centres and designate the
Westway Centre as the one official location.**?” At a meeting of the RBKC Gold group at
15.00%28 that day it was confirmed that it would remain open overnight. At that stage
RBKC was trying to determine how many people needed to be accommodated. By then,
30 households had been identified in the Clement James Centre, but no information was
available from the other rest centres, despite the presence of TMO staff.14?°

104.39 The decision to concentrate the provision of humanitarian assistance in one place was
standard practice and viewed in isolation was a reasonable decision.'**° However, the
failure of communications led to a situation in which many who needed support did not
know they should go to Westway Centre or what support was available there.
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1428 RBKC Gold Meeting Minutes, 14 June 2017 at 15.00 {RBK00013272/2}.

1429 RBKC Gold Meeting Minutes, 14 June 2017 at 15.00 {RBK00013272/2}.

1430 priestley {RBKO0035672/9} page 9, paragraph 39: “It was a challenge to communicate with the many number
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104.40 Unfortunately, the Westway Centre was not very readily accessible to many of those who
were in need of support.’*3* Some survivors told us that they had been asked to provide
identification and of having to sneak into the building if they could not provide it.43?
Wristbands were introduced as a method of verifying the identity of those who had been
displaced.’** As we have said in Chapter 100, the Westway Centre was described, both
by those who went there and by the professionals who were there to support them, as
unwelcoming. There was a visible police cordon at the entrance which in the words of
one witness made it look like a “crime scene”.**** Although the police needed to maintain
a presence in the light of the significant media interest, its effect, albeit unintentional,
was to deter people who needed support from attending it or visiting it as often as
they needed to.

104.41 The interior of the Westway Centre was described as chaotic and confusing, with a lack
of signs to assist visitors.'*3> Survivors described it as uncomfortable**® and impersonal**’
and there were concerns about inadequate sleeping arrangements. Some of those who
had been displaced were sleeping on mats or mattresses donated to the relief effort.'4#
Coupled with a lack of privacy,'** cleanliness and facilities for disposing of rubbish,**° that
demonstrated an inability on the part of those responsible for its management to create an
environment that was appropriate and welcoming.

104.42 The problems at the Westway Centre were due in a large part to the lack of leadership and
organisation.'**! RBKC had no visible presence and the absence of senior RBKC staff and
qualified rest centre managers was a constant theme among those who gave evidence.
RBKC was reliant on volunteers from within its own staff and on staff from neighbouring
boroughs to act as rest centre managers. The point was raised at the RBKC Gold group
meeting on 15 June 2017.1%*? The absence of leadership at the Westway Centre left the
Red Cross and the many volunteers at the centre without the support they needed.

104.43 The perception that RBKC staff were not present at the Westway Centre endured.
On 17 June 2017, volunteers were complaining that RBKC was not helping and that they
were doing everything.'** The perception was not entirely justified, but it was exacerbated
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{RBK00013262/3}: “NA said the WSC needs a Senior Manager and a Rest Centre Manager. BECC working on a rota
for Rest Centre Manager. Senior officers thin on ground but will think about this”.

1443 {| BEOO000014/1}.

121



The Grenfell Tower Inquiry: Phase 2 Report

by the lack of identifying tabards for staff to wear.**** The result was that it was difficult to
distinguish RBKC staff among the many volunteers and others who were there. We were
told that senior managers of RBKC had told staff not to wear tabards or lanyards out of a
concern for their safety.**

Change of leadership

104.44 Shortly after leadership of the humanitarian response had passed to London Gold,**®
Rupinder Hardy, a local authority liaison officer (LALO) from the London Borough of Ealing,
attended the Westway Centre which at that point was still being managed by RBKC.
Although Ms Hardy recognised that there would inevitably be an element of chaos, given
the number of people involved,'**’ she did not find the Westway Centre a welcoming
space where responders and services could easily be identified.**® She described it as a
“shambles” and not what she was used to seeing from a local authority.*** She told us that
the help desks were a jumble and that it was difficult to know what was going on and what
support was being offered. She raised her concerns with Mr Barradell and Ms Kelly,***°
who by that time were leading the response. As a result, they decided to transfer the
management of the Westway Centre to the London Borough of Ealing. That took effect
on 17 June 2017, when Ms Hardy assumed the role of manager and brought in a team
from her borough.#!

104.45 Ms Hardy sought to improve the process for providing support at the Westway Centre.#>?
The new process included placing the service stalls in a U-shape, allowing people to come
in from one side and work their way round the services that were being offered in order
to receive the support, advice and help they required.}*>* Community workers reported
that families were not going to the Westway Centre because they found the process of
obtaining support difficult due to long queues, much paperwork and an unwelcoming
atmosphere.'** Clare Richards, chief executive officer of the Clement James Centre, told us
that although she could understand why the space had been set up as it was (i.e. to allow
people to go from table to table), the reality was that people in a state of distress had to
keep explaining why they were there and why they needed support.?*** She considered
that to be inappropriate and very upsetting for those affected.**® Ms Hardy accepted that

1444 Kerry {RBKO0033579/19} page 19, paragraph 84. Minutes of the SCG meeting at 19.30 on 14 June 2017
{LFB00119322/3}: “David Kerry confirmed that identification tabards were being delivered to Rest Centres for
their staff”.

1445 Health Response Group Meeting, 18 June 2017 at 14.00, {RBKO0035310/3}. Email from Ann Ramage, Head of
Environmental Health for commercial services of RBKC and LBHF, updating on the Westway Centre on 17 June 2017
{RBKO0O005539}.

1446 Hardy {Day276/3:14}-{Day276/4:4}, Hardy {LBEO0000025/7} page 7, paragraph 39; Email from Rupinder Hardy at
09.36 on 17 June 2017 {LBEOOOO0004}.

1447 Hardy {Day276/114:22}-{Day276/115:5}.

1448 Hardy {Day276/14:2}-{Day276/16:15}.

1449 Hardy {LBEOO0O0O0025/11} page 11, paragraph 57.

1450 Hardy {LBEOO0O00025/10} page 10, paragraphs 45-46; Email from Eleanor Kelly {GOLO0000372} attaching notes of
the meeting between John Barradell, Eleanor Kelly and Rupinder Hardy on 17 June 2017 {LBEOOOOOO055}.

1451 Hardy {LBEOOO00025/10} page 10, paragraph 48; Paul Najsarek was the Chief Executive of the London Borough
of Ealing. Hardy {Day276/53:12-21}: 40 members of staff deployed from Ealing. Hardy {LBEO0000025/14} page 14,
paragraph 73: “The number of staff deployed by Ealing, in the region of 197 officers from the 17-22 June 2017".

1452 Hardy {LBEOO000025/19} page 19, paragraph 98.

1453 Hardy {Day276/77:3}-{Day276/78:3}; Rupinder Hardy’s photographs taken during her deployment as LALO at the
Rest Centre {LBEOOOO0O51}.

1454 Email at 15.19 on 20 June 2017 from Sarah Mail (WCC) to RBKC, {RBKO0012356/1} page 1, paragraph 1;
{CLG00021227}.

1455 Richards {Day275/151:9-21}.

1456 Richards {Day275/151:2-8}.
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the process was harrowing. She told us that one thing she had learned was that a process
in which personal information was collected at a single point and then distributed to those
providing the emergency response would have been better.?%>’

104.46 Despite the efforts and generosity of those who ran the Westway Centre and the many
volunteers who attended to assist, as the official rest centre it fell far short of the
service that those affected were entitled to expect and should have received following a
major emergency.

Community rest centres

104.47 Despite RBKC’s decision on 15 June 2017 to designate the Westway Centre as the official
rest centre, displaced people were still making use of four or five other rest centres,**®
which led to confusion within the community about which one was the official rest
centre.*° As RBKC began to concentrate its efforts on the Westway Centre from
15 June 2017 onwards, it decided that other rest centres run by the community, such as
the Rugby Portobello Trust which remained open, would not receive council services,#¢
despite the fact that people were relying on them.**®! The resulting confusion was made
worse by a failure to tell the community and religious centres about the services available
at the Westway Centre. Volunteers from some of the centres reported that they did not
know what services were being offered there.'*?

104.48 The Reverend Mark O’Donoghue of Christ Church, Kensington contacted RBKC councillors,
pointing out areas that needed rapid improvement. He emphasised the need for a
single point of contact at RBKC to assist with the needs of those at the rest centres
(mentioning, in particular, the Clement James Centre, the Rugby Portobello Trust and
Latymer Community Church). He found it difficult to believe that it was beyond the wit of
RBKC to appoint one person to talk to people like him, who could then talk to their own
networks to provide help.1463

104.49 Community leaders said that what was needed was the visible presence of RBKC staff
wearing identifying insignia, such as high-visibility jackets, and in possession of up-to-date
information.**** In the absence of such a presence, information or support, community
organisations felt abandoned.*®

Emergency accommodation

104.50 In addition to its obligation to open a rest centre, RBKC had an statutory obligation
to provide displaced persons with emergency accommodation.'**® The council’s
Housing Contingency Plan, dating from 2012, had not been the subject of an annual
exercise in accordance with its own guidance and was not referred to during the response

1457 Hardy {Day276/83:19}-{Day276/84:15}.

1458 Community Impact Assessment {RBKO0005288/14}.

1459 Spragg {Day280/33:9-14}.

1460 Minutes of the HASG meeting at 14.00 on 15 June 2017 {RBK00020525/1} unnumbered paragraph 7: “The Council’s
efforts are at Westway as a council-run rest centre. Other informal rest centre’s (sic) may continue but they will not
be resourced with Council services”.

1461 Email from Nicholas Holgate to RBKC colleagues at 11.01 on 16 June 2017 {RBKO0009876}.

1462 Email from Lady Borwick, former MP for Kensington, at 17.39 on 18 June 2017 {CLGO0009154/2}.

1463 Email from Mark O’Donoghue to RBKC {RBKO0003251}.

1464 | ong {CFV00000010/6-7} pages 6-7, paragraph 32.

1465 | ong {CFV00000010/7} page 7, paragraph 32.

1466 | ocal authorities have an initial duty to provide accommodation for all persons who are homeless and eligible for
assistance, (Housing Act 1996, sections 188 and 189(1) Part 7); RBKC Housing Contingency Plan, {RBK0O0035406/7-8}
pages 7-8, paragraphs 2.1.2 and 2.2. {RBK0O0002747}.
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to the fire.}*®” The aim of the plan was, among other things, to support and extend
the Contingency Management Plan and to provide the information and describe the
procedures and action to be taken to ensure an effective, flexible and timely response
by the housing department to any emergency that might arise.'*®® Furthermore, the
RBKC’s own Housing Risk Register'**® dated November 2016 recognised that it did not
have sufficient capacity to arrange temporary accommodation in an emergency.*’°
However, there were no processes in place to address that deficiency. Although there
were arrangements to make use of local premises as rest centres, there were no
standing arrangements with local hotels of a kind that would facilitate the provision of
accommodation for displaced residents.'*’?

104.51 From about 07.30 on 14 June 2017, RBKC housing officers began telephoning hotels in
central and west London to reserve rooms in anticipation of a need to house people that
evening.'*’? Laura Johnson told us that at that early stage they were looking for hotels
within the borough or in adjacent boroughs because people needed to be close to their
support networks.'4”?

104.52 Ms Johnson also told us that they had received a huge number of offers of accommodation
from different organisations and members of the public.'*’* The accommodation ranged
from spare bedrooms offered by members of the public to unfurnished accommodation
in existing social housing blocks.**”> Ms Johnson explained that she did not consider those
offers to be appropriate because, she felt, people needed the privacy of a self-contained
room and their own bathroom,*’® as well as being close to their neighbourhood.*”” Her
team’s view was that hotel accommodation was the most appropriate solution.*’8

104.53 In the days that followed the fire RBKC struggled to keep up with the demand for
accommodation to house a growing number of displaced people. Over 800 people had
been forced to leave their homes and although most went to stay with families or friends,
many depended on the council to find them somewhere to live.*”®

Allocation of accommodation

104.54 At the outset RBKC drew a distinction between those who had been displaced from the
tower itself and those who had been displaced from the surrounding blocks within the
wider cordon (i.e. the Walkways).**° In the first instance, those living in the Walkways were
advised to try to stay with families or friends and were provided with accommodation only
if they had nowhere to go.'*® However, the criteria applied to those living in the Walkways
were changed during the course of 14 June. At 13.46, Ms Johnson told Emma Strugnell,

1467 | qura Johnson {Day272/7:6}-{Day272/9:25; {Day272/10:13}-{Day272/11:3}.

1468 {RBKO0035406/5} paragraph 1.2.

1469 RBKC Housing Risk Register, November 2016 {RBKO0036587}.

1470 | qura Johnson {Day272/18:21}-{Day272/19:17}.

1471 | qura Johnson {Day272/21:25}- {Day272/22:4}; {Day272/60:6-23}.

1472 Stuart Priestley, RBKC Chief Community Safety Officer, Log — Wednesday 14 June 2017 {RBK00013318}.

1473 Laura Johnson {Day272/55:7-19}.

1474 | aura Johnson {Day272/63:17-24}.

1475 | aura Johnson {Day272/113:3-25}.

1476 | qura Johnson {Day272/113:6-9}.

W77 Laura Johnson {Day272/113:22-25}.

1478 | qura Johnson {Day272/112:11-21}.

1479 project Athena Report {RBK00028618/74-82} pages 74-82, paragraphs 18.8 and 20.8.

1480 This included approximately 845 residents from Hurstway Walk, Barandon Walk, Testerton Walk, Grenfell Walk
and Treadgold House {TMO00869977}; Teresa Brown {TM0O00894124/17} page 17, paragraph 60; Police Cordon
Slideshow {MET00080826}.

1481 | qura Johnson {RBKO0035592/13} page 13, paragraph 49

124



Part 10 | Chapter 104: The response of RBKC

a media and communications officer at RBKC, that the council was providing emergency
hotel or bed and breakfast accommodation for people who had lived in the tower;*? those
who had been evacuated from the Walkways were to go to the emergency rest centres

and would be provided with accommodation only if they were old or vulnerable in some
way.'® In the case of those who were not old or vulnerable, RBKC waited to find out
whether they could return to their homes or whether emergency accommodation at a rest
centre would be needed. Later that day families with children were included among those
eligible for accommodation.##*

104.55 The more restrictive criteria applying to residents of the Walkways created confusion
within the housing department. They were not adequately communicated to staff
and were not widely communicated to the public.2*®> They resulted in some Walkway
residents who qualified for emergency accommodation not being offered it.'*% At 16.21
on 14 June 2017, Ryan Bird, one of RBKC’s housing officers, pointed out to the housing
team that the instructions were that those who did not live in the tower were not to
be accommodated.*” Mr Bird noted in a later email that there were “Many helpful but
confused folk here. Lots of information but little of it entirely accurate”.®

104.56 By the night of 14 June 2017 and into 15 June 2017, 77 households had been placed in
102 hotel rooms and it was expected that more people would approach the council for
accommodation.?*® Ms Johnson told us that anyone who asked for a place was offered
one immediately and without question.**® However, she was of the view that it was not
her department’s responsibility to speak to everyone and make sure they had somewhere
to stay; it was for those who needed accommodation to approach the housing team.

She may or may not have been entitled to take that view, but the result was that some
residents were sleeping rough simply because they were unaware that they could ask for
emergency accommodation.?*! RBKC accepted that they did not receive the level of care
to which they were entitled under the Housing Contingency Plan and acknowledged that
a number of Grenfell Tower residents were not told about the availability of emergency
accommodation.4%2

104.57 Part of the reason for the housing department’s failure to accommodate all residents
on the first day of the fire is that Ms Johnson and the emergency planning team failed
to recognise the scale of the incident in the early hours and failed to grasp what it
required of them %3

104.58 Most of those accommodated by RBKC in hotels were residents of the tower.'*** Residents
of the Walkways continued to be a secondary priority,**** despite their obvious need for
alternative accommodation as a result of their homes lacking gas or water and containing

1482 {RBKO0018898/1}.

1483 {RBK00018898/1}.

1484 {RBK00031298/2}.

1485 | qura Johnson {Day272/76:8-16}; {Day272/82:6}-{Day272/83:15}; Shawo {IWS00001290/3} page 3, paragraph 20.

1486 {RBK00012043/5}: George Edwards was evacuated from a nearby building and was suitable for temporary
accommodation but was turned away by the housing officer and told that “if it was determined that nearby
evacuees were to be considered for housing he could return”.

1487 {RBKO0031298/2}.

1488 {RBKO0031298/1}.

1485 {RBK00027735}; Laura Johnson {RBKO0035592/12} page 12, paragraph 47.

1490 | qura Johnson {RBKO0035592/12} page 12, paragraph 47.

191 {TM010036665} Column J, row 114, row 123 and row 390; {RBK0O0029413}, row 228.

1492 | qura Johnson {Day272/94:6-13}; RBKC Opening Statement, {Day263/120:5-13}.

193 | qura Johnson {Day272/43:12-23}.

1494 RBKC Opening Statement, {Day263/120:9}.

1495 | qura Johnson {Day272/74:22}-{Day272/75:16}; {RBK0O0031298}.
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debris from the fire.1*%® RBKC thought that residents of the Walkways should return to
their flats, despite being told by the TMO that they were not yet suitable for reoccupation.
Teresa Brown, the TMQ’s Director of Housing, recommended that residents should not

be rushed into returning until the TMO could ensure proper provision of services.**’

Her advice was not accepted by RBKC, which stuck to its decision that those who lived

in the Walkways should return to their flats. Ms Johnson told a Gold group meeting on

16 June 2017 that she would house the vulnerable or those with children and without hot
water but that others would have to manage.***®

104.59 The lack of any existing plans or agreements with local hotels (for example, in relation
to methods of payment) led to significant disruption and distress to those seeking
accommodation. In some cases transport was a problem. Ms Johnson told us that on the
first day her team had attempted to hire taxis to take people from the Westway Centre
to their hotels, but she accepted that in some cases people had not been provided
with transport and had been forced to make their own way to the hotels in which they
had been placed.**?

104.60 Residents placed in hotels often had to be moved to alternative accommodation,
sometimes without much notice.*® Despite informing the RBKC Gold group at 11.00 on
14 June 2017 that block bookings of hotels had been made until Monday 19 June 2017 as
a short term solution,*% the group was told the following morning that officers were in
the process of rebooking hotel rooms for all those that needed them.*% |t was noted that
four households had to be moved to another hotel on 15 June 2017 and, because some
bookings could not be carried over the weekend (17 and 18 June 2017), RBKC needed to
find alternative accommodation for 24 households.** The first time that some residents
who had been accommodated in hotels learned they needed to check out was when the
hotel told them .04

104.61 In some cases delays in bookings were caused by the lack of sufficient credit on RBKC’s
credit cards.’® The problem persisted for a number of days following the fire, resulting
in some employees using their own cards to secure rooms.** The problem with credit
limits had led to some payments being declined and to some hotels informing residents
that their bookings would end.’®® As part of the tri-borough arrangements for providing
humanitarian assistance RBKC had agreed that duty officers and some senior Housing and

1496 Email from Judith Blakeman to Laura Johnson on 18 June 2017 {RBK00027966}, paragraphs 1 and 3; Email from TMO
to RBKC regarding 11 households in need of accommodation as “there’s debris from the fire on elevations” at 16.27
on 16 June 2017 {RBK00049529}; Email from Councillor Lasharie at 00.42 on 15 June 2017 {RBKO0O003049}; Email
from Councillor Lasharie at 16.15 on 15 June 2017 {RBKO0O003071}.

1497 Teresa Brown {TMO00869990/9} page 9, paragraph 45; TMO staff also notified RBKC’s Allocation Team about
the need to re-house those with balconies overlooking Grenfell Tower, to avoid further trauma. Teresa Brown
{TM0O00869990/11} page 11, paragraph 57.

1498 RBKC Gold Group Meeting Minutes at 10.00 on 16 June 2017 {RBKO0001862/2}.

1499 | qura Johnson {Day272/120:19}-{Day272/121:24}; Abdulhamid {IWS00001919/3} page 3, paragraph 16; Alison
Moses {IWS00001281/9} page 9, paragraph 47. This was a requirement identified in the RBKC Housing Contingency
Plan at Annex 2 {RBKO0035406/19}.

1500 fRBK0O0002735/2}; Sadafi {IWS00001806/23} page 23, paragraph 73; Lukic {IWS00001760/6} page 6, paragraph 24.

1501 {RBKO0013271/2}.

1502 Gold Group Meeting Minutes at 10.00 on 15 June 2017 {RBKO0013270}.

1503 ‘Grenfell Residents Action Plan 15 June 2017: Short Term’ {RBKO0027735}.

15041 qura Johnson {Day272/68:2-8}; {Day272/69:25}-{Day272/70:4}; El-Guenuni {IWS00002034/9} page 9, paragraph 34;
Sadafi {IWS00001806/23} page 23, paragraph 73. See Chapter 2.3.4 Length of Hotel Placements in Chapter 2.

1505 | qura Johnson {RBKO0035592/23} page 23, paragraph 84; Laura Johnson {Day272/56:5-11}.

1506 | qura Johnson {Day272/58:10-22}; Laura Johnson {RBKO0035592/24} page 24, paragraph 87.

1507 Email from Chris Scott (RBKC Housing) at 08.19 on 21 June 2017 {RBKO0012306}.
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Adult Social Care managers should be given greater spending limits for use in emergencies,
but it appears that it had either failed to implement that agreement or had set inadequate
credit limits.1>%®

104.62 With no list of approved local hotels, RBKC was unable to ensure that the hotels booked
provided for residents with particular needs, which were often not met.*>® That included,
but was not limited to, people with disabilities'>'° and families with babies and young
children.’ In many cases survivors found being housed on upper floors of hotels
traumatic following their recent experiences.'>?

104.63 Ms Johnson told us that RBKC had tried to meet the specific needs of those affected but
conceded that they had not got it right in all cases.’®** We have seen little to suggest that
the allocation process involved much more than simply matching the numbers of people
seeking accommodation to the rooms available. We consider that specific plans and
standing agreements with hotel providers, coupled with periodic training exercises, would
have equipped the housing department to respond better to the challenges it faced in
finding accommodation for a large number of displaced residents.*>*

104.64 After it had found them accommodation the housing department did not communicate
adequately with its residents.’®* They lacked clear guidance about when their bookings
would end,***¢ about the food and services that they were entitled to receive at their
hotels''” and about whom to contact for information and assistance.’*® As a result, in
many cases they did not receive the full extent of the support available to them and lived in
a constant state of uncertainty. We have set out in detail in Chapter 100 the difficulties felt
by some of those who had been displaced by the fire.

104.65 As a Category 1 responder RBKC should have been ready to meet the immediate personal
needs of those affected by the emergency.’** They included food and drink of a suitable
kind, access to places of worship and other personal, cultural or religious needs, but it
does not appear to have given any consideration to matters of that kind and had no plan
to provide for them. Those who attended the Westway Centre relied on the generosity of
volunteers who brought them culturally appropriate food to meet their needs.>®

1508 fRBKO0036274/2}; The agreement had been reached in early 2016 in the wake of the Adair Tower fire the
previous October.

1509 Redmond {Day271/89:19}-{Day271/90:20}.

1510 David Lewis {IWS00001629/5} page 5, paragraph 21-23; Rasoul {IWS00001768/22} page 22, paragraph 107; Oyewole
{IWS00001730/10} page 10, paragraph 17-19; Alison Moses {IWS00001281/10} page 10, paragraph 54.

1511 Khoudair {IWS00001616/11-12} pages 11-12, paragraph 81-88; Jason Miller {IWS00001940/9} page 9, paragraph 37;
Zakariya Chebiouni {IWS00001979/5} page 5, paragraph 24; Mensah {IWS00001944/9} page 9, paragraph 43; Ryan
Ignacio {IWS00001820/14} page 14, paragraph 70.

1512 RBKC email at 17.53 on 18 June 2017, “1 gentleman put on 14th floor of hotel — needs moving” {RBKO0O039300};
Email from Maureen Mandirahwe (WCC) to RBKC BECC at 21.08 on 17 June 2017, “Complaints of traumatised
persons being housed in a second floor hotel/tower, when they had vocalised from the onset that they cannot
cope with living in a tower. They were moved to other towers 3 times. He came to us very angry and traumatised.”
{RBK00005386/2}; Emma O’Connor {IWS00001699/6} page 6, paragraph 33.

1513 | qura Johnson {Day272/118:25}-{Day272/119:15}; {Day272/132:5-20}.

1514 | qura Johnson {Day272/22:14}-{Day272/23:1}.

1515 | qura Johnson {Day272/170:4-25}.

1516 Sener Macit {IWS00001563/12} page 12, paragraph 52; Bernard Shaw {IWS00001752/8} page 8, paragraph 39;
Karema El-Sawy {IWS00001829/7} page 7, paragraph 31.

1517 Shawo {IWS00001290/4} page 4, paragraph 25; David Lewis {IWS00001629/6} page 6, paragraph 25; Ahmed
Al-Assad {IWS00001789/11} page 11, paragraph 67; Araya {IWS00001648/4} page 4, paragraph 20; Rasoul
{Day265/159:13-23}.

1518 Samuel Daniels {IWS00002065/15} page 15, paragraph 99.

1519 Emergency Response and Recovery non-statutory guidance, {CABO0004519/119} page 119, paragraph 7.3.2.; LRP.
Humanitarian Assistance Plan v3, {GOLO0001151/27} page 27, paragraph 7.12-7.14; RBKC Contingency Management
Plan {RBKO0004396/17}.

1520 Be|fassi {IWS00001802/7} page 7, paragraph 40. Moussaid {IWS00001282/14} page 14, paragraphs 68-69.
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104.66 The problems of obtaining access to the Westway Centre led to many of those affected
seeking support through unofficial rest centres, such as the Clement James Centre and
the Rugby Portobello Trust, which became the main source of food for many in the days
immediately following the fire 1>

104.67 Difficulties in providing for basic needs, such as food and drink, continued in some cases
even after people had been placed in hotels. In some cases they did not know what food or
drink they were entitled to receive.’?? With hotel rooms in short supply, RBKC took rooms
in a number of hotels that provided only limited services, which in some cases did not
include food or drink.'*?®* That prompted those in the community, voluntary and faith sector
to obtain, distribute and serve food to some of those at hotels.*>?*

104.68 In some cases, hotels did not provide food suitable for those with particular religious
needs, such as halal food, particularly during Ramadan. Although Ms Johnson was aware
of the cultural and religious diversity of the residents of Kensington and Chelsea, she did
not recall having made any specific request to hotels to accommodate religious dietary
requirements.’?® That was reflected in the evidence of Brahim El Amine, Mouna EI-Ogbani
and Sawson Choucair, all of whom were placed in hotels that did not serve food at times
that respected their observation of Ramadan.'®?® As a result, they and others in their
position had to rely on food being provided by the community.*?’ Similarly, Nadia Jafari,
who was on a diet following surgery, had to rely on food she received from the mosque
and charities.>*®

104.69 RBKC accepted that it should have done more in the days following the fire to cater for
those from diverse backgrounds, in particular those many residents of the Muslim faith
who were observing Ramadan at the time. Their experience contributed to the widespread
feeling among them that the council had no regard for their cultural and religious needs.

104.70 We do not believe that those were isolated incidents limited to a few individuals and
families. The evidence suggests that the experiences of those, particularly from Muslim
and minority ethnic communities, whose basic needs were not met were symptomatic
of a more general, systemic failure on the part of RBKC to think about and plan for those
needs in advance.

104.71 The outcomes and experiences of those affected which bore on their faith and
ethnicity lead us to conclude that RBKC failed to take any or any adequate steps to
follow the guidance contained in those parts of Emergency Preparedness (2013) and
Emergency Response and Recovery (2005) to which we referred in the introduction. In
particular, we conclude that RBKC failed to give any, or any adequate, consideration to
the needs of the members of the various faith, religious, cultural and minority ethnic
communities who were affected by the fire. That lack of consideration was marked by
the absence from RBKC’s preparations of any plan for catering for their particular needs

1521 Richards {CFV00000012/2-6} pages 2-6, paragraphs 7, 11, 20, 22 and 41; Ahmed Chellat {IWS00001306/1} page 1,
paragraph 6; Ghamhi {IWS00001706/4} page 4, paragraph 23; Simms {CFVO0000005/17} page 17, paragraph 78;
Hariri {IWS00001295/14} page 14, paragraph 106.

1522 Richards {Day275/147:11-16}.

1523 | qura Johnson {Day272/132:1-4}.

1524 Richards {CFV00000012/3} page 3, paragraph 14.

1525 | qura Johnson {Day272/132:5-15}.

1526 ] Amine {IWS00001946/10-11} pages 10-11, paragraph 46; ElI-Ogbani {Day266/23:20}-{Day266/24:5}; Sawson
Choucair {IWS00001799/15-16} pages 15-16, paragraph 20(c).

1527 Senate Jones {IWS00001691/5} page 5, paragraph 24.

1528 Maria Jafari {IWS00001815/13} page 13, paragraph 56.
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and a lack of any training to ensure that they were met. Nor did RBKC put in place any
arrangements for addressing them in the days immediately following the fire. Such efforts
as were made were piecemeal and unevenly distributed.

104.72 The guidance to which we have referred seems to us to reflect in a large measure
the legislative aim of section 149(1) of the Equality Act 2010 in the context of civil
contingencies. Whether RBKC failed to have due regard to the matters identified in section
149(1) of the Act in making its civil contingency arrangements is a question we are notin a
position to answer. What matters more is how people were treated in practice. It is enough
to say that in our view many of those affected by the fire who had particular religious or
cultural or social needs suffered a significant degree of discrimination in ways that could
and would have been prevented if the guidance had been properly followed.

Financial assistance

104.73 The Humanitarian Assistance framework indicated that local authorities might provide
financial assistance for food, clothing, toiletries and other essential requirements as
part of their responsibility for providing humanitarian assistance.»* On 14 June 2017,
arrangements were made by RBKC to provide those affected by the fire with such
assistance. At the start, the housing team attended the rest centres with sufficient cash to
give people a small sum of money, about £50 a person.**° At 12.33, Francis Austin, RBKC’s
interim group finance manager, provided Kevin Bartle, then director of finance, with a note
saying that £10,000 had been drawn in cash to be used to pay for immediate expenses.?>3!
That included everything from toothbrushes to hotel accommodation. That evening,
Robert Shaw, a RBKC housing officer, sent a message to his colleagues telling them that
three rest centres were to remain open throughout the night and that TMO staff would be
present with enough money to hand out to residents.!3?

104.74 How those affected should be supported financially had not been planned in advance,
which caused delay in implementing a process for the distribution of funds. On 15 June
2017 RBKC agreed that households should be given cash to cover immediate living
expenses and a further allocation of up to £1,000 a household, leaving over for later
consideration what procedure should be adopted for managing it.**** A further £36,000
was made available for residents, together with a draft form intended to be completed
for each payment.'>3* That was the first time any formal plan for the distribution of cash
had been put in place. It appears that following a further meeting on 16 June 2017, the
arrangements were changed. Instead of payments of up to £1,000 being made available,
£500 in cash was to be distributed to each household and the remaining £500 held
available.’®* That was considered the easiest way to provide emergency funds for people
who did not have a bank account or did not have any of their cards or other documents of
the kind needed to obtain access to funds in the bank.1*3¢

1529 | ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework, {RBK00011313/42}. “Local Authorities: May
provide financial assistance”.

1539 | qura Johnson {Day272/143:16-19}.

1531 (RBK00012261}.

1532 {RBKO0006091}; {TM0O10031177/3}.

1533 {RBKO0027735}.

1534 {RBKO0020131}.

1535 Amanda Gill {RBKO0044877/8} page 8, paragraph 46; {RBKO0047576}; Laura Johnson {Day272/143:14}—
{Day272/145:5}.

1536 | qura Johnson {Day272/143:22}-{Day272/144:1}

129



The Grenfell Tower Inquiry: Phase 2 Report

104.75 Following the activation of the Gold resolution, RBKC remained responsible for the
provision of financial assistance.!®*” Despite efforts to establish a procedure for providing
households with access to funds,'*® the facility does not appear to have been fully used.
On 17 June 2017, Ms Hardy told us that she was given money in an envelope and a list of
names, possibly those who had been given money, written on the back of the envelope.!**°
She was given no other information or explanation of how to organise the distribution.
Perhaps because of changes in the amount of payments being made or the lack of rigour
in the process, different amounts varying from £200 to £1,000 were distributed to the
residents of the tower.** According to Michael Adamson of the Red Cross, cash was
distributed in a haphazard way by a number of different officials, which made it impossible
to track who had received what.**

104.76 Financial assistance was initially provided only to those displaced from the tower and not
to those displaced from the Walkways.**> Some members of RBKC'’s staff resorted to their
own personal funds to provide financial support to those in need.**

104.77 The housing department did not take steps to inform those affected by the fire that they
were entitled to financial assistance,®* which resulted in delays in their receiving the
assistance to which they were entitled and in some cases to their not receiving it at all.>*
It was reported that people were either unaware of the opportunity to obtain financial
assistance at the Westway Centre or were reluctant to go there.’>*®

104.78 Financial support provided to families staying in hotels was inconsistent; some families
were left to support themselves. The problem was compounded by residents being placed
in hotels at some distance from the Town Hall and the Westway Centre. On 18 June 2017,
the London Borough of Ealing, which at the time was managing the Westway Centre, did
not have the resources to visit displaced residents to distribute funds.**” A stark illustration
of how certain families lacked support was provided to Gerry Crowley, property and place
manager of the London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham, who visited three hotels on
19 June 2017. He reported inconsistent levels of service being provided by the hotels and
found that RBKC had not been in contact with residents at the Premier Inn, Hammersmith
since placing them there almost six days earlier. The families had each been given only £50
to help with immediate expenses.’>*® Many people said they had encountered significant
difficulty in obtaining financial support and as a result had been forced to rely on the
generosity of charities and voluntary groups.t>*

1537 {CABO0014720}.

1538 {RBKO0020131}.

1539 Hardy {Day276/87:4}-{Day276/88:15}.

1540 {RBKO0026735}.

1541 Adamson {BRCO0000075/15} page 15, paragraph 68.

1542 Augustine {RBKO0035411/6} page 6, paragraph 29.

1543 Augustine {RBKO0035411/6} page 6, paragraph 30.

1544 aura Johnson {Day272/149:2-9}.

1545 L aura Johnson {Day272/150:2-12}; Hanan Cherbika {IWS00001286/11} page 11, paragraph 85; Jevon Moses
{IWS00001276/16} page 16, paragraph 113; Toyoshima-Lewis {IWS00001725/66} page 66, paragraph 265.

1546 {RBKO0004144}.

1547 {RBKO0004144}.

1548 (RBK00021897/3}.

1549 Talabi {IWS00001731/7} page 7, paragraph 22; Rosita Bonifacio {IWS00001887/7} page 7, paragraph 47; Aziza
Raihani {IWS00001300/4} page 4, paragraph 25.
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Information about those who were missing

104.79 One of the recurring themes of the evidence given by those who had been displaced
was that of the profound feeling of helplessness and despair they experienced as they
desperately went from hospital to hospital, rest centre to rest centre, trying to obtain
information about missing relatives, but to no avail.'>** We have therefore tried to find out
what led to that lack of information.

Family and friends reception centre

104.80 The guidance in Emergency Recovery and Response provides that steps should be put in
place to ensure that information provided to those making enquiries is accurate, consistent
and not contradictory.*>>* The Humanitarian Assistance framework described the purpose
of family and friends reception centres as being to help reunite family and friends with
survivors, to provide a place for the police to record enquiries about missing persons and
collect information which may aid their investigation and to provide access to practical
and emotional support.*>? It is the responsibility of the police in consultation with local
authorities to decide whether there is a need to set up a family and friends reception
centre as part of a wider process of identifying victims of a disaster. Such centres are likely
to be set up within the first 24 hours of the incident!**® and are usually staffed by police,
local authorities and voluntary organisations.>>*

104.81 On 14 June 2017, RBKC told the police that a family and friends reception centre would be
set up at the Salvation Army building at 12.30. Mr Adrian Clee, who had been appointed
the Salvation Army’s strategic lead for the Grenfell Tower emergency response that
morning,'>>> confirmed that it had opened its building on Portobello Road as a family and
friends reception centre to provide a safe haven for those directly affected by the fire and
relatives of those who were awaiting news.*>*®* A member of staff from RBKC was sent
to the centre and several police liaison officers attended to speak to witnesses and take
statements.’®’ The police reported that at 22.05 on 14 June 2017 the centre had been
closed down because no staff from RBKC were available to manage it.***® Its functions were
transferred to the Westway Centre on 15 June 2017.

104.82 Unfortunately, those who were running the Westway Centre were not told that the
friends and family reception centre had been moved there and as a result some people
looking for information about friends or relations were wrongly turned away***° and sent
to the wrong place.’® How that happened we do not know. On 16 June 2017 at 18.19,
Emma Spragg sent an email to senior figures in RBKC voicing her concern about the way
in which the Westway Centre was being described to ensure that friends and family could

1550 Abu Baker Mohamed Ibrahim {IWS00001751/5} page 5, paragraphs 17 and 21.

1551 Emergency Response and Recovery, non-statutory guidance accompanying the Civil Contingencies Act 2004
{CAB00004519/122} page 122, paragraph 7.4.2.

1552 | ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBK00011313/24-25} pages 24-25,
paragraph 8.17.

1553 London Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBKO0011313/25}, page 25, paragraphs
8.20-8.21.

1554 Emergency Response and Recovery, non-statutory guidance accompanying the Civil Contingencies Act 2004
{CAB00004519/122-123} pages 122-123, paragraph 7.4.4.

15% Clee {CFV00000059/1} page 1, paragraph 1.

1556 Clee {CFV00000059/3-4} pages 3-4, paragraph 2.

1557 Clee {CFV00000059/4} page 4, paragraph 2.

1558 Stokoe {MET00079356/30} page 30, paragraph 4; Clee {CFV00000059/4} page 4, paragraph 2 believed it was closed
on 15 June 2017.

1559 Spragg {Day280/54:5-12}.

1560 Spragg {Day280/55:16-22}.
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also have access to support.t*®! She pointed out that they were not always being allowed
into the Westway Centre as some people understood it to be a rest centre for displaced
residents only and that family and friends were to go to the Salvation Army. She wanted
communications to be better co-ordinated.°?

104.83 Many of those seeking information about family and friends did not know where the
reception centre was or where they should go to obtain information.*>®

The casualty bureau

104.84 The Metropolitan Police Service was responsible for setting up a casualty bureau,*>®
the primary purpose of which was to provide an initial point of contact for receiving
and assessing information relating to persons who had been, or were thought to have
been, involved in the incident.’*® The guidance in Emergency Response and Recovery
provided that part of its function was to provide accurate information to relatives and
friends.?®® It is clear, however, that there was widespread confusion about the function
of a casualty bureau and about whether, and if so how, it was expected to provide
information to the public.

104.85 Detective Inspector Gail Granville told us that the purpose of a casualty bureau is to gather
information, not to provide detailed information about those believed to be missing or
dead.'®®’ She said that information of that kind is provided only after the identification
process involving the coroner has been completed and must be conveyed in a sensitive
and appropriate manner by a trained family liaison officer.>®® D | Granville explained that
limited information is given to call-handlers to prevent them from inadvertently providing
information to callers.’® It was unfortunate, therefore, that the telephone number of
the casualty bureau was given to those seeking information about family and friends. The
result was that they were unable to obtain any help from the casualty bureau without
understanding why, which caused considerable frustration and anger.

104.86 The police Gold Commander, Commander Jerome, asked for a casualty bureau to be
established at 02.30 on 14 June 2017.%°7° At 07.34 on 14 June 2017 RBKC advertised its
number as an emergency contact number for anyone concerned about their loved ones.*>”*
The telephone number was provided by the police in a statement to the media at 08.02. It
was also publicised on social media and the Metropolitan Police website.**”> The delay in
setting up the casualty bureau resulted from the need to ensure that there were enough

1561 Email from Emma Spragg at 18.19 {RBKO0038595/1}: “Friends and family are not always being allowed in as
people at Westway believe it to be a rest centre for displaced residents (CAC) and that F and F are to go to the
Salvation Army.”

1562 {RBKO0038595}.

1563 Nabil Choucair {Day267/10:3-8}; Alison Moses {IWS00001281/11} page 11, paragraph 65; Gashaw
{IWS00001738/24} page 24, paragraph 24.

1564 Granville {MET00077845/1-2} pages 1-2, paragraph 4.

1565 Emergency Response and Recovery: non-statutory guidance {CAB00004519/124} page 124, paragraph 7.5.6.

1566 Emergency Response and Recovery: non-statutory guidance {CABO0004519/124} page 124, paragraph 7.5.7.

1567 Granville {MET00077845/8-9} pages 8-9, paragraph 29.

1568 Granville {MET00077845/8} page 8, paragraph 29.

1569 Granville {MET00077845/9} page 9, paragraph 30.

1570 Chalmers {MET00077804/3} page 3, paragraph 11.

1571 {RBKOO0O60585}.

1572 Chalmers {MET00077804/11} page 11, paragraph 51.
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operators available who were appropriately trained to take the calls.®*”® The first calls were
answered at 08.04; 4,446 calls were received on 14 June 2017.**"* The number fell as the
days passed and the lines were closed on 24 June 2017.%

104.87 Some of those who called the casualty bureau reported that they had been unable to
speak to anyone directly and received only an automated message.*’® Those who were
able to speak to someone were not provided with information; after giving details of their
family members, they waited for further news but did not receive a call back.*”’

104.88 The problems surrounding the family and friends reception centre and the limitations of
the casualty bureau were compounded by the circulation of inaccurate information about
those who were safe and those who were missing. The lists of those who were safe and
missing provided to various agencies on 14 June 2017 had included errors, with some who
had died in the fire shown as safe.’*’® The difficulties of obtaining accurate information
about the fate of friends and relations demonstrates the fundamental importance of
accurate registration and record-keeping at rest centres, coupled with clear and accessible
sources of information for those enquiring in person or by telephone.

RBKC'’s public communications

104.89 As a Category 1 responder RBKC had a duty under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 to
communicate with the public and provide them with information and advice as necessary
in an emergency.>”® RBKC’s media and communications team was small and its main
functions were similar to those of a press office, responding to media enquiries and issuing
press releases.’>® At the time of the Grenfell Tower fire the Contingency Management Plan
did not include any provision for emergency communications,*®! although a plan may have
been available within the communications team.**®? RBKC conceded that those who worked
in the media and communications team had failed adequately to rehearse the emergency
communication plan with practical exercises and were insufficiently familiar with the plans
that existed.*® RBKC also conceded that the arrangements that were in place were not
capable of providing the level of service needed by the public after the fire and were not as
clear or as well understood within the organisation as they should have been .

104.90 Martin Fitzgerald, RBKC’s head of media and communications, described the pressure as
great, with unprecedented demands from various directions.*®> We can well understand
that, but, for whatever reason, there was a delay in providing clear, accessible information
to the survivors, including information about where to go for help,**® which made it more
difficult for them to obtain the emotional and practical support they needed.'*®” The stark

1573 Chalmers {MET00077804/6} page 6, paragraph 31.

1574 Chalmers {MET00077804/8-9} pages 8-9, paragraph 40.

1575 Chalmers {MET00077804/9-10} pages 9-10, paragraph 43.

1576 Rajaa Chellat {IWS00001284/2} page 2, paragraph 11.

1577 Nabil Choucair {Day267/14:11-25}.

1578 Spreadsheet: the resident list circulated at 12.21 on 14 June 2017 {TMO00869931}.

1579 Section 2(1)(g) of the Civil Contingencies Act 2004 {CABO0004616/3}; Emergency Preparedness Guidance, Chapter 7
{CAB00004543/3} page 3, paragraph 7.1.

1580 RBKC Opening Statement {Day263/115:12-15}.

1581 Kerry {Day268/43:7-21}.

1582 Fitzgerald {RBKO0059598/2} page 2, paragraph 8.

1583 RBKC Module 4 Opening Statement {RBKO0068467/25-26} paragraphs 99-100.

1584 RBKC Opening Statement {Day263/115:4-6}.

1585 Fitzpatrick {RBKO0059598/3} page 3, paragraph 16. Email from Mark Sawyer to himself on 1 July 2017
{GOL00001301} paragraph 6, “Comms team in denial and overwhelmed. Asked why missed 08.30 comms call -
missed amongst two hundred emails”.

1586 Spragg {Day280/68:2-10}; Spragg {BRCO0O000050/18} page 18, paragraph 78(a).

1587 Spragg {Day280/68:12-17}; Spragg {BRCO0000050/18} page 18, paragraph 78(a).
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truth is that RBKC’s communications systems were quickly overwhelmed. As a result, it
failed to provide the public with clear, consistent information in the days immediately
following the fire.1>%8

104.91 No dedicated helpline was set up at the outset to enable displaced residents to obtain
information or advice.'®® At 07.24 on 14 June 2017 RBKC published the telephone number
of the casualty bureau as an emergency number to be used by anyone concerned about
friends or relatives.’>® At 10.13 RBKC’s housing department put its telephone number
on the council’s website for use by residents who had been displaced.’™* By the early
afternoon it had published the same number as the point of contact for those wishing to
volunteer to help the support effort.’**? As a result, the line was inundated with calls and
quickly became overwhelmed.?>*

104.92 RBKC did not accept offers of assistance that could have strengthened and expanded its
communications resources. At the meeting of the strategic co-ordinating group at 08.30 on
14 June 2017, Ms Spragg recommended making use of the Red Cross telephone helpline
that was already in place following the Manchester Arena attack as a helpline for those
affected.’™ Her offer was not immediately accepted. She repeated her suggestion at the
meeting of the humanitarian assistance steering group at 14.00 on 15 June 2017.%%

104.93 Later on 15 June 2017, RBKC accepted the offer of the Red Cross helpline but the line
did not become operational until the next day, 16 June 2017.1°® Sue Redmond, the
interim executive director for adult social care and public health who was appointed as
humanitarian assistance lead officer (HALO) on 15 June 2017, told us that the delay was
caused by an attempt to link the RBKC housing line with the Red Cross line.***” It had not
been possible to co-ordinate the two helplines by the time London Gold took over the
response on 16 June 2017.1%

104.94 The delay in setting up a dedicated helpline was compounded by difficulties in publicising
its number. Despite efforts by the Red Cross,*>*° as late as the evening of 17 June 2017 it
was apparent from complaints made by those at the Westway Centre'®® that the helpline
number needed to be published immediately.'®®! In addition, concerns were expressed
about the quality of the information being provided to those using the helpline. On 20 June
2017 checks by RBKC revealed that the helpline staff, although warm and friendly, were

1588 RBKC Opening Statement {Day263/115:17-24}.

1589 Emergency Preparedness, Chapter 7, paragraph 7.58 provides that “immediately when an emergency occurs, and
during the first hours, the public would want amongst other things a helpline number” {CABO0004543/28} page
28, paragraph 7.58. It also says that “responders should plan how to make best use of helplines and public inquiry
points... in any emergency. ...Helplines may already be in place for other purposes. Plans can be developed to take
them over and provide their staff with a relevant briefing or suitable recorded messages” ({CAB00004543/42} page
42, paragraph 7.90-7.91).

1590 [RBKO0060585}.

1591 {RBKO0O060669}.

1592 {RBKO0060676}.

1593 Spragg {Day280/72:5-13}.

159 Spragg {Day280/69:8-20}; SCG Meeting on 14 June 2017 at 08.30 {LFBO0003366/4}.

1595 Spragg {Day280/69:21-25}; HASG Meeting Minutes from 15 June 2017 at 14.00 {RBKO0001920/4}.

15% Spragg {Day280/70:10}-{Day280/71:15}; British Red Cross Operational update 9 {BRCO0000087/25}.

1597 Email from Sue Redmond on 15 June 2017 {RBKO0011415}; Humanitarian Assistance Steering Group Actions and
Decisions sheet, 16 June 2017 at 12.00 {RBK00002040/1}; Redmond {Day271/109:10-11}.

1598 Redmond {Day271/111:15-25}; {Day271/112:9-16}; Spragg {Day280/70:10}-{Day280/71:15}.

1599 Gemma Hamilton {BRCO0000012/5} page 5, paragraph 20. Leaflets advertising the number were delivered to the
Westway Centre.

1600 Email from Tony Andrews to Andrew Meek and RBKC BECC sent on 17 June 2017 at 17.44 {GOL0O0000982}.

1601 Email from Tony Andrews on 17 June 2017 at 17.28, circulating key points and actions from the Community
Assistance Centre Group meeting {RBK00021073}.
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vague in their responses and merely advised callers to go to the Westway Centre. 6%
Further checks on 22 June 2017 indicated that the problems persisted. The call-handlers
were directing callers to the Westway Centre or advising them to contact Victim Support
but were not able to say what help either of them could offer,'®® despite the fact that they
had been given a guidance pack the previous day containing full details of how to deal
with questions.160

Language barriers

104.95 Inadequate provision was made for those whose first language was not English.
The guidance in Emergency Response and Recovery was that, if it could reasonably be
expected that an emergency would be likely to involve members of cultural or ethnic
minorities, suitable arrangements should be built into plans.’*® The Lancaster West estate
was such a community, but despite that clear guidance, it was not until 24 June 2017,
some seven days after London Gold had taken over the response, that the helplines made
provision for those who did not speak English fluently or for whom English was not their
first language.?®® It was difficult for the operators of the helpline to know in advance which
languages needed to be spoken, as no proper assessment of the likely requirements had
been made, but the result was that some of those who did not speak English were unable
to use the helpline for a number of days.%’

104.96 The lack of translation services was not limited to the helpline. Official communications,
such as letters from the council, were available only in English.%% As a result, those who
did not speak or read English found it difficult to obtain information and assistance.
Others relied on their children and friends to translate for them. 6%

Leaflets

104.97 RBKC failed to produce other forms of communication, such as flyers or information
leaflets, with sufficient urgency, despite recognising the need to do so. At 05.01 on
15 June 2017, Councillor Mary Weale told Tony Redpath that she had raised the matter
with Mr Holgate the previous day.***° A |eaflet was then produced by some of the
councillors, which was shared with Mr Holgate and Mr Redpath at 18.46 on 15 June 2017
for distribution.*®** However, it took until the evening of 16 June 2017 for a final version of
the leaflet to be produced?®®!? and it was not distributed until 17 June 2017.%%3 The leaflets
were produced in English and were not translated into other languages until 24 June
2017.%* Mr Redpath recognised at the time that it was extraordinary for the council to
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1603 {RBKO0041515/1}.

1604 {RBK00023810/1}.

1605 {CABO0004519/130} page 130, paragraph 7.7.6.

1606 Spragg {Day280/74:2}-{Day280/75:19}.

1807 Spragg {Day280/75:20}-{Day280/76:8}.

1608 7akaria El-Sawy {IWS00001822/10} page 10, paragraph 42; Khanh Quang {IWS00001821/15} page 15,
paragraph 75-76.

1609 Be|fassi {IWS00001815/16} page 16, paragraph 71.

1610 fRBKO0004117/1}.

1611 {RBKO0038615}.

1612 {RBK00020873/1}.

1613 {RBKO0003124/2}.

1614 Spragg {Day280/75:3-8}; {BRCO0000087/39}.
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have taken so long to carry out such a simple task.'®® He said that it had been faced with
an avalanche of demands and had been unable to attend to anything other than the most
immediate and pressing tasks.61°

104.98 In our view insufficient consideration was given to those important matters. The guidance
quite properly emphasised the need for rapid and effective communication but RBKC
failed to give it the priority it deserved. As the Grenfell Tower fire revealed, it had failed to
grasp that accurate and timely information from an authoritative source is one of the most
valuable forms of support that can be given to those seeking help, in whatever form.

Social media

104.99 Although RBKC used social media and maintained a website, information was not published
promptly or consistently across the different media platforms and some of those dealing
with the response were concerned that not enough information was being given out.**"

At 16.15 on 14 June 2017, Desmond Zephyr, a LALO, told Mr Priestley, Ms Blackburn and
Mr Kerry that information was not being released and that although he had directed
people to the website, it was inadequate. He suggested greater use of social media.**®
That view was echoed by the Mayor of London’s office.!6%

104.100 The problems affecting communication with the public do not appear to have been
resolved by the activation of London Gold. On 18 June 2017, the new Grenfell Fire
response team issued a press statement giving details of the Red Cross helpline.'®? A |eaflet
was also produced and circulated that day for distribution through DCLG which contained
information about the Red Cross helpline, the contact number of the casualty bureau,
details of bereavement services and NHS mental health support.’®?* As late as 20 June
2017 there was still concern about the absence of a central point of contact and the lack of
effective communication with those affected.'*?? RBKC’s media and communications team
was required to obtain London Gold’s approval before it published anything on the council’s
website or communicated with the media, which caused significant delay in the publication
of information.?*?® One member of the team, Bernard Brady, said that a response would
often not be received from London Gold for hours or even until the following day (and
sometimes not at all).1%*

1615 {RBKO0003124/2}.

1616 {RBKO0003124/2}.

1617 Email sent at 10.13 for a website update with details of the rest centre at Rugby Portobello Trust {RBKO0O060669};
Twitter update at 11.39 with details of rest centre at Rugby Portobello Trust {RBKO0060621}; Twitter update at
11.40 with details of rest centre at St Clement Church {RBKO0060622}; Twitter update at 11.41 with details of rest
centre at the Westway Centre {RBKO0060623}; {RBKO0O060669}.

1618 {RBKO0008513}; Also see email from Ann Ramage to Martin Fitzpatrick on 17 June 2017 at 02.29 {RBK0O0010918/2}

1619 {GOLO0000147}.

1620 fRBKO0012573}.

1621 {CLGO0009134}.

1622 Email from Hilary Patel (the DCLG) to Doug Patterson (London Borough of Bromley) on 20 June 2017
{GOL00000289/1}.

1623 Brady {RBKO0059591/2} page 2, paragraph 10.
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The humanitarian assistance steering group

104.101 A key feature of the Humanitarian Assistance framework is the appointment of a
humanitarian assistance lead officer (HALO) to co-ordinate the humanitarian response.'®?
The HALO brings together various partners, including health, the police, and voluntary and
faith sectors, to oversee that aspect of the response. At the time of the fire RBKC had no
one suitably trained to undertake that task and no relevant plan in place.’*? The lack of a
trained HALO significantly affected its ability to deal with the consequences of the fire.16?’

104.102 Sue Redmond was an experienced director of adult social care who had worked at a senior
level for a number of local authorities. She had returned to Hammersmith and Fulham in
April 2017 and held a tri-borough role which also covered Westminster City Council and
RBKC. She had not received any training or guidance from Hammersmith and Fulham or
RBKC on the Contingency Management Plan.*?® In her previous positions she had received
some training in responding to emergencies, but she did not think that it had prepared
her adequately for the Grenfell Tower fire.?*?® Her training had not given her any grounding
in the function of the BECC, the role of a HALO,**° or what running the humanitarian
assistance steering group entailed.*®*! She was wholly unprepared for the role she
was thrust into.

104.103 The Humanitarian Assistance framework provided that if a major incident occurred with
substantial consequences for the welfare of a community, the local authority would appoint
a HALO,%*2 whose identity would be confirmed by the strategic co-ordinating group.'®*
The HALO was to call and chair the first meeting of the humanitarian assistance steering
group,’®** whose purpose was to determine the direction of the humanitarian response
and ensure co-ordination of the activities of the responders. Its officers were to be senior
officials who were able to make decisions about resources while having an overview of the
needs of the people affected and ensuring there was appropriate support.?®*

104.104 Although the framework did not say when the group was to meet for the first time, it
did indicate that the humanitarian assistance effort should begin very soon after the
incident.'®*® That was recognised by members of the London Resilience Group early
on 14 June 2017. As a result, Andrew Meek, head of organisational resilience at the
London Borough of Haringey, sent an email to David Kerry at 10.23 recommending that
he appoint a HALO and plan a first meeting of the humanitarian assistance support group

1625 | ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework, {RBK00011313/4} paragraph 1.1 and
{RBK00019712/9}, paragraph 3.7: Local authorities will prepare to respond to the humanitarian need by: Identifying
a senior officer to lead the Humanitarian Response (usually a director with responsibility for adult social care) —
hereafter described as the Humanitarian Assistance Lead Officer (HALO).

1626 Kerry {Day268/164:18}-{Day268/168:4}; London Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework
{RBK00011313/2}.

1627 Kerry {Day268/168:18-23}.

1628 Redmond {RBKO0058120/2} page 2, paragraphs 2.1-2.2.

1622 Redmond {RBKO0035676/3} page 3, paragraph 13; Project Athena interview, {RBK00029014/2}, unnumbered ninth
paragraph.

1630 Redmond {Day271/24:2}-{Day271/25:5}; {Day271/31:9-16}; Redmond {RBKO0035676/8} page 8, paragraph 36.

1631 Redmond {RBKO0058120/3} page 3, paragraph 3.3; Redmond {Day271/29:3-5}.

1632 | ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBKO0011313/9} page 9, paragraph 3.9.

1633 | ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBK00011313/9} page 9, paragraph 3.10.

1634 | ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBK00011313/9} page 9, paragraphs 3.1,
3.7and 3.11.

1635 | ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBK00011313/12} page 12, paragraph 4.14.
{RBK00019712/48}.

1636 | ondon Resilience Partnership Humanitarian Assistance Framework {RBK00011313/11} paragraph 4.2.
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that afternoon.'®*” However, Mr Kerry had finished his shift that morning and had gone
off duty and the message does not appear to have been passed to Stuart Priestley, then
Council Silver, or the BECC.?6%®

104.105 That was only one of a number of reasons for the delay in setting up the group.
The Humanitarian Assistance framework was in the process of being revised at the
time and although a draft of the new version existed, it had not been published.****
Tony Andrews, Emergency Planning Manager (Humanitarian Assistance) at
Westminster City Council, sent a copy of the revised version to RBKC at 13.16.%64°
Ms Redmond then had to spend time familiarising herself with the material in the
expectation that she might become the HALO.***! Formal confirmation of her appointment
was not made until the morning of 15 June 2017 at the RBKC Gold meeting.'®* It is unclear
why that was. At all events, the first meeting of the group chaired by Ms Redmond was
not held until 14.00 on 15 June 2017.% We consider that, in light of the seriousness of
the incident and the advice received on the morning of 14 June 2017, a meeting should
have taken place that afternoon.*** The delay of 24 hours had an adverse effect on the
identification and assessment of the needs of those affected.

104.106 By the afternoon of 15 June 2017, the humanitarian assistance support group had
developed an agenda which Ms Redmond considered to be massive and overwhelming.1%*
The operation of the group was subsequently criticised by some of those who attended
the meeting. In an email to a colleague Toby Gould described it as disorganised. Some
representatives were not present and the telephone conference facilities did not work well.
He was not convinced that the group was giving enough attention to urgent business.'64
Although national voluntary organisations, such as Victim Support and the Red Cross,
had been represented, he thought there was a lack of understanding at RBKC about
other relevant local voluntary organisations.’**” Many community organisations involved
in the response to the fire were frustrated by the lack of information being shared by
London Gold and its failure to gather information from organisations on the ground.¢*®

Psychological support

104.107 Due to the delays in setting up the humanitarian assistance support group, it was unclear
to those affected by the disaster what psychological support was available at the official
rest centre. That in turn led to differences in the level of support received. Some survivors
discovered that counselling was available from the NHS at the Westway Centre,'** but
some people did not think that there was sufficient privacy to enable them to take

1637 {GOLO0001052}.

1638 Andrew Meek {GOLO0001166/2} page 2, paragraph 6 at 10.23; Kerry {Day269/120:5}-{Day269/121:16}.

1639 Meek {GOLO0001166/5} page 5, paragraph 6 and {GOL00001166/9} page 9, paragraph 12; {GOL00001166/5}
page 5, paragraph 6, entry ‘evening”: Andrew Meek drafted a revised Humanitarian Assistance Centre (HAC)
Plan during the evening of 17 June 2017 as the Humanitarian Assistance Framework did not contain an HAC plan
{RBK0O0021646}.
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1641 Redmond {RBKO0058120/5} page 5, paragraphs 7.2-7.3.

1642 Redmond {RBKO0058120/2-3} pages 2-3, paragraphs 3.1-3.4.

1643 Redmond {Day271/70:22}-{Day271/71:9}; Gold Group Meeting Minutes at 10.00 on 15 June 2017 {RBK0O0013270/3};
Humanitarian Assistance Steering Group Minutes {RBKO0001920}.

1644 Redmond {Day271/52:23}-{Day271/53:4}.

1645 Redmond {Day271/73:19-25}; {Day271/76:7-8}.

1646 {| FBO0061320/1} page 1, paragraph 4.

1647 {RBK0O0019929/3}.

1648 Richards {Day275/166:2-6}.

1649 Dedrich {IWS00001275/7} page 7, paragraph 49; Sener Macit {IWS00001563/14} page 14, paragraph 65; Gashaw
{IWS00001738/18} page 18, paragraph 20; Wesley Ignacio {IWS00001820/16} page 16, paragraph 85;
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advantage of it.2%°° Maureen Mandirahwe, a member of the tri-borough social care team,
drew attention to the inadequacy of the mental health support at the Westway Centre and
the lack of privacy for those grieving.1®*!

104.108 Psychological support was provided by the NHS West London Clinical Commissioning
Group. The NHS is a Category 1 (and for some purposes a Category 2) responder with
an established response plan.'®>? Although its staff were in the rest centres on 14 and
15 June 2017,%3 by 16 June 2017 they were advising those in need to call a 24-hour
telephone number to obtain mental health support services and information instead of
offering to meet them.**>* On 18 June 2017 the Prime Minister had asked for additional
NHS staff to attend the next day.'®>> Those concerns were not isolated. Later that day it
became clear that doctors did not know where to refer people needing care, who was in
charge or whom to contact in connection with a need for acute care. There was a sense
that no one was in charge.%>®

104.109 Survivors described how they struggled with their mental health after the fire, desperately
needing help but not knowing where to get it at a time when they were at their most
vulnerable.®*” Most of those who had been affected indicated that psychological support
had not been offered to them within the seven days following the fire.16>®

104.110 Some of those in need of mental health support received prompt assistance from the
Red Cross,***® which provided psychosocial support at the Westway Centre.**® The Red
Cross also worked with the NHS teams to increase their capacity to reach people in hotels
and other places, although there was some delay in finding out where they were. 6!
There were variations in how that support was delivered. The most common form of
mental health support required was counselling. It was provided by “Time to Talk” at the
St Charles Centre®®®? and later by the Grenfell Health and Wellbeing service.'%® A few
people mentioned other sources of help, but they had often become available some
time after the fire. Others asked their doctors to refer them for psychological support,©*
or received counselling by other routes, such as through their employers.1®* Yet others
paid privately for their own counselling.'®®® Some survivors reported a delay in receiving
psychological support, in some cases for as much as six months.¢¢’
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Identification of specific needs

104.111 When London Gold assumed control on 16 June 2017, there was insufficient understanding
of the needs of those affected and the humanitarian response was disorganised.
Mary Harpley, chief executive of the London Borough of Hounslow, took over as HALO
from 16 June.'®®® She described RBKC as exhausted and not in a position to provide
any meaningful handover.?*®® As a result, London Gold had to spend time assessing the
situation, obtaining contact information for families and finding out who the community
leaders were.'*’® Ms Harpley identified a number of things that were needed, such
as a single, definitive list of the hotels into which people had been placed, regular
communication with survivors, a clear understanding of residents with the greatest
needs and a list of the community, faith and other leaders with whom RBKC should
have engaged.**’* She thought that RBKC had tried to cover all the important strands of
humanitarian assistance, but had not managed to demonstrate enough progress on any
of them to give survivors and observers confidence that the right work was being done.'*”?
Based on the other evidence we have seen, we agree with her assessment.

Key workers

104.112 The use of key workers played an increasingly important part in enabling people to
obtain the support that was available. On the afternoon of 16 June 2017, as concern
about the provision of humanitarian assistance mounted, the Prime Minister declared
that everyone affected by the fire, including those from the area surrounding the tower,
should be allocated a key worker and that all the key workers should be social workers.
That meant finding over 200 social workers from the London boroughs and defining their
responsibilities.'®”® The role of a key worker was to provide practical support,*’* not to
provide psychological support, and differed from that of family liaison officers, who were
police officers trained to support the next of kin of those who had died or were missing.6”>
In the days following the announcement, social workers from other boroughs who were
being deployed as key workers arrived at the rest centre without notice and without any
idea of what was expected of them,®’® reflecting an initial lack of co-ordination and a
failure to explain what they were expected to do.

104.113 Meeting the commitment to provide all those affected with a key worker proved difficult in
the short term. On 19 June 2017, Mr Gould told the BECC that 43 social workers from 11
boroughs were available.’*”” By 21 June 2017, some people were still waiting to be given a
key worker. However, even when a key worker had been provided, there was no guarantee
that residents would be visited. By 21 June 2017, only two-thirds of the 106 residents who
had been given key workers had been contacted. The number of residents actually visited
was still unknown 678

1668 Harpley {GOL00000441/1} page 1, paragraph 4.
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104.114 That remained a problem one month after the fire. On 13 July 2017 it was reported that all
residents of the tower and Grenfell Walk had key workers, but a number of families from
the Walkways housed in temporary accommodation had not been allocated a key worker
because there were not enough available.’®”® The report recognised that even at that stage
the problem could not be resolved quickly and it was uncertain when the government’s
objective for every household in temporary accommodation to have a key worker was likely
to be achieved.®®

104.115 The level of support provided to residents by key workers varied. Some said that their social
workers and key workers had been helpful*®®! and that key workers had provided advice on
counselling.'®8 Others reported that the high turnover of key workers was unhelpful*®® and
one complained that they had no experience of dealing with people facing trauma.®%

104.116 It does not appear that there was any urgent attempt to establish a system for responding
to the needs of those whose mental health had been affected. It is not clear whether
that was due to a lack of organisation on the part of RBKC or to the guidance in the
Humanitarian Assistance framework, which indicated that formal help, such as counselling,
should not be offered in the first few weeks after an incident.6

104.117 Before ending this chapter it is important that we recognise that many of RBKC’s staff, not
least those whose roles involved contact with the public, worked extremely hard for long
hours, day after day. They too were seriously affected by the tragedy and were expected
to carry on under circumstances that placed them under great deal of scrutiny and often
challenge. In common with the residents of North Kensington they were let down by
the leadership of the council, the inadequacy of its standing systems and the provision it
made for staff.168¢

1679 {RBKO0044499} email from Martin Hinckley WCC to RBKC 13 July 2017 attaching residents without key workers and
addressed to Natasha Bishop at the Key Workers Hub {RBKO0044500/1}.
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1684 Rashida Ali {IWS00001617/15} page 15, paragraph 185.
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Chapter 105

The response of the Tenant Management Organisation

105.1

105.2

105.3

105.4

Introduction

The principal purpose of the Tenant Management Organisation was to manage and
maintain RBKC’s housing stock. Unlike RBKC, it was not a responder for the purposes of the
Civil Contingencies Act 2004. Nonetheless, from the first hours it was directly involved in
several aspects of the humanitarian response to the disaster, including through attendance
at rest centres, RBKC Gold group meetings, creating and managing a list of safe and missing
residents and facilitating the return of residents evacuated from properties within the
police cordon.

We heard evidence from Robert Black, the chief executive, and Teresa Brown, the Director
of Housing, about the steps taken by the TMO in response to the situation created by the
fire. We also received 47 witness statements from members of the TMO’s staff.

Emergency planning

The TMO had its own emergency plan which identified various responsibilities in the event
of a major emergency.®® |t was created in August 2004 and had subsequently been revised
in 2009 and 2016. For present purposes we are concerned with the 2016 version, which
was in effect at the date of the fire.

Part 1 of the plan described the TMO’s role in emergency planning and response. In their
evidence, Mr Black and Ms Brown initially suggested that the plan had been designed for
localised incidents®®® and had never been intended to apply to a major incident,®® as the
TMO did not have sufficient resources to deal with an emergency on that scale.’ In such
an event, the RBKC Contingency Management Plan would come into operation rather than
the TMO’s emergency plan.?®! In those circumstances the TMO would have no formal

role other than to provide resources and support RBKC when requested.'®*? However, the
introduction to the emergency plan suggests that it did envisage a role for the TMO in
response to a major incident that exceeded its own capabilities and resources.®®® In such
a situation, the TMO would be expected to work with the council. Both Mr Black!*** and
Ms Brown?!®®® accepted that the plan could, in theory, have applied to the Grenfell Tower
fire, reflecting a degree of uncertainty about the part that the TMO was expected to play in
response to a major emergency.

1687 TMO Emergency Plan {RBKO0057991}.

1688 Brown {Day274/6:16-22}; Black {TM010048970/2} page 2, paragraph 11.

1685 Black {TM010048970/2} page 2, paragraph 11; Brown {TMO00869990/2} page 2, paragraphs 6-7.
1690 Black {TM010048970/3} page 3, paragraph 12.

1691 Black {TM010048970/1} page 1, paragraph 4; Brown {TMO00869990/2-3} pages 2-3, paragraph 9.
1692 Black {TM010048970/3} page 3, paragraph 15.

1693 TMQO Emergency Plan {RBK00057991/13}.
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Relationship with the council

105.5 There was no effective arrangement or shared understanding between the TMO and RBKC
about the part that the TMO would play in the event of a major emergency affecting one
or more of its properties!®® and RBKC’s Contingency Management Plan did not refer to the
TMO.*¥” Following the fire at Adair Tower in October 2015, there was a discussion at the
TMO executive team meeting on 11 November 2015 in which those present recognised the
need for the TMO to be more involved with RBKC in emergency planning in order to ensure
that all were aware of their responsibilities.’®®® It was agreed that in response to an incident
involving more than a few dwellings the TMO would provide details of residents” known
vulnerabilities.'®* However, Mr Black did not seek to clarify with RBKC the formal role of
the TMO in the event of an emergency;*’® he expected that Laura Johnson and her team
would tell the TMO how it fitted into RBKC’s plan.?’®* At the time of the Grenfell Tower fire,
therefore, the TMO did not have a formal and clearly defined role in RBKC’s contingency
planning arrangements.'’® Given that the need for such a role had been identified as a
result of the Adair Tower fire, that gap should have been filled.

Training

105.6  The emergency plan required staff to undertake a number of tasks in the event of an
emergency, including ensuring that the primary needs of residents were met, opening and
managing rest centres to care for those affected and identifying residents’ special needs
or vulnerabilities.}’®* However, TMO staff were not properly trained to carry out those
tasks. Notably, neither Mr Black nor Ms Brown undertook any training in responding to
emergencies during the course of their employment by the TMO,*** despite their senior
roles and the fact that Ms Brown was identified in the emergency plan as a contact and
key decision-maker.t’%> Mr Black told us that, although no training had been provided to
staff about their own responsibilities, staff on call and out-of-hours contractors did receive
training on their responsibilities when on duty.?’ Although some staff received more
general briefings from the TMQ’s Health and Safety team,'’?” several people who were
identified in the emergency plan as key contacts had not received training on the plan
itself,*’% let alone in any detail.}’® Mr Black could not recall whether any specific training
on the emergency plan had been given to the executive team so that they could help staff
understand their roles and responsibilities in co-operation with RBKC.'"** TMO staff had

16% Black {Day275/15:1-6}.
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not received training in managing rest centres or collating information in an emergency
situation.'”** Mr Black accepted that TMO staff should have received more training in how
to respond to an emergency.t’*?

The night of the fire

105.7 The TMO’s emergency plan was not activated in response to the fire. Mr Black accepted
that it could have been but that, in reality, the incident was overwhelming for the TMO.
In any event, RBKC’s Contingency Management Plan was in operation by the time he
arrived at the scene.'’®3 RBKC did not actively ask for the TMQ’s assistance but welcomed
the support it offered.'’** The TMQ’s involvement was essentially voluntary!’*> and it
co-operated with RBKC to respond to the situation as it evolved.’*®* TMO staff brought
particular insights into the tower, the local area and the residents that others did not
share.'’” Ms Brown'’s understanding was that the council had been in charge of the
response to the emergency and that the TMO had had a supporting role, providing
assistance when RBKC asked it to do so.'*® She told us that TMO staff had wanted to do
what they could to help and so had stepped in.'’*

105.8 Although RBKC asked the TMO for information on certain housing matters, it did not ask
for its assistance in responding to the effects of the fire. However, despite the absence of
any existing arrangements or any request to help in providing humanitarian assistance,
TMO employees voluntarily made themselves an integral part of the response, both on
the night of the fire and in the week that followed. Although Ms Brown had some practical
experience in providing such assistance as a result of her involvement in the Adair Tower
fire and dealing with smaller emergencies,!’?° that was not sufficient to prepare her or her
team to respond to a major emergency of the kind then facing them.

Rest centres

105.9 The TMO was not involved in setting up any of the rest centres!’?! and RBKC did not initially
tell Ms Brown what she and her staff were expected to do when they went there.?’??
Ms Brown told us that they had been left to decide for themselves what to do!’?* and
that they thought that the most useful thing would be to go to rest centres and start
supporting residents and collecting information for the LFB about who was safe and
who was missing.’?*

105.10 Inthe early hours of 14 June 2017, TMO staff attended the Rugby Portobello
Trust, St Clement’s Church, the Methodist Church, the Westway Centre, and the
Latymer Community Church.? Ms Brown did not allocate any staff to other community
rest centres, such as the Al Manaar Cultural Heritage Centre, St Francis of Assisi Church
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or the Salvation Army, because she did not know about them.'’?® TMO staff did not,
therefore, collect information about residents that attended those centres.’?” However,
when he attended the second RBKC Gold group meeting at 15.00 on 14 June 2017,*7%8

Mr Black incorrectly told the meeting that the TMO had staff in every rest centre.’?® His
error was the result of his not having been given the latest information about rest centres.
That contributed to RBKC’s lack of accurate information about the number of people who
had been displaced by the fire.

105.11 Between them RBKC and the TMO failed to take effective measures to tell survivors and
displaced residents about the support available at the rest centres. Ms Brown told us
that she had expected the Local Authority Liaison Officer (LALO) to tell the emergency
services, who in turn would direct residents to the rest centres as they were evacuated,*”*°
since she was not allowed within the cordon.'’*! However, TMO staff did not take any
steps to communicate with the LALO to ensure that residents were told where they could
go.32 Similarly, no consideration was given to deploying TMO staff in the streets outside
the police cordon in order to direct residents to rest centres.'’* A significant number of
residents who had been displaced did not know where to go after they had left the tower
or their homes nearby.

The Westway Centre

105.12 During the course of 14 June 2017, the TMO was advised by Amanda Johnson and
Robert Shaw of RBKC that they should tell people to go to the Westway Centre as the
designated rest centre and stay there overnight.'’** There was difficulty in persuading
people to leave the existing rest centres because some wanted to stay in rest centres run
by the community.’3>

105.13 Although the Westway Centre had become the centralised place of support during the
course of the day on 14 June 2017,**®* Ms Brown did not visit it, either on 14 June 2017 or
subsequently,'’®” because she considered that there were capable staff in place.'”*® There
was a TMO desk at the Westway Centre but there were no TMO staff there on Saturday
17 June or Sunday 18 June 2017 because of worries about their safety.!’** Given the TMQ’s
position as the body with whom most residents had had regular contact before the fire,
it is not surprising that they expected to see people from the TMO offering support in the
days following it. Some residents complained that the TMO was not sufficiently active in its
response to the fire and had failed to provide support for people at the Westway Centre,*’*°
but it was not responsible for setting up the Westway Centre as a rest centre or for running
it. That was the responsibility of RBKC.
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Until 19 June 2017 no mechanism was introduced at the Westway Centre to deal with
questions from residents of the tower and surrounding blocks.’#* On 23 June 2017 a log
was created to help staff in providing responses to questions.t’*> TMO staff working at the
Westway Centre were provided with daily briefings to enable them to assist people,*’*® but
no written briefings were provided until 26 June 2017.174

List of those safe and missing

Ms Brown initially collated information about those missing to assist the LFB with

rescue efforts.’* That evolved into creating and maintaining a spreadsheet containing

lists of safe and missing people to provide to RBKC to assist with providing emergency
accommodation.'’*® The spreadsheet was also circulated to a number of agencies, including
the casualty bureau and the BECC.%#/

Ms Brown had not been asked by RBKC to undertake that task;*’*® she had done so
voluntarily because it was a practical way in which she could help and she knew it was
important.t’# She directed her initial efforts only to residents of Grenfell Tower and not to
those who had been evacuated from the Walkways or Treadgold House.*”*°

There were two fundamental problems with the creation and maintenance of the safe and
missing lists. First, the spreadsheet was based on the tenancy information held by the TMO
in its electronic records,’>* which was incomplete and inaccurate. Secondly, the method by
which TMO staff were collecting information at rest centres was haphazard. A combination
of these two problems led to errors in the list and to people being misinformed about the
safety of their loved ones.

Inaccurate information

The TMO relied for the accuracy of its records primarily on information provided by its
tenants.?”*? Although good practice required it to carry out an audit of each property every
year, it did not do so because it had more pressing matters to attend to.!’*?

Ms Brown told us that the tenancy list contained a mixture of tenants and other household
members.”>* In some cases only the tenant appeared; in others the tenant and other
members of the household were included. In some cases residents did not appear in the
list at all. The information held by the TMO about disabilities or particular needs, such as
preferred language and mental and physical health, was incomplete. The list was amended
by staff whenever they were provided with fresh information. Ms Brown accepted the

1741 Internal TMO email sent on 19 June 2017 at 11.52 {TMO00870375}.

742 Internal TMO email sent on 23 June 2017 at 10.22 {TM010035572}.

1743 Brown {Day274/52:6-20}.

1744 Briefing - Staff Expectations for covering TMO Westway Helpdesk {TM010036663}.

1745 Brown {TM0O00869990/5} page 5, paragraph 23.

1746 Brown {Day274/27:20-24}; Brown {Day274/58:17}-{Day274/59:2}; Email from Kiran Singh (TMO) on 14 June 2017 at
12.21 {TM0O00869930} attaching list of safe and missing residents {TMO00869931}.

1747 Brown {TM000894124/6} page 6, paragraph 20; Brown {Day274/58:9-21}.

1748 Brown {Day274/57:1-20}.

1743 Brown {Day274/57:1-9}.

1750 Brown {Day274/123:8-10}.

1751 Tenancy List {TMO00866006}.

1752 Singh {TM000894410/2} page 2, paragraph 3c.

753 Williams {TMO00879804/9} page 9, paragraph 62.

1754 Brown {Day274/68:6-19}.
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shortcomings of the tenancy list as the basis for identifying who was in the tower on the
night of the fire.?”*> Kiran Singh, who produced the list, was unable to say when it had last
been revised.'”**

105.20 The inaccuracies in the tenancy information provided by the TMO in turn created problems
for other agencies using the information. The police had difficulty establishing a clear
picture of who had been in the tower and realised by the end of the first day that the
TMOQ’s list was not accurate.*”’

105.21 The inaccuracies also hampered residents’ searches for their loved ones.
Mohammed Rasoul told us that, when he attended the Latymer Community Church,
somebody whom he believed to be from the TMO was present with a list of flat numbers
and names. Virginia Duffy was listed as the occupier of Flat 153, even though she had
died the previous year. In June 2017 it was the home of Isaac Paulos, aged 5, who
died in the fire.17*#

105.22 After the fire, RBKC was aware that the tenancy information was inaccurate. As late as
17 June 2017, Mr Robert Shaw of RBKC sent an email to TMO staff asking how many
residents, not just lead tenants, lived in the tower. Mr Singh qualified his reply with a
warning that the information was not likely to be completely accurate as households had
changed over the years and the TMO had not always been told.”** Ms Brown accepted that
meant that there were people who were not accounted for and therefore not contacted.'’®°

105.23 On 14 June 2017, the safe and missing lists were initially revised on the basis of information
collected at rest centres. TMO staff later called all known residents of the tower who had
not made contact through the rest centres, although that effort was hampered by the
fact that contact information was not always correct.'’®* Ms Brown and another colleague
continued calling residents of the tower until about 21.00 on 14 June 2017, but in many
cases without success.'’®?

105.24 The minutes of the second RBKC Gold group meeting at 15.30 on 14 June 2017 recorded
that the TMO had made contact with 81 households from the tower but that they did not
know where some residents were staying.!’®

105.25 It is not clear whether residents to whom the TMO was able to speak were asked
about any vulnerabilities or specific needs or whether they were offered any particular
support.r’®* Ms Brown told us that the focus at that stage had been on finding out whether
people were safe .1’

1755 Brown {Day274/71:12-19}.

1756 Singh {TM000894410/2} page 2, paragraph 3c.

1757 Email from the Metropolitan Police Service to various agencies regarding updated briefing on the number of
fatalities and/or missing people {RBK00018233/2}.

758 Rasoul {Day265/146:4-19}.

1759 Email correspondence between Robert Shaw (RBKC Housing) and Kiran Singh (TMO) on 17 June 2017
{TM010035581/4}.

1760 Brown {Day274/72:4-9}.

761 Brown {TM0O00869990/5} page 5, paragraph 23.

1762 Brown {TM000894124/8} page 8, paragraph 28.

1763 RBKC Gold Group Meeting {RBK0O0023236/1}.

1764 Luke Towner stated that his partner was contacted by the TMO on 14 June only to confirm that if they escaped,
they were not offered any support or a call back at a later date, Towner {IWS00001705/8} page 8, paragraph 41.

1765 Brown {Day274/95:19-25}.
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105.26 By 16 June 2017, 129 Grenfell Tower residents on the TMO’s list had been accounted for
but 102 had not been found.*’*® There was no clear plan for contacting those residents who
had not been reached. That is consistent with the evidence we heard from survivors'’®’
and residents of the tower who said they had not been contacted by the TMO in the
first few days following the fire. Ms Brown did not know whether RBKC was also trying to
account for the residents of the tower.?’¢® By 19 June 2017 RBKC and the TMO had still not
established an accurate list of those who had been living in the tower.17°

Haphazard recording of information

105.27 Before sending her staff to the rest centres, Ms Brown told them to collect the names
and addresses of those who were safe and those who were missing and information on
particular needs, including in relation to accommodation.'”’° They were not asked to record
that information in a particular way*’’* and did not use the template in the emergency
plan.””2 Ms Brown did not receive any instructions from RBKC on the kind of information
that should be collected or how to collate and organise it.}’”3

105.28 Ms Brown thought that her staff were clear about what they needed to do,’”* but one
member of the team who had been sent to the Harrow Club did not think that she was the
right person to be running a rest centre, having received no training. However, she felt she
had no choice but to carry on.'’”®

105.29 Clare Richards, the chief executive of the Clement James Centre, was concerned by the
way in which TMO staff were recording information. She said that they had been recording
information on scraps of paper, had not been making an accurate record of who was there
and had not known who they were looking for.1”’¢ She offered them the use of laptops to
capture information on a spreadsheet, but the offer was declined.’”” Ms Brown told us
that she had not wanted staff to record information on different laptops because it would
have taken time to amalgamate the different lists. She wanted a single spreadsheet’’® to
minimise confusion’”® and the risk of error.1’&

105.30 The pieces of paper containing handwritten notes’®! from the various rest centres were
passed to Mr Singh,’®? who brought a laptop to the Clement James Centre on the morning
of 14 June 2017.18 He amended the original spreadsheet!’8* using the information on the
loose sheets of paper and recorded whether residents were safe. He also recorded any

766 {TMO00869959}.

1767 Moghaddam {IWS00000392/8} page 8, paragraph 42; Patel {IWS00001610/10} page 10, paragraph 49;
Ho {IWS00001551/16} page 16, paragraph 62; Gomes {IWS00001734/28} page 28, paragraph 44; Ross
{IwS00001826/14-15} pages 14-15, paragraph 69.

768 Brown {Day274/97:7-15}.

1769 RBKC Log {RBKO0028712/1}.

1770 Brown {Day274/29:17-23}.

771 Brown {TM0O00894124/7} page 7, paragraph 24.

772 {RBKO0057991/31}.

1773 Brown {Day274/57:1-20}.

1774 Brown {Day274/60:16}-{Day274/61:14}.

Y775 Warrier {TM010048986/4} page 4, paragraph 18, Ms Warrier was a Neighbourhood Team Leader.

1776 Richards {CFV00000012/13} page 13, paragraph 89.

777 Richards {CFV00000012/13} page 13, paragraph 89.

1778 Safe and Missing List circulated at 12.21pm {TMO00869931}.

1775 Brown {Day274/80:10-16}.

1780 Brown {Day274/79:1-7}.

1781 Examples of handwritten notes taken by the TMO staff at rest centres {TM010035210}; {TM010035236};
{TM010035242}; {TM010035218}; Brown {Day274/75:3-10}.

1782 Brown {Day274/81:23}-{Day274/82:6}.

783 Brown {TM000894124/6} page 6, paragraph 20.

1784 Safe and Missing List circulated at 12.21pm {TMO00869931}.
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other relevant information, such as whether they were staying with friends and relatives or
in a hotel.'’®> Ms Brown accepted that there was a degree of error in recording information
at the rest centres in that way,'’8® but said the system was as efficient as it could be.*’®”
Unfortunately, although her efforts to create a centralised system were intended to reduce
error, their outcome was the opposite.

Errors in the lists

105.31 As a consequence of the errors and omissions in the tenancy records and the defects in the
further information gathered at the rest centres, there were a number of significant errors
in the safe and missing lists.

105.32 Inthe spreadsheet circulated on 14 June 2017 at 12.21'78 a number of people who had
died in the fire were marked as safe, including Denis Murphy,'®® Khadija Khalloufi,’?°
Faouzia EI-Wahabi, Yasin EI-Wahabi, Abdulaziz EI-Wahabi and Nur Huda El-Wahabi’*!
and Saber Neda.?”®? Some of those marked safe were also marked as missing, such as
Denis Murphy and Khadija Khalloufi.’”*® The same inaccuracies remained throughout the
day. Revised lists were circulated by Mr Singh at 13.08 and 13.44; recipients included RBKC
for forwarding to teams on the ground.’®* However, those lists still recorded as safe some
who had died.'’®

105.33 Another spreadsheet circulated at 17.27 contained revisions made after the
neighbourhood team had telephoned every resident from whom they had not heard, but it
still listed Denis Murphy and Khadija Khalloufi as safe. The EI-Wahabi family were still listed
as safe, save for a note stating that one member might be missing.t’*® Ms Brown could not
explain why people had been listed as safe and missing on the same spreadsheet; she told
us that they had tried to check the information as they went along.'”®” She accepted that
the safe and missing tabs on the spreadsheet should have been cross-checked to make sure
that those recorded as safe were not also recorded as missing and vice versa.'’*®

105.34 Errors were clearly made in the reporting and recording of information at the rest
centres,”® but there were also significant errors in transferring the information from the
handwritten notes into the spreadsheet. That was demonstrated by the fact that one

1785 Brown {Day274/81:23}-{Day274/82:6}; Singh {TM0O00894410/1-2} pages 1-2, paragraph 3a.

1786 Brown {Day274/76:8-15}.

787 Brown {Day274/79:11-25}.

1788 Safe and Missing List circulated at 12.21pm {TMO00869930}.

1789 {TM010017313} Row 11: Denis Murphy was marked safe as seen by the yellow highlight.

1790 {TM010017313} Row 51: Khadija Khalloufi was marked safe as seen by the yellow highlight.

791 {TM010017313} Rows 104-107: Faouzia ElI-Wahabi, Yasin El-Wahabi, Abdulaziz EI-Wahabi and Nur Huda El-Wahabi
were marked safe as seen by the yellow highlight.

1792 {TM010017313} Row 136: Saber Neda was marked safe as seen by the yellow highlight.

1793 {TM010017313} Rows 11 and 51: Denis Murphy and Khadjia Khalloufi were also marked under the ‘missing’ tab as
seen by the pink highlights.

1794 Brown {TM0O00869990/5} page 5, paragraph 26.

1795 {TM010017359} Safe and Missing list sent from Kiran Singh to Rob Shaw at RBKC at 13.44 on 14 June 2017.
The same inaccurate information is recorded in the ‘SAFE’ tab at Row 11: Denis Murphy, Row 51: Khadija Khalloufi,
Row 102: Jessica Urbano Ramirez, Rows 104-107: Faouzia EI-Wahabi, Yasin EI-Wahabi, Abdulaziz El-Wahabi and
Nur Huda ElI-Wahabi, Row 136: Saber Neda, as seen by the yellow highlights.

1796 {TM000869982} Kiran Singh circulated Resident List at 17.27 confirming that the Neighbourhood team had
rang every resident they had not heard from. Row 11: Denis Murphy, Row 51: Khadija Khalloufi, Rows 104-107:
Faouzia El-Wahabi, Yasin El-Wahabi, Abdulaziz EI-Wahabi and Nur Huda El-Wahabi, Row 136: Saber Neda, Row 102;
Jessica Urbano Ramirez were marked ‘safe’ on that list as seen by the yellow highlights {TM010017480}; Brown
{TM0O00869990/6} page 6, paragraph 27; Brown {Day274/89:15}-{Day274/91:5}.

1797 Brown {Day274/84:3-14}.

1798 Brown {Day274/85:18-23}.

1799 Brown {Day 274/83:12-18}.
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handwritten note recorded Jessica Urbano Ramirez as missing,®® whereas in the lists
circulated at 13.44,%81 14.46%% and 17.26% she was marked as safe. That is likely to have
been due more to human error than the method used to record the information.

105.35 Ms Brown told us that she had understood that other organisations, including the council,
the casualty bureau and the BECC, would be relying on the information in the list as a
base and using it in delivering their emergency response.’® In particular, both she and
Mr Black!®% had known that it would be relied on by RBKC’s housing department.8%®
Mr Black told us that at the time he had thought it was the TMQ’s responsibility to provide
the information, but in hindsight he thought it had been the responsibility of RBKC as
Category 1 responder.’®’ He said that although people had done their best, it was not as
good as it should have been and he apologised for the heartbreak that that must have
caused people. 8%

105.36 Given the significance of the safe and missing lists and the fact that several organisations
were known to be relying on the information they contained, TMO staff should not have
been left to do the best they could.’®® The problems stemmed from poor record-keeping
before the fire, resulting in tenancy information that was unreliable. If reliable information
had been readily available to the TMO, it would have allowed more residents to be
accounted for more quickly and their particular needs to be identified. it would also have
reduced the risk of inaccurate and inconsistent information being circulated.

105.37 As a Category 1 responder, RBKC should have had a plan in place to account for safe and
missing residents in the event of an emergency affecting any of its properties. Instead, the
burden of devising a means of achieving that objective fell on a handful of staff at the TMO.
However, the TMO should have made it clear to RBKC that it needed support to put in place
a robust and effective system. Difficulties in establishing an accurate list of those who had
been living in the tower continued throughout the following week.'®° Unfortunately, the
system implemented by the TMO led to systemic errors, with people being wrongly told
that their loved ones were safe, when they were in fact missing.!8!

1800 Handwritten note marking residents as safe or missing in the rest centre {TM010035210}.

1801 {TM010017359} Row 102: Jessica Urbano Ramirez marked ‘safe’ as seen by the yellow highlight.

1802 {TMO00869935} Row 102: Jessica Urbano Ramirez marked ‘safe’ as seen by the yellow highlight.

1803 {TM010017480} Row 102: Jessica Urbano Ramirez marked ‘safe’ as seen by the yellow highlight.

1804 Brown {Day274/59:15-24}.

1805 Black {Day275/105:24}-{Day275/106:5}.

1806 Brown {Day274/85:3-7}.

1807 Black {Day275/107:12-18}.

1808 Black {Day275/119:13}-{Day275/120:10}.

1809 Brown {Day274/61:4-7}.

1810 RBKC Log 9 dated 19 June 2017 {RBK00028712/1}.

1811 Daniels {IWS00002065/11} page 11, paragraphs 73-74; Chiapetto {IWS00001780/1} page 1, paragraph 2; Murphy
{IWS00001709/3} page 3, paragraph 12; Wahabi {Day267/102:8-25}-{Day267/103:1-17}. A resident was informed by
the TMO that his missing wife was reported as safe at the St Clements Centre. His son received a conflicting report
from another TMO officer {RBKO0012043}.
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Residents evacuated from the surrounding area

105.38 About 845 residents of Hurstway Walk, Barandon Walk, Testerton Walk, Grenfell Walk
and Treadgold House were evacuated on the night of the fire'®'® and were prevented by the
police cordon from returning to their homes.*®!* The residents of Grenfell Walk have never
been able to return to their properties.'®'> As a result, there were significant numbers of
people requiring emergency accommodation and other support.

105.39 Ms Brown told us that although RBKC had been responsible for managing the response
to the emergency, the TMO had some operational capability which it used to help
displaced residents.81®

Prioritising the needs for emergency accommodation

105.40 It does not appear that RBKC was fully aware of the number of people displaced or their
particular needs. In part, that seems to have been due to a widely held expectation that
residents evacuated from surrounding buildings would be able to return home without
much delay.!®'” As a result, on 14 June 2017, RBKC's strategy was to prioritise residents
of the tower for emergency accommodation.'®® However, residents evacuated from the
Walkways were not allowed to return home immediately and in many cases were not able
to return for days, weeks and in some cases for a number of months.*®° As reflected in
the minutes of the Gold Group meeting on 16 June 2017, at which Laura Johnson of RBKC
said that she would house the vulnerable or those with children and without hot water
but that others would have to manage, RBKC treated the problem as one for the TMO.82°
However, RBKC did attempt to consider the needs of residents evacuated from surrounding
properties who were vulnerable, elderly or had families.8?

105.41 On 14 June 2017 at 17.05, Robert Shaw, Housing Options and Allocations Manager at
RBKC, asked for information from the TMO about the number of tenants living in the
cordoned area, and in particular the number of those who were vulnerable, elderly or
had families with children, in order to determine how many people required emergency
accommodation.'®?? David Noble gave him a total number of residents across the evacuated
properties, which included 25 disabled people.®” That response was incomplete and did
not provide information about other vulnerabilities, the elderly or families with children.
Furthermore, the figure of 25 people was based on information received from residents;*%*
the true number is likely to have been higher.18?°

1812 {TM000869977}; Brown {TM0O00894124/17} page 17, paragraph 60.

1813 Brown {Day274/97:21}-{Day274/99:3} residents from Bramley house were also evacuated but not for an extended
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1814 Brown {TM000894124/19} page 19, paragraph 66; Police Cordon Slideshow {MET00080826}.

1815 Cherbika {Day266/117:1-3}; {Day266/177:19-21}; Moses {IWS00001276/13} page 13, paragraphs 88, 91 and 92;
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1817 Brown {Day274/102:9-18}.
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1819 pasztor {IWS00001682/4} page 4, paragraph 17 (7-8 months); El-Sawy {IWS00001829/8} page 8, paragraph 34
(9 months); Ollivierre {IWS00001758/6} page 6, paragraph 26 (9 months); Elbouti {IWS00001605/11} page 11,
paragraph 50 (10 months);

1820 Black {Day275/64:20}-{Day275/65:4}; RBKC Gold Group Meeting Minutes at 10.00 on 16 June 2017
{TM010033491/2} paragraph 7.

1821 Brown {Day274/46:2-6}.

1822 {TM000869925}.

1823 {TM000869977}.

1824 Brown {Day274/104:14-19}.

1825 Brown {Day274/104:24}-{Day274/105:3}.
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Ms Brown told us that RBKC had been identifying vulnerable residents and those with
children through social services and family and children’s services.'®?® However it is clear
that RBKC was relying on information provided by the TMO to decide whom to place in
emergency accommodation.’?’ As a result, at 17.48 on 14 June 2017 Mr Shaw sent an
email to various colleagues at RBKC attaching the list of residents from the cordoned area.
He told them that there were 845 residents (tenants and families), including 25 recognised
as disabled by the TMO.182¢

Although he went on to say that families with children, vulnerable people and older people
would be housed if they did not have an alternative place to stay, he did not draw attention
to the fact that information relating to the latter categories had not been provided by the
TMO and that numbers were therefore still unknown.’®? It was clear that even by the time
of the RBKC Gold group meeting at 10.00 on 16 June 2017 not all families and those with
vulnerabilities had been given hotel accommodation.%°

The Westway Centre

During the afternoon of 14 June 2017 RBKC told the TMO that, if the police cordon
remained in place, the remaining residents evacuated from buildings within the cordon
would have to be accommodated at the Westway Centre unless they were vulnerable,
elderly, disabled or had children.®3 TMO staff relayed that advice to the rest centres,®
although residents at rest centres where there was no one from the TMO present

may not have received it'®* and indeed Ms Brown accepted that some people had

not received it.*83*

That method of communicating with those who had been evacuated from properties
surrounding the tower was defective, not least because some were not aware of the
existence of the rest centres®* and others had even been refused entry.’83® No attempts
were made that day to communicate with evacuated residents by other means as TMO
staff were concentrating on going through the tenancy list for Grenfell Tower and trying to
establish contact with those who had lived there.'®’ Although the TMO had the ability to
send a single text message to a large group of people at the same time, it was not used.'®®

Mr Black attended the RBKC Gold group meeting at 10.00 on 15 June 2017 at which

it was reported that only a limited number of people were at the Westway Centre.!8°
Although questions were asked about the whereabouts of the rest of the residents, it was
assumed that they were staying with family and friends.*®*® Mr Black could not recall any
discussion about the possibility that residents had not received the message to go to the
Westway Centre or that some residents might be missing.*®*
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1838 Brown {Day274/114:4-9} it was not used until 16 June 2017.

1835 RBKC Gold Group Meeting {RBK00023234/1}.

1840 Black {Day275/49:24}-{Day275/50:8}.
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105.47 Although TMO staff were taking the lead operationally in respect of residents evacuated
from properties within the police cordon, Mr Black accepted that he could have had a
better understanding of how information was being collected and shared with RBKC. He did
not have a clear picture of what the TMO was doing.*®*?> Although he tried to stay on top of
matters, he found it difficult to do so.*®*?

Initial contact with evacuated residents

105.48 The first time efforts were made by the TMO to contact residents evacuated from buildings
within the cordon was on 15 June 2017, when the neighbourhood team called residents to
confirm their whereabouts.’®** However, the process suffered from the same limitations as
that used to compile the safe and missing lists, in that it was based on information taken
from the housing management system.'®* There was incomplete information relating to
vulnerabilities,'®* information about leaseholders rather than occupiers was recorded®*
and contact details were out of date.'®® That was particularly serious given that on the
evening of 14 June 2017 RBKC had asked the TMO to provide information about residents
who had been evacuated and were elderly, disabled, vulnerable or had children in order
to place them in emergency accommodation. By the evening of 15 June 2017, TMO
staff could not account for the whereabouts of residents of 216 of the 367 properties in
Hurstway Walk, Testerton Walk and Barandon Walk.'8#

105.49 A script was prepared to assist TMO staff making calls to residents of the Walkways and
Grenfell Tower!®° but there were significant differences in the information provided.
Residents of Grenfell Tower were told that they could go to the Westway Centre for
support and were provided with contact details for the casualty bureau and the temporary
accommodation team.*®>! Those evacuated from the Walkways were not given that
information.'®? Given that RBKC had specifically told the TMO to tell residents of the
Walkways that they should seek accommodation at the Westway Centre, that was a
significant omission. 83

Decision to return residents

105.50 Stuart Priestley, RBKC’s Council Silver,*®>* told Ms Brown early in the morning of
15 June 2017 that consideration was being given to allowing residents of buildings within
the police cordon to return to their properties.'®> Ms Brown explained her concerns
about people returning to their homes with no gas and no hot water or cooking facilities.
In addition, doors damaged when the police had forced entry needed to be repaired
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1850{TM010036636}.

1851 {TM010036636/2-3}.
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and the door entry system needed to be re-routed.’®>® She suggested that the return of
residents should not be rushed and should wait until the provision of services could be
ensured. The decision that people should return to their properties was taken by RBKC; the
TMO was in effect left to work out how to enable them to do so0.'®’

105.51 Although Ms Brown thought that her objections were being passed to the BECC,'®® she
was contacted later that evening and asked to meet Inspector Bean to inspect the area to
identify what needed to be boarded up before residents returned.’®>° During the inspection
she was told that it was the intention of RBKC Gold group that residents should return as
soon as possible.*®® Ms Brown told us that she had continued to be unhappy about that.
She called her manager, Sacha Jevans, to pass on her views and spoke in turn to RBKC’s
Director of Housing, Laura Johnson.'®! Ms Brown subsequently learned that Laura Johnson
had told Ms Jevans that the Gold group decision®®? had to be followed.*®3

105.52 The RBKC Gold group decided at its meeting at 15.30 on 15 June 2017 that the Walkway
properties would be reoccupied that night.'®* However, although the decision to
allow residents to go home had been made in principle that day, it was not formally
implemented until 16 June 2017.18> At the RBKC Gold group meeting at 10.00 on 16 June
2017 the position in relation to displaced residents was still not clear. The action sheet
from the meeting records that the police were not providing clear information about
re-occupation and were turning people away from Treadgold House.*®% The formal decision
to allow residents to return to Treadgold House was taken at 12.30 on 16 June 2017.18¢
Shortly after, a decision was made that residents of Barandon Walk, Testerton Walk and
Hurstway Walk (except Flats 501-562) could also return home.'® Ms Brown®° and
Mr Black told us that there had been confusion between the police, the BECC and RBKC
Gold group in communicating the decision on when residents could return home.#”°

105.53 The decision by RBKC to send residents home so quickly was driven by the shortage of
emergency accommodation for the significant number of displaced people.’®* That is
evident from the notes of the first humanitarian assistance steering group meeting at 14.00
on 15 June 2017 which recorded that “Those disbanded [sic] in the cordoned off areas
are not priorities as there is [sic] not resources to support this” and “AG [RBKC] explained
that there is a shortage of hotels locally and those from Grenfell are the priority”.187?
Similarly, the action sheet from the RBKC Gold group meeting at 15.30 on 15 June 2017
stated, “If cordon is not lifted, then [we] have over 800 people to find places. Will need to
seek help from Government.”187
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105.54 The concerns expressed at an operational level by Ms Brown do not appear to have
been voiced at a strategic level by Mr Black. Despite knowing of them,®’* he could not
remember whether he had raised them at any of the RBKC Gold meetings.'®”> There is no
suggestion in the action sheets from those meetings that he raised any specific objections
to returning residents to their homes, even though that was something his staff would have
to organise. He accepted that the TMO was being required to send people back to their
homes, despite their condition, because there were too many displaced people for RBKC
to provide all of them with emergency accommodation.'®’® He accepted that that created
difficulties for the TMO, which had to make sure the properties were habitable and safe.'®”’

Attempts to communicate with residents

105.55 Once Ms Brown had received confirmation on 16 June 2017 that residents could return to
buildings within the cordon, she arranged for 11 TMO officers to telephone them to tell
them that they could go home, at the same time warning them about the lack of heating
and hot water and telling them about the washing facilities at the Westway Centre.*8’8
She also arranged for 15 members of the TMO’s staff to visit the Walkways and
Treadgold House to check on residents, refer people to support services, see whether any
repairs or cleaning were required and check the electricity supply.*®”° TMO staff kept notes
of those visits with the intention of keeping a record of vulnerabilities and of any need for
assistance that could be added to the central electronic list of residents.'8 However, the
records were often haphazard,®®® inconsistent and incomplete.8?

105.56 The TMO used the “text burst” facility for the first time on 16 June 2017 to let residents
from Barandon Walk, Treadgold House and Hurstway Walk know that they could go home
and to warn them that they might not have hot water or gas.'®3 Residents were told
that they could continue to stay with family or friends or in what was described as “the
resource centre”.’¥* That was intended to be a reference to the Westway Centre, but it
is not clear whether people realised that. The message did not provide any information
about the Westway Centre, what support was available there or how to get there.
Although it was unlikely to reach everyone, the “text burst” facility was a useful means of
communication and should have been used earlier and more often to provide information
to displaced residents.

105.57 On 19 June 2017, further attempts to call residents were made.'®> TMO staff also visited
homes again to find out whether more residents had returned, to give advice and to see
whether repairs were needed.'®® A number of residents had still not returned home.#’

1874 Black {Day275/55:19}-{Day275/56:1}.

1875 Black {Day275/56:2-7}.

1876 Black {Day275/57:3-8}.

1877 Black {Day275/58:4-9}.

1878 Brown {TM000869990/11} page 11, paragraph 56.

1879 Brown {Day274/156:10}-{Day274/157:6}.

1880 Singh {TM000894410/5} page 5, paragraph 4d.

1881 {TM000894169}.

1882 {TM(010017543} spreadsheet on 15 June 2017 which features residents from Grenfell Walk with no pre-populated
columns relating to vulnerabilities; {TM010034288} spreadsheet on 19 June 2017 features residents from Walkway
properties and Bramley House, but not Grenfell Walk which does include pre-populated columns relating to
vulnerabilities; {TM010036665} spreadsheet on 15 June 2017 relating to all Walkways with pre-populated columns
relating to vulnerabilities, but not Bramley House or Grenfell Walk residents.

18831t is not clear whether that was also sent to residents of Testerton Walk, or what was sent, if anything, to Grenfell
Walk residents.

1884 Brown {TM000869990/12} page 12, paragraph 58; {TM0O00869949}.

1885 Brown {TMO00894124/25} page 25, paragraph 93.

1886 Brown {Day274/176:25}-{Day274/177:11}; Brown {TMO00869990/13} page 13, paragraph 69.

1887 Brown {Day274/177:4-20}.

156



Part 10 | Chapter 105: The response of the Tenant Management Organisation

The TMO repeated the exercise the next day to conduct welfare checks and identify the
need for any further support,'®® although some residents had still not returned home
seven days after the fire.!®° Despite the TMQ’s efforts to communicate with the residents,
some still complained that no one had contacted them,®% indicating that not all residents
were being reached.

105.58 On 20 June 2017, Ms Brown asked RBKC for a list of those who had been provided with
emergency accommodation in order to identify any residents that had not been given
accommodation and had not yet returned to their properties.'®* However, Mr Shaw told
her that RBKC was still in the process of reconciling the list.18%

105.59 Detailed written briefings for staff trying to contact residents of Barandon Walk,
Hurstway Walk and Testerton Walk were not provided until 20 June 2017%*% and were
issued again on 22 June 2017 and 23 June 2017.'¥%" They included guidance on the
message to be given to residents of surrounding blocks, information about the support
available at the Westway Centre, tasks to be carried out, staff rotas and useful contact
information. They were much more detailed than the aide memoire provided earlier to
assist staff making telephone calls.18%

Continuing confusion

105.60 ltis clear that even after the Gold resolution had been activated and John Barradell had
taken over the response, there was no clear strategy for dealing with displaced residents.
On 19 June 2017 RBKC and the TMO were looking for guidance to the Westminster City
Council housing team, which had been brought in as part of the wider London response.®’

105.61 As aresult, in the days and weeks following the fire there were conflicting messages
about when residents could return home. Although some residents had returned early at
the instigation of RBKC Gold group,'®®® others were turned away by the police when they
tried to return®” or were told that they could return at their own risk.?*® Some were
not told whether it was safe to return'® and at least one other had been told by RBKC
representatives at the Westway Centre that he could not return.**? On 20 June 2017,

Ms Brown sent an email to the BECC to clarify which residents could return home and
which could not, so that a clear position could then be communicated to the police.?*
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105.62

105.63

105.64

105.65

105.66

Overall, the evidence shows that the various bodies involved failed to co-operate properly
to ensure that the information they gave about returning residents to their homes was the
same.'®* That left people without clear information for longer than was necessary, causing
further inconvenience and distress.%

Problems on return

Once residents had returned, Ms Brown’s worries about the condition of the properties
were borne out. They mainly related to the lack of gas and hot water, which left residents
without washing or cooking facilities for a long time. Permanent repairs to locks and
doors did not begin until 29 June 2017.1% The gas supply was restored to all properties
except Grenfell Walk by 29 June 2017 and hot water was restored to most, though not all,
properties on 4 July 2017.19%7

The TMO newsletter dated 27 July 2017 acknowledged continuing problems. It confirmed
that the gas supply for many homes had been restored but that the supply had been
capped in some properties for safety reasons. There were also air locks in the hot water
system.'® Problems clearly persisted for a significant period of time. A resident of
Barandon Walk remained in hotel accommodation until 16 December 2017, when the
heating and hot water was restored.'**® One family from Barandon Walk did not receive
confirmation from RBKC that the problems with water, gas and heating had finally been
resolved until April 2018.19%°

Although RBKC was aware of the steps being taken by the TMO to help the residents, it
did not offer any tangible support or resources to meet their needs or assist their return
home,*! leaving the TMO to manage the needs of significant numbers of residents.

The burden weighed heavily on Ms Brown, despite her not being a member of the TMQO’s
executive team. Mr Black told us that in retrospect it would have been better for RBKC or
London Gold to have organised the return of displaced residents after 16 June 2017.1%12

In our view, accounting for the significant number of displaced people and enabling them
to return to their homes, where that was possible, was too great a task for the TMO,
despite Ms Brown’s best efforts. Although RBKC was the responder which should have
assumed that responsibility, it concentrated its efforts on the needs of the survivors from
the tower largely to the exclusion of those who had been evacuated from the surrounding
buildings. It is understandable that it should have done so in the initial stages of the
disaster, but it should not have taken it long to realise that those who had been hastily
evacuated from neighbouring buildings had also been seriously affected and had many of
the same needs. As a Category 1 responder, RBKC should in our view have provided more
support to the TMO in its efforts to enable the residents of those buildings to return to
their homes. The roles and responsibilities of RBKC and the TMO in relation to the residents
of the surrounding buildings were never clearly defined. As a result, RBKC did not make
additional resources available to the TMO to provide the help they needed, nor did the
TMO ask for them.
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The TMO and London Gold

105.67 When the London Gold arrangements were put into operation during the afternoon of
16 June 2017 John Barradell took charge of the humanitarian response. Mr Black did not
have a working knowledge of the London resilience arrangements or of London Gold’s
powers and capabilities.’®** He did not suggest that a senior member of the TMQ'’s staff
should be attached to the London Gold group to help with providing support to residents
of the Lancaster West estate,'*** nor did he have a personal meeting with Mr Barradell.***
It was his impression that Mr Barradell had taken over the situation and wanted to bring
fresh people in.?*® Although the TMO had a detailed knowledge of the Lancaster West
estate, he thought that it had been regarded as more of a hindrance than a help.*"’

105.68 Mr Barradell accepted that the care of the residents evacuated from properties
surrounding the tower fell within the scope of his responsibility and recognised that
considerable support was being provided by the TMO.''® Nevertheless, he did not want it
to be part of the arrangements because he did not believe that it had the confidence of the
local community. He thought that the necessary functions could be better performed and
directed by other people.’®*® He told us that demonstrating that those providing help were
independent of the TMO was as much about building confidence as making sure that help
was actually delivered.9%

105.69 The strategic decision by London Gold to keep the TMO at a distance was reflected in the
day-to-day contact between them. Ms Brown’s contact with London Gold was limited to
arranging for one person to carry out an inspection of the fire exits on the Walkways.*9%
She told us that she did not have any contact with Ms Brownlee!®*? or anyone from
Westminster Council.**2® We would have expected far greater communication between
Ms Brown and London Gold, given that her team was helping to arrange the return of
large numbers of residents to the surrounding properties. Everyone was seeking to tackle
the problems created by the numbers involved and the difficulties of communication.

Ms Brown acknowledged that London Gold had provided assistance to the TMO when
it was asked for, particularly in relation to matters such as rebuilding the fire exits at the
Walkways,9%* but otherwise its involvement was limited to identifying vacant properties
which it reported to Graham Webb, the managing director of Repairs Direct.!?

105.70 Mr Black told us that his impression was that London Gold would not help the TMO,*%%
and although it understood local authorities, he was not confident that it understood how
the TMO was structured and how it operated.'?” Although Mr Black had initially regarded
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London Gold’s involvement as a positive development,?® he did not think that the TMO
had been adequately supported by it. It could have offered more help but decided not to
do so and largely left the TMO to get on with it.1%%°

105.71 Given the central role played by the TMO in supporting the return of residents to
properties within the cordon, we think that London Gold should have done more to
establish direct contact with it, co-operate with it and provide it with support.

The TMO and the government

105.72 On 19 June 2017, officials from several central government departments were deployed to
the Westway Centre. Later that day, reservations about the effectiveness of the TMO were
voiced for the first time at the ministerial meeting chaired by the Prime Minister.19%°

105.73 From 19 June 2017, officials from BEIS were present at the Westway Centre, answering
some questions posed by residents and community representatives and relaying others to
the government’s utilities co-ordination cell.'*3! Sebastian Bassett-James, who had been
seconded from BEIS to take charge of the team responsible for restoring utilities, found
it difficult to contact both RBKC and the TMO, which he understood to be providing the
primary response to the fire.1°*? He said that the TMO had not provided the help needed to
restore the utilities, leaving the residents frustrated for longer than necessary.*?*?

105.74 Mr Bassett-lames said that, although the TMO had had people at the Westway Centre, they
had not had authority to make decisions, take action or respond to his team’s questions,*?3*
but Ms Brown told us that her staff at the Westway Centre were able to contact her
and Mr Webb to get any necessary authority.!**> According to Mr Bassett-James, when
members of the BEIS team at the Westway Centre attempted to telephone the TMO their
calls went unanswered and voicemails were not returned.’®*® By 21 June, BEIS was working
with the Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) and DCLG to
identify a point of contact within the TMO. Eventually they were successful.%¥’

105.75 In the opinion of Mr Black, the government did not understand the nature or role of
the TMO or its limitations.?**® For example, emails sent within No.10 on 21 June 2017
commented adversely on the TMO’s handling of communications with the residents,*¥**
but Mr Black told us that during the days immediately following the fire the TMO had not
been allowed to communicate with them without the approval of RBKC, which itself had
had to be channelled through the Gold group.'®* It seems that No.10 laboured under the
misapprehension that the TMO had an extensive formal role which made it necessary or
desirable that DCLG intervene to remove it from the situation.*®** That was not correct and
failed to take proper account of the fact that the TMO was not itself a responder.

1928 Black {TM0O00887150/12} page 12, paragraph 44.

1929 Black {Day275/110:3-16}; {Day275/112:6-23}.

1930 Grenfell Tower Recovery Taskforce Ministerial Meeting Minutes {CABO0002741/3-4} pages 3-4, paragraph 7; Email
from Jamie Cowling to Katherine Richardson on 19 June 2017 at 13.27 {CLG0O0005618/3} page 3.

1931 Bassett-James {BEI00002844/3} page 3, paragraph 11.

1932 Bassett-James {BEI00002844/12} page 12, paragraph 49.

1933 Bassett-James {BEI00002849/6} page 6, paragraph 21.

1934 Bassett-James {BEI00002849/4} page 4, paragraph 15.

1935 Brown {Day274/205:17}-{Day274/206:15}.

1936 Bassett-James {BEI00002849/4} page 4, paragraph 16.

1937 Bassett-James {BEI00002849/6} page 6, paragraph 20.

1938 Black {Day275/97:4}.

1939 Email from Jamie Cowling from No.10 on 21 June 2017 at 09.29 {CAB00005909/1}.

1940 Black {TM0O10048970/2} page 2, paragraph 8; Black {TMO00887150/2} page 2, paragraph 7; Black
{Day275/96:19-21}.

1941 Email from Chris Gray on 21 June 2017 at 09.38 {CABO0O005909/1}.

160



105.76

105.77

105.78

105.79

105.80

Part 10 | Chapter 105: The response of the Tenant Management Organisation

DCLG gained its understanding of the position and effectiveness of the TMO from second-
hand reports. On 19 June 2017 Dame Melanie Dawes became aware that concerns

were being expressed in some quarters about the performance of the TMO, particularly

in relation to restoring heating and hot water to the Lancaster West estate, when they
were raised by John Barradell at the Grenfell Recovery Taskforce meeting that day.*#*?
However, although those concerns were recorded at governmental level, Mr Black was not
made aware of them.?* Mr Barradell told us that he had not raised them with the TMO
because they had to be raised at the Grenfell Recovery Taskforce meeting in order for them
to be addressed.!*

At the same meeting a decision was taken that residents who were affected by the lack

of hot water and gas should be given hotel accommodation and financial assistance.'**
However, that decision was not communicated to the TMO, which was responsible for
arranging the return of the residents and dealing with matters relating to properties in the
blocks that had been evacuated.'#*

On 20 June 2017, internal DCLG correspondence recounted Ms Brownlee’s impression
from a “TMO meeting” that the TMO had no leadership, that staff were “drifting around”,
traumatised and without reliable information on important matters, such as the state

of the flats in the Walkways.'**” Ms Brown acknowledged that TMO staff were very
traumatised by what had happened but maintained that they were concentrating on
getting on with the job and doing what they could to support people.’®* She denied

that they lacked leadership.**® Ms Brownlee’s impression, as expressed in the DCLG
correspondence, had not been informed by any discussion with Mr Black or Ms Brown %>

Although internal DCLG correspondence recorded that the TMO needed “a new strong
Chief Exec, who can provide a single point of liaison, clear information, and strong
leadership”, neither DCLG nor Ms Brownlee sought to contact Mr Black or the TMO
board.'**! Mr Black told us that those negative impressions of the TMO had been formed
without speaking to it and that, in his view, it had suited the government to blame the
TMO.*>?2 The decision to remove the TMO had been taken without a clear understanding
of its structure or mode of operation or of the legal framework under which it operated.%>?
His view seems to us to be borne out by the documents we have seen.

Ms Brown did not recall having received any support from central government in the week
following the fire.?®* Mr Black told us that, although the structure worked on paper, the
scale of the emergency was such that more resources were needed from the government,
rather than simply instructions on what should be achieved.’*>® In our view, there was a
tendency for other organisations and departments involved in the response and recovery
phases to talk about the TMO rather than to it, and in doing so they left the TMO isolated
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and unsupported.*® We think that in the days after the fire the TMO was to some extent
seen by the government as a useful scapegoat, perhaps to deflect criticism from its

own shortcomings in what had evolved into a full-blown humanitarian crisis in the heart
of West London.

Resources and support

105.81 Ms Brown told us that she felt she had been adequately supported by the TMO’s executive
team to enable her to fulfil the various roles that her team had undertaken in the
immediate aftermath of the fire. She told us that her manager, Sacha Jevans, had been
contactable by telephone to discuss any problems.'**” She also said that, with the benefit of
the additional staff arranged by Mr Black by 18 June,***® she did not feel that the TMO had
been under-resourced.'**

105.82 However, we do not think that the senior leadership of the TMO provided sufficient
oversight or support to staff who were dealing with the problems in the days immediately
following the fire. Although Ms Brown may have felt at the time that she was adequately
supported,'®® she was not aware of the limits of her capacity. Although she could always
contact her line manager for support if she felt she needed it, those in positions of greater
seniority ought to have taken positive steps to ensure that she and her team had all the
support and resources they needed, not least because she had assumed a role for which
there was no standing guidance or training and was, in essence, improvising.

105.83 Mr Black told us that he had found the scale of the incident personally overwhelming.1%!
As a result, he could not effectively manage the TMO’s role in the response. He told us
that he had not asked RBKC for more resources,'**? because everyone was in a difficult
position.' Clearly, however, he should have done so, as he accepted.*®* He should
have also made it known to RBKC that the expectations and demands on the TMO were
beyond its capacity.

105.84 We accept that one reason for the TMO’s failure to seek help for itself was that its senior
executives were overwhelmed by the scale, uncertainty and ever-shifting nature of the
incident. However, for reasons explored elsewhere in this report, Mr Black’s style of
management was to rely on his trusted team rather than share problems with those
charged with oversight of the TMO, such as its board and RBKC.

105.85 Although Mr Black and Ms Brown fell short of what was expected of them in the period
following the fire, we recognise that they were seeking to discharge a role that the TMO
had assumed voluntarily. The root of the problem was the absence of an emergency
plan clearly setting out the relationship between RBKC and the TMO and their respective
responsibilities in the event of a major incident.
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Communications with the public

105.86 Olivia Hutchison was the head of customer services at the TMO.'%* She provided daily
email briefings'®®® for the Customer Services Centre team and Pinnacle (the TMO’s out
of hours contact centre) to assist them in dealing with incoming calls from residents
affected by the fire.?%¢’

105.87 Early in the afternoon of 14 June 2017, Amanda McDuff of Pinnacle asked for advice
on dealing with calls in the evening. At 14.15 Ms Hutchison replied that the TMO’s
main concern was dealing with displaced residents.'®®® She said that customers in
need of re-housing should attend the “Westfield Community Sports Centre”.19°
There is no Westfield Community Sports Centre, but the Westfield retail site was
very close to Grenfell Tower. No specific advice was provided for the residents of the
surrounding blocks.'%7°

105.88 At 17.09 on 14 June 2017, Ms Hutchison told the Pinnacle Team that anyone
requiring assistance with temporary accommodation should contact the council’s
switchboard or go to the rest centres at the Westway Centre, Rugby Portobello Trust or
St Clements Church.®"*

105.89 At 17.37 on 15 June 2017, Ms Hutchison told Pinnacle that most residents of the tower
had been placed in temporary accommodation but that residents from the surrounding
buildings had still not been able to return to their homes due to fears for their safety.'®’2
She said that the police had started letting some residents return, but that Hurstway Walk,
Barandon Walk, Grenfell Walk, Testerton Walk and Treadgold House were all without
hot water and would be without gas for cooking.'”* In messages sent on 16 and 17 June
2017 Ms Hutchison identified which flats in each block could be re-occupied.?®”*

105.90 On 19 June 2017, there were further briefings referring to the lack of hot water and
cooking facilities. A briefing released at 10.22 on 19 June 2017 directed residents who
required emotional support to the NHS’s Single Point Access for Mental Health.*”> None of
the briefings provided to Pinnacle referred to financial support.'®’® In our view, the TMO
should have told Pinnacle about the financial support available far earlier.

105.91 In the first few days after the fire the TMO tried to contact residents by knocking
on doors and telephoning them, but no written communication was circulated until
22 June 2017.%77 That letter was sent without London Gold’s approval,’*’® even though

1965 Hutchison {TM010048971/1} page 1, paragraph 3.

1966 0n 14 June 2017 {TM000869621/2-10}; 16 June 2017 {TM000869621/16-19}; 20 June 2017 {TM0O00869621/30-33}
briefings were sent more than once a day; A briefing for the weekend of 17 and 18 June 2017 was sent in advance,
on 16 June 2017 {TMO00869621/18-19}. The briefings contained a staff briefing, information about respite centres,
contact numbers to redirect residents in need, information on hot water and gas, information on helplines, such as
the casualty bureau and housing team, and information regarding donations and volunteering.

197 TMO’s out of hours provider {TM0O00869621}; Brown {TM000894124/20} page 20, paragraph 71.

1968 Email from Olivia Hutchison to Amanda McDuff {TM000869621/6-7}.

1989 Email from Olivia Hutchison to Amanda McDuff on 14 June 2017 at 14.15 {TM0O00869621/6}.

1970 Email from Olivia Hutchison to Amanda McDuff {TM000869621/6-7}.

1971 Email from Olivia Hutchison to Pinnacle team {TMO00869621/8}.

1972 Email from Olivia Hutchison to Pinnacle team {TM0O00869621/11-12}.

1973 Email from Olivia Hutchison to Pinnacle team {TM000869621/11-12}.

1974 Emails from Olivia Hutchison to Pinnacle team, TMO staff and other London Boroughs {TMO00869621/18-24}.

1975 Email from Olivia Hutchison to the Customer Services Centre team and TMO staff {TM000869621/26-27}.

1976 \Various emails from Olivia Hutchison providing updates to Customer Services Centre team, Pinnacle team, TMO
staff and London Boroughs {TM000869621/2-34}.

1977 Brown {TM000894124/28} page 28, paragraph 103; {TM0O00869984}.

1978 Brown {TM000894124/28-29} pages 28-29, paragraph 105.
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formal communications with residents required his permission.?*”® A number of residents
had asked for written communication and TMO staff drafted information briefings for
approval,'® but nothing further in writing was sent out until 27 July 2017.1%! The delay
was caused by the need to obtain the approval of London Gold.*?® Written communications
were originally intended to describe what was planned, but eventually became a record of
what had been done,'*® which was of little practical assistance to residents.98*

1975 Brown {Day274/190:12-17}.
1980 Email thread {TM010035589/58-59} email from Kiran Singh on 21 June 2017 at 10.45 entitled ‘Comms t